




Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood


The NZETC epub Edition
This is an epub version of 
     
Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood
    by
     Author: 
          
        
    from the NZETC, licenced under the
     
Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike 3.0 New Zealand Licence 
     (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/3.0/nz/).
This license allows anyone to re-use material in this work under the following conditions:
	 attribution of the source of this digital text is provided. Please include our name (New Zealand Electronic Text Collection, Victoria University of Wellington Library) and a link to our website (http://nzetc.victoria.ac.nz/). Where practical, please link directly to the specific work appearing on our website (http://nzetc.victoria.ac.nz/tm/scholarly/tei-MosIllu.html);
	 the re-use of the material is licensed under the same license, allowing others to further re-use the material. This means that the re-use of the material must be marked with the same Creative Commons license, which can be accomplished by using the link to the license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-sa/3.0/nz/).

In order to meet the above criteria, you can simply include the text appearing here with any re-use that you make of this work.
Use of the Creative Commons Attribution-Share Alike license allows us to make material freely available to the community for re-use, and also ensures that:
	 any errors in the material can be traced back to the New Zealand Electronic Text Collection as the originator of the digital reproduction;
	 such material continues to be freely available to the community after subsequent re-use.

The NZETC is a digital library based at Victoria University of Wellington, New Zealand. We publish texts of interest to a New Zealand and Pacific audience, and current strengths include historical New Zealand and Pacific Islands texts, texts in Maori and New Zealand literature. A full list of texts is available on our website (http://nzetc.victoria.ac.nz/).
Please report errors, including where you obtained this file, how you tried to access the file and details of the error. Errors, feedback and comments can be sent to Library-TechnologyServices@vuw.ac.nz.
About the electronic version


Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

Author: 
          
M. Mosley
        

Creation of machine-readable version: 
Keyboarded by Planman Technologies

Creation of digital images: 
Planman Technologies

Conversion to TEI.2-conformant markup: 
Planman Technologies

New Zealand Electronic Text Collection, 2008

Wellington, New Zealand

          
Publicly accessible

          
URL: http://nzetc.victoria.ac.nz/collections.html

          
Copyright 2007, by Victoria University of Wellington

        
Extent: ca. 705 kilobytes


About the print version

          


              
Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood
            

Author: 
              
M. Mosley
            

          
J. T. Smith & Co., 1885

Christchurch

Source copy consulted: Victoria University of Wellington Library, DU 436 C2 C M912 I 1996

        


Encoding

        
All unambiguous end-of-line hyphens have been removed, and
          the trailing part of a word has been joined to the preceding
          line. Every effort has been made to preserve the Māori macron
          using unicode.

        
Some keywords in the header are a local Electronic
          Text Centre scheme to aid in establishing analytical
          groupings.

      







Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

Contents


	

	
[covers]

	
[title page]

	
[title page]

	
Contents



	Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

	
Historical

	
Religious 

p. 42

	
Church of England in New Zealand 

p. 42

	
Presbyterians 

p. 45

	
Wesleyan 

p. 46

	
Baptists 

p. 47

	
Congregationalists 

p. 48

	
The Roman Catholics 

p. 49

	
Bible Christians 

p. 50

	
Primitite Methodist Connexion 

p. 51

	
The Brethren

	
Jewish

	
Freethought

	
Young Men's Christian Association 

p. 52

	
The Salvation Army 

p. 54

	
Other Bodies



	Educational

	
The New Zealand University 

p. 55

	
Canterbury College

	
Boys' High School 

p. 57

	
The Girls' High School 

p. 58

	
School of Art

	
The School of Agriculture 

p. 59

	
Public Library

	
Christ's College Grammar School 

p. 60

	
State Schools 

p. 62

	
Convent 

p. 63

	
Museum



	
The Public Gardens and Hagley Park 

p. 76

	
[The Public Gardens and Hagley Park] 

p. 76

	
Hagley Park 

p. 78



	
Acclimatization Gardens 

p. 79

	Societies, Associations, Etc

	
The Canterbury Agricultural and Pastoral Association 

p. 82

	
Christchurch Benevolent Association 

p. 83

	
Canterbury Caledonian Society 

p. 84

	
Girls' Friendly Society

	
Farmers' Association 

p. 85

	
Society of Oddfellows, M.U 

p. 86

	
Ancient Order of Foresters 

p. 90

	
United Ancient Order of Druids 

p. 93

	
Christchurch Musical Society 

p. 95

	
Working Men's Political Association

	
Working Men's Club 

p. 96

	
The Philosophical Institute of Canterbury 

p. 97

	
The Canterbury Society of Arts 

p. 101

	
Canterbury Catholic Library Society

	
Canterbury District Law Society 

p. 102

	
Christchurch Law Debating Club 

p. 103

	
Christchurch Parliamentary Debating Society

	
Churchmen's Club

	
The Commercial Club 

p. 104

	
The New Zealand Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals

	
New Zealand Protection Society 

p. 105

	
Canterbury Anglers' Society

	
Christchurch Poultry, Pigeon, Canary, and Cat Society

	
Canterbury Licensed Victuallers' Association 

p. 106

	
The Industrial Association of Canterbury



	Amusements, Etc

	
Early Boating Days in Canterbury 

p. 109

	
Christchurch Bowling Club 

p. 117

	
Canterbury Bowling Club

	
Canterbury Lawn Tennis Club 

p. 118

	
Football in Christchurch 

p. 119

	
The Canterbury Amateur Athletic Club 

p. 124

	
Racing 

p. 125

	
Chess 

p. 129

	
Cycling 

p. 130

	
Music and the Drama

	
Cricket

	
Coursing 

p. 139



	
Horticulture

	
[introduction]

	
Mr. Abbott's Nursery 

p. 140

	
Messrs. Adams & Son's Nursery 

p. 143

	
Mr. J. W. Leigh's Nursery 

p. 144



	
Hospital & Other Public Institutions 

p. 145

	
The Christchurch Hospital 

p. 145

	
The Sunnyside Hospital for the Insane

	
Armagh Street Depot 

p. 147

	
Old Men's Home

	
Out-Door Relief



	
Lyttelton

	
[Lyttelton]

	
Harbour Works 

p. 148

	
The Orphanage 

p. 150

	
Lyttelton Sailors' Home 

p. 151



	Commercial and Local Industries

	
[Commercial and Local Industries] 

p. 152

	
Bank of New Zealand

	
The Bank of New South Wales 

p. 153

	
The Union Bank of Australia (Limited)

	
The New Zealand Shipping Company (Limited)

	
The Union Steamship Company 

p. 156

	
New Zealand Insurance Company

	
The National Fire and Marine Insurance Company — of New Zealand 

p. 158

	
National Mortgage and Agency Company of New — Zealand (Limited)

	
The New Zealand Trust and Loan Company — (Limited) 

p. 159

	
Trust and Agency Company of Australasia — (Limited)

	
The Permanent Investment and Loan Association — of Canterbury 

p. 160

	
The Canterbury Building Society, Permanent

	
The Hartley Colliery Company

	
Messrs. Miles & Co 

p. 161

	
Fletcher, Humpheeys and Co 

p. 162

	
Messrs. Robert Wilkin & Co

	
Messrs. Wood, Sinclair, & Co 

p. 163

	
Kaiapoi Woollen Factory 

p. 164

	
Atlas Foundry 

p. 165

	
Messrs. Lucas & Sons 

p. 167

	
The Carlyle Implement Works 

p. 169

	
Messrs Andrews and Beaven 

p. 170

	
Mr. T. Crompton's Ironworks 

p. 172

	
Messrs. J. And T. Danks' 

p. 175

	
Mr. R. Buchanan's City Foundry 

p. 176

	
Messrs. Mercer and Duckmanton 

p. 177

	
Messrs. Mason, Struthers & Co

	
The Birmingham and Sheffield Warehouse 

p. 179

	
Messrs King Brothers' 

p. 180

	
Messrs. Toomer Bros. & Co's. Boot Factor 

p. 181

	
The Maclean Pickle and Preserving Company (Limited)

	
A. G. Howland's Carriage Factory 

p. 183

	
Messrs. Boon & Stevens' Carriage Factory 

p. 186

	
Zealandia Carpet Factory

	
Mr. A. J. White's Furniture Warehouse and — Manufactory 

p. 187

	
W. S. King & Co.'s Furniture Warehouse 

p. 192

	
W. Bates, Junior's, Factory 

p. 193

	
Mr. Walter Gee's Venetian Blind Factory 

p. 195

	
Basket Work

	
Messrs. Aulsebrook & Go.'s Steam Biscuit Factory 

p. 196

	
Addington Flour Mills 

p. 197

	
Fish Breeding Industry 

p. 198

	
Anderson's Buildings, Cashel Street West 

p. 199

	
Bibliopolical

	
T. H. Green's Ham & Bacon Curing Establishment 

p. 201

	
Messrs. Shaw & Tidd 

p. 202

	
J. and J. Mclean's Boat Shed (Late W. Aitken)

	
Christchurch Brewery 

p. 203

	
Suffolk Brewery (Scarlett & Co) 

p. 207

	
Mr. H. Mace's Cordial Manufactory

	
The New Zealand Accident Insurance Company 

p. 208

	
Messrs. Ford and Ogden's Pottery Works 

p. 209

	
The Springfield Colliery and Pottery Works 

p. 210

	
Painter Bros.' Cycling Delivery 

p. 212

	
The Mutual Life Association of Australasia 

p. 213

	
J. T. Smith & Co 

p. 214

	
G. F. Gee's Tin-Plate Works 

p. 215

	
A. Noble's Scientific and Surgical Instrument — Manufactory 

p. 216

	
Aitken & Roberts, Domestic and Furnishing — Ironmongers 

p. 217

	
The New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency — Company (Limited) 

p. 219

	
Rountree & Co 

p. 220

	
J. Miller's Brush Factory 

p. 221

	
Photographic Studio



	
Woolston 

p. 222

	
[woolston] 

p. 222

	
The Woolston Emporium (Established 1863) 

p. 223

	
Bowron Brothers' Works 

p. 224

	
T. J. Watters' Range Manufactory 

p. 225



	
Hotels 

p. 226

	
[hotels] 

p. 226

	
The Clarendon Hotel

	
The Empire Hotel 

p. 227

	
Star Hotel (Late "Feathers"), Addington 

p. 228












Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood



Contents


	
[covers]

	
[title page]

	
[title page]

	
Contents








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

[covers]



        

          

[image: Front Cover]
        

        

          

[image: Spine]
        

        

          

[image: Back Cover]
        

        

          

[image: Title Page]
        

      
















Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

[title page]





        
          
            
Illustrated Guide
            


            
to
            


            
Christchurch
            


            
and
            


            
Neighbourhood,
          
          (
With 64 Illustrations),
        

        

          
By
          


          
M. Mosley.
        

        

          Christchurch:
          J. T. Smith & Co., 
Commercial and General Printers.
          1885.
        

      








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

[title page]





        

          
Illustrated Guide
        

        

          
to
        

        

          
Christchurch
        

        

          
and
        

        

Neighbourhood,

        
(
With 64 Illustrations),

        

          
By
        

        

M. Mosley.

        
Available direct from

        

          
Kiwi Publishers
        

        

Po Box 35081

        

          
Christchurch
        

        

          
Facsimile Edition
        

        

Isbn 1 877145 23 8

        
Copyright 1996

      








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

Contents





        

          
Contents.
        

        

          

            

              
	
              
	
Page.
            

            

              
	
                

                  
Historical
                
              
              
	
                
1
              
            

            

              
	
                

Religious—
              
              
	
            

            

              
	  
Church of England in New Zealand
              
	
                
42
              
            

            

              
	  
Presbyterians
              
	
                
45
              
            

            

              
	  
Wesleyans
              
	
                
46
              
            

            

              
	  
Baptists
              
	
                
47
              
            

            

              
	  
Congregationalists
              
	
                
48
              
            

            

              
	  
Roman Catholics
              
	
                
49
              
            

            

              
	  
Bible Christians
              
	
                
50
              
            

            

              
	  
Primitive Methodists
              
	
                
51
              
            

            

              
	  
The Brethren
              
	
                
51
              
            

            

              
	  
Jewish
              
	
                
51
              
            

            

              
	  
Freethought
              
	
                
51
              
            

            

              
	  
Young Men's Christian Association
              
	
                
52
              
            

            

              
	  
Salvation Army
              
	
                
54
              
            

            

              
	  
Other Bodies
              
	
                
54
              
            

            

              
	
                

                  
Educational—
                
              
              
	
            

            

              
	  
The New Zealand University
              
	
                
55
              
            

            

              
	  
Canterbury College
              
	
                
55
              
            

            

              
	  
Boy's High School
              
	
                
57
              
            

            

              
	  
Girl's High School
              
	
                
58
              
            

            

              
	  
School of Art
              
	
                
58
              
            

            

              
	  
School of Agriculture
              
	
                
59
              
            

            

              
	  
Public Library
              
	
                
59
              
            

            

              
	  
Christ's College Grammar School
              
	
                
60
              
            

            

              
	  
State Schools
              
	
                
62
              
            

            

              
	  
Convent
              
	
                
63
              
            

            

              
	  
Museum
              
	
                
63
              
            

            

              
	
                

                  
The Public Gardens and Hagley Park
                
              
              
	
                
76
              
            

            

              
	
                

                  
Acclimatisation Gardens
                
              
              
	
                
79
              
            

            

              
	
                

                  
Societies, Associations, &c.—
                
              
              
	
            

            

              
	  
Canterbury Agricultural and Pastoral Association
              
	
                
82
              
            

            

              
	  
Christchurch Benevolent Institution
              
	
                
83
              
            

            

              
	  
Canterbury Caledonian Society
              
	
                
84
              
            

            

              
	  
Girls' Friendly Society
              
	
                
84
              
            

            

              
	  
Farmers' Association
              
	
                
85
              
            

            

              
	  
Independent Order of Oddfellows
              
	
                
86
              
            

            

              
	  
Ancient Order of Foresters
              
	
                
90
              
            

            

              
	  
United Ancient Order of Druids
              
	
                
93
              
            

            

              
	  
Christchurch Musical Society
              
	
                
95
              
            

            

              
	  
Working Men's Political Association
              
	
                
95
              
            

            

              
	  
Working Men's Club
              
	
                
96
              
            

            

              
	  
Philosophical Institute of Canterbury
              
	
                
97
              




            

            
            
            
            
            
            

              
	  
Canterbury Society of Arts
              
	
                
101
              
            

            

              
	  
Canterbury Catholic Literary Society
              
	
                
101
              
            

            

              
	  
Canterbury District Law Society
              
	
                
102
              
            

            

              
	  
Christchurch Law Debating Society
              
	
                
103
              
            

            

              
	  
Christchurch Parliamentary Debating Society
              
	
                
103
              
            

            

              
	  
Churchmen's Club
              
	
                
103
              
            

            

              
	  
Commercial Club
              
	
                
104
              
            

            

              
	  
Prevention of Cruelty to Animals Society
              
	
                
104
              
            

            

              
	  
Protection Society
              
	
                
105
              
            

            

              
	  
Anglers' Society
              
	
                
105
              
            

            

              
	  
Poultry, Pigeon, Canary, and Cat Society
              
	
                
105
              
            

            

              
	  
Licensed Victuallers' Association
              
	
                
106
              
            

            

              
	  
Industrial Association
              
	
                
106
              
            

            

              
	
                

Amusements, &c.—
              
              
	
            

            

              
	  
Boating
              
	
                
109
              
            

            

              
	  
Bowling
              
	
                
117
              
            

            

              
	  
Lawn Tennis
              
	
                
118
              
            

            

              
	  
Football
              
	
                
1l9
              
            

            

              
	  
Amateur Athletic Club
              
	
                
124
              
            

            

              
	  
Racing
              
	
                
125
              
            

            

              
	  
Chess
              
	
                
129
              
            

            

              
	  
Cycling
              
	
                
130
              
            

            

              
	  
Drama
              
	
                
130
              
            

            

              
	  
Cricket
              
	
                
130
              
            

            

              
	  
Coursing
              
	
                
139
              
            

            

              
	
                

Horticulture—
              
              
	
            

            

              
	  
Abbott's Nursery
              
	
                
140
              
            

            

              
	  
Adams and Son's Nursery
              
	
                
143
              
            

            

              
	  
J. W, Leigh's Nursery
              
	
                
144
              
            

            

              
	
                

                  
Public Institutions—
                
              
              
	
            

            

              
	  
Christchurch Hospital
              
	
                
145
              
            

            

              
	  
Sunnyside Hospital for the Insane
              
	
                
145
              
            

            

              
	  
Depôt
              
	
                
147
              
            

            

              
	  
Old Men's Home
              
	
                
147
              
            

            

              
	  
Outdoor Relief
              
	
                
147
              
            

            

              
	
                

Lyttelton—
              
              
	
            

            

              
	  
Harbour Works
              
	
                
148
              
            

            

              
	  
Orphanage
              
	
                
150
              
            

            

              
	  
Sailors' Home
              
	
                
151
              
            

            

              
	
                

Commercial and Local Industries—
              
              
	
            

            

              
	  
Bank of New Zealand
              
	
                
152
              
            

            

              
	  
Bank of New South Wales
              
	
                
153
              
            

            

              
	  
Union Bank of Australia
              
	
                
153
              
            

            

              
	  
New Zealand Shipping Company
              
	
                
153
              
            

            

              
	  
Union Steam Ship Company
              
	
                
156
              
            

            

              
	  
New Zealand Insurance Company
              
	
                
156
              
            

            

              
	  
National Insurance Company
              
	
                
158
              
            

            

              
	  
National Mortgage and Agency Company of New Zealand
              
	
                
158
              
            

            

              
	  
New Zealand Trust and Loan Company
              
	
                
159
              
            

            

              
	  
Trust and Agency Company of Australia
              
	
                
159
              
            

            

              
	  
Permanent Loan and Investment Society of Canterbury
              
	
                
160
              
            

            

              
	  
Permanent Building Society
              
	
                
160
              
            

            

              
	  
Hartley Colliery Company
              
	
                
160
              
            

            

              
	  
Miles and Co.
              
	
                
161
              




            

            
            
            

              
	  
Fletcher, Humphreys and Co.
              
	
                
162
              
            

            

              
	  
Robert Wilkin and Co.
              
	
                
162
              
            

            

              
	  
Wood, Sinclair and Co.
              
	
                
163
              
            

            

              
	  
Kaiapoi Woollen Factory
              
	
                
164
              
            

            

              
	  
Atlas Foundry
              
	
                
165
              
            

            

              
	  
Lucas and Sons
              
	
                
167
              
            

            

              
	  
Carlisle Implement Works
              
	
                
169
              
            

            

              
	  
Andrews and Beaven
              
	
                
170
              
            

            

              
	  
Crompton's Iron Works
              
	
                
172
              
            

            

              
	  
J. and T. Danks
              
	
                
175
              
            

            

              
	  
Buchanan's City Foundry
              
	
                
176
              
            

            

              
	  
Mercer and Duckmanton
              
	
                
177
              
            

            

              
	  
Mason and Struthers
              
	
                
177
              
            

            

              
	  
Birmingham and Sheffield Warehouse
              
	
                
179
              
            

            

              
	  
King Bros.
              
	
                
180
              
            

            

              
	  
Toomer Bros.' Boot Factory
              
	
                
181
              
            

            

              
	  
Maclean Pickle and Preserving Company
              
	
                
181
              
            

            

              
	  
Howland's Carriage Factory
              
	
                
183
              
            

            

              
	  
Boon and Stevens' Carriage Factory
              
	
                
186
              
            

            

              
	  
Zealandia Carpet Factory
              
	
                
186
              
            

            

              
	  
A. J. White's Furniture Manufactory
              
	
                
187
              
            

            

              
	  
W. S. King and Co.'s Furniture Warehouse
              
	
                
192
              
            

            

              
	  
W. Bates jun.'s Factory
              
	
                
193
              
            

            

              
	  
Walter Gee's Venetian Blind Factory
              
	
                
195
              
            

            

              
	  
Silvester's Basket Factory
              
	
                
195
              
            

            

              
	  
Aulsebrook and Co.'s Biscuit Factory
              
	
                
196
              
            

            

              
	  
Addington Flour Mills
              
	
                
197
              
            

            

              
	  
Johnson's Fish Breeding Grounds
              
	
                
198
              
            

            

              
	  
Harris' Boot Depôt
              
	
                
199
              
            

            

              
	  
Smith's Book Depôt
              
	
                
199
              
            

            

              
	  
Alfred Simpson's Book Depôt
              
	
                
199
              
            

            

              
	  
T. H. Green's Curing Establishment
              
	
                
201
              
            

            

              
	  
Shaw and Tidd's Boat Sheds
              
	
                
202
              
            

            

              
	  
J. and J. McLean's Boat Sheds
              
	
                
202
              
            

            

              
	  
Manning's Christchurch Brewery
              
	
                
203
              
            

            

              
	  
Scarlett's Suffolk Brewery
              
	
                
207
              
            

            

              
	  
Mace's Cordial Factory
              
	
                
207
              
            

            

              
	  
New Zealand Accident Insurance Co.
              
	
                
208
              
            

            

              
	  
Ford and Ogden's Pottery Works
              
	
                
209
              
            

            

              
	  
Springfield Colliery and Pottery Works
              
	
                
210
              
            

            

              
	  
Painter's Cycling Delivery
              
	
                
212
              
            

            

              
	  
Mutual Life Association of Australasia
              
	
                
213
              
            

            

              
	  
J. T. Smith and Co.'s Printing Works
              
	
                
214
              
            

            

              
	  
G. F. Gee's Tinplate Works
              
	
                
215
              
            

            

              
	  
A. Noble's Instrument Factory
              
	
                
216
              
            

            

              
	  
Aitken and Roberts' Ironmongery Depôt
              
	
                
217
              
            

            

              
	  
New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency
              
	
                
219
              
            

            

              
	  
Rountree and Co.
              
	
                
220
              
            

            

              
	  
J. Miller's Brush Factory
              
	
                
221
              
            

            

              
	  
H. Chatteris' Photographic Studio
              
	
                
221
              
            

            

              
	  
Woolston Emporium
              
	
                
223
              
            

            

              
	  
Bowron Bros.' Wool and Skin Works
              
	
                
224
              
            

            

              
	  
T. J. Watters' Range Factory
              
	
                
225
              
            

            

              
	
                

Hotels—
              
              
	
            

            

              
	  
Clarendon Hotel
              
	
                
226
              
            

            

              
	  
Empire Hotel
              
	
                
227
              
            

            

              
	  
Star Hotel
              
	
                
228
              
            

          

        

      










Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

Contents


	
Historical

	
Religious 

p. 42

	
Church of England in New Zealand 

p. 42

	
Presbyterians 

p. 45

	
Wesleyan 

p. 46

	
Baptists 

p. 47

	
Congregationalists 

p. 48

	
The Roman Catholics 

p. 49

	
Bible Christians 

p. 50

	
Primitite Methodist Connexion 

p. 51

	
The Brethren

	
Jewish

	
Freethought

	
Young Men's Christian Association 

p. 52

	
The Salvation Army 

p. 54

	
Other Bodies



	Educational

	
The New Zealand University 

p. 55

	
Canterbury College

	
Boys' High School 

p. 57

	
The Girls' High School 

p. 58

	
School of Art

	
The School of Agriculture 

p. 59

	
Public Library

	
Christ's College Grammar School 

p. 60

	
State Schools 

p. 62

	
Convent 

p. 63

	
Museum



	
The Public Gardens and Hagley Park 

p. 76

	
[The Public Gardens and Hagley Park] 

p. 76

	
Hagley Park 

p. 78



	
Acclimatization Gardens 

p. 79

	Societies, Associations, Etc

	
The Canterbury Agricultural and Pastoral Association 

p. 82

	
Christchurch Benevolent Association 

p. 83

	
Canterbury Caledonian Society 

p. 84

	
Girls' Friendly Society

	
Farmers' Association 

p. 85

	
Society of Oddfellows, M.U 

p. 86

	
Ancient Order of Foresters 

p. 90

	
United Ancient Order of Druids 

p. 93

	
Christchurch Musical Society 

p. 95

	
Working Men's Political Association

	
Working Men's Club 

p. 96

	
The Philosophical Institute of Canterbury 

p. 97

	
The Canterbury Society of Arts 

p. 101

	
Canterbury Catholic Library Society

	
Canterbury District Law Society 

p. 102

	
Christchurch Law Debating Club 

p. 103

	
Christchurch Parliamentary Debating Society

	
Churchmen's Club

	
The Commercial Club 

p. 104

	
The New Zealand Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals

	
New Zealand Protection Society 

p. 105

	
Canterbury Anglers' Society

	
Christchurch Poultry, Pigeon, Canary, and Cat Society

	
Canterbury Licensed Victuallers' Association 

p. 106

	
The Industrial Association of Canterbury



	Amusements, Etc

	
Early Boating Days in Canterbury 

p. 109

	
Christchurch Bowling Club 

p. 117

	
Canterbury Bowling Club

	
Canterbury Lawn Tennis Club 

p. 118

	
Football in Christchurch 

p. 119

	
The Canterbury Amateur Athletic Club 

p. 124

	
Racing 

p. 125

	
Chess 

p. 129

	
Cycling 

p. 130

	
Music and the Drama

	
Cricket

	
Coursing 

p. 139



	
Horticulture

	
[introduction]

	
Mr. Abbott's Nursery 

p. 140

	
Messrs. Adams & Son's Nursery 

p. 143

	
Mr. J. W. Leigh's Nursery 

p. 144



	
Hospital & Other Public Institutions 

p. 145

	
The Christchurch Hospital 

p. 145

	
The Sunnyside Hospital for the Insane

	
Armagh Street Depot 

p. 147

	
Old Men's Home

	
Out-Door Relief



	
Lyttelton

	
[Lyttelton]

	
Harbour Works 

p. 148

	
The Orphanage 

p. 150

	
Lyttelton Sailors' Home 

p. 151



	Commercial and Local Industries

	
[Commercial and Local Industries] 

p. 152

	
Bank of New Zealand

	
The Bank of New South Wales 

p. 153

	
The Union Bank of Australia (Limited)

	
The New Zealand Shipping Company (Limited)

	
The Union Steamship Company 

p. 156

	
New Zealand Insurance Company

	
The National Fire and Marine Insurance Company — of New Zealand 

p. 158

	
National Mortgage and Agency Company of New — Zealand (Limited)

	
The New Zealand Trust and Loan Company — (Limited) 

p. 159

	
Trust and Agency Company of Australasia — (Limited)

	
The Permanent Investment and Loan Association — of Canterbury 

p. 160

	
The Canterbury Building Society, Permanent

	
The Hartley Colliery Company

	
Messrs. Miles & Co 

p. 161

	
Fletcher, Humpheeys and Co 

p. 162

	
Messrs. Robert Wilkin & Co

	
Messrs. Wood, Sinclair, & Co 

p. 163

	
Kaiapoi Woollen Factory 

p. 164

	
Atlas Foundry 

p. 165

	
Messrs. Lucas & Sons 

p. 167

	
The Carlyle Implement Works 

p. 169

	
Messrs Andrews and Beaven 

p. 170

	
Mr. T. Crompton's Ironworks 

p. 172

	
Messrs. J. And T. Danks' 

p. 175

	
Mr. R. Buchanan's City Foundry 

p. 176

	
Messrs. Mercer and Duckmanton 

p. 177

	
Messrs. Mason, Struthers & Co

	
The Birmingham and Sheffield Warehouse 

p. 179

	
Messrs King Brothers' 

p. 180

	
Messrs. Toomer Bros. & Co's. Boot Factor 

p. 181

	
The Maclean Pickle and Preserving Company (Limited)

	
A. G. Howland's Carriage Factory 

p. 183

	
Messrs. Boon & Stevens' Carriage Factory 

p. 186

	
Zealandia Carpet Factory

	
Mr. A. J. White's Furniture Warehouse and — Manufactory 

p. 187

	
W. S. King & Co.'s Furniture Warehouse 

p. 192

	
W. Bates, Junior's, Factory 

p. 193

	
Mr. Walter Gee's Venetian Blind Factory 

p. 195

	
Basket Work

	
Messrs. Aulsebrook & Go.'s Steam Biscuit Factory 

p. 196

	
Addington Flour Mills 

p. 197

	
Fish Breeding Industry 

p. 198

	
Anderson's Buildings, Cashel Street West 

p. 199

	
Bibliopolical

	
T. H. Green's Ham & Bacon Curing Establishment 

p. 201

	
Messrs. Shaw & Tidd 

p. 202

	
J. and J. Mclean's Boat Shed (Late W. Aitken)

	
Christchurch Brewery 

p. 203

	
Suffolk Brewery (Scarlett & Co) 

p. 207

	
Mr. H. Mace's Cordial Manufactory

	
The New Zealand Accident Insurance Company 

p. 208

	
Messrs. Ford and Ogden's Pottery Works 

p. 209

	
The Springfield Colliery and Pottery Works 

p. 210

	
Painter Bros.' Cycling Delivery 

p. 212

	
The Mutual Life Association of Australasia 

p. 213

	
J. T. Smith & Co 

p. 214

	
G. F. Gee's Tin-Plate Works 

p. 215

	
A. Noble's Scientific and Surgical Instrument — Manufactory 

p. 216

	
Aitken & Roberts, Domestic and Furnishing — Ironmongers 

p. 217

	
The New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency — Company (Limited) 

p. 219

	
Rountree & Co 

p. 220

	
J. Miller's Brush Factory 

p. 221

	
Photographic Studio



	
Woolston 

p. 222

	
[woolston] 

p. 222

	
The Woolston Emporium (Established 1863) 

p. 223

	
Bowron Brothers' Works 

p. 224

	
T. J. Watters' Range Manufactory 

p. 225



	
Hotels 

p. 226

	
[hotels] 

p. 226

	
The Clarendon Hotel

	
The Empire Hotel 

p. 227

	
Star Hotel (Late "Feathers"), Addington 

p. 228










Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

Historical





        

          
Historical.
        

        

“The Ugly Duckling.”

        
So Sir George Grey christened Canterbury, on the occasion of his second visit here, seventeen years ago, and all those who remember Andersen's charming little stories will admit the appositeness of the name. Let us see how it was born and how it grew.

        
It 
is Canterbury. But the chances of its being something vastly different were, at one time, very great. The narrow escape it had of becoming a mere offshoot of a French settlement —probably a penal one—is known to all early settlers, and has been heard of by many of our readers; but there are few who know that the hoisting of the British flag at Akaroa, and the taking possession of the South Island in the name of Her Britannic Majesty, have been recorded in stone in our Canterbury Cathedral. The font, which was placed in position so lately as December 23, 1881, and which was presented by the late Dean Stanley, bears the following inscription:—"To the memory of 
Captain Owen Stanley, R.N. By whose enterprise, A.D. 1840, this Island was secured to the British Empire. This font was erected, A.D. 1881, by his brother, Arthur Penhryn Stanley, Dean of Westminster."

        
This hoisting of the flag and taking possession was only by a few hours early enough to forestall a similar ceremony by the French. The narrative is thus told by James Robinson Clough, commonly known as Jimmy Robinson and by the Maories as Rapahina, one of the first Europeans who settled in Akaroa, and one who helped to hoist the flag:—

        
After stating how he ran away from home, led an adventurous life, and finally left a whaler he belonged to, to remain in Akaroa, in March 1837, married a daughter of Iwikau, a chief of the Ngatirangiamoa, and settled down, he says:—"It was in the year 1840, in August, I had been up to the Head of the Bay getting a load of pipis, of which the Maories are very fond. I had in the boat with me my wife and her youngster, who was about a year old, and named Abner. Holy Joe 

(another European in the settlement) was also with me, as I found him more useful in handling the whaleboat than the Maories. We were beating down with a light south-west wind when I noticed a ship come round the point with a fair wind. I said to Joe, 'We shall get some tobacco at last,' as we had been out of it for some time. We then stood towards her, but when we got a bit nearer we could see her ports and that therefore she was a man-of-war. I said so to my mate, and he said, 'If she is, for God's sake let me get ashore.' I suppose his guilty conscience pricked him, or else that he had not 'finished his time,' and thought he might be recognised. To satisfy him I said I would land him, and paid her head off for the shore. I had not got far when I heard a blank shot fired, and saw some signals run up, so I thought I was wanted as a pilot perhaps, so hauled on a wind again and ran alongside. She had come to an anchor by this time a little above Green's Point, as it is called now. She turned out to be the British man-of-war Britomart, Captain Stanley, who came to the side and asked me to step on board, which I did. He asked who the female was, and I told him; so he said, 'Ask her to come on board.' I could hardly persuade her, but she came at last, and squatted down on deck with the young one in her arms. The Captain ordered the cook to bring her something to eat, so soon she had a good spread of pies, cakes, and fruit, in front of her, but she seemed too nervous to eat them. The Captain asked me to come below, so I went down, and he asked me all about the place; how long I had been there; and how many vessels had called, and their names; and how many Maories were living there. I gave him all the information I could about the place, so he told me I must be sworn in as Her Majesty's Interpreter, as he intended to take possession of the Island in Her Majesty's name, and wanted me to explain it to the natives. I was given a bell and a small ensign to roll them up the next morning, which I promised to do. We got what we wanted in the shape of tobacco, and something to whet our whistles as well, and went ashore. I sent word all round to the natives, and next morning there was a great muster on the sandy beach between the two townships. Three or four of the ship's boats were ashore, and a party of them was sent with me to get a flagstaff. We had not far to look, as we soon found and cut down a kahikatea, as straight as a die and forty feet long; a block and halyards were soon rigged on, and a hole dug, and it was very soon up. After all the Natives were squatted down, and the chiefs set out by themselves on an old ensign, the Captain commenced to read his errand here to the Natives, all of which I had to interpret; but there was so much of it I forget what it was all about. I know, however, that it ended with God save the Queen, after which the British Standard was run up, and a 

discharge of musketry fired by the marines. A salute was also fired with the big guns on board, over which the Natives got into a great state of excitement. The Captain invited myself and several of the chiefs on board, where he gave us a grand spread, and I was presented with a lieutenant's uniform, and each of the chiefs had a marine's coat given to him. Next morning the French vessel arrived and landed her colonists. The Maories did not look upon their arrival with much favour, and if it had not been for the presence of the ships, an attempt would have been made to drive them away."

        
And so this fair land is not a French settlement.

        
It also had a narrow chance of being snapped up by Colonel Wakefield, for one of the bodies of colonists he was sending out. Messrs Duppa and Daniels used all their powers and eloquence to induce him to colonise our plains, instead of Nelson, but. Governor Hobson put in his veto, refusing permission for any settlement to be planted in this Island. Evidently it was to be reserved for a novel experiment in colonisation by the Church of England, who afterwards proceeded to do what the London 
Times described as taking a section of the old country and planting it out here with all the ecclesiastical and educational machinery which the settlers had been accustomed to in England.

        
And let us see how that was done.

        
As early as 1825 a company was formed to colonise New Zealand, which purchased a small quantity of land, of little value, and very unfit for the purpose, and left it uncultivated and uninhabited. In May, 1837, another Association for the colonisation of New Zealand was formed, which first applied for a Royal Charter, and then rejected it when it was found to be clogged with such restrictions as to give little scope to the enterprising genius of the promoters. In 1838 this Association brought its claims before the House of Lords, by whom they were rejected. It subsequently caused a Bill to be introduced in the House of Commons, which was thrown out. This Company, in June 1839, put forth a prospectus, and sold a quantity of land; sent out a survey party, and subsequently despatched to various parts of the colony, but not to Canterbury, twelve vessels with 216 cabin, and 909 steerage passengers. Meanwhile the Crown took possession of the Islands and sent out a Governor. The Company then applied for a Charter, and 
Lord John Russell, then Colonial Secretary, agreed to give them one acre of land for every five shillings they had expended, on their increasing their capital to £100,000. Accounts were gone into, when it was found that the Company had expended £161,560.

        


        
In December, 1849, the Canterbury Association haying been formed, acquired all the rights held by the New Zealand Company to "all that tract of waste and unappropriated land situated in the Middle Island of New Zealand, being bounded by the snowy range of hills from Double Corner to the river Ashburton, by the river Ashburton from the snowy hills to the sea, and by the sea from the mouth of the Ashburton to Double Corner, and estimated to contain, 2,500,000 acres, more or less, with the exception of certain buildings, and the land marked out as appurtenant thereto, situate on 
Banks Peninsula, and purchased by the said New Zealand Company from the Nanto-Bordelaise Company, and with the exception of certain property acquired by purchase and exchange with Mr De Belligny, such lands so excepted being reserved to Her Majesty, Her heirs and successors."

        
The Canterbury Association, prior to the obtaining of these rights, had been busy. The Committee and officers included gentlemen after whom have been named most of our towns, forests, rivers, lakes, and mountains; men of high position, who caused such attention to be given in England to their project that it may fairly be said no scheme for colonisation ever received before. The Archbishop of Canterbury (after whom, the province is named) was the President of the Association. The Committee were: the Archbishop of Dublin, the Duke of Buccleuch, the Marquis of Cholmondeley, the Earl of Ellesmere, the Earl of Harewood, the Earl of Lincoln, M.P., Viscount Mandeville, M.P., the Bishops of London, Winchester, Exeter, Ripon, St. Davids, Oxford, and Norwich; Viscount Alford, M.P.; Lords Ashburton, Lyttelton, Ashley, M.P., Courtenay, Alfred, Harvey, M.P., and John Manners; Sir Walter Farquhar, Bart., Sir William Heathcote, Bart., M.P., Sir Walter James, Bart., Sir Willoughby Jones, Bart., Right Hon. Henry Goulburn, M.P., Right Hon. Sidney Herbert, M.P., Hon. Sir Edward Cust, K.C.H., the Dean of Canterbury, Charles Bower Adderley, M.P., Lieut. Col. Archer, W. H. Pole, Carlew, M.P., Hon. Richard Cavendish, Hon. Francis Charteris, M.P., S. Cocks, M.P., Rev. C. Coleridge, William Forsyth, Rev. G. R. Gleig, Edmund Halswell, Ven Archdeacon Hare, Rev E. Hawkins, Rev Dr. Hook, Samuel Lucas, F. Alleyne Mc Geachy, J. Simeon, M.P., A. Stafford, M.P., Hon John Talbot, Rev. C. M. Torlesse, Rev. R. C. French, Ven Archdeacon Wilberforce, Charles Wynne, and Rev J. C. Wynter. John Robert Godley was appointed Resident Chief Agent, Captain Thomas was Chief Surveyor, and Mr Thomas Cass and Mr C. O. Torlesse were appointed Assistant Surveyors.

        
The object was to found a settlement, the colonists of which should be members of the Church of England, with a bishop 

and clergy, to establish schools and a college properly endowed. Indeed, in the matter of education, the Association's views and hopes were of the largest; the influence of the system to be established to extend not only to Australia, but to attract students from India and China.

        
The cost of rural land to settlers was to be £3 per acre, in sections of not less than 50 acres; of this money 10s was to go to the cost of forming the settlement and paying for the land; £1 per acre was to be devoted to the Religious and Educational Fund; £1 per acre to the Immigration Fund, and 10s to survey roads, bridges, &c. The price of a half-acre allotment in the capital was to be £24, and of quarter-acre allotments in other towns, £12. These prices were paid by all the first settlers.

        
In 1848 Captain Thomas, Chief Surveyor, with his two assistants, sailed for New Zealand, under instructions to survey the Canterbury land, and prepare matters, so far as possible, for the arrival of the colonists; and in September 1849, he wrote Home from Lyttelton as follows:—"We have now over 110 men at work on surveys, roads and buildings. Lyttelton resembles a country village in England, such is its decency, its order, its regularity and sobriety. The town is surveyed, and we have got the trigonometrical stations fixed and extending over 30,000 acres. By Christmas we hope to complete the trigonometrical surveys of half a million of acres, and the surveys and maps of Christchurch, and the town at the mouth of the Avon."

        
In the meantime the Association in London had not been idle. Meetings had been held; land had been sold; ships chartered; the agent, 
Mr. John Robert Godley, sent out to the colony, and all had been got ready for the departure of the first body of colonists. The Archbishop of Canterbury and the Bishop of Oxford had preached sermons specially to the departing colonists, the former in St. Paul's Cathedral, taking for his text 2 Cor. xiii. 14, "The Grace of our 
Lord Jesus Christ, the love of God and the Communion of the Holy Ghost be with you all;" and the latter in the Abbey Church of St. Peter's, Westminster, from Genesis xii. 1, "Now the Lord said to Abram, get thee out of thy country and from thy kindred, and from thy father's house unto a land that I will show thee." A public breakfast was also given them in July 1850, on board the Randolph, in the East India Docks, Blackwall, when 340 guests, including 160 of the intending colonists, were sumptuously entertained. The London 
Times and other papers had articles on the projected movement; and having been prominent characters in the eyes of the three estates of the realm for months, having been prayed over and blessed by 

the heads of the clergy, and feasted by the laity, the Canterbury Pilgrims, a little band, of 1200 hopeful emigrants, set sail in the 
Randolph, the 
George Seymour, the 

Charlotte Jane, the 
Cressy, the 
Castle Eden, and the 

Isabella Hercus. The first four left Plymouth within a few hours of each other, on the 7th of September, 1850. The 

Charlotte Jane arrived at Port Cooper the first, on Monday morning the 16th December, 1850, the 
Randolph and the 
Sir George Seymour dropped anchor within a few hours, and on the 27th December the 
Cressy entered Lyttelton Harbour. The 16th December is therefore kept as the day of the foundation of Canterbury.

        
It is not easy to convey to those who have only known Lyttelton lately a good idea of what it was in those first days. Harbour works, reclamations, and street formations have completely altered it. Captain Thomas described it as like an English village. So it was, but like a very little one. The immigrants were able to see some signs of civilisation, £24,000 having been spent by the Association in preparations for them. A good substantial jetty, 150 feet long and 16 feet wide, had been run out from the shore, from about where the corner of Oxford-street and Norwich Quay is now, the sea then washing what is now Norwich Quay. Four large immigration barracks had been erected near the site of the present gaol. Some of them are standing at this day. These were capable of holding between 200 and 300 people. A boat-house for a crew, and a boat-shed, a kitchen, wash-house, well 44 feet deep, and other conveniences had been built; and besides these—among the works done by the Association—were a house, office, and stable, all fenced and with gates, for the agent. Captain Thomas had had over 100 men at work for him, and these, besides putting up V huts and tents, had attracted storekeepers and others from "Wellington. There were two public-houses of the rough-and-ready sort, one of which was on the site of, and has since developed into, the well-known Mitre Hotel. There was a butcher's shop, a bakery—owned and worked by our respected and now prosperous citizen, Mr. W. Pratt—a storehouse, and a temporary building for a church. Nearly thirty buildings in all, including raupo huts, dotted about the hill-side near the beach —a small beginning for a wealthy settlement, but enough to give the new arrivals a sense of welcome and friendliness. And most of them thoroughly enjoyed the change, thought nothing of the little roughing or absence of old Home luxuries, and proceeded to make themselves really comfortable, Their first letters to friends in England show this. One wrote, "We had roast turkey, beef, peas, potatoes, and plum-pudding for our Christmas dinner, all that was wanting being the mince pies." Another, "The harbour is beautifully surrounded with high. 

mountains, covered with verdure and bush, in which grow convolvulus and clematis;" while a third speaks of their first gathering on shore for Divine worship—a gathering and a service that must have been more than ordinarily impressive—in the little temporary church, which was crowded to excess, "We had four clergymen and three schoolmasters among us. The latter understand church singing, so we had the whole service chanted beautifully."

        
When the settlers landed, they found 
Mr John Robert Godley, the Agent of the Association, ready to receive them, he having come out to the colony some months previously. The first to land was 
Mr James Edward FitzGerald, whose name is inseparably connected with the foundation of the settlement and its early history. Others followed as fast as they could find accommodation, or build for themselves cottages to live in. Many remained in Lyttelton, which for several years was the principal town in the province, but some preferred to settle down at once on their allotments on the plains, where they roughed it in tents, and some even in excavations in the river banks. A bridle track, which for many years continued to be the route for light traffic, had been made over the hill down to the Heathcote Valley. This track was just passable for horses and cattle, but easy for foot-passengers and sheep. From the summit was gained, a view which could scarcely have been cheering to the new-comers, however grand it might be judged merely 
as a view. A vast panorama of grassy plain, in places stony, in others swampy, through which the Avon and the Heathcote rivers wound tortuously along to the sea beach; the apparently dead level only broken by the Riccarton Bush and Mr. Dean's homestead in the distance to the left, about 200 acres of bush where Papanui now stands, and a somewhat larger patch of bush near where Rangiora now is. To the north the Kaikoura mountains and Mount Grey, to the west an unbroken chain of snow-capped mountains, of which Oxford Hill, Mount Torlesse, Mount Hutt, and Mount Peel—the last sixty miles off in a strait line to W.S.W.—are the principal peaks; while to the south the only boundary was the ocean-like horizon of level land. The only signs of civilisation in all this vast extent were the thread-like paths to. the Heathcote—spanned by a rough bridge far away under the hills in the distance towards Riccarton—and to the Ferry, two temporary buildings erected by Captain Thomas for the use of his survey party, and the blue smoke curling upwards against the sky, which indicated Mr. Dean's homestead.

        
For the settlers just arrived were not the first to tread the plains. Mrs. Deans has written an interesting and graphic account of earlier occupation, which, we cannot do better than quote:—

        


        

          
“In the autumn of 1842, the Plains (now known as the Canterbury Plains), then a very wilderness, had been abandoned for the second time as unfit for colonisation, first by Messrs Cooper and Levy, or their agents, and then by Mr Heriot, agent for Messrs Abercrombie and Co., two rival firms of Sydney, Previous to 1840, Messrs Cooper and Levy traded with the Natives of the Middle Island of New Zealand, in flax, &c., &c., giving their names to the plains, and two bays. One of their vessels was lost with all hands, and the speculation given up. The late Mr W.B. Rhodes, of Wellington, landed cattle at Akaroa in 1839, without settling there. In 1840 or 1841, Mr James Heriot, from Berwickshire and Canada, was sent from Sydney by the firm of Abercrombie and Co., and brought two teams of bullocks, and two men-servants, Ellis, and McKinnon, as well as the wife of the latter. They all camped at what was then known as Potoringamotu (the place of an echo), but what is now. Riccarton, and began to cultivate to a limited, extent; they had a good crop, but the native rats devoured it, and this, with a dread of the bar at the mouth of the river, so discouraged them that they abandoned the place, after about eight months' residence, and left behind them a stack of straw. About 30 acres of land were ploughed up, and either Mr Heriot or one of his men was the first to stick a plough in the soil of Canterbury. The McKinnons afterwards settled on the Peninsula, and Ellis returned, and was partner with Gartner in the Golden Fleece Hotel, Christchurch. There is no tradition of Messrs Cooper and Levy having cultivated any land.”

          
“Between 1840 and 1842, William Deans, of Kirkstyle, Riccarton, Ayrshire, Scotland, who came to Wellington in 1840, in the 
Aurora (one of the first four ships to Wellington), seeing no prospect of getting possession of the land in Wellington that he had purchased from the New Zealand Company in London before leaving, decided on making his home on Port Cooper Plains, provided his brother John, then on his way to the colony, joined him in the venture. John landed at Nelson from the ship 
Thomas Harrison, on 25th October, 1842, and being disappointed and dissatisfied with his section of land there (which he had also bought in London), at once determined to join his brother, and decided to try and effect an exchange of their land orders at a future time. So, with permission of the then existing Government, and with more courage and hope of success than his predecessors showed, William Deans, having twice seen the Plains, and being fully persuaded that sooner or later they would become the site for a large British settlement, left Wellington on 11th February, 1843, in Mr Sinclair's 30 ton schooner, and arrived at Port Levy about ten days after.

          


          
He brought with him John Gebbie, wife, and three children, 
Samuel Manson, wife, and three children, as well as poultry, provisions, and timber to erect a house. A few old whalers had settled at Port Levy with the Maoris, and near them the women and children were left for a few weeks, with John Gebbie as protector. William Deans made what arrangements were necessary with Mr Robinson, Magistrate at Akaroa, who had instructions from Government to render what assistance he could, and then, with S. Manson and a few other hands, sailed up the river Avon in a whaleboat, as far as the 'Bricks' (so named because bricks for building chimneys were landed by them there), and thence in a canoe to the large pool at a bend of the river (at gully west of the Hospital); they then followed the creek which joins the river there (Washbourne's creek), to avoid the flax swamp and bush to the west, to where it outflowed from the river (above Wood's Mill); then up the river-banks through tall fern to Potoringamotu, now 'Riccarton,' where they erected the 'first house built on the Plains.' It still stands, but is somewhat the worse for forty-one years' wear; it is built of wood, put together with wooden pegs, which were made in the tent in the evenings; they had to take the place of nails, which were unfortunately left behind at Wellington. When it was finished, in May, Manson and others returned to Port Levy for John Gebbie and the women and children. They followed the same route as before described. When they reached their destination, William Deans stood all alone by the one only dwelling on the vast plain, watching and waiting to welcome that band of pioneers, the first instalment of the hosts that have since followed to reclaim the wilderness. As the canoe with its contents could not be brought further up the river on account of the shallows, and the distance being too great for the children to travel, each father and boatman on landing, took a child on his shoulders and bravely strode on, the mothers as bravely following, fighting their way through the tall fern and scrub till they reached their destination. On their complaining of the roughness of the way, and the damage done to boots, &c, in consequence, William Deans laughingly told them, there would in the future be roads and railways in all directions, and in all probability a tunnel through the Port Hills, and that hereafter they would be able to drive about in their carriages. The house, or rather shed (now known as the 'old barn),' that was to shelter them during the winter months, was partitioned off into three apartments with blankets and sheets, the two families taking one each, leaving the sitting room for the Messrs Deans. It had also a loft above for stores The weather was very cold from the first, and battens had to be nailed in to exclude the cold and rain.”

          
“In March, Mr Sinclair returned to Wellington for his own 

wife and family, and he was joined by the late Ebenezer Hay, wife and family, both of them settling in Pigeon Bay; the Messrs Greenwood also accompanied them, and settled at Purau, with what provisions they required. A few weeks after William Deans left Wellington; John Deans also sailed from there, by. the first chance, to Newcastle, for stock, and arrived at Port Cooper (now Lyttelton) by 
Princess Royal, on 17th of June, after a passage of 21 days, bringing with him 61 head of cattle, 3 mares, and 43 sheep, all of a good class. A larger number of sheep were bought, but were not delivered in time before the ship sailed; he lost on the passage six steers and heifers, and one mare. He also brought seed wheat for five acres, seed oats for three acres, and barley for three acres, lucerne seed, and potatoes. 
Samuel Manson is now (in 1884) the only male survivor of that first band of stout-hearted pioneers; but with the exception of the Sinclairs, who sold out and went to Honolulu, and the Greenwoods, who also sold out, the descendants of the others, as well as Manson, continue to occupy their first selections of land.”

          
“It was no easy matter bringing the stock home after landing—first the hills to climb and then the swamps and boggy creeks to encounter on the plains, but the task, though difficult, was accomplished successfully. William Deans had brought a small hand steel flour-mill with him from Wellington, and at it each (as amusement) took a turn in the evening to grind the flour for their bread. It ground 40 lbs. an hour. In January, 1844, they had broken in and milked 20 cows, from which they made cheese and butter of excellent quality, which obtained a high name in Sydney. They had also cleared three roods of garden ground of fern and tree stumps, and had good crops of cabbages, peas, potatoes, onions, leeks, and parsnips; but carrots, turnips, melons, cucumbers, &c, were eaten off by a small fly as soon as brairded. They had also planted strawberries, but without success, and apple and plum trees. They came as colonists, and put their shoulders to the wheel. In two years' time, besides the above mentioned work, they had built three houses at Riccarton (Manson chief carpenter); all these buildings are still in use, and one of them, for strength and finish, will bear favourable comparison with any wooden house since erected on the plains. Two bridges were also built, and cattle sheds and yards were erected. John Deans and John Gebbie re-ploughed the ground formerly broken up by Heriot, and broke up several acres of new land, where the 
insignis trees are now growing, west of the gully in Hagley Park. Their crops were good, their barley was early, and they reaped it on Christmas Day. The little community was composed of Scotch Presbyterians from 

Ayrshire, and began to long for a pastor. The settlement was occasionally visited by the Catholic Priest who had charge of the French settlers at Akaroa, and the late Bishop Selwyn sometimes visited the settlement on his missionary tour. The grain was threshed with flails. The families on the Peninsula bought descendants of cattle landed at Akaroa in 1839 by the late Mr W. B. Rhodes, of Wellington.”

          
“The chief occupations were building, fencing, gardening, and stock-keeping, the latter being William Dean's special care; and the women, at all stations, besides their domestic duties, attended to the dairies, and made the soap and candles required. Their sport was stock riding when the flocks or herds strayed, an occasional wild dog or wild pig hunt (the wild pigs were not very plentiful), duck shooting, pigeon shooting, and fishing for eels and flounders. The native quail and pigeons soon became very scarce, but flounders and eels were plentiful far up the river. At Riccarton they had a memorable visit from the late William Lyon, of Wellington, who started from Akaroa with Mr. Greenwood to walk round by the old Maori track. He was taken ill in the Big Swamp, near Ahuriri, and had to be left in a flax bush there till Mr. Greenwood came on to Riccarton early in the morning for a horse, blankets, and warm refreshments and assistance, which he soon procured, and Mr. Lyon was found and brought on, and after a few days' nursing he recovered. It was during that visit that he pointed to the western (now Malvern) hills as most likely to contain coal. It was about that time the first slight earthquake was felt.”

          
“In May of 1845 the Gebbies and Mansons took up their own selections at the Head of the Bay, where the families still remain. They left Riccarton on a fine calm morning, but before reaching the bar of the river at Sumner the wind had risen, and the bar was very rough. The women and children were landed, and remained in a cave all night, hungry and cold; the whaleboat was capsized on the bar, and William Deans saved his life by clinging to a box of tea. The late William Todd and wife (Lincoln) replaced the other two couples, and remained nearly seven years. At one period of that time Mrs. Todd had been nearly two years without seeing a white woman.”

          
“In 1846, there was the most severe winter they had known, storms, frosts, rain, and snow, leaving the ground so wet that no wheat could be sown that year. Mr Sinclair left again in his schooner for Wellington for a supply of provisions, but the vessel was lost with all on board. The settlers were on the point of starvation—there being only one bag of flour and a few potatoes amongst all the families. A French ship arrived and gave temporary relief, and afterwards reported their condition at Wellington, from whence they soon received supplies.”

          


          
“Early in August the settlers at Riccarton were called upon by three men, describing themselves as shipwrecked sailors. They were hospitably received and welcomed, as all visitors were. They stayed the night, giving and receiving news. Next morning they praised the comforts of their quarters, and especially admired the size and warmth of the blankets. After gaining all the information they could of people and places, and being provided with necessaries for the journey, they left for the Head of the Bay, where they spent another night, and then proceeded to Messrs. Greenwood's station at Purau, where they were engaged as labourers and worked for a few days. Suddenly one evening, while seated at tea, at a given signal, they rose and pinioned their masters, who were at table with them. They searched the house, taking whatever they thought desirable, and obliged one of the brothers Greenwood and William Prebble (now of Prebbleton) to carry the plunder to the boat on the beach, which they also took possession of to cross the Bay on their way to Riccarton to do the same. They dared Messrs. Greenwood and Prebble to leave the spot on pain of death till they had gone a certain distance across the Bay. The latter, as soon as he considered it safe, returned to the house and released the other brother, who had remained bound all the while. They immediately left for Port Levy, where a number of old whalers (most useful people in those days) had settled down, and they at once took boat and came round, and up the river next morning, anticipating the robbers by several hours. A mist had overtaken them on the hills, and, instead of coming direct to Riccarton, they wandered to the caves near Sumner, where they heard the splash of the oars of the whaleboat passing. The brothers Deans had armed all hands with what weapons they could provide, and waited the approach of the robbers, who found their way into the bush at dusk. Their camp fires were seen for three nights, but seeing the place so well defended by so many men marching up and down and all round, they never ventured out of their hidings till the coming of a snow storm made their quarters uncomfortable. They then decamped, and their footsteps were traced in the snow for some distance towards Otago. One was drowned crossing a river on the way, the other two were captured in Otago, and taken to Auckland by Mr. Cass (late Chief Surveyor), where they received their sentence.”

          
“In 1846, after 'squatting' three years, the brothers Deans obtained leave from Government to lease land from the Natives, who were still the owners of the soil. The first lease of land on the plains was entered into and signed by the brothers Deans and the Maori owners on 3rd December. That was another step towards successful coloniaztion. Regularly as 'rent day' 

came round, the 'landlords' came for their rent (sometimes no easy matter to provide, though the amount was small), and a great feasting on pigs, potatoes, sugar, flour, and rice lasted for about a week each year. The Natives were always most friendly, and looked upon the white people more as protectors than as enemies. They still continue to work on the Riccarton estate, when there is potato digging or turnip or mangold lift to be done.”

          
“In 1847, the Messrs. Rhodes bought Purau from theGreenwoods, who, with Mr. Caverhill, took up Motonau Run. John Deans returned to New South Wales for a second shipment of stock, arriving again at mid-winter in the 
Comet, (a small vessel), with 600 sheep and some steers, the latter for killing purposes.”

          
“1848—The New Zealand Company had now purchased from the Natives (with the Governor's consent) all the land along the East Coast, and the Messrs. Deans were enabled, at last, to effect an exchange of their Wellington, Manawatu, and Nelson land orders for an equal quantity (400 acres) at 'Potoringamotu,' which they now named 'Riccarton,' after their native parish in Ayrshire. This block contained the greater part of their cultivations and fencing. They also gave up (for the use of the expected settlers) one half of the timber in the bush, which they might have retained. They named the river "Avon," after the Avon flowing into the Clyde near Hamilton; it bounded their grandfather's property in Lanarkshire. Mr. Hay, of Pigeon Bay, effected a similar exchange of land orders. Sometimes as many as thirty vessels would visit the Bays during the season. In October of this year (1848) the first great earthquake occurred, and it was felt all over New Zealand.”

          
“In 1849 Sir George and Lady Grey spent a few days with the Messrs. Deans, at Riccarton, and afterwards presented them with some Cape oak trees, the first planted on the plains. The surveyors for the Canterbury Association had arrived, and were busy preparing for the expected settlers. The map of Riccarton was drawn, and signed on 22nd August, 1849, by Captain Thomas, agent for the Canterbury Association, as "approved" in accordance with agreement made with Mr. (now Sir William) Fox in December, 1848. Riccarton was the first estate reserved on the plains, though numbered 163 on the surveyors' map—placed 
after, instead of 
before, the Pilgrim selections.”

        

        
Such is Mrs. Dean's account of the first settlement on the plains. We will now return to our pilgrims.

        
Once landed and housed the settlers were not long getting to work in earnest. Lyttelton rapidly became a thriving little business town. Mr L. T. Shrimpton, one of the first arrivals, 

brought with him a printing plant, and within three weeks of his landing Canterbury had its weekly paper, 
The Lyttelton Times, published and printed by Mr Shrimpton, and edited by Mr J. E. Fitz Gerald. Shops and wholesale stores multiplied rapidly, and the work of supplying the material wants of the settlers was fully attended to. The Union Bank of Australia opened a branch in Lyttelton, and the opening was connected with rather a sad circumstance. The agent sent out with the necessary funds was found to be so mentally afflicted on arrival that the effects were taken charge of, and business transacted, by one of the Government officials, till his successor came down. The London and Liverpool Insurance Office also opened a branch, under the management of Mr J. T. Cookson. Mr A. J. Alport was the first auctioneer, and among the business firms the names of Longden and Lecren, D. M. Laurie, B. Beamish, Tippits, Silk, and Heywood, Nankivell, P. Campbell, and Waters, will be remembered by old identities. There was also a lawyer to manage their legal business, Mr R. Wormald's advertisement appearing constantly in the newspaper, spreading nets for the flies. How rapidly the settlement grew may be gathered from the fact that by January 1, 1852—one short year—nineteen vessels had arrived from the Mother Country, bringing 3000 souls, besides numbers of craft from other parts of New Zealand and Australia. By this time 25,000 acres of freehold land had been purchased by—with but few exceptions—resident proprietors; 600 acres were tilled for the coming year, a great breadth of freehold being substantially fenced and under cultivation; and pasturage runs to the extent of 400,000 acres taken up for stock. Not a bad record this for a portion of the first twelve months' work in a new country.

        
It is opportune here to mention that the leasing of large tracts of country for sheep runs was contrary to the first intentions of the Association, whose idea was to sell the land in small blocks with commonage attached, so as, if possible, to settle the outlying districts with small holders. When sheep farmers from Australia first arrived, Mr. Godley refused to grant them pasturage licenses, and as strenuously as he could opposed the landing of sheep. Had he been able to maintain his point the fate of Canterbury might have been very different from what it is. But he was forced to yield, and, as we have seen, a large tract of country was rapidly taken up and stocked.

        
We have said that many of the first settlers preferred crossing at once on to the plains to remaining in Lyttelton. As no preparations had been made for them, they had literally to pitch their tents—at least those who had been fortunate enough to bring such articles out with them—to improvise 

flax and raupo huts, or to make caves in the banks of the river. The allotment of sections had not been made, so house building could not be commenced; and till that was done they continued to live in this primitive style. It was on that part of the plain near where the hospital now stands that most of them chose for their temporary dwellings. In planting and making even these rude residences they found that mistakes were easy to make. But for the help of some Maories the thatches of flax and raupo to the huts would have been too sieve-like to be serviceable, while even the pitching of a tent was an awkward matter for a novice. When a few days' rough weather came on, shortly after they had camped, it taught them some lessons. One had selected a hollow, which the rain soon changed into a small lake, to the detriment of bedding, and the discomfort of the inmates. One night a southerly-buster carried the Rev. Mr. Willock's tent clean away, leaving him and his family, all being in bed at the time, exposed to the full fury of such a storm of wind and rain as we seldom get now, but which the early settlers will remember vividly. And similar 
contretemps were not uncommon during the few months that elapsed before the settlers could get on their allotments. A little rough weather made a walk across where Christchurch and its suburbs now stand, almost a matter of wading knee-deep through mud. Those first Christchurch settlers fully learnt the meaning of roughing it. They had to carry their provisions from Lyttelton over the hill to their camp, and they had to put up with inconveniences which their fellow settlers in Lyttelton were spared. Those were really primitive days. A pole laid across the Avon, near where the Hereford-street bridge now is, with the upper side roughly trimmed off with an axe, making a surface about three inches wide, was the first Christchurch bridge, and the dexterity with which it was used would astonish some of our young gymnasts now. Papanui bush was soon brought into requisition, most of the timber for the first houses in Christchurch being obtained from it, and Mr. Deans' bush at Riccarton.

        
Christchurch had in twelve months grown, if not into something like a town, at least into an embryo one. The road from the foot of the Bridle path to the Heathcote ferry had been finished, and continued from the ferry to Christchurch, and another one branching from it carried straight along about where Madras-street now runs to the Bricks wharf, on the Avon, which stood close by where the Madras bridge crosses the river. We believe a boatshed now stands on the exact spot. A Mr Beresford had commenced running a conveyance cart to and from the Ferry and Christchurch. A description of the plain, as it looked then, will not be uninteresting. The 

following account is taken from the 
Lyttelton Times of 17th April, 1852. When we remember that it describes what was the work of little more than twelve months, done in the face of difficult, slow, and infrequent communication with the port; we can but wonder; and to look on the plain from the hills to-day, it is difficult to realise that we are writing of what was only thirty years ago; that without any adventitious aid of goldfields or other attractions, the place has grown so large in such a short time.

        
The writer says:—

        

          
“The moment the traveller has crossed the neck, 1100 feet high, over which the Bridle Path leads from Lyttelton, he sees signs of industry and plenty. Christchurch looms in the distance, on the level plains, larger than it really is. In the valley, the eastern edge of which he skirts in going to the Ferry, he passes a neat parsonage, inhabited by the Rev. E. Puckle, with its flourishing garden; the embryo establishment of the Rev. Mr. Paul, one of the Commissaries of the Bishop of New Zealand for this district; the farmhouse and garden of Mr. Townsend, and two or three smaller dwellings with their patches of kitchen garden. Cattle and horses are enjoying the rich pasture of the unreclaimed soil.

          
“A new ferry and wharf is being constructed opposite Mr. Townsend's house. When this is finished the road will be still further shortened, and the ascent of the low spur avoided. North of the ferry the Heathcote Arms Inn, with its stable, and two or three other houses, with their gardens, form the nucleus of what promises to become a village at no distant date.

          
“About a mile along the road you pass Christchurch Quay, where there are often four or five schooners and cutters unloading at ones, and as many carts loading. For the next mile and a half there are several dwellings, and good sized patches of cultivated land on either side. There have been very good crops in these small farms, a small crop of wheat belonging to a labouring man of the name of Parish, and a field of oats on Mr. Cridland's land, being especially remarked. Allen's market garden is also distinguished by the goodness of the vegetables, and the bright colours and sweet smell of the flower beds.

          
"Looking towards the Peninsula hills numerous homesteads are seen on the rural sections which border both sides of the Heathcote; and when near the quay, a goodly row of stacks at Mr. Kent's farm across the river cheers the eye.

          
"East of the town of Christchurch, on either bank of the Avon, there are some improvements worthy of notice.

          


          
"On the north bank, opposite the wharf at the 'Bricks,' a cemetery has been reserved, of which a few acres have been fenced in by bank and ditch. Near its outer fence is the house and garden of Mr. Bowron, who owns the nearest rural section.

          
"Adjoining the wharf, 22 acres, reserved for a Botanical Garden, have been substantially fenced in at the expense of the members of the Horticultural Society. A nursery gardener named Wilson has been allowed to occupy a part of this ground for the present. In a small inner enclosure he has raised a large number of young plants and trees, including Australian wattle, firs, and fruit trees of various kinds. A hive of bees is also struggling for existence.

          
"Two slaughter houses stand on that part of the Town Belt which is reserved as a cattle market, just outside the south eastern boundary of the Gardens.

          
"A road, made by private subscription, leads from this spot for about a quarter of a mile along the south bank. The first farm is Mr Brittan's. A neat wire fence fronts the road for a short distance, and is succeeded by a row of healthy looking hawthorn and furze plants on the top of the bank. The kitchen garden on the slope between the buildings and the road displays an abundance of vegetables and fruit trees of many kinds, besides a few willows and wattles. All the vegetables have succeeded to perfection here; there could not be finer potatoes, cabbages, turnips, onions, carrots, and parsnips; celery also flourishes. Peas and beans of several kinds were equally productive in their season.

          
"A substantial cob house is being erected in the rear of the temporary hut, covered with rushes, which has afforded the first year's shelter to the farming man. Well-stocked piggeries and fowl house, a milking shed, and two ricks, stand in the neighbourhood.

          
"Beside the kitchen garden, about twenty-three acres have been cropped on this farm. The soil is a light sandy loam, easily worked with two horses, now that the 
tutu roots have been extracted. I am told that this operation swelled the cost of tilling, in the first year, to £10 or £12 per acre; which is reckoned to have produced from twenty-eight to thirty bushels per acre; oats, barley, and potatoes afforded a much larger crop in proportion. The quality of all the crops is remarkably good, and as the land is now thoroughly cleansed, the yield, may be expected to augment next harvest.

          
"The next section is Mr. Tancred's. A very small patch of maize is remarkable as the only one in the settlement likely to ripen, and as promising a really good crop. A good example 

is set here, in the shape of a genuine, well-hung, English five-barred gate. A neat cottage is nearly completed, built of concrete. There is also a small kitchen and flower garden, with a few fruit trees.

          
"The greater part of the next section has been sold by its proprietor, Mr. Bradley, in small lots. Three or four dwellings of various sizes stand on it, each with a small piece of cultivation.

          
"Next in succession is Mr Joseph Brittan's farm, on which a small house has been built, the foundations of a larger one laid; and a small patch of ground fenced in, broken up, and sown, although the owner only arrived in the last ship. The soil becomes much more sandy hereabouts, and there are, indeed, sandhills on the section barely covered with grass, on which stands Trig Station, No. 11, C.

          
"About a quarter of a mile lower down the river is Mr. Percival's house, and about an acre of well-cultivated garden full of vegetables of all kinds, and fruit trees. Still lower down there are two labourers' cottages, each with a small patch of potato garden, on the sections of Captain Westenra and Captain Wilkinson.

          
"On the north bank, opposite these last, there is a large house built by Mr. Dudley on his section, and a short distance higher up the tasteful cottage of Dr. C. Dudley, whose thatched roof and dormer windows remind the eye of England. Three smaller houses stand in the neighbourhood of these two, and there are several patches of fenced cultivation.

          
"Between the sections bordering on the south bank and those fronting the Lyttelton road, Mr Tuson owns a section, a part of which has been sold out in small lots, so that there are already three or four cottages besides his own; a good deal of fencing done; and a little land roughly cultivated.”

        

        
In the centre of the town there was an appearance of business. Michael Brennan Hart had opened the White Hart Hotel, on the site of the present hotel of that name, which was in those days, and for long afterwards, described as "at the corner of Cashel-street and the Sumner road," there being no houses between it and Caversham House, now the Caversham Hotel, at the corner of Madras and Lower High-streets. The Golden Fleece Hotel, on its present site, had also been opened by Gartner and his partner. Mr. C. W. Bishop's store was near it. Mr. G. Gould had a timber yard and store. A few shops, bakers,' bootmakers,' butchers,' &c., were scattered about. In May, 1852, J. C. Thacker set up a printing office.

        


        
But besides money making these early settlers had much stiff work to do. They had to build up political, religious, educational and social institutions on a firm basis if Canterbury was ever to be a powerful, prosperous community. Hitherto public matters were managed by the agent and officers of the Canterbury Association, with some little assistance, or rather interference and hindrance, on the part of 
Sir George Grey's Government, both being further hampered by the Home Government and the head office of the Association in London, to either of which authorities matters of importance had to be referred. This was soon found to be a most wretched state of things, and in the work of forming and bringing into acceptance and operation a better system, the Society of Land Purchasers, as it was called, took the lead. This Society was formed originally in London of those who had purchased their land of the Association, and on their arrival they continued to meet at regular intervals, but soon re-formed themselves into the Colonists' Society, on a broader basis, taking in as members other settlers, and meeting regularly in Christchurch and Lyttelton. One of their first works was their agitation, begun almost immediately after their arrival, for a Provincial Constitution for Canterbury, and a memorial, signed by 343 male adults, was in September, 1851, forwarded to 
Sir George Grey on the subject. They, however, guarded themselves from approval of a measure for establishing Provincial Councils which had been passed, believing that it did not give the people any real control over their local affairs or the expenditure of their own revenues. They urged the erection of Canterbury into a separate province.

        
The want of adequate machinery for the administration of justice, civil and criminal, was much felt. There was a judge of the Supreme Court in Wellington, who presided over the province of New Munster, receiving £800 a year, and Canterbury cases beyond the jurisdiction of the Resident Magistrate had to go to Wellington; the consequence was that people preferred to take no notice of felonies sooner than incur the annoyance and expense of prosecution, involving as it did the serious delay of a journey to and from Wellington—a grave matter in those days, when the quickest route to Auckland was 
via Sydney, and lesser journeys on the same scale.

        
There was a judge in Otago, who received £800 a year, and who in two years had only sat once on the Bench, and Canterbury settlers feared that one result of a memorial to 
Sir George Grey for the holding of the Supreme Court here which they had forwarded to him, would be that he would be appointed. He was in very bad odour at the time. He had just brought an action for defamation of character against three persons, 

conducting his own case. The Otago paper had referred to his conduct as "more befitting a street brawler than a judge," and in his speech he had indulged in slanders of so gross a character that the paper would not publish them. A cross action had been brought against him for assaulting a man in the street, when he was convicted, his plea being that he had received such provocation that "he could not wait for the slow and tardy operation of the law." Such conduct and language in open court on the part of a Judge of the Supreme Court revolted people in Otago, and made our Canterbury settlers very uncomfortable at the chance of having him to preside over them.

        
There were duels in those days. And we may mention here that one result of the cases just referred to was that Dr. Manning sent Judge Stephen a challenge, which, however, he did not accept, but had the sender bound over to keep the peace.

        
Another question which had to be fought out in those days was that of communication between Lyttelton and the plains. The want of an easy road was felt severely by settlers in both places. There are many now living who remember the time when they had to carry their provisions, flour, sugar, &c., on their backs over the Bridle Path, and only those who have done it know what that two mile walk over a hill 1100 feet high was. Unencumbered with any package it was bad enough, but under a load of half a hundred of flour, a bag of sugar, and a box of tea, to say nothing of sundries, it was killing work. Yet scores had to suffer it or let their families go short. A dozen years' afterwards Dick Thatcher, "The Inimitable," sang to Christchurch audiences the miseries of that walk, and as it is very graphic we give his song as follows:—

        

          

            

              
Over The Hill.
            


            
My breath is short; I feel weak, and I'm blowing


            
  Like a huge grampus. I must toil until


            
I reach the top; how slowly I am going


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          

            
My strength is drawn on by my resolution,


            
  But strength's unable to accept the bill,


            
I climb no faster than a Lilliputian


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          

            
This toiling to condition might restore me,


            
  Were I a man in training for a mill;


            
But I've no pugilistic work before me


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          


          

            
I dare not ride; it is such freezing weather;


            
  Equestrian exercise would cause a spill,


            
My horse and I might tumble down together


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          

            
I grasp the rugged rocks now with my flippers:


            
  To climb the frozen ground requires some skill.


            
My boots are for the time transformed to 
slippers


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          

            
Unto myself I frequently now wonder


            
  If this can be the spot where Jack and Gill,


            
When fetching water, made that fatal blunder


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          

            
What early riser who, his bed forsaking,


            
  Would choose this walk for his pedestrian skill?


            
An early 
rise out of him 'twould be taking


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          

            
The ascent called "Difficulty," Bunyan tells us,


            
Was overcome by Christian's earnest will;


            
In climbing we must own that he excells us


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          

            
Oh! would that I could mount as fast as he did:


            
I lack the strength although I have the will.


            
My 
progress by my 
bunion is impeded


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          

            
Oh! for some cognac to assist my tussles;


            
'Twould warm the 
cockles of my heart; but still


            
Would it afford assistance to my 
muscles?


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          

            
Napoleon and his staff seem to upbraid me,


            
Even the Alps were crossed by his stern will:


            
But just remember, I've no 
staff to aid me


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          

            
With perspiration now my brow is wetted:


            
Napoleon's 
mettle was first rate, but still


            
That 
sovereign, it strikes me, was nicely 
sweated


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          

            
The slippery path my onward path doth hinder,


            
Before I reach the top the toil must kill;


            
I've lots of 
pains— I'll be a 
broken winder


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          

            
Sure, "
Facilis descensus est averni!"


            
I've gained the top and feel a pleasant thrill;


            
But going down's the worst part of the journey


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          


          

            
Before me, on the plain, the river's flowing;


            
  But, though descending, my nerves tremble still;


            
I find my 
hams too are not 
cured by going


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          

            
The cart is starting soon, and I must hasten,


            
  I take a nice draught of the trickling rill


            
Flowing into kind 
Charlotte Godley's basin


            
                        Over the hill.
          

          

            
I'm down at last; I own its been a 
corker,


            
  To go back now would be a bitter pill;


            
The pleasure of that two miles' walk's all "Walker"


            
                        Over the hill.
          

        

        
That public meetings should have been held on this question needs no saying. Various persons advocated different plans. Captain Thomas had commenced the road round the side of the hill to Sumner, but though its completion to a fit state for dray traffic would be a long and expensive matter, many urged this work; and that 
Sir George Grey should be applied to for a loan of £15,000 to defray the cost. Others advocated the formation of a road over the Raupaki Spur, and others again urged the purchase of two steamers to ply between Lyttelton and the Heathcote. At the time all heavy traffic was sent round in lighters, from the port to the Ferry and up to a wharf built on the Heathcote; but as they were frequently detained in Lyttelton by rough weather, for a week at a time, and the Sumner Bar was as often dangerous even in fine weather, it was always entirely a matter of chance whether goods sent round that way arrived at their destination in a day, a week, or a month, and even then the expense was very heavy. That the question should have been a burning one is not surprising, and it continued to be agitated for several years, till, in fact, the "hole through the hill" was finally decided on. The Sumner road, however, we may state here, was slowly gone on with, and eventually opened with much rejoicing. But of that anon.

        
At this time the Old New Zealand Company being very much in debt, and having come to an end of its colonising works, an attempt was made to saddle the colony with its liabilities, which was strenuously resisted, as far as Canterbury was concerned, by the entire body of settlers.

        
1852 was an important year for Canterbury. Settlers had got pretty well settled down on their allotments, and business had got into something like a proper train. Already land, in both Christchurch and Lyttelton, had risen in value—an "unearned 

increment," as it would be called now, of which the original purchasers reaped the benefit. As early as March in this year four quarter-acre sections near the Market Place in Christchurch were sold for £30 each, a good price in those days.

        
In March, 1852, the members of the Church of England held meetings both in Christchurch and Lyttelton for the purpose of organising a government for the Church in New Zealand, when a committee was formed to communicate with the Bishop of New Zealand on the subject of their managing their own ecclesiastical matters. In this month a 
Government Gazette was issued, proclaiming the middle and southern districts of the island united for the purposes of the Supreme Court, and appointing Judge Stephen to act as Judge for the whole district —
i.e., for Wellington, Nelson, Canterbury, and Otago. Again, in this month, 
Sir George Grey, the then Governor of the colony, paid his first official visit to Canterbury, and received a deputation in the old Land Office in Christchurch. In reply to it, arrangements were made for a mail between Christchurch and Lyttelton, the plains having been without any mail service hitherto, settlers having had to journey to Lyttelton for their letters. Another necessary institution—a lock-up in Christchurch —was arranged for. This was put in hand very speedily, and finished in a couple of months by the contractor, Mr. Isaac Luck. It was situated at the corner of Armagh-street and Cambridge Terrace, and on its completion the contractor opened it with a ball, which many people now in Christchurch remember well. The singularity of celebrating the completion of such a building in such a manner does not appear to have occurred to people then.

        
Another matter arranged by 
Sir. George Grey on this visit was the holding of sittings of the Supreme Court in Lyttelton, which was felt to be a great boon. It was not, however, till November that the full fruition of this was experienced, the first sittings ever held in Canterbury being opened on the 7th, in Lyttelton, by Judge Stephen.

        
In April, 1852, the foundation-stone of the first church in the Canterbury settlement was laid in Lyttelton. It was on the site of the present church, and was attended with the impressive ceremony which such an event naturally demanded. For eighteen months the settlement, avowedly a Church of England one, had been without a consecrated building, and the delay had been a matter of much regret to those who had looked forward to its erection being one of the first works undertaken. The church—named "The Most Holy Trinity"—was completed and opened in January, 1853, the Rev B. W. Dudley being appointed minister. Very shortly afterwards it had to be pulled 

down, the timbers having given and warped to such an extent as to render it absolutely unsafe, and eventually the present church was built.

        
In April, 1852, the first commencement of Christ's College Grammar School was opened in Christchurch, in a building now standing in Oxford Terrace, close to St. Michael's Church, with the Rev—now Dean—Jacobs as head master. The school had hitherto been held in Lyttelton in a very primitive way, and indeed the commencement in Christchurch was far from imposing, the building being poor, the attendance small and uncertain, and many of the scholars being more fit for the "primer" than the classics. Still it was a beginning.

        
In June, 1852, the settlers were much exercised over a proclamation issued by 
Sir George Grey that persons should send in their claims to be placed on the Electoral Roll for the Provincial Council, and in August another proclamation determined the number of members to sit in the Provincial Council of New Munster for Canterbury. It gave one member to the town of Christchurch, two to Christchurch country, one to the town of Lyttelton, and one to Akaroa. There was a great ferment over this action of 
Sir George Grey's; his scheme of a Provincial Council, to include Otago, Canterbury, and Nelson, not meeting the views of our settlers on local Government, and the majority of the people declined to register their claims. Eventually Sir George's action in this matter was disallowed by the Home Government.

        
But though attending to political, religious, and educational affairs, other matters were not ignored in those days.

        
The first cricket match in Hagley Park was played in April, 1852, between two teams, Married 
v. Single, the married being the victors. They knew how to put their hands in their pockets too, for the necessary funds, £30 being collected towards making a good ground. The first exhibition of Agricultural, Botanical, and Horticultural produce was also held this year, in Hagley Park, on the 16th December. A public meeting to take steps to establish an Athenæum in Christchurch was held in July; other matters also occurred.

        
A Christchurch paper, 
The Guardian, was started, but died after a run of very few months, but the very fact of anyone being bold enough to. commence publishing it, proved how the town had progressed. The Freemasons had applied to the Grand Lodge of England for a Charter, or warrant of constitution; improved means of communication enabled news to be received from Auckland 
only a month old; the first prospectus of the now well-remembered New Zealand Steam Navigation Company had been issued, and a farewell breakfast to 
Mr. J. R. Godley, 

prior to his departure for England, given in a marque in Hagley Park, winds up the record of this year. We should not omit that a Mr. Thompson had brought an empty dray, drawn by two horses, over the Bridle Path from Lyttelton to Christchurch, a great feat in those days. A glance at the path now will convince anyone of the difficulty of it.

        
1853 was another year of work and progress. Provincial Institutions, as we enjoyed them for twenty years, were first brought into being. The early part of the year was a time of political ferment, consequent on this and the coming election of our first Superintendent and Provincial Councillors. Three candidates were in the field for the Superintendency: Mr. J. E. FietzGerald, Colonel Campbell, who held the post of Commissioner of Lands, and Mr. Tancred. The election took place on the 20th July, when Mr. FitzGerald was at the head of the poll with 135 votes, Colonel Campbell coming next with 94, and Mr. Tancred closing the list with 89. The great interest taken in the fight is shown by the fact that out of 125 voters on the Lyttelton roll 100 polled, and only 12 did not vote. Closely following this were the elections for the first House of Representatives, which took place, for Lyttelton, on the 17th; for Christchurch town on the 20th; and Christchurch country on the 27th August.

        
The first meeting of the Provincial Council of Canterbury was opened on the 27th September, 1853, in the building that had previously been used as the printing office of the 
Guardian Newspaper, then defunct. Captain Simeon was elected Speaker, and the Rev. W. Aylmer Chairman of Committee. His Honor, the Superintendent, in his opening speech, drew attention to the great progress the province had made. Not three years had elapsed since the landing of the settlers, and yet 3400 acres were under crop, 7500 acres fenced, while it owned 100,000 sheep, 4000 cattle, and 400 horses. Within the Canterbury block one million acres had been taken up for pasturage purposes, yielding £2400 a year. The property in the province was roughly estimated at half a million sterling. The customs' duties for the year ending June, 1853, were £3894; the imports £54,715, and the exports of produce (including wool, £8290), £13,000. The vessels entering the port in the same period numbered 68, representing 11,864 tons.

        
By a proclamation in the General 
Government Gazette, dated 1st October, 1853, a Collector of Customs was appointed for the port. Hitherto the work attached to the office having been performed by a sub-treasurer, which office was then abolished. All departments of Government connected with the settlement, except Customs, Postal, and Lands, were given over to the 

Superintendent and Provincial Council; one-third of the net revenue of the Customs and Post Office were remitted to the Colonial Treasurer, and two-thirds were to be at the disposal of the Provincial Council.

        
Thus in this year a great step in the direction of genuine local Government had been achieved, thanks to the steady refusal of the settlers to accept 
Sir George Grey's first scheme. This comparative freedom from outside interference was thus recorded:—

        

          

            
"As when a stream, long chafing to be free


            
From narrowing banks that do its course refrain,


            
From rocky islets' intercepting chain,


            
And tangled overgrowth and drifting tree—


            
Forth bursts at length from dull obscurity,


            
And sweeps majestic through the boundless plain.


            
So have I seen an infant state remain


            
Long trammelled by obstructive policy,


            
Misgovernment, official prejudice,


            
Numbed by suspense and chilled by mystery;


            
At length free scope is given. I see it rise,


            
Strong, active, self-reliant—May we see,


            
Who watch thy course with loving, anxious eyes,


            
Thy province ripen to maturity.”
          

        

        
Other matters were progressing in like manner. In May, 1853, the first public market was held in Christchurch. It was said to be "well attended" when fifty persons were present. Considerable quantities of wheat changed hands at 10s a bushel (what would farmers say to that price now?). Seed wheat fetched 12s; barley 8s; oats were enquired for at 6s; potatoes brought £4 to £6 per ton; carrots £4 to £5; swedes, £2 10s. The 
Canterbury Standard, a paper that lived for many years, first appeared in August. In the same month the first vessel built of New Zealand timber, and by Canterbury industry, was launched in Lyttelton. It was the 
Caledonia, 20 tons registered tonnage, cutter rigged, built by Messrs Grubb and Marshall. In October a cattle show was held in the Market Place, Christchurch; and in September the first commercial steamer entered our waters, the P. and O. S. N. Co's. S. 
Anne, 154 tons, Gibbs, and of course over such an event there was great rejoicing. A signal station, to signal the approaching vessels, was, by the kindness of Major Hornbrook, established on a point of the hills on his run that commands the entrance to the harbour. Wesleyans were getting subscriptions for a chapel in Lyttelton; an English church at Riccarton was commenced; and a meeting had been held "in the village of Papanui," about a Mechanics' Institute and schoolroom. Christchurch had its Town Hall at the corners of Hereford-street and Cathedral Square, facing down what was then called the Sumner road (
i.e., High-street at 

present). The Hall was 66 feet by 22 feet, with a gallery 10 feet wide. It had also two rooms united by a verandah, capable of being enclosed. A door led out from the gallery to a covered verandah over a porch that was used for a hustings.

        
A Postal Service, three times a week, between Christchurch and Lyttelton, was established in November, 1853; Mr. Bayfield's shop, "on the Sumner road," being the Christchurch office, and grand the people thought it to get this. The other postal service in the province was a fortnightly one, between Lyttelton and Akaroa.

        
The first partridge's egg laid in New Zealand was laid in Mr. W. G. Brittan's grounds, in November, 1853. They were safely hatched in the following January.

        
The year 1854 was one of quiet progress, undisturbed by any particularly great events. The Wesleyans had completed, and in this year opened, their first modest little chapel in Christchurch. The members of the Free Church of Scotland were busy with their building committee. Gold had been found in the Malvern Hills; the Avon flour mills were opened; the Rev. G. Cotterill opened a Grammar school in Lyttelton; the formation of docks in Lyttelton was mooted; the Canterbury Jockey Club was formed; the second sitting of the Supreme Court, since the foundation of the settlement, was held on the 27th November, and 
Mr. J. E. FitzGerald handed to the Colonists' Society, Lyttelton, £116, the amount allowed him for his expenses as M. H. R., for the foundation of a library.

        
Both Christchurch and Lyttelton had grown considerably. The former had a population of 548, and 109 houses, and the latter a population of 924, and 183 houses.

        
In the meantime the Provincial Council had been steadily at work, law framing and road forming, both in the towns and suburbs. Its second session had been held in Mr. Brittan's house (now the Clarendon Hotel), but tenders were invited for the erection of a Council Chamber and offices.

        
There were, in December of this year, five recognised parishes in Canterbury:—Lyttelton, Governor's Bay, Akaroa, Kaiapoi, and Christchurch, according to the Bye-Laws passed at a meeting of the Church Property Trustees.

        
The year 1855 was a memorable one for Canterbury, as during it the Pŕovincial Council obtained the only thing then wanting to give it thorough control over local matters. Hitherto the Canterbury Association had, through its office in London, and its agents, still claimed the right to have a say in certain matters, partly on account of a debt said to be due from the 

settlement to it. This was disposed of in June, 1855, Canterbury taking over the Association's liabilities with regard to this province (£29,000), for which the province gave debentures, and receiving in return all the Association property in the province. At this time it was estimated that the property, as endowment for churches and education, amounted to £40,000. In or about October, 1855, Mr. Godley resigned the agency of the province.

        
In church matters the settlers were busy, and in November a large meeting was held in Lyttelton, the Bishop of New Zealand presiding, regarding the appointment of a Bishop for the settlement. The difficulty hitherto had been the endowment, but now it was worth £600 per annum, and a resolution was passed that a memorial should be sent to Her Majesty, beseeching her to nominate a Bishop.

        
In other ways 1855 was another year of progress. The first public steps towards the establishment of the Bank of New Zealand were taken; coal had been found in the Malvern hills, and was regularly used in the Provincial Government offices, and several hotels and other buildings; Lyttelton was agitated over its formation into a municipality; the first steam vessel built in the province had been launched in Lyttelton; the first steps towards the formation of the Canterbury Chamber of Commerce had been taken, and civilization had so far advanced that Holloway's pills and ointment were advertised in the local papers, and a wedding-ring maker had established himself in Lyttelton.

        
The record of 1856, though including matters of great interest, is brief. His Excellency, Col. Gore Browne, visited Canterbury. The farming interest should have been prosperous, for flour was selling at £36 per ton, and wheat at 11s to 12s per bushel, while by the new land regulations, which came into force in April, the price of land was reduced to £2 per acre. Many were grumbling at the expense of the Provincial Government, which was £6800, while the income from all sources was only £12,300. The second windmill in Canterbury had been erected by Mr.W. D. Wood. The first direct shipment of wool, from Canterbury to London, took place this year, when Messrs Cookson, Bowler and Co., and Messrs Waitt and Hargreaves, loaded the 
William and 
Jane, 498 tons, with 1018 bales, of an estimated value of £18,000. The total export of wool this year—the fifth of settlement—was valued at £40,000, and besides this there was a considerable quantity of agricultural and dairy produce shipped.

        
The Rev H. J. C. Harper, who had been consecrated Bishop 

of Canterbury, arrived in the 
Egmont on the 23rd December, and was installed on the 25th.

        
It will give our readers some idea of Christchurch in those times if we mention that some rural sports, that attracted for then a considerable meeting, were held in September, in a vacant gully opposite the White Hart Hotel, about where Mr. J. Inglis' buildings and the U. S. N. Co.'s offices are. Still the settlement had grown. The population was estimated at 6000, while the exports for the half-year ending June, 1856, were £43,000, and the imports for the same period £55,200.

        
The 1st of January, 1857, is memorable as the day when a daily post between Lyttelton and Christchurch was established. Letters were also delivered to persons living along the line of route of the mail cart, which was the first attempt at a mail delivery in New Zealand. The mail between Christchurch and Kaiapoi was at this time increased to twice a week. The cost of local mails was now borne by the provinces, having been thrown on them by the General Government. St. Andrew's Church, belonging to the Free Church of Scotland, was opened in February, the Rev. C. Fraser preaching from the 93rd Psalm,. "Holiness becometh Thine House, oh Lord, for ever." He read the notice of ordination by the presbytery of the Free Church of Aberdeen. A baptism followed, the child receiving the name of Charles Fraser, in accordance with the Scotch custom of showing personal regard to the minister by giving his name to the first male child baptised in a new church. The collection on the occasion amounted to £74 8s 6d, the largest church collection that had then been made in Canterbury.

        
The foundation stone of 
Christ's College was laid on the 24th July. The day was a wretched one, and the procession, formed of those who took part in the ceremony, which assembled at St. Michael's parsonage, had a most miserable walk through wet flax and tussocks and over rough ground to the site.

        
The Sumner road, the great highway between the port and the plains, commenced by Captain Thomas before the landing of the settlers, was this year so far completed that it was opened for traffic on the 24th August. A public holiday was declared for the occasion, and a great procession formed, headed by 
Mr. J. E. FitzGerald, the Superintendent, driving a dogcart,. with a band, banners, and demonstrative crowd. The processionists met at Day's Hotel, Sumner, where they had lunch, and there forming proceeded to Lyttelton, where 200 guests sat down to dinner in Heaphy's Universal Hotel. Mr. FitzGerald, in his speech at the dinner, pointed out as one proof of the progress of the settlement that whereas three years before it had only possessed three miles of formed roads. 

it then had seventy miles. The formation of the Sumner road cost the provincial Government £7000, or somewhat less than half what had been formerly estimated.

        
On the following day an address was presented to Mr. FitzGerald, who was leaving for England, with a testimonial which took the form of a sum of money that was invested in land settled on his male heir, and a marquetrie table, designed by Messrs Mountfort and Luck, and made by Mr. Willcox. It was thirty inches in. diameter, with a chess board slightly raised in the centre, and bearing the Fitzgerald arms and the Canterbury arms. The whole was in New Zealand woods, the inlayings displaying seventeen varieties and containing 1500 pieces.

        
Mr. FitzGerald sailed on the 30th September for Sydney, in the schooner 
James Gibson, leaving Mr. Bowen as Deputy Superintendent.

        
In October, 1857, Kaiapoi was proclaimed a township. In less than four years it had been changed from a wilderness to a thriving town, containing a church, school, court-house, land office, merchants offices, stores, &c., and numbering a larger constituency than Lyttelton, and within fifty-three of Christchurch. At that time the port was considered, next to Lyttelton, the safest and best shipping place on the Coast. A weekly market dinner had been established, and some land sold at £180 per acre.

        
Avonside Church and burying ground were consecrated early in this year, the land being presented to the parish by the Rev. A. Bradley, and the glebe, containing six acres, adjoining, being the gift of the Rev. C. Mackie, the Incumbent. The church, when completed, contained 200 sittings.

        
In this year the Somes' trust was handed over to 
Christ's College to establish scholarships. It is now exceedingly valuable, and its history is interesting. Mrs. Somes, the widow of Joseph Somes, a ship-owner, and one of the chief promoters of New Zealand settlement, purchased in London, of the Association, before the settlement was formed, fifty acres for £150. On the day appointed for the ballot for the choice of land, the name of Mrs. Somes was first drawn out of the ballot box, and thus fifty acres in the best part of the settlement was, from the day of the settlers' landing, devoted to purposes of religious and useful learning.

        
The second election of a Superintendent of the province took place in October, Mr. W. S. Moorehouse and Mr. Joseph Brittan being the candidates. The former was returned by 727 votes as against 352 votes polled by his antagonist.

        


        
The question of the carriage of mails between the settlement and England was even in those early days a matter of deep interest. Up till now the settlers had to depend on chance whether they received the English Mail early or late, and this uncertainity was felt to be such a great hardship that the Provincial Government offered £75 per month—a large expenditure in those days—to schooners to bring the mails down from Wellington without delay. There was also a considerable agitation on the subject of establishing a branch from Australia to Canterbury of the service running so far, which resulted in the Provincial Council voting £1000 for the purpose.

        
In minor matters the signs had all been of progress. The Union Bank of Australia opened a branch in Cashel-street, Christchurch, in January, and in February commenced the red stone premises in Lyttelton which they still occupy. The first Town Hall in Christchurch was opened with a concert. It was decided to lay out a road to the West Coast, along a route lately travelled by Messrs Dobson and Taylor. 
Mr. H. B. Gresson, hitherto Crown Prosecutor, resigned that office, and first acted as Judge in October. Gold was discovered in the Waimakariri Gorge; the Mitre Hotel, Lyttelton, was rebuilt by a Mr. Compton; Mr. J. Anderson's foundry, in Cashel-street, Christchurch, was opened in May; the first Theatre in Canterbury was opened by Mr. W. H. Foley, in the Theatre Royal, Lyttelton; and a "debtor's room" was added to Lyttelton gaol. Both Christchurch and Lyttelton had increased. The former of three public houses, the Royal, the White Hart, and the Golden Fleece, while in Lyttelton the number had increased to four.

        
The year 1858 was not a very eventful one. Early in January the foundation-stone of the Provincial Government Buildings was laid by the Superintendent, Mr W. S. Moorehouse, it being the first public event in Canterbury in which he took a leading part. The very description of the site given in those days, viz., "the western side of the Avon between the Land Office and the Papanui Bridge," indicates the change that has taken place since then. Messrs. Mountfort and Luck were the architects. About the same time 
Mr. E. J. Wakefield, having presented to the Foresters some land on the banks of the Avon, and "fronting upon the intersection of two streets between the Market Place and the Bricks," the foundation-stone of the Foresters' Hotel was laid.

        
A Canterbury Steam Navigation Company had been formed shortly before this, and its first vessel—the 
Planet, paddle steamer, 45 tons—made its trial trip to Akaroa early this year, 

making a speed of between six and seven knots. Mr. T. S. Duncan was appointed Crown Prosecutor, an office which he has held ever since. For the Indian Relief Fund £922 was collected. The first omnibus in the settlement was started this year by Wheeler and Nurse, and ran between Christchurch and Lyttelton. The Riccarton Church was consecrated; gold was found north of the Buller; a Total Abstinence Society, under the presidency of Mr. C. W. Turner, was formed; a contract for the conveyance of English mails between Australia and New Zealand was made. The urgent necessity for a railway and a telegraph between Christchurch and Lyttelton was mentioned by the Superintendent in his opening address to the Provincial Council. The Lyttelton Jetty was extended fifty yards, the length originally made by Captain Thomas being found to be too small for the trade of the port; and Tribe's, or Peacock's Wharf, as it was then called, was also extended. The Avon Steam Navigation Company was projected. A Land and Building Society was started in Christchurch; and in the Provincial Council, the necessity for a hospital being recognised, provision for such an institution was made. English mail arrangements were at this time very unsatisfactory, the July and August mails arriving in November. The exports for the half year were £100,596 and the imports £97,462. The first important fire in Christchurch took place this year, when Taylor's brewery on the Papanui Road was destroyed. This was soon followed by the formation of a Fire Brigade.

        
The year 1859 should ever be remembered in Canterbury as the one in which the Provincial Council decided to have the railway between Christchurch and Lyttelton, and, consequently, the tunnel made. The Railway Bill was passed, not without opposition, authorising the Government to enter into a contract to the extent of £70,000. Reports from G. R Stephenson on the subject had been received, and upon them Messrs. Smith and Knight, of London, took up the contract, with the proviso that should they find after preliminary tunnel works that these reports were incorrect they should be at liberty to throw it up.

        
This year the Provincial Council met in its own building; His Honor, in his address, congratulating the councillors on "meeting for the first time in a chamber worthy of the legislature of the province. The first session was held in a house on the edge of a wilderness; then they had the comparative luxury of a rented chamber in Oxford-terrace, and after it a session in the town-hall."

        
A Bill to provide municipal institutions was passed this session, and an overland mail to Dunedin, doing the distance in 

nine days, was arranged. A big fire occurred in Akaroa bush this year, completely destroying the glory of the Akaroa forest. The race-course was let to the Jockey Club for twenty-eight years, at £15 per annum; the introduction of salmon and game was advocated; the Christchurch Mechanics' Institute was opened; the Chamber of Commerce in Lyttelton was started; the first Canterbury Rifle Corps was formed; the Intercolonial R.S.M. Co's s.s. 
Royal Bride, 878 tons, from London, 
viâ Melbourne, arrived in Lyttelton; and mould candles were first made in Canterbury.

        
In January, 1860, another step in the way of postal communication was made. Mails were carried daily between Christchurch and Lyttelton, and Kaiapoi; twice a week to Rangiora; once a week between Kaiapoi and Saltwater Creek, and once a week between Lyttelton and Akaroa.

        
About this time street formation, the inhabitants finding the funds, commenced in Lyttelton. The Chamber of Commerce advocated the Registration of land titles on the basis of Mr. Torren's Act. Pottery works in the Ferry-road were commenced by Messrs Jackson and Bishop; a cavalry corps was started in Christchurch; the first public pump set up opposite the Triangle in High-street; and Mr. Ladbrooke drove four-in-hand from Christchurch to Lyttelton.

        
In religious matters the settlers had not been idle. The foundation stone of the Governor's Bay Church had been laid; the new Lyttelton English Church was consecrated; and the Wesleyan Church at Kaiapoi was opened for Divine service.

        
The settlement had also been extending its business relations. The Fiji Islands attracted the attention of our business men; Mr. E. Reece, in particular, paid them a visit, and opened up a trade that lasted for some years. The exports from Canterbury this year amounted to £151,325.

        
Messrs Smith and Knight, the English contractors for the railway, having thrown up their contract in November, it was decided that pending a contract being entered into with another firm, the ends of the tunnel should be opened up by local work. It may be mentioned here that Mr. Moorhouse did not let this interruption check the railway works for long. He went to Melbourne and brought back with him Mr. George Holmes, with whom a contract for the completion of the railway was signed in May, 1861, the contract price being £240,500. A most flattering public reception was given to His Honor on his return.

        


        
The year 1861 is still vividly remembered by old colonists, not only on account of its being the year when our railway works—the first railway works in the colony—were commenced in earnest. In May an extensive fire broke out in Christchurch, doing damage to the extent of £10,000. Packer and Sons' brewery, and five houses in Cashel-street were destroyed. Two or three days afterwards Lyttelton was visited with most disastrous floods. Very heavy rain had fallen, causing a flooding of the gullies and natural watercourses, and the water swept down to the sea, carrying everything before it. Houses were swept away, the inmates barely escaping with their lives; stores full of merchandise were wrecked and hurled down to the beach, and such a scene of ruin and disaster was beheld as fortunately few had witnessed. When the waters subsided the gullies were found choked up with furniture, mud, scrub, bedding, goods and remnants of all kinds, and the beach was strewn with 
debris. Along the Sumner-road several heavy landslips occurred, which rendered it impassable for some time.

        
In July, work was begun on the tunnel, the first sod being turned on the 17th. About the same time the province, acting on the principle, since claimed by others, that immigration and public works should go hand in hand, appointed Mr. John Marshman Immigration Agent in London.

        
The minor events of the year were also such as showed progress. Gold was found near Oamaru, also in sinking a well on Mr. Fereday's Station on the Waimakariri, and at Lindis Fields. The New South Wales Bank opened branches in Christchurch and Lyttelton—under Mr. C. W. Turner, in Christchurch in Mr. W. S. Moorhouse's house in Herefordstreet, and in Lyttelton at the corner of Canterbury and London-streets. The 
Press newspaper was started by 
Mr. J. E. FitzGerald, ostensibly to oppose the railway scheme. The movement in Timaru for separation from Canterbury commenced. The prospectus of the Bank of New Zealand was issued; a Boating Club was formed in Christchurch, and the Music Hall in Gloucester-street commenced; a quarter acre section opposite the White Hart was leased for twenty-one years at £202, considered then a very heavy rental; the well-remembered Birdsey's British Hotel was opened; and the wool shipped that season was estimated at £194,083. In August Mr. W. S. Moorhouse was re-elected Superintendent without opposition.

        
1862, when Canterbury was barely ten years old, commenced well, and was an eventful year for the settlement. The land sales were increasing, and the Public Treasury was so well filled, in spite of £19,000 spent—outside railway works— on roads, &c., that the Provincial Council was able to purchase 

and cancel the first instalment (£50,000) of the loan for the railway: this for a settlement barely ten years old, and not numbering 20,000 souls, was something to be proud of. Lyttelton and Christchurch were proclaimed municipalities early in the year, Dr. Donald being elected the first Chairman. The first Christchurch Municipal Councillors were John (now Sir John) Hall, J. Anderson, Grosvenor Miles, William Wilson, W. D. Barnard, E. Reece, J. Barrett, H. E. Alport and Geo. Gould. Mr. Hall was chosen Chairman and Mr. G. Gordon Town Clerk. A census taken in April showed the population of Christchurch 3,200, with 640 houses.

        
Messrs. Holmes 
& Co's, tender for the erection of a telegraph line between Christchurch and Lyttelton being accepted, the work was done, and the line opened in July. Of course there was a complimentary dinner, and Mr. Alfred Sheath, the Superintendent of Telegraphs, as his title was, highly complimented. This was the first line laid in the Colony.

        
The whole province was filled with regret to hear early this year of the death of 
Mr. John Robert Godley, at the early age of 47, on the 17th November, 1861. At the time of his death he held the post of Assistant-Under-Secretary of State for War.

        
A branch of the Bank of New Zealand was opened in Cashel-street, Christchurch, on the 1st of March, and a few days later a Lyttelton branch was opened in London-street. The Provincial Government account was at once transferred to it. Tuesday, the 18th of March, was observed as a close day of mourning on account of the death of Prince Albert; the church bells were tolled at intervals, and the shipping in Lyttelton Harbour hoisted flags half-mast high. Five cases of Canterbury produce were sent to London Exhibition of 1862, including wool, some photographs by Dr. Barker, and some boots made by W. Adams, of High-street. The Provincial Council voted £5000 for a site and the erection of a Lunatic Asylum; and voted the Christchurch Municipal Council a subsidy of £3000, and an endowment of 10,000 acres of land. Mr. W. S. Moorhouse was for a third time elected Superintendent of the Province. The work of road making through the country districts was pushed on vigorously. The Philosophical Institute of Canterbury was founded; the Gloucester-street suspension bridge—the first of the kind built in the Colony—was thrown over the Avon. Prospecting parties were sent out by the Provincial Government to the Waitaki, Hurunui, and Teramakau; the first stone of the tunnel arch was laid on the 29th of September; the Christchurch Gas Company was formed in November; and two men, Isaiah and Thomas Dixon, claimed the Government reward offered for the discovery of a gold field.

        


        
It will give an idea of Christchurch at the time if we state that the streets were lighted by the Municipal Council by fifteen lamps, and that footpath formation was commenced, portions of Armagh-street, Colombo-street, Oxford Terrace, Cashel-street, and High-street being made. The formation of Hereford-street from Oxford Terrace to Latimer Square was undertaken at this time, and, as the Council's report mentions, "the holes beyond Manchester-street were filled."

        
In 1862 the police of Canterbury was first put on an efficient footing, Mr. Shearman and two constables being imported from Melbourne to organise a force.

        
1863 was a year of quiet progress rather than excitement. The Christchurch Municipal Council commenced to lay out eleven miles of roads within the City, at a cost of £600 per mile, and to form and plant the Town Belts. Two miles of roads had been partially made. The rental of rateable property in the city was estimated at £90,000; there were 800 houses, and a population of 5000. Four artesian wells were sunk at Bethel Ware's corner (now Mr. A. J. White's), opposite the City Hotel, at the Triangle, and in Victoria-street (then called Papanui-road).

        
The first sitting of the Court of Appeal was held in the Provincial Council Chamber in February by Chief Justice Arney, and puisne Judges Johnston, Gresson, and Richmond. In March, Mr Samuel Bealey was elected Superintendent, Mr. Moorehouse having resigned owing to private affairs. The first locomotive for the railway arrived—the first of its family in New Zealand—, the "Pilgrim," by Slaughter & Co., of Bristol. The carriages and waggons were imported from Melbourne. The first cab stand was initiated in Christchurch by one cabby, who, however, before long, had competitors, the fare then being half-a-crown for a set-down within the belts. The Church of England cemetery was consecrated, The Prince of Wales' marriage was celebrated on the 8th July, two oak trees being planted on the belts by Mrs. Deans, Mrs. C. Davie, and eight young ladies. Miss Rye came out to forward her woman's immigration scheme, but met with small favour. And. last, but not least, the Christchurch and Heathcote railway was opened on the 1st of December.

        
The record of 1864 again shows steady progress, undisturbed by any startling events. The Provincial Government continued to push on road making and other useful works. The lighthouse on Godley Head was erected, and first lit in April. A large fire occurred in Christchurch in June, which resulted in improved buildings replacing the old ones. The Ferry-road and High-street were metalled; Cobb and Co. started their 

line of coaches between Christchurch and Kaiapoi, an instalment of their north line; Latimer-square church was commenced; the first steeplechase in Canterbury was held in August, on land near Christchurch, lent by 
Mr. E. J. Wakefield, eight horses entered. The Christchurch new Town Hall was opened in September; in the same month the Bank of Australasia opened a branch in Hereford-street, and the Victoria bridge over the Avon, which cost nearly £11,000—the first of its kind in Canterbury—was opened by Mr. Ollivier (as chairman), and the members of the City Council, in Barnard's well-known yellow van, in which they drank some champagne, looked happy over it, and declared the bridge opened. Uniform time between Christchurch and Lyttelton, which now that the telegraph was at work could be managed, was established. Hitherto one man's time had been as good as another's, and nobody was quite sure who was right. The foundation stone of the Cathedral was laid on December 16, the anniversary of the province, with all due ecclesiastical ceremony, a procession of clergy and all recognised bodies, social and political, marching through Christchurch (and through a frightful downpour of rain) to the square. After the ceremony a grand breakfast was partaken of. On December 24 the Christchurch Gas Company having got well to work, many houses and shops (not street lamps) were lit with gas for the first time, the principal streets being well lit up by the illumination. It was estimated that about 400 burners were supplied for ordinary consumption.

        
The Province had progressed in its twelve years of existence steadily but surely, as the following table will show:—
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Cattle.
              
	
                
Sheep
              
            

            

              
	
              
	
              
	
Acres.
              
	
Acres.
              
	
              
	
              
	
            

            

              
	1854
              
	3,895
              
	2,261
              
	6,462
              
	1,189
              
	12,434
              
	220,788
            

            

              
	1861
              
	16,040
              
	72,937
              
	30,807
              
	6,049
              
	33,576
              
	877,369
            

            

              
	1864
              
	32,375
              
	217,000
              
	50,000
              
	10,500
              
	40,000
              
	1,500,000
            

          

        

        
From 1864 to 1874 is a long stride in the history of a young settlement, and during that time Canterbury made vast progress, but also has sincerely to regret one at least of the principal events which occurred during it.

        
During this ten years the settlement, in common with the whole Colony, passed from a period of prosperity to one of greater commercial depression than has ever been experienced 

by it before or since, which lasted five or six years. In 1865 the land sales rose to a great amount, and with the pasturage rents which, at that time, exceeded the revenue from similar sources of all the rest of New Zealand, filled the Provincial Treasury to overflowing. But the following year the depression commenced, and lasted till 1871, when matters gradually improved; the three following years were times of uninterrupted prosperity.

        
The Railway works commenced by the Provincial Government were pushed on rapidly. Under agreement Messrs Holmes commenced to construct the southern line as far as the Rakaia, the first sod being turned on the 24th of May, 1865. The Lyttelton was completed on May 24, 1867, when the first engine was driven through it. In 1871 the northern to Kaiapoi and Rangoria was commenced, and opened in 1872; and on the 24th August, 1874, the south line, as far as Ashburton, was opened.

        
The West Coast gold fields, which were discovered in 1863, caused a rush from Victoria and Otago; in 1865, every steamer that could be laid on arriving at Lyttelton crowded to excess. The route across was rough though plain, and lying as it did through sheep stations and over mountain ranges, hotels were unknown, and provisions only obtainable at the sheep stations. A constant stream of thousands of diggers quickly caused a scarcity at these places, and the Provincial Government—including Mr. John Hall and Mr. W. Rolleston—being warned of the fact, instead of promptly establishing depôts along the route till regular traders took up the ground, issued placards and had them posted up in Dunedin and Invercargill, informing diggers that between Christchurch and Hokitika no provisions were obtainable. The tide which was previously flowing through the country was checked in a day, and as diggers would not come here to pass through 150 miles of country where no food was to be obtained, the steamers from Melbourne ran direct to Hokitika, then considered a most dangerous coast. This also caused the bulk of the trade of the Coast to be thrown into the hands of Melbourne firms instead of remaining in Canterbury. Messrs Hall and Rolleston have been charged with thus deliberately injuring Canterbury and retarding trade, sooner than permit their own and their friends' sheep runs to be disturbed. It was either that or the most complete incapacity which prompted such a piece of folly. What Canterbury lost by it is beyond calculation. Every other place within reach benefitted by the extensive and rich goldfield in its own district except Canterbury.

        
The howl of public indignation that followed this ruinous act caused the Provincial Executive to stir themselves. The 

mischief was done, however. A road to Hokitika was pushed on and opened in 1866. It was 156 miles long; cost £145,000 (all paid out of provincial funds), and along it Cobb & Co. started their line of coaches in July, 1866, doing the distance in thirty-six hours. A gold escort was enrolled and drilled, and buildings for them and their horses put up at three or four places on the route, at a cost of £5000, but it only did the trip there and back once, all the gold going direct from Hokitika to Melbourne.

        
The Panama service, the best line to be chosen at the time, with the establishment of which one of Canterbury's ablest men, Crosbie Ward, was closely connected, had, during this decade, been opened and closed, and the San Francisco one commenced, the pioneer steamer, the 
Nevada, visiting Lyttelton the 9th May, 1871.

        
Christchurch was brought into telegraph communication with the Bluff in May, 1865; with Picton in December, 1865, and with other parts of New Zealand as the lines were extended. English news was first received by telegraph in 1872.

        
The casualties of this ten years make a long list. Earthquakes in August and October, 1868, June, 1869, and August and September, 1870, visited us, some of them doing damage to a few buildings. In 1870 a considerable part of the business portion of Lyttelton was destroyed by fire, the loss amounting to £100,000. In 1873 several fires in Christchurch did damage amounting to several thousands of pounds each. The losses by sea to be recorded include the 
City of Dunedin, in June, 1865, the 
Blue Jacket, in 1869, and the 
Matoaka, in 1870. There were floods in Canterbury in 1868, which were most severe; the damage caused by them to roads, bridges, crops, gardens, and even dwellings, it was almost impossible to estimate. The Waimakariri having overflowed its banks, much of Christchurch was flooded, the Market Place was a lake, Gloucester-street and Colombo-street rivers, and smaller creeks ran in all directions. It was several days before the water fell sufficiently to allow foot traffic to be thoroughly resumed.

        
Since 1874 there has been a steady onward march in the province, and one great change sincerely to be regretted.

        
This decade is to be remembered, as during it provincialism was abolished, and Canterbury, without a struggle, saw its local Government Institutions, for which it had fought so hard, and which it had fostered and protected so energetically, wrested from it to be vested in a centralist Government in Wellington. At one stroke it lost its magnificent land revenue, and the control and profits of its railways. To the policy of public works and immigration to go hand in hand, which it had inaugurated, when adopted by the General Government, it 

unsuspiciously gave its hearty assent, being blind to the almost necessary consequences. Under the old system it managed its own local affairs, great and small, paying the cost out of its own revenues. Under the newer one it manages its lesser matters by a clumsy, expensive machinery, and being without land revenue has to find the funds by increased taxation. Several years have passed again since then, and the mistake of that change is universally acknowledged.

        
In 1877, the Provincial Government having spent considerably over £150,000 on the Lyttelton Harbour Works, and provincial institutions being abolished, the Lyttelton Harbour Board, constituted under Act of the General Assembly, took over the works and proceeded with them vigorously, the result being the most commodious harbour in this colony, supplied with wharves, sheds, graving-dock, patent slip, and all the appliances necessary for a large shipping trade. A full description of these will be found under the head of "Lyttelton."

        
Christchurch had in the meantime outgrown its original boundaries in every direction. Within the Belt it now has thirty miles of thoroughly well-formed streets, with macadamised roads and asphalted footpaths. It has a population of 15,915, with 2971 houses, and rateable property assessed at an annual rental of £250,000. The Gas Company, which at starting supplied 400 burners, now lights 242 street lamps and about 2000 buildings, having in the city and the suburbs 50 miles of main pipes. The extension on the south side of the city has been formed into the Borough of Sydenham, with 28 miles of formed streets, a population of 9500, and rateable property assessed at the annual rental of £70,000. To the north the extension has been formed into the Borough of St. Albans, which includes the "village of Papanui," as it was called in the old days, the interval between it and Christchurch belt being well covered with houses surrounded by well-kept grounds and gardens. The population is 4650, and its rateable property assessed at an annual rental of £29,354. On the east of the Belt the Town Council of Linwood has been formed to manage its streets and such matters.

        
Since 1874 the Christchurch Drainage Board has been called into existence, and has accomplished the work of providing a complete system of drains for the city at considerable expense, and to the immense improvement of the health of the place.

        
The shipping entered outwards at the Port of Lyttelton for the year ending 30th June, 1883, represented a total of 411,964 tons, and that inwards 410,821 tons.

        
The total population of the Canterbury District in February, 1881—not quite thirty years after the first ships arrived—was 111,024. The total acreage of the district is 8,658,534 acres, of 

which 3,527,146 is sold, leaving 5,131,388 acres; of this 701,540 acres consist of lakes, rivers, &c., and 1,615,919 acres are barren, leaving 2,813,929 acres crown lands for sale under a system of free selection, at an upset price of 
£2 per acre, or on deferred payments.

        
In 1883 Canterbury produced 6,359,992 bushels of wheat; 4,086,965 bushels of oats; 378,457 bushels of barley; and 32,401 tons of potatoes. The imports for the year ending June, 1883, were £1,648,388, and the exports (exclusive of those to intercolonial ports) £1,892,596. These latter included 51,659 bales of wool, and 121,213 tons of grain and other agricultural produce.

        
Throughout the Canterbury District there are 332 miles of railway; and along these in the grain season just gone by, considerably over 200,000 tons of grain, the produce of the district, were carried.

        
The number of sheep in the district is 3,800,000.

        
The average yield per acre in the farming districts in 1883 was:—wheat, 25½ bushels; oats, 30 bushels; barley, 26½ bushels; and potatoes, 6½ tons.

        
Telephones have been in use in Canterbury since 1878, when the first in the colony was erected for Messrs J. T. Smith & Co., printers, between their premises in Hereford-street and in St. Albans. They soon got into use between town offices and outside grain stores, and between Christchurch houses and their Lyttelton branches. After some considerable time the Government established the telephone exchange, to which there are in Christchurch about 200 members.

        
Within this period street architecture has taken immense strides, old leases having fallen in, and occupiers having erected buildings which are both substantial and handsome. For a long while Christchurch was far behind Dunedin in the character of its buildings, and indeed a stranger at first sight might be inclined to think so now, because within a few hundred yards of the Dunedin railway station are clustered all the principal edifices in the city, whereas in Christchurch they are scattered over a wide area, which, being flat, necessitates more time being spent on their inspection. The College buildings and Government schools include some of the handsomest in the colony, and the same may be said of the banks, while the cathedral stands unrivalled; and a stranger may well wonder if this well-managed, populous, rich city is really the one of whose early days and growth we have given this brief record.

        
Thus Christchurch has grown since 1851, when a dozen or so adventurous persons pitched their tents on the plains, to a city and suburbs with a population of nearly 35,000 inhabitants.
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Religious.
        

        

          

            
Church of England in New Zealand.
          

          
The foundation of "The Church of England in New Zealand" in Canterbury is coeval with the foundation of the settlement. To plant it here in all the completeness of arrangement and detail that existed at home was one of the aims of the first settlers, most of whom were enrolled under its banner. Each of the first ships brought out amongst its passengers clergymen of the Church, who may be said to have commenced their duties to their new flock immediately on leaving London.

          
Early on Sunday, the 22nd December, 1850, six days after the first of the pioneer ships entered Lyttelton harbour, the first ordinance or the Church was held in the new settlement, Early Communion being celebrated in a store used temporarily then and for a few months afterwards as a church. Morning and evening services were also held on the same day, the Rev. H. Jacobs (now the Ven. the Dean of Christchurch) preaching sermons to a crowded and attentive congregation, which included several Maories. The services were choral, several of the new arrivals being well accustomed to church music.

          
In a very few months the settlers in Christchurch had arranged for Divine worship on the plains, and first a 
V hut, then a building, still standing near St. Michael's Church, were erected in July, 1851. "St. Michael and All Angels" was subsequently consecrated on September 29th, 1859.

          
In the mean time the foundation stone of Lyttelton Church had been laid in April, 1852, and in January, 1853, the building was opened for Divine service. It was originally intended that this should have been the Cathedral, but the subsequent growth of Christchurch led to a change of plans. This church, after it had been up a short time had to be pulled down, the timbers having warped and shrunk to such an extent that it was unsafe. It was rebuilt, and the new one, the present "Holy Trinity," was opened in April, 1860.

          


          
In December 1854, the settlement haying considerably grown, it was divided into five parishes, viz:—Lyttelton, Governor's Bay, Akaroa, Kaiapoi and Christchurch, each with its church, parsonage, and school-house.

          
In November, 1855, the Endowment Fund haring grown sufficiently large, it was decided at a meeting held in Lyttelton to memorialise Her Majesty, beseeching her to nominate a bishop for the settlement. The Rev. Mr. Jackson had some time previously been looked upon as the bishop-designate, and he actually visited the colony, but whether he declined the office, the endowment at the time being small, or whether those here declined to have him to reign over them we cannot say. Certainly he never was appointed. The result of the memorial was that the 
Rev. H. J. C. Harper, D.D., was consecrated Bishop of Christchurch. He arrived here on the 23rd December, 1856, and was installed on the 25th of the same month.

          
Christchurch grew so rapidly that the want of increased church accommodation was soon felt. St. Luke's was built in 1859, and was for some time a "Chapel of Ease" to St. Michael's, it not being till 1867 that the separate parish of St. Luke's was formed. St. John the Baptist's was consecrated on the 27th December, 1865 (St. John the Evangelist's day), the first stone having been laid with due masonic rites. The parish was formed towards the end of the year 1865.

          
In the meantime population in the suburbs had been increasing, and Opawa, Riccarton, Papanui, and Avonside each had their neat little church, capable of seating from 200 to 400 persons. The land for the Avonside Church was presented to the parish by the Rev A. Bradley, and the glebe of six acres adjoining was the gift of the Rev A. Mackie, the first incumbent.

          
The second great event in the history of the Church in Canterbury was the laying the foundation stone of the Cathedral on the 16th December, 1864, by the Bishop of Christchurch. The day was observed as a public holiday, and the full strength of the clergy, with representatives of all political, friendly, and other bodies, in and about Christchurch, attended, the ceremony. Under the foundation stone, besides the usual papers and coins, were placed two parchments, one containing an English and one a Latin inscription; the Latin one, composed by the Ven. the Dean of Christchurch, is as beautiful a specimen of composition as could be written, and was highly spoken of as a piece of most elegant writing by professors at the University of Oxford when it was seen by them. They were as follows:—







+ In honorem sanctæ trinitatis +



Patris, Filii, Spibittus Sancti.


Hunc Lapidem Angularem


Ecclesiæ Cathedralis 

Ædis-christI, in urbe Æde-Christi,


Posuit Vir admodum Reverendus


Henricus J. C. Harper, S.T.P.


Primus Ædis-Christi Episcopus;


Civitatis Cantuariensis Natali Die Quatuordecimo,


Die Decembris XVI
mo


Anno Victoriæ Reginæ XXVIII

Vo


Redemptionis nostrœ



Mdccclxiv:
to


Circumstante Clero Populoque


Et grato animo recordante


Quot et quanta beneficia 
Deus O:M:


Omnium bonorum Auctor,


Britanniæ filiis, hanc novam patriam colentibus, largitus sit,


Et summâ vi nitentium


Alteram ut Angliam matre non indignam condant,


Spes et consilia


Quam prospero usque adhuc eventu secundaverit;


Necnon et precante,


Sicut universa Christi Ecclesia immota manet in Saxo fundata


Et usque ad mundi finem est mansura,


Ita Ædes Christi hoc Lapide Angulari innixa


Invictæ in Christum fidei inconcussæque


In omnes futuros annos


Testis exstet firma, pulchra, nobilis, conspicua.


Ab initio usque ad exitum hujus Operis



Adsit Deus,


Laborique nostro faveat propitius


Amen.



Laus Deo.



+



          

+ In the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Ghost. Amen.

          
+ To the honour and glory of 
Almighty God, and in the name and for the advancement of 
Christ's Holy Catholick and Apostolick Church, on the XVIth day of December, in the year of our 
Lord Jesus 
mdccclxiv, this chief corner stone of the Cathedral Church, of the Diocese of Christchurch, is laid by

          

The Right Reverend

Henry J. C. Harper, D.D.

          
(First Bishop of Christchurch),

          
assisted by the following persons, appointed by the Synod of the Diocese to serve as a Cathedral Commission, namely, the Venerable Henry Jacobs, M.A., Archdeacon of Christchurch; the Rev. James Wilson, M.A.; His Honor Mr. Justice Gresson; the Honourable Henry John Tancred, M.L.C.; Alfred Charles Barker, Esquire; Charles Robert Blakiston, Esquire; Cyrus Davie, Esquire; Richard James Strachan Harman. Esquire; James George Hawkes, Esquire, M.P.C.; George Holmes, Esquire; Grosvenor Miles, Esquire; George Arthur Æmelius Ross, Esquire, M.P.C.

          


          
This Cathedral Church is to be erected from the Designs and. Drawings of

          

George Gilbert Scott, Esquire, R.A.,

          
Architect, London, England,

          
and

          

Robert Speechly, Esquire, M.R.I.B.A.,

          
Resident Architect, Christchurch.

          
+ 
Glory to 
God 
in the 
Highest, 
On Earth Peace, Good will Towards Men.

          
From one cause or another the erection of the Cathedral was delayed for several years, when a portion was commenced, which was opened with special services, at which the assistance of a choir of seventy voices was obtained, in November, 1881.

          
Gradually, with the growth of the settlement, the Church has extended the circle of its duties, till it has now in the Diocese (exclusive of Westland) 76 churches, 31 parsonages, 45 Sunday-schools, and about 14,000 Sunday scholars.

        

        

          

            
Presbyterians.
          

          
The first settlers on the plains, the Deans, were Presbyterians, and among those who came here in the first four ships, and who came from other parts of the Colony, were many who belonged to this church. These early commenced to take steps towards the erection of a place in which to hold Divine Service, and formed a Building Committee, with the result that St. Andrew's Free Church of Scotland was opened in February, 1857, with the Rev. Charles Fraser as minister. But even before this Mr. Fraser had, by the kindness of the Wesleyans, had the use of their church for one service for his people each Sunday for some considerable time.

          
All through the settlement the number of Presbyterians increased, and gradually churches were erected in the various townships, with a minister appointed to each. The Canterbury Presbytery was formed in January, 1864, the Rev. W. Kirton being elected Moderator at the first meeting, which was held in St. Andrew's Church. As the settlement grew, and Timaru and Westland separated from Canterbury, and were formed into counties, a presbytery was formed for each county. In and about Christchurch the Presbyterians are strong, and have, besides St. Andrew's Church (near the Hospital), St. Paul's, in Cashel-street, a church on the North Belt, and others at Sydenham, the Ferry-road, and Papanui. There are also in the Christchurch Presbytery churches at Lyttelton, Kaiapoi, Cust, Sefton, Rangiora, Waiau, Halkett, Prebbleton, Leeston, Southbridge, Ashburton, Malvern, Alford Forest, and Akaroa.

          


          
In the presbytery of Timaru they have six churches, and in that of Westland five churches, In these three presbyteries they raise annually for missions, £700; for Sabbath-schools, £400; for congregational purposes, £8100; and for liquidating their debt, £3200. The number of communicants is 2180, of adherents, 3050, of Sabbath-schools, 43, of teachers, 390, of scholars, 3880, and of manses, 20.

        

        

          

            
Wesleyan.
          

          
The second religious body to thoroughly establish themselves in Canterbury was the Wesleyan. Towards the middle of 1853 the Rev. Mr Kirk visited Lyttelton on his way to Otago, to which district he was appointed, and in response to the earnest solicitations of members of the Wesleyans here he consented to remain for a short time and act as their minister, which he did for some time. In April, 1854, the 
Rev. John Aldred, the first minister appointed to this station, arrived. It is significant of the strong feeling of the Church of England founders of the settlement, that the arrival of a minister of another denomination was looked upon, at that time, almost in the light of an encroachment; indeed, a special sermon was preached in Lyttelton, warning the congregation of the advent of a wolf in sheep's clothing, who would seek to draw the flock from the proper fold. This narrow-mindedness was happily of but short duration, the several sects subsequently working together harmoniously in their religious work.

          
Mr Aldred's first sermons, in the new settlement, were preached on the 3rd of April, 1854; in the morning in Christchurch, to a congregation of fourteen or fifteen persons, in a carpenter's shop, somewhere near where the Working Men's Club now stands; and in the evening in Lyttelton, to a congregation of forty persons, in the Oddfellows' Hall.

          
But neither Mr Aldred nor his congregations were content to be without churches of their own any longer than was absolutely necessary. A very few weeks saw the Christchurch. members having service in their own building—small, primitive, and plainly weather-boarded though it was—on the site in High-street, where May and Co's drapery shop now stands. It was an inexpensive building, all the requisite labour being given voluntarily. In Lyttelton they also built themselves a church, which was opened on the 6th of March, 1855, when the collections amounted to £14 2s 0½d. Thus housed they worked steadily on. The Christchurch building was several times lengthened and enlarged, till, being found too small, it was replaced in 1859 by a very pretty wooden building, accommodating 400 persons, on the same site, given to the body by Mr. J. Broughton, which was for a long time one of 

the handsomest erections in Christchurch, the spire being a landmark for miles around. This was opened on the 26th December, the Rev. T. R. Fisher conducting the morning service, the Rev. C. Fraser the afternoon one, and the Rev. J. Aldred that in the evening. The collections in the church that day amounted to upwards of £80. This church was used till 1865, when the handsome stone church and schoolrooms in Durham-street, so well known to all residents in, and visitors to, Christchurch, was opened—the first stone church erected in this city.

          
Members of the Wesleyan body were pretty numerous, even in the early days, throughout Canterbury, and Mr Aldred held services so far back as 1854 in Kaiapoi at private houses—Mr. Jones's, Mr. Sidey's, and others; at Riccarton, in Mr. Ellis's cottage; and at Papanui. His first visit to Kaiapoi was one to be remembered. There was a fearful snowstorm at the time— the worst Canterbury has ever experienced—and if we mistake not, three men lost their lives in it. Mr. Aldred's horse liked it no better than the settlers, and breaking away from its tether it wandered down towards the river, and took shelter in the kitchen of a cottage.

          
In April, 1861, a church was opened in Kaiapoi, the opening services being conducted by the Revs T. R. Fisher and J. Aldred.

          
Mr. Aldred—who, among other duties, conducted the first burial service in the Wesleyan cemetery, Barbadoes street, over a Mrs. Philpot—continued in charge of the station for five or six years, when he was succeeded by the Rev. Mr. Buller.

          
The growth of the Wesleyan body in Canterbury has from the first been steady and rapid. In Christchurch they have two handsome churches, one of stone and one of brick, besides another at Sydenham, on the Colombo-road. Throughout Canterbury 46 others are planted in various localities, not including 30 places where services are held. They have 19 ministers, 2 catechists, 81 local preachers, 467 Sunday-school teachers, 68 class leaders, 1755 full and accredited church members, besides 161 on trial for membership. They have 51 Sunday-schools, with 4709 scholars, 12 school rooms, and 14 parsonages. The average attendance at services on Sundays is 12,126; the first cost of the buildings belonging to the Church is £41,449 5s 6d; and the cost of school management for the year is £514.

        

        

          

            
Baptists.
          

          
The old Oddfellows' Hall in Lichfield-street, which saw the first services of several religious bodies in Canterbury, was the building where the Baptists in Christchurch first met for 

public worship. That was in 1862, and the congregation numbered about 50. In the same year the Rev. D. Dolamore arrived and formed the Church, which continued to meet for several months in the hall, after which they removed to the old Town Hall during the erection of the Baptist church in Lichfield-street. This latter building was subsequently sold for the use of the Fire Brigade (who occupy it at present), on the erection of a new church in Hereford-street, opposite the library. This church was after some time removed to Oxford Terrace near the Madras-street bridge, enlarged, and continued to be used for public worship by the Baptists till the completion of the present handsome brick and stone building on the same section, which took place about one and a half years ago. The cost of this building was about £3,700. The old church still stands, and is used for the Sunday-school, which is a flourishing institution, with between 300 and 400 scholars. The congregation numbers between 400 and 500, and has a very good choir of 50 members, which was formed by Mr. H. Corrick, the present organist and choir master, a position he has held for several years. The Rev. Mr. Dallaston is the present clergyman.

          
A Baptist Church was formed in Rangiora in 1865, and has progressed well. Churches have also been opened in Sydenham, Lincoln-road, Greendale, Kirwee, South Malvern, Ashburton, Lincoln, Oxford and Timaru. It is estimated that the total strength of the congregations throughout the Canterbury District is about 2000.

        

        

          

            
Congregationalists.
          

          
The Congregationalists have been established as a Church in Christchurch since 1864. In May 1862 about a dozen persons belonging to this denomination met for the first celebration in Christchurch of Divine service according to its form in the old Oddfellows' Hall, Lichfield-street. The building was then in an incomplete state, and contained neither chairs nor tables, and only two wooden forms. One of these forms served those early Congregationalists as a table, in the middle of which a candle stood up between two bricks was their only light. On the other form the congregation sat. In this primitive manner they first met. Gradually they established matters on a better basis, and in 1864, Mr. Habens having arrived from England to be their pastor, a church of 40 members was formed, which met for Divine service in what was known as Bonnington's Hall. In 1873-4 their present stone church at the corner of Manchester and Worcester-streets was built, the contract for the building only being £3173. Previous to this 

they had used what is now their schoolhouse, next the church. A Sunday-school in connection with this church has been successfully carried on since 1864. A branch church has been established in Linwood, one of the Christchurch suburbs, and another has been formed at Timaru. The present Christchurch members and adherents number between 400 and 500, Linwood about 300, and Timaru 300. The ministers are:—Christchurch, the Rev. Seth Smith (temporarily); Linwood, the Rev. John Hoatson; and Timaru, the Rev. Mr. Sharp. The Linwood congregation are preparing to build a church on a site belonging to them in the Ferry-road, but at present they are working temporarily in the Oddfellows' Hall, East Belt.

        

        

          

            
The Roman Catholics.
          

          
Long before the Canterbury settlement was formed, before the pilgrims had landed, and while yet even Akaroa was in its infancy, priests of the Roman Catholic Church traversed the country, visiting the whaling settlers, and, amid a life of much toil and hardship, pursuing their missionary work almost without reward, except such as they received in the shape of the friendship and kind offices of those to whom they ministered. In those very early days Otago and Canterbury, including then Westland, were one district, and those who can remember the difficulties of travelling then can fully appreciate the toil which the fulfilment of a priest's duty involved.

          
Twenty years ago, or rather more, Canterbury was formed into one district, under the charge of two priests, the Revs Father Seon and Chataignier, and the work involved in visiting their people from the Hurunui to the Waitaki, taking in Akaroa and the Peninsula, must have been arduous. In 1861 the Rev Father Chervier replaced Father Chataignier as head of the mission. At that time it consisted, in Christchurch, of about twenty souls, the only church being a small shell of a building, till recently used as the St. Leo Schoolroom. It was a mere shell, the middle room being used as a church or chapel on Sundays. The congregation being small the income was also very small, and yet by dint of great economy, and of assistance in the shape of labour, it was gradually finished, and afterwards a room was added, built at the expense of Mr Sheath, as a thank-offering for his and his family's safe arrival in New Zealand.

          
After a time, the congregation increasing, the accommodation was found too small, and it was decided to build a church. Designs were prepared by Mr Mountfort, and the contract was placed in the hands of Mr. Dithier. The contributions to the church were subsidised by the Provincial Government, which, 

at that time, gave pound for pound to all denominations on funds raised for church building. The church was called "The Church of the Blessed Sacrament," and was opened on the 22nd of May, 1864.

          
About this time steps were taken to build a church in Lyttelton, the Provincial Government giving pound for pound as before. It was opened on the 29th of June, 1865, and a little afterwards churches at Brackenbridge, near Amberley, and at Akaroa were also opened.

          
The following churches have also been opened—Leeston, in December, 1869; Rangiora, in July, 1870; Shand's Track (now changed into a school), in June, 1871; Loburn, in May, 1875; Ashburton (now a school), in July, 1876; Southbridge, in September, 1878; Oxford, in 1879; Shand's Track, new church, in September, 1880; Darfield Church, in October, 1880; and Kaiapoi, in 1882.

          
In 1877, the Rev Father Ginaty took charge of the Christchurch mission. Since then the church has been enlarged, giving an increased accommodation of 500 sittings, costing £1800. A school-church at Papanui has been established at a cost of £600. A school-church at Halswell was opened in 1880, which cost over £300, and the same year £500 was spent on the boys' parish school in Christchurch. In the same year was also built the Presbytery, which, with furnishing, cost £2000, and the Convent grounds were fenced at a cost of £300.

          
From time to time the district—originally one for all Canterbury—has been divided and sub-divided as congregations increased. Twenty years have indeed wrought a change. No church in the province then, now how many! Then two priests, now thirteen; then no schools, now many, largely attended; then no convents, now a few.

          
In Christchurch between 700 and 800 boys attend at the parish school. This number is exclusive of the children of the Select school, and the High School for both boys and girls, the latter under the Sisters and the former (the boys) carried on in the old Presbytery, known as the St. Leo's High School.

        

        

          

            
Bible Christians.
          

          
This body numbers, in the Christchurch circuit, 100 church, members, adult members of congregations, 350, and Sunday-scholars, 200. They have three churches in the circuit, one at the corner of Lower High and Wilson-streets, one at Addington, and one at Templeton. The Rev J. Wilson is the minister.

        

        
        



          

            
Primitite Methodist Connexion.
          

          
This body has five ministers in the Canterbury District: the Rev J. Sharp, Timaru; the Rev P. W. Jones for Greendale, Waddington, and Sheffield; the Rev J. Nixon for Ashburton and Newland Forks; the Rev J. Ward for Christchurch, Phillipstown, and Kaiapoi; and the Rev J. H. Luke for Geraldine and Temuka.

        

        

          

            
The Brethren
          

          
Meet at their room in Worcester-street (next the Orange Hall), Christchurch, every Sunday. For breaking of bread at 11 a.m., preaching the Gospel at 6 30 p.m.; also for prayer on Monday at 7.30 p.m., and Bible reading on Thursday at 7.30 p.m.

        

        

          

            
Jewish.
          

          
The Jews in Christchurch held their first meeting about twenty years ago, when it was decided to form a congregation, Mr. L. E. Nathan being chosen president, and Mr. J. M. Harris treasurer. Subscription lists were opened to defray the cost of building a synagogue, and were liberally supported by both Jews and Christians, the result being the erection of a synagogue about seventeen years ago on the site of the present building in Gloucester-street. About seven years ago that building was found to be too small, and the present handsome stone one was erected, at a cost of £2500. The Rev. I. Zachariah is the present clergyman, and has been so for fifteen years. The congregation numbers about forty. Mr. D. Caro and Mr. Charles Louisson are the present officers of the congregation.

        

        

          

            
Freethought.
          

          
The Canterbury Freethought Association was founded in Christchurch, September 4th, 1881. A number of Christchurch residents objecting to the exclusion of a duly elected member from the British House of Commons, sympathising with Mr. C. Bradlaugh in his struggles, and desiring to help the fund his friends were raising for defending his cause in a costly lawsuit promoted by Mr. Newdegate, subscribed the sum of £35, and at a meeting of the subscribers to arrange for its remittance to England, it was resolved by those present to form the nucleus of a Freethought Association, forty names being at once enrolled. In a few days a room was hired for holding weekly meetings, and the first meeting held Sunday evening, September 4th, 1881, when the name was fixed which it now bears, and officers and an executive committee elected for the ensuing year Wm. Pratt being chosen, as president.

          


          
In the course of a few weeks, from the increase of members, the room was found too small, and a hall was rented and fitted up in Worcester-street, and opened in November—the Cathedral and the Jewish Synagogue being opened the same week.

          
This hall fairly answered the purpose for about twelve months, though it was often inconveniently crowded, when overtures were made to the trustees for the tenancy of the German church, which were accepted, and it was taken possession of February, 1883.

          
The association consists of a president, secretary, treasurer, musical director, librarian, and a committee of twelve, with 120 subscribing members, the subscription being 2s 6d per quarter. Connected with the hall, which will seat 250, is the nucleus of a circulating library of nearly 300 volumes, chiefly upon Freethought and scientific subjects.

          
On Sunday mornings there is a Lyceum for children, with 61 on the roll, and an average attendance of 50, under a lady superintendent, and several class leaders, the programme of instruction being singing, marching, calisthenics, short selected readings, an address or suitable moral story by one of the leaders, and lessons in singing and musical notation, with the aid of a blackboard, by a competent music-master.

          
A small but very efficient band and choir forms an attractive feature of the evening meetings, which are held in the hall every Sunday evening from 7 to 9 o'clock, the time being occupied with readings, lectures, and free discussions upon all subjects relating to human welfare and improvement, the prime object of the association being to disseminate rational views of life and its obligations here.

        

        

          

            
Young Men's Christian Association.
          

          
This Association, which was established in October 1875, has recently taken possession of handsome premises (of which we give an illustration) on its own freehold m Cambridge Terrace, between Cashel and Hereford-streets. It numbers 110 members and 36 associates, and has been largely assisted by valuable contributions from several Christchurch firms, including a donation of 100 volumes by Mr. Gould, towards replacing a library lost in a fire in the Associations' old premises. It has a President, vice-President, Hon. Treasurer, Board of Management, and a Secretary, elected annually. The subscription is 10s. a year for members under twenty-one years of age, and 20s. a year for older ones.

          


          
The building has a spacious entrance 34ft. x 13ft., in which is the main staircase 5 ft. in width. Under this is the lavatory. Proceeding past the staircase the reading room is reached. It is 32ft. x 23 ft., and 16ft. in height. It is very handsome, well-lighted, and very inviting. On the same floor are also a library 16ft. x lift., a chess room 16ft. x 12ft., and a secretary's room 15ft. x 10ft., all well lit and with fireplaces. Immediately in the rear of the main building is the coffee room, 24ft. x 14ft., having a fireplace fitted with a gas stove. The room is fitted up with cupboards, shelving, delivery counter, &c. The whole of the upper part of the main building is devoted to a lecture hall land two class-rooms, 14ft. x 8ft., and 11ft. x 9ft. The hall is 50ft. x 30ft., and 20ft. high from floor to ceiling, with a central dome coved ventilator 24ft. from the floor. It is lighted from the front and rear by four double arched windows, as well as an eight-branch chandelier in brass, with triplex burners, and has a platform at one end 30ft. x 8ft. The floor is deadened, so that people in the rooms below cannot be annoyed by those in the lecture hall. The front elevation, as seen from Oxford and Cambridge terraces, is specially attractive from its highly ornate character. The front is divided into three bays, with pilasters below, and above these latter, ornamented with richly carved composite capitals, surmounted by a frieze are the words—"Young Men's Christian Association." Above this again is a bold corbelled cornice and substantial blocking, the centre, having pedestals to a higher level and curved pediment, the sides being supported by bold curved trusses, and acroteria surmounting the whole. The panel bears an open Bible, on which is cut words from Psalm cxix., verse 9, the book being backed by a radiation of the light of the Word. The first floor windows are of an especially enriched character, the circular heads having conch shells, and richly carved capitals to the circular columns dividing them, the sides being panelled; the lower portion of each window has deeply sunk panels. The plinth and steps are from the quarry of Mr. R. M. Morten, and the limestone front of two tints from those of Mr. W. Wilson. The bricks used are steam pressed by Mr. W. Neighbours, thus in every matter of construction local materials have been used where possible. 
Mr. T. S. Lambert is the architect.

          
At the rear of the premises, occupying nearly the whole of the remaining portion of the section (with the exception of a yard 30ft x 15ft), is a gymnasium, 45ft x 35ft, of timber framing, covered with iron on three of its sides, the remaining side being a brick wall. The walls are 15ft in height from floor to the under part of the beam of the principals, the latter being composed of kauri, trussed with diagonal struts and king and queen bolts, strongly framed with angle knees to all, to carry 

the swings and gymnastic apparatus. The entrance is by a spacious door 8ft x 6ft. In both gables there is an upper circular-headed light, 14ft wide by 6ft in height. The roof is of corrugated iron. In the interior is a lavatory with water laid on, and the whole room is brilliantly lighted with triplex burners; the floor is composed of tan 8in in depth. The apparatus and other various appliances for gymnastics are not yet erected.

        

        

          

            
The Salvation Army.
          

          
This body, which has become an institution in Christchurch, was established on the 20th May, 1883. It has now stations in Christchurch, Sydenham, Lyttelton, Kaiapoi, Ashburton, and Rangiora. Its head-quarters in this colony are now in Christchurch, under the command of Major Pollard. It is supported entirely by voluntary contributions, payments being made into one fund for the whole of New Zealand. So far it has been more than self-supporting, and as the funds increase it carries the war into fresh towns. Should it at any future time be in want of funds it is empowered to draw on the Home body for sufficient to cover the bare expenses of the officers. The attendance at its meetings, which in each place average from eighteen to twenty per week, is very numerous; but the actual membership is, in Christchurch, 235, in Sydenham 150, and in the other towns from 40 to 150. It publishes weekly its own paper—the 
War Cry—which has a very large circulation. It is about eighteen years ago that the Army was first formed, in the Old Country, but it is within the last three years that it. has fought its way into popularity, not only there, but in America and the colonies, and has attracted a very large number of adherents.

        

        

          

            
Other Bodies.
          

          
Besides the above bodies, there are the following, each engaged in their special work:—Canterbury Auxiliary of the British and foreign Bible Society; Canterbury Baptist Association; Canterbury Sunday School Union; Cathedral Guild; Cathedral Union; Christchurch Ministers' Association; Christchurch Wesleyan Mutual Improvement Association; and the Church Work Society (Church of England).
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Church of England in New Zealand.
          

          
The foundation of "The Church of England in New Zealand" in Canterbury is coeval with the foundation of the settlement. To plant it here in all the completeness of arrangement and detail that existed at home was one of the aims of the first settlers, most of whom were enrolled under its banner. Each of the first ships brought out amongst its passengers clergymen of the Church, who may be said to have commenced their duties to their new flock immediately on leaving London.

          
Early on Sunday, the 22nd December, 1850, six days after the first of the pioneer ships entered Lyttelton harbour, the first ordinance or the Church was held in the new settlement, Early Communion being celebrated in a store used temporarily then and for a few months afterwards as a church. Morning and evening services were also held on the same day, the Rev. H. Jacobs (now the Ven. the Dean of Christchurch) preaching sermons to a crowded and attentive congregation, which included several Maories. The services were choral, several of the new arrivals being well accustomed to church music.

          
In a very few months the settlers in Christchurch had arranged for Divine worship on the plains, and first a 
V hut, then a building, still standing near St. Michael's Church, were erected in July, 1851. "St. Michael and All Angels" was subsequently consecrated on September 29th, 1859.

          
In the mean time the foundation stone of Lyttelton Church had been laid in April, 1852, and in January, 1853, the building was opened for Divine service. It was originally intended that this should have been the Cathedral, but the subsequent growth of Christchurch led to a change of plans. This church, after it had been up a short time had to be pulled down, the timbers having warped and shrunk to such an extent that it was unsafe. It was rebuilt, and the new one, the present "Holy Trinity," was opened in April, 1860.

          


          
In December 1854, the settlement haying considerably grown, it was divided into five parishes, viz:—Lyttelton, Governor's Bay, Akaroa, Kaiapoi and Christchurch, each with its church, parsonage, and school-house.

          
In November, 1855, the Endowment Fund haring grown sufficiently large, it was decided at a meeting held in Lyttelton to memorialise Her Majesty, beseeching her to nominate a bishop for the settlement. The Rev. Mr. Jackson had some time previously been looked upon as the bishop-designate, and he actually visited the colony, but whether he declined the office, the endowment at the time being small, or whether those here declined to have him to reign over them we cannot say. Certainly he never was appointed. The result of the memorial was that the 
Rev. H. J. C. Harper, D.D., was consecrated Bishop of Christchurch. He arrived here on the 23rd December, 1856, and was installed on the 25th of the same month.

          
Christchurch grew so rapidly that the want of increased church accommodation was soon felt. St. Luke's was built in 1859, and was for some time a "Chapel of Ease" to St. Michael's, it not being till 1867 that the separate parish of St. Luke's was formed. St. John the Baptist's was consecrated on the 27th December, 1865 (St. John the Evangelist's day), the first stone having been laid with due masonic rites. The parish was formed towards the end of the year 1865.

          
In the meantime population in the suburbs had been increasing, and Opawa, Riccarton, Papanui, and Avonside each had their neat little church, capable of seating from 200 to 400 persons. The land for the Avonside Church was presented to the parish by the Rev A. Bradley, and the glebe of six acres adjoining was the gift of the Rev A. Mackie, the first incumbent.

          
The second great event in the history of the Church in Canterbury was the laying the foundation stone of the Cathedral on the 16th December, 1864, by the Bishop of Christchurch. The day was observed as a public holiday, and the full strength of the clergy, with representatives of all political, friendly, and other bodies, in and about Christchurch, attended, the ceremony. Under the foundation stone, besides the usual papers and coins, were placed two parchments, one containing an English and one a Latin inscription; the Latin one, composed by the Ven. the Dean of Christchurch, is as beautiful a specimen of composition as could be written, and was highly spoken of as a piece of most elegant writing by professors at the University of Oxford when it was seen by them. They were as follows:—







+ In honorem sanctæ trinitatis +



Patris, Filii, Spibittus Sancti.


Hunc Lapidem Angularem


Ecclesiæ Cathedralis 

Ædis-christI, in urbe Æde-Christi,


Posuit Vir admodum Reverendus


Henricus J. C. Harper, S.T.P.


Primus Ædis-Christi Episcopus;


Civitatis Cantuariensis Natali Die Quatuordecimo,


Die Decembris XVI
mo


Anno Victoriæ Reginæ XXVIII

Vo


Redemptionis nostrœ



Mdccclxiv:
to


Circumstante Clero Populoque


Et grato animo recordante


Quot et quanta beneficia 
Deus O:M:


Omnium bonorum Auctor,


Britanniæ filiis, hanc novam patriam colentibus, largitus sit,


Et summâ vi nitentium


Alteram ut Angliam matre non indignam condant,


Spes et consilia


Quam prospero usque adhuc eventu secundaverit;


Necnon et precante,


Sicut universa Christi Ecclesia immota manet in Saxo fundata


Et usque ad mundi finem est mansura,


Ita Ædes Christi hoc Lapide Angulari innixa


Invictæ in Christum fidei inconcussæque


In omnes futuros annos


Testis exstet firma, pulchra, nobilis, conspicua.


Ab initio usque ad exitum hujus Operis



Adsit Deus,


Laborique nostro faveat propitius


Amen.



Laus Deo.



+



          

+ In the name of the Father and of the Son and of the Holy Ghost. Amen.

          
+ To the honour and glory of 
Almighty God, and in the name and for the advancement of 
Christ's Holy Catholick and Apostolick Church, on the XVIth day of December, in the year of our 
Lord Jesus 
mdccclxiv, this chief corner stone of the Cathedral Church, of the Diocese of Christchurch, is laid by

          

The Right Reverend

Henry J. C. Harper, D.D.

          
(First Bishop of Christchurch),

          
assisted by the following persons, appointed by the Synod of the Diocese to serve as a Cathedral Commission, namely, the Venerable Henry Jacobs, M.A., Archdeacon of Christchurch; the Rev. James Wilson, M.A.; His Honor Mr. Justice Gresson; the Honourable Henry John Tancred, M.L.C.; Alfred Charles Barker, Esquire; Charles Robert Blakiston, Esquire; Cyrus Davie, Esquire; Richard James Strachan Harman. Esquire; James George Hawkes, Esquire, M.P.C.; George Holmes, Esquire; Grosvenor Miles, Esquire; George Arthur Æmelius Ross, Esquire, M.P.C.

          


          
This Cathedral Church is to be erected from the Designs and. Drawings of

          

George Gilbert Scott, Esquire, R.A.,

          
Architect, London, England,

          
and

          

Robert Speechly, Esquire, M.R.I.B.A.,

          
Resident Architect, Christchurch.

          
+ 
Glory to 
God 
in the 
Highest, 
On Earth Peace, Good will Towards Men.

          
From one cause or another the erection of the Cathedral was delayed for several years, when a portion was commenced, which was opened with special services, at which the assistance of a choir of seventy voices was obtained, in November, 1881.

          
Gradually, with the growth of the settlement, the Church has extended the circle of its duties, till it has now in the Diocese (exclusive of Westland) 76 churches, 31 parsonages, 45 Sunday-schools, and about 14,000 Sunday scholars.
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Presbyterians.
          

          
The first settlers on the plains, the Deans, were Presbyterians, and among those who came here in the first four ships, and who came from other parts of the Colony, were many who belonged to this church. These early commenced to take steps towards the erection of a place in which to hold Divine Service, and formed a Building Committee, with the result that St. Andrew's Free Church of Scotland was opened in February, 1857, with the Rev. Charles Fraser as minister. But even before this Mr. Fraser had, by the kindness of the Wesleyans, had the use of their church for one service for his people each Sunday for some considerable time.

          
All through the settlement the number of Presbyterians increased, and gradually churches were erected in the various townships, with a minister appointed to each. The Canterbury Presbytery was formed in January, 1864, the Rev. W. Kirton being elected Moderator at the first meeting, which was held in St. Andrew's Church. As the settlement grew, and Timaru and Westland separated from Canterbury, and were formed into counties, a presbytery was formed for each county. In and about Christchurch the Presbyterians are strong, and have, besides St. Andrew's Church (near the Hospital), St. Paul's, in Cashel-street, a church on the North Belt, and others at Sydenham, the Ferry-road, and Papanui. There are also in the Christchurch Presbytery churches at Lyttelton, Kaiapoi, Cust, Sefton, Rangiora, Waiau, Halkett, Prebbleton, Leeston, Southbridge, Ashburton, Malvern, Alford Forest, and Akaroa.

          


          
In the presbytery of Timaru they have six churches, and in that of Westland five churches, In these three presbyteries they raise annually for missions, £700; for Sabbath-schools, £400; for congregational purposes, £8100; and for liquidating their debt, £3200. The number of communicants is 2180, of adherents, 3050, of Sabbath-schools, 43, of teachers, 390, of scholars, 3880, and of manses, 20.
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Wesleyan.
          

          
The second religious body to thoroughly establish themselves in Canterbury was the Wesleyan. Towards the middle of 1853 the Rev. Mr Kirk visited Lyttelton on his way to Otago, to which district he was appointed, and in response to the earnest solicitations of members of the Wesleyans here he consented to remain for a short time and act as their minister, which he did for some time. In April, 1854, the 
Rev. John Aldred, the first minister appointed to this station, arrived. It is significant of the strong feeling of the Church of England founders of the settlement, that the arrival of a minister of another denomination was looked upon, at that time, almost in the light of an encroachment; indeed, a special sermon was preached in Lyttelton, warning the congregation of the advent of a wolf in sheep's clothing, who would seek to draw the flock from the proper fold. This narrow-mindedness was happily of but short duration, the several sects subsequently working together harmoniously in their religious work.

          
Mr Aldred's first sermons, in the new settlement, were preached on the 3rd of April, 1854; in the morning in Christchurch, to a congregation of fourteen or fifteen persons, in a carpenter's shop, somewhere near where the Working Men's Club now stands; and in the evening in Lyttelton, to a congregation of forty persons, in the Oddfellows' Hall.

          
But neither Mr Aldred nor his congregations were content to be without churches of their own any longer than was absolutely necessary. A very few weeks saw the Christchurch. members having service in their own building—small, primitive, and plainly weather-boarded though it was—on the site in High-street, where May and Co's drapery shop now stands. It was an inexpensive building, all the requisite labour being given voluntarily. In Lyttelton they also built themselves a church, which was opened on the 6th of March, 1855, when the collections amounted to £14 2s 0½d. Thus housed they worked steadily on. The Christchurch building was several times lengthened and enlarged, till, being found too small, it was replaced in 1859 by a very pretty wooden building, accommodating 400 persons, on the same site, given to the body by Mr. J. Broughton, which was for a long time one of 

the handsomest erections in Christchurch, the spire being a landmark for miles around. This was opened on the 26th December, the Rev. T. R. Fisher conducting the morning service, the Rev. C. Fraser the afternoon one, and the Rev. J. Aldred that in the evening. The collections in the church that day amounted to upwards of £80. This church was used till 1865, when the handsome stone church and schoolrooms in Durham-street, so well known to all residents in, and visitors to, Christchurch, was opened—the first stone church erected in this city.

          
Members of the Wesleyan body were pretty numerous, even in the early days, throughout Canterbury, and Mr Aldred held services so far back as 1854 in Kaiapoi at private houses—Mr. Jones's, Mr. Sidey's, and others; at Riccarton, in Mr. Ellis's cottage; and at Papanui. His first visit to Kaiapoi was one to be remembered. There was a fearful snowstorm at the time— the worst Canterbury has ever experienced—and if we mistake not, three men lost their lives in it. Mr. Aldred's horse liked it no better than the settlers, and breaking away from its tether it wandered down towards the river, and took shelter in the kitchen of a cottage.

          
In April, 1861, a church was opened in Kaiapoi, the opening services being conducted by the Revs T. R. Fisher and J. Aldred.

          
Mr. Aldred—who, among other duties, conducted the first burial service in the Wesleyan cemetery, Barbadoes street, over a Mrs. Philpot—continued in charge of the station for five or six years, when he was succeeded by the Rev. Mr. Buller.

          
The growth of the Wesleyan body in Canterbury has from the first been steady and rapid. In Christchurch they have two handsome churches, one of stone and one of brick, besides another at Sydenham, on the Colombo-road. Throughout Canterbury 46 others are planted in various localities, not including 30 places where services are held. They have 19 ministers, 2 catechists, 81 local preachers, 467 Sunday-school teachers, 68 class leaders, 1755 full and accredited church members, besides 161 on trial for membership. They have 51 Sunday-schools, with 4709 scholars, 12 school rooms, and 14 parsonages. The average attendance at services on Sundays is 12,126; the first cost of the buildings belonging to the Church is £41,449 5s 6d; and the cost of school management for the year is £514.
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Baptists.
          

          
The old Oddfellows' Hall in Lichfield-street, which saw the first services of several religious bodies in Canterbury, was the building where the Baptists in Christchurch first met for 

public worship. That was in 1862, and the congregation numbered about 50. In the same year the Rev. D. Dolamore arrived and formed the Church, which continued to meet for several months in the hall, after which they removed to the old Town Hall during the erection of the Baptist church in Lichfield-street. This latter building was subsequently sold for the use of the Fire Brigade (who occupy it at present), on the erection of a new church in Hereford-street, opposite the library. This church was after some time removed to Oxford Terrace near the Madras-street bridge, enlarged, and continued to be used for public worship by the Baptists till the completion of the present handsome brick and stone building on the same section, which took place about one and a half years ago. The cost of this building was about £3,700. The old church still stands, and is used for the Sunday-school, which is a flourishing institution, with between 300 and 400 scholars. The congregation numbers between 400 and 500, and has a very good choir of 50 members, which was formed by Mr. H. Corrick, the present organist and choir master, a position he has held for several years. The Rev. Mr. Dallaston is the present clergyman.

          
A Baptist Church was formed in Rangiora in 1865, and has progressed well. Churches have also been opened in Sydenham, Lincoln-road, Greendale, Kirwee, South Malvern, Ashburton, Lincoln, Oxford and Timaru. It is estimated that the total strength of the congregations throughout the Canterbury District is about 2000.
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Congregationalists.
          

          
The Congregationalists have been established as a Church in Christchurch since 1864. In May 1862 about a dozen persons belonging to this denomination met for the first celebration in Christchurch of Divine service according to its form in the old Oddfellows' Hall, Lichfield-street. The building was then in an incomplete state, and contained neither chairs nor tables, and only two wooden forms. One of these forms served those early Congregationalists as a table, in the middle of which a candle stood up between two bricks was their only light. On the other form the congregation sat. In this primitive manner they first met. Gradually they established matters on a better basis, and in 1864, Mr. Habens having arrived from England to be their pastor, a church of 40 members was formed, which met for Divine service in what was known as Bonnington's Hall. In 1873-4 their present stone church at the corner of Manchester and Worcester-streets was built, the contract for the building only being £3173. Previous to this 

they had used what is now their schoolhouse, next the church. A Sunday-school in connection with this church has been successfully carried on since 1864. A branch church has been established in Linwood, one of the Christchurch suburbs, and another has been formed at Timaru. The present Christchurch members and adherents number between 400 and 500, Linwood about 300, and Timaru 300. The ministers are:—Christchurch, the Rev. Seth Smith (temporarily); Linwood, the Rev. John Hoatson; and Timaru, the Rev. Mr. Sharp. The Linwood congregation are preparing to build a church on a site belonging to them in the Ferry-road, but at present they are working temporarily in the Oddfellows' Hall, East Belt.
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The Roman Catholics.
          

          
Long before the Canterbury settlement was formed, before the pilgrims had landed, and while yet even Akaroa was in its infancy, priests of the Roman Catholic Church traversed the country, visiting the whaling settlers, and, amid a life of much toil and hardship, pursuing their missionary work almost without reward, except such as they received in the shape of the friendship and kind offices of those to whom they ministered. In those very early days Otago and Canterbury, including then Westland, were one district, and those who can remember the difficulties of travelling then can fully appreciate the toil which the fulfilment of a priest's duty involved.

          
Twenty years ago, or rather more, Canterbury was formed into one district, under the charge of two priests, the Revs Father Seon and Chataignier, and the work involved in visiting their people from the Hurunui to the Waitaki, taking in Akaroa and the Peninsula, must have been arduous. In 1861 the Rev Father Chervier replaced Father Chataignier as head of the mission. At that time it consisted, in Christchurch, of about twenty souls, the only church being a small shell of a building, till recently used as the St. Leo Schoolroom. It was a mere shell, the middle room being used as a church or chapel on Sundays. The congregation being small the income was also very small, and yet by dint of great economy, and of assistance in the shape of labour, it was gradually finished, and afterwards a room was added, built at the expense of Mr Sheath, as a thank-offering for his and his family's safe arrival in New Zealand.

          
After a time, the congregation increasing, the accommodation was found too small, and it was decided to build a church. Designs were prepared by Mr Mountfort, and the contract was placed in the hands of Mr. Dithier. The contributions to the church were subsidised by the Provincial Government, which, 

at that time, gave pound for pound to all denominations on funds raised for church building. The church was called "The Church of the Blessed Sacrament," and was opened on the 22nd of May, 1864.

          
About this time steps were taken to build a church in Lyttelton, the Provincial Government giving pound for pound as before. It was opened on the 29th of June, 1865, and a little afterwards churches at Brackenbridge, near Amberley, and at Akaroa were also opened.

          
The following churches have also been opened—Leeston, in December, 1869; Rangiora, in July, 1870; Shand's Track (now changed into a school), in June, 1871; Loburn, in May, 1875; Ashburton (now a school), in July, 1876; Southbridge, in September, 1878; Oxford, in 1879; Shand's Track, new church, in September, 1880; Darfield Church, in October, 1880; and Kaiapoi, in 1882.

          
In 1877, the Rev Father Ginaty took charge of the Christchurch mission. Since then the church has been enlarged, giving an increased accommodation of 500 sittings, costing £1800. A school-church at Papanui has been established at a cost of £600. A school-church at Halswell was opened in 1880, which cost over £300, and the same year £500 was spent on the boys' parish school in Christchurch. In the same year was also built the Presbytery, which, with furnishing, cost £2000, and the Convent grounds were fenced at a cost of £300.

          
From time to time the district—originally one for all Canterbury—has been divided and sub-divided as congregations increased. Twenty years have indeed wrought a change. No church in the province then, now how many! Then two priests, now thirteen; then no schools, now many, largely attended; then no convents, now a few.

          
In Christchurch between 700 and 800 boys attend at the parish school. This number is exclusive of the children of the Select school, and the High School for both boys and girls, the latter under the Sisters and the former (the boys) carried on in the old Presbytery, known as the St. Leo's High School.
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Bible Christians.
          

          
This body numbers, in the Christchurch circuit, 100 church, members, adult members of congregations, 350, and Sunday-scholars, 200. They have three churches in the circuit, one at the corner of Lower High and Wilson-streets, one at Addington, and one at Templeton. The Rev J. Wilson is the minister.
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Primitite Methodist Connexion.
          

          
This body has five ministers in the Canterbury District: the Rev J. Sharp, Timaru; the Rev P. W. Jones for Greendale, Waddington, and Sheffield; the Rev J. Nixon for Ashburton and Newland Forks; the Rev J. Ward for Christchurch, Phillipstown, and Kaiapoi; and the Rev J. H. Luke for Geraldine and Temuka.
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The Brethren
          

          
Meet at their room in Worcester-street (next the Orange Hall), Christchurch, every Sunday. For breaking of bread at 11 a.m., preaching the Gospel at 6 30 p.m.; also for prayer on Monday at 7.30 p.m., and Bible reading on Thursday at 7.30 p.m.
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Jewish.
          

          
The Jews in Christchurch held their first meeting about twenty years ago, when it was decided to form a congregation, Mr. L. E. Nathan being chosen president, and Mr. J. M. Harris treasurer. Subscription lists were opened to defray the cost of building a synagogue, and were liberally supported by both Jews and Christians, the result being the erection of a synagogue about seventeen years ago on the site of the present building in Gloucester-street. About seven years ago that building was found to be too small, and the present handsome stone one was erected, at a cost of £2500. The Rev. I. Zachariah is the present clergyman, and has been so for fifteen years. The congregation numbers about forty. Mr. D. Caro and Mr. Charles Louisson are the present officers of the congregation.
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Freethought.
          

          
The Canterbury Freethought Association was founded in Christchurch, September 4th, 1881. A number of Christchurch residents objecting to the exclusion of a duly elected member from the British House of Commons, sympathising with Mr. C. Bradlaugh in his struggles, and desiring to help the fund his friends were raising for defending his cause in a costly lawsuit promoted by Mr. Newdegate, subscribed the sum of £35, and at a meeting of the subscribers to arrange for its remittance to England, it was resolved by those present to form the nucleus of a Freethought Association, forty names being at once enrolled. In a few days a room was hired for holding weekly meetings, and the first meeting held Sunday evening, September 4th, 1881, when the name was fixed which it now bears, and officers and an executive committee elected for the ensuing year Wm. Pratt being chosen, as president.

          


          
In the course of a few weeks, from the increase of members, the room was found too small, and a hall was rented and fitted up in Worcester-street, and opened in November—the Cathedral and the Jewish Synagogue being opened the same week.

          
This hall fairly answered the purpose for about twelve months, though it was often inconveniently crowded, when overtures were made to the trustees for the tenancy of the German church, which were accepted, and it was taken possession of February, 1883.

          
The association consists of a president, secretary, treasurer, musical director, librarian, and a committee of twelve, with 120 subscribing members, the subscription being 2s 6d per quarter. Connected with the hall, which will seat 250, is the nucleus of a circulating library of nearly 300 volumes, chiefly upon Freethought and scientific subjects.

          
On Sunday mornings there is a Lyceum for children, with 61 on the roll, and an average attendance of 50, under a lady superintendent, and several class leaders, the programme of instruction being singing, marching, calisthenics, short selected readings, an address or suitable moral story by one of the leaders, and lessons in singing and musical notation, with the aid of a blackboard, by a competent music-master.

          
A small but very efficient band and choir forms an attractive feature of the evening meetings, which are held in the hall every Sunday evening from 7 to 9 o'clock, the time being occupied with readings, lectures, and free discussions upon all subjects relating to human welfare and improvement, the prime object of the association being to disseminate rational views of life and its obligations here.
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Young Men's Christian Association.
          

          
This Association, which was established in October 1875, has recently taken possession of handsome premises (of which we give an illustration) on its own freehold m Cambridge Terrace, between Cashel and Hereford-streets. It numbers 110 members and 36 associates, and has been largely assisted by valuable contributions from several Christchurch firms, including a donation of 100 volumes by Mr. Gould, towards replacing a library lost in a fire in the Associations' old premises. It has a President, vice-President, Hon. Treasurer, Board of Management, and a Secretary, elected annually. The subscription is 10s. a year for members under twenty-one years of age, and 20s. a year for older ones.

          


          
The building has a spacious entrance 34ft. x 13ft., in which is the main staircase 5 ft. in width. Under this is the lavatory. Proceeding past the staircase the reading room is reached. It is 32ft. x 23 ft., and 16ft. in height. It is very handsome, well-lighted, and very inviting. On the same floor are also a library 16ft. x lift., a chess room 16ft. x 12ft., and a secretary's room 15ft. x 10ft., all well lit and with fireplaces. Immediately in the rear of the main building is the coffee room, 24ft. x 14ft., having a fireplace fitted with a gas stove. The room is fitted up with cupboards, shelving, delivery counter, &c. The whole of the upper part of the main building is devoted to a lecture hall land two class-rooms, 14ft. x 8ft., and 11ft. x 9ft. The hall is 50ft. x 30ft., and 20ft. high from floor to ceiling, with a central dome coved ventilator 24ft. from the floor. It is lighted from the front and rear by four double arched windows, as well as an eight-branch chandelier in brass, with triplex burners, and has a platform at one end 30ft. x 8ft. The floor is deadened, so that people in the rooms below cannot be annoyed by those in the lecture hall. The front elevation, as seen from Oxford and Cambridge terraces, is specially attractive from its highly ornate character. The front is divided into three bays, with pilasters below, and above these latter, ornamented with richly carved composite capitals, surmounted by a frieze are the words—"Young Men's Christian Association." Above this again is a bold corbelled cornice and substantial blocking, the centre, having pedestals to a higher level and curved pediment, the sides being supported by bold curved trusses, and acroteria surmounting the whole. The panel bears an open Bible, on which is cut words from Psalm cxix., verse 9, the book being backed by a radiation of the light of the Word. The first floor windows are of an especially enriched character, the circular heads having conch shells, and richly carved capitals to the circular columns dividing them, the sides being panelled; the lower portion of each window has deeply sunk panels. The plinth and steps are from the quarry of Mr. R. M. Morten, and the limestone front of two tints from those of Mr. W. Wilson. The bricks used are steam pressed by Mr. W. Neighbours, thus in every matter of construction local materials have been used where possible. 
Mr. T. S. Lambert is the architect.

          
At the rear of the premises, occupying nearly the whole of the remaining portion of the section (with the exception of a yard 30ft x 15ft), is a gymnasium, 45ft x 35ft, of timber framing, covered with iron on three of its sides, the remaining side being a brick wall. The walls are 15ft in height from floor to the under part of the beam of the principals, the latter being composed of kauri, trussed with diagonal struts and king and queen bolts, strongly framed with angle knees to all, to carry 

the swings and gymnastic apparatus. The entrance is by a spacious door 8ft x 6ft. In both gables there is an upper circular-headed light, 14ft wide by 6ft in height. The roof is of corrugated iron. In the interior is a lavatory with water laid on, and the whole room is brilliantly lighted with triplex burners; the floor is composed of tan 8in in depth. The apparatus and other various appliances for gymnastics are not yet erected.
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The Salvation Army.
          

          
This body, which has become an institution in Christchurch, was established on the 20th May, 1883. It has now stations in Christchurch, Sydenham, Lyttelton, Kaiapoi, Ashburton, and Rangiora. Its head-quarters in this colony are now in Christchurch, under the command of Major Pollard. It is supported entirely by voluntary contributions, payments being made into one fund for the whole of New Zealand. So far it has been more than self-supporting, and as the funds increase it carries the war into fresh towns. Should it at any future time be in want of funds it is empowered to draw on the Home body for sufficient to cover the bare expenses of the officers. The attendance at its meetings, which in each place average from eighteen to twenty per week, is very numerous; but the actual membership is, in Christchurch, 235, in Sydenham 150, and in the other towns from 40 to 150. It publishes weekly its own paper—the 
War Cry—which has a very large circulation. It is about eighteen years ago that the Army was first formed, in the Old Country, but it is within the last three years that it. has fought its way into popularity, not only there, but in America and the colonies, and has attracted a very large number of adherents.
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Other Bodies.
          

          
Besides the above bodies, there are the following, each engaged in their special work:—Canterbury Auxiliary of the British and foreign Bible Society; Canterbury Baptist Association; Canterbury Sunday School Union; Cathedral Guild; Cathedral Union; Christchurch Ministers' Association; Christchurch Wesleyan Mutual Improvement Association; and the Church Work Society (Church of England).
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The New Zealand University.
          

          
This University was established under Act of the Assembly, and received the Royal Charter in 1877. It is an examining body only, and is governed by a senate of twenty-four members, with a Chancellor and Vice-Chancellor. In Christchurch it is located in modest rooms in Cashel-street, near Oxford Terrace, and where 
Mr. W. M. Maskell, Registrar and Secretary, is always to be found. Students must belong to one of the several colleges in the Colony affiliated with the University, and must keep three years term before taking a degree. But students residing at a distance from a college can obtain exemption from attendance at College lectures, but not from passing a college examination.

          
The examinations are held in England by the best available men, and the examinations are fully as stiff as those of the London University.

          
There are eight Junior Scholarships each year of £45 a year, tenable for three years, and one Senior Scholarship worth £60 for one year, and medical scholarship of the annual value of £100.

          
Full information regarding the University can be obtained in 
The New Zealand University Calendar, published yearly, which can be seen in the Reference Room of the Public Library, and is to be purchased in Christchurch of Mr A. Simpson, bookseller.
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Canterbury College.
          

          
For this Institution, and the various departments connected with it, Canterbury has to thank its now defunct Provincial Government and Council. It is managed by a Board of Governors, who have under their control the College proper, the Museum (of which we give an account in another place), and the Public Library, besides a Girls' High School, a Boys' High School, a School of Arts, and a School of Agriculture, all of which they have established. The several stone buildings devoted to the different branches of this institution, in Hereford-street, Worcester-street, and Armagh Street, have been erected, from time to time, by Government grants, and out of the funds accruing to the College from endowments, 

and will, doubtless, be considered by visitors as among the handsomest in the city. Views of them are among our illustrations.

          
In 1873 the Provincial Council passed the Canterbury College ordinance, the object being to provide the means for the higher classes of Education. By the ordinance a Board of Governors was instituted, and the Provincial Government procured a site and voted a sum to build the first part of the College, while to ensure the maintenance of the institution in future years considerable blocks of land were reserved for an endowment.

          
The Board entered on its duties in July, 1873. There was in existence, affiliated to the University of New Zealand, a body consisting of representatives of the Fellows of Christ's College and the trustees of the Musuem, called the "Collegiate Union," doing good service in the cause of higher Education. The teaching staff and students of that institution came voluntarily under the authority of the Board, and in a great measure the early success of the College was assured by their labours.

          
Three professors of Classics and English Literature, of Chemistry and Physics, and of Mathematics, selected in England, arrived in Christchurch and commenced their duties in 1875.

          
In 1877 the College staff consisted of four professors and three lecturers, while there were 78 students on the roll, of whom 16 had matriculated in the University of New Zealand. At this time the whole of the work was confined to one building, situated at the corner of Worcester and Antigua-streets. It is of the Gothic order, from plans by 
Mr. B. W. Mountfort. The contract price was £6370. It had eighty feet frontage to Hereford-street, the entrance being under a high clock tower. On the ground floor were:—a large entrance hall; Registrar's office; Porter's room; and a lofty class-room. The gallery consisted of eight tiers, fitted for the reception of benches. A wide staircase leads from the entrance hall to the upper floor, where there are a Governor's room, a waiting - room, two professors' rooms, and a large class-room. Since then this building has been enlarged by the addition of a stone wing on the eastern side, and a large stone hall, eighty feet long and thirty-five feet wide, on western side.

          
The professional staff now consists of 
F. W. Haslam, M.A., late Scholar of St. John's College, Cambridge, Classics; J. M. Brown, M.A., late Snell Exhibitioner, Balliol College, Oxford, English language, literature, and history; C. H. H. Cooke, M.A., late Fellow of St. John's College, Cambridge, mathematics and natural philosophy; 
A. W. Bickerton, F.C.S., Associate and late Senior Queen's Scholar, Royal School of Mines, 

chemistry and physics; 
J. F. Julius von Haast, Ph.D., F.R.S., geology and palæontology; 
F. W. Hutton, Biology. The lecturers are Rev. C. Turrell, M.A., French and German W. Izard, B.A., Cambridge, Barrister-at-Law, Inner Temple, Jurisprudence. The Director of the Museum is Professor von Haast, and the Director of the School of Agriculture is 
W. E. Ivey, M.R.A., C., F.C.S., F.I.C.

          
From the statements of this college, presented year by year to both Houses of Parliament, we find that the number of students has steadily increased term by term. Last year the number of matriculated students attending classes was fiftyseven, and the total number of students, matriculated and non-matriculated, attending lectures was 157.

          
This college now numbers twenty-seven, thirteen of whom have attained the degree of M.A., and fourteen the degree of B.A. Two of these have also attained the degree of L.L.B. Of the Masters of Arts one gained double first-class honours, ten first-class honours, and two third-class honours. Of the thirty-nine senior and third year scholarships awarded by the University of New Zealand during the last five years, twentyfive have been awarded to students of Canterbury College.

          

Lectures on Jurisprudence,—The Board held a conference with the Canterbury Law Society, the result of which was that the Society agreed to contribute one half the amount of the salary of a duly qualified lecturer, and the Board have therefore been able to secure the services of Mr. William Izard, B.A., Cambridge, Barrister-at-Law, Inner Temple, who gave two lectures each week to a class of eleven students.
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Boys' High School.
          

          
In 1878 an Act of the General Assembly endowed this school with a portion of the reserves set apart in 1877 for a secondary education, when 9320 acres were allotted for it. A contract for the building (situated in Worcester-street) was entered into in March 1879, the amount being £8889, and the school was opened in May, 1881, the number of pupils in attendance being then 78. The head master is C. E. Brown, M.A., late Scholar of Lincoln College, Oxford, and the second master is 
George Hogben, M.A., late Scholar of St. Catherine College, Cambridge, and there are six assistant masters.

          
The school has shown a steady increase of members each term, the number of boys at present is, 140. In November last the Inspector-General visited the school and reported that "the organization and tone of the school are excellent, and good progress is being made. The staff is in every respect adequate to the requirements of the school."
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The Girls' High School.
          

          
This school was opened in September, 1877, in the building now used as the School of Art, ninety pupils attending the first term. The building at first gave only limited accommodation, and a new stone building was erected in Cramner Square, the contract price being £4567, on ground purchased in 1878, to which the school was removed at the commencement of the third term of 1881.

          
The staff consists of a lady principal, three assistant teachers, and a teacher of needlework, and one for class singing, besides masters for drawing and the usual extra subjects. Latin is an optional subject; there is no extra charge for drawing, and special attention is given to physical training by means of drill and calisthenics. The Inspector-General's yearly reports have been most satisfactory. His last report is simply "I beg to report briefly that I find it one of the best schools I know.” In December last two Junior-University scholarships were gained by pupils of this school, and a scholarship given by the Board of Education was gained by a third. Indeed, each year since the establishment of the school a very goodly share of University scholarships, and also those offered by the Board of Education, have been carried off by students at this High School.
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School of Art.
          

          
This school was established by the Governors of the College to foster the systematic study of practical Art, and the knowledge of its scientific principles, with a view to developing the application of Art to the common uses of life, and to the requirements of trade and manufacture. It was opened in March, 1882, under the Master, Mr. D. Blair, formerly Examiner in Art at the South Kensington Museum; the models, books, casts, &c., having been selected by 
Mr. Walter Kennaway and Sir Robert Cunliffee Owen, in England. The necessity for the school was shown immediately by the large number of students who attended the classes, both morning and evening, and Mr. Blair soon required assistance, when 
Mr. G. H. Elliott, holding a certificate from the National Art Training School, South Kensington.

          
The instruction includes the following subjects:—freehand, geometry, and perspective; light and shade; painting in oils and water colours; botany and anatomy, as applied to Art; design; modelling; building construction; machine construction; drawing on wood; and lithography.

          
The average number of students last year was, in the morning 44, and in the evening 57. In addition to this number 63 boys 

from the Boys' High School, and 67 pupils from the Girls' High School receive instruction in the School of Art, besides students in the Normal School, and teachers in the schools under the Board of Education. Altogether there were 441 students and pupils on the roll last year.

          
The school is situated at the corner of Hereford and Antiguastreets. The building is a handsome one of stone.
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The School of Agriculture,

          
opened in July 1880, is situated near the township and railway station of Lincoln, about twelve miles from Christchurch. The buildings are brick and stone, and accommodate fifty-six students, the director and teaching staff, besides including lecture theatre, class-rooms, chemical, &c., laboratories, museum, library, dining hall, and all necessary offices.

          
The farm is 660 acres in extent, and has been selected to comprise soils of various qualities, from rich swamp pasture to light, comparatively thin soil overlying shingle. The farm is carried on, as nearly as possible, on economic principles, the students taking part in the regular daily work, thus acquiring a practical knowledge of ploughing and every other kind of farm-work; the use of implements; the management of stock; milking, and the making of cheese and butter. Chemistry is taught, from the testing of simple substances to the quantities and analysis of manures, soils, foods, and farm produce, also biology, land surveying and levelling, and rough carpentering and farriery.

          
The progress of this institution has been most satisfactory. The number of students receiving instruction last year was fifty, and those in residence at one time, thirty-two. Auckland, Nelson, Hawkes Bay, and Otago, contributed four-fifths of the number.

          
The staff consists of the following lecturers:—Agriculture, W. E. Ivey, M.R.A.C., F.C.S., F.I.C.; Chemistry and Physics, Mr. Gray; natural science, Dr. von Lendenfeld; mathematics, surveying, and book-keeping, E. M. Clarke; veterinary science, T. P. Hill, M.R.C.V.S., London.
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Public Library.
          

          
This institution, originally the Christchurch Literary Institute, was conveyed, land, buildings, books, furniture, &c., by its trustees to the Superintendent of Canterbury upon trust for the purposes of a public library, under the 
Canterbury Museum and Library ordinance, conditionally on a reading room, reference library, and circulating library being maintained 

the same, or other buildings on the same land; the reading room and reference library to be open to the public free of charge. The Superintendent gave the control of the library to the Board of Governors of the Canterbury College.

          
The number of books at present in the circulating library is 8942, and in the reference library 6577. This latter, in spite of complaints sometimes made against it, is vastly superior to any similar collection in the Colony, except the General Assembly Library in Wellington, and is of great use to students and those engaged at work. The number of subscribers to the circulating library is 576.
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Christ's College Grammar School.
          

          
The establishment of a College with two departments, a Collegiate and a Grammar School, was one of the plans proposed by the Canterbury Association in founding the Canterbury Settlement, and the Rev. H. Jacobs, M.A. of Oxford (now the Ven. the Dean of Christchurch), was appointed in May, 1850, by the Association, Classical Professor of the proposed college, and came out in the 
Sir George Seymour, one of the first four ships. T. A. Calvert Esq., B.A. of Pembroke College, Cambridge, afterwards Registrar of the Supreme Court in Canterbury, was appointed mathematical tutor. Early in 1851 a commencement of both the proposed departments was made in Lyttelton, a room in the Immigration Barracks about twelve feet square, roughly whitewashed, with a small table and a few wooden stools as furniture, being the first college lecture room. A similar room was allotted for the Grammar School. After a while the want of a school in Christchurch was much felt, and a room, 17 feet x 16 feet, having been erected near the present St. Michael's Church, the school was opened on the 26th April, 1852. There had been five students receiving instruction in classics and mathematics in Lyttelton, and at no time for many years afterwards were there no students at all.

          
The commencement of the school in Christchurch was primitive, and would seem amusing now. The first day five pupils presented themselves:—C. C. Pritchard, H. I. and F. Mathias (sons of the late Ven. Archdeacon Mathias), D. T. Williams, and Charles Hood Williams. Before the end of 1852 the numbers rose to sixteen, but the work was very elementary. Of those entered the first day the Dean says the old school register bears record of one that he could "read a little—write a little;” of another that he could "read pretty well—write a little,” and of a third that he could "scarcely read or write;” of the remaining two one had "gone through a good part of 

the Latin Grammar once,” and the other had actually "done a little of the Latin Delectus.” Progress was greatly hindered by irregularity and unpunctuality of attendance, caused by eccentricities of clocks, bad weather, and necessities of life in those early days when servants were scarce. Excuses for lateness or non-attendance had to be accepted, when the servant had gone off to the Victorian diggings and there was no one to chop the wood, milk the cow, or mind the ex-baby when a new one appeared.

          
The College was founded by the Church Property Trustees, by Deed of Foundation, bearing date May 21st, 1855. It is evident that at that time the Grammar School was regarded as quite a subordinate part of the College which was contemplated by the Association and actually founded. But the Grammar school was a part and the rest in the future, and it became in name and reality "Christ's College Grammar School.”

          
The school increased, and on the 24th July, 1857, the Provincial Council having conveyed by grant ten acres of the Domain to the "Corporation of Christ's College,” the corner stone of the new building was laid with as much solemnity as was practicable under the circumstances. On the 26th November the schoolroom was opened, and a public examination of the school held, but the sub-Warden's house was not ready for occupation till July next year. After a while, the number of boarders increasing, a house for the second master, which should serve as a second boarding house, was built, £1800 being raised, partly by grant of the Provincial Council, and partly by subscriptions among friends at Home and in the Colony. This was opened for boarders before the end of 1860. In 1863 a big schoolroom, sixty feet by thirty feet, was built, and in 1867 a stone building, a college chapel, was completed, which was consecrated on the 10th December, 1868, by the Warden, the Bishop of Christchurch, on his return from London, where he had gone to attend the Lambeth Conference. On the 5th November, 1857, the old schoolroom, the head master's house, and the Somes' building were destroyed by fire, supposed to be the work of an incendiary, but were immediately re-built in a severely plain style.

          
The governing body of the school department is the Warden, sub-Warden, and Fellows of Christ's College; and besides the Head Master (C. C. Corfe, late scholar of Jesus College, Cambridge), there are three classical, three English, and two mathematical masters, graduates of Cambridge or Oxford, besides the usual complement of French, German, Drawing, Music, and other masters. There are in the school 180 day boys and 95 boarders. Two or more senior Somes' scholarships 

are open each year to boys between the ages of 15 and 18, worth £40 per annum in the case of boarders at any of the recognised houses, and £20 in the case of non-residents, tenable for four years. Two junior Somes' scholarships are also open to boys under thirteen and under twelve, worth £30 for boarders and £15 for non-residents. Sons of Clergy scholarships of £30 and £15 are also open to sons of clergy who have held the license of the Bishop of Christchurch for not less than twelve months, and whose parents or guardians are resident within the Diocese.

          
The upper department supplies residence, college discipline, and religious instruction to students attending the lectures of the Canterbury College, and a theological training for those who are preparing for Holy Orders. There are eight scholarships connected with this department, value £80 per annum.

          
With the school grounds are the boys' play-ground, fives court, practice grounds for cricket and football, and a large swimming bath. Recently a good Volunteer Rifle Company has been formed under an efficient drill instructor.
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State Schools.
          

          
From the very earliest days there have either been Government schools in Canterbury, or the Government has helped those in existence by yearly grants. Prior to 1863 the latter was the system in vogue. The Provincial Government voted a sum for educational purposes, which was divided among the Church of England, Wesleyan, Presbyterian, and Roman Catholic bodies, presumably on a population basis, and with just that small amount of satisfaction to the recipients that might be imagined. In those days denominationalism was in full swing. Outside the direct influence of the clergy of one sect or another scarcely a school existed in the district; not one can be said to have flourished.

          
In 1863 a new order of things was inaugurated, and the first District schools (purely Government schools) were established. At that time there were thirty-one denominational schools in Canterbury (all receiving State aid) and two district schools. Each succeeding year saw the number of district schools increase, while the denominational ones decreased, till in 1873 the number of the former stood at fifty-six, and that of the latter at twelve. After September, 1873, Government aid to denominational schools ceased, and the schools collapsed.

          
Education matters—so far as the Government is considered— for the Province of Canterbury, are in the hands of two Boards. The one for North Canterbury controls matters in the counties of Akaroa, Ashley, Ashburton, Cheviot, Kaikoura, and Selwyn. 

Its office is in Christchurch, in the Normal School building in Cranmer Square. It has 143 schools, with a staff of 445 teachers, and an average attendance of 13,462 children.

          
In Christchurch and the immediately surrounding suburbs there are twelve schools, the average attendance at which is 5,300. The buildings are all of them commodious, and of some pretensions to architectual merit, the one in Cranmer Square, of which 
Mr S. C. Farr was the architect, being probably as handsome a school building as there are in the colony.

          
At these State schools there are no fees, the education—which is purely secular—being every child's right. The only cost attaching to attendance is the trifling one of books, slate, and stationery. The value of them to the community may be inferred from the facts that a considerable number of the children pass to the higher standards, while many attain to scholarships and pass on to the College, and that the cost to the State of instruction does not exceed £3 4s. 9d. per head.
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Convent.
          

          

The Monastery of "The Sacred Heart of Nôtre Dame des Missions,” situated in Barbadoes-street, Christchurch, was established in February 1868. The number of the sisters increases every year; at present there are twenty-two. Conducted by them is a High school for young ladies, which was established in 1872. After a few years increased accommodation was required, and in January, 1880, the foundation stone was laid of the present handsome building, which was completed in June, 1882. It is of red brick, the windows, cornices, and corners being white stone. The cost was about £8000. The tuition includes English education in all its branches, music, singing, drawing, and painting, Latin, French, German, Italian, besides other accomplishments, such as flower making, point lace, &c. Boarders as well as day pupils are received, there being about ninety at present attending. The boarders are kept separate from the day pupils, even during the hours of study.
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Museum.
          

          
The Canterbury Museum, one of the richest and most complete in the Southern Hemisphere, and (according to 
Dr. Otto Finsch) equal with those of Frankfort and Stutgardt, is, in consequence, an object of great interest to visitors to Christchurch. This institution, incorporated with the Canterbury College, consists of one hall 90 feet long and 45 feet broad, with a gallery all round, containing the foreign Zoological collections; and of another hall, 70 feet 

long and 35 feet broad, in which the New Zealand collection, together with the minerals and rocks from foreign countries are exhibited. A room, 30 feet long and 30 feet broad, is mainly used for Osteological collections; and another, 50 feet long and 30 feet broad, for the Palæontological series; whilst a third room, 80 feet long and 30 feet broad, contains the casts and reliefs; and a fourth room, 80 feet long and 30 feet broad, is devoted to the foreign Ethnological collections, both pre-historic and historic. Another room, 90 feet long aud 48 feet broad, has been added, devoted exclusively to the Technological collections. The collections illustrating the habits and customs of the former and present indigenous inhabitants of New Zealand are placed in a Maori house, originally intended for the Ngatiporou tribe, North Island; and, finally, a room, 16 feet square, contains the Herbarium.

          
The collections, containing numerous series of types obtained from the most eminent scientific authorities in each branch, consist of upwards of 150,000 specimens.

          
A slight sketch of the

          

            

History of This Institution,

          

          
of which Canterbury is justly proud, may not be uninteresting to our readers.

          
In December, 1860, Dr. von Haast, to whose unremitting exertions we owe the possession of this extremely valuable institution, was appointed by the Canterbury Provincial Government, Provincial Geologist, which was the first appointment of the kind made in New Zealand, Canterbury in this, as in other ways, taking the lead in matters educational and scientific. He had, during two years previously, collected in New Zealand (in the North Island and in the Province of Nelson) seven cases of specimens—mostly geological, rocks, minerals, ores, and fossils—together with a herbarium. These formed the first nucleus of the present Museum. The office of the Geological Survey Department, as it was called, was located on the first floor of the north-east side of the Provincial Government buildings, and occupied the high tower and two other rooms. The specimens consisted of—

          

            

              

                
	220
                
	rocks, minerals, and ores from the province of Auckland.
              

              

                
	15
                
	rocks from the province of Taranaki.
              

              

                
	235
                
	rocks, minerals, ores, and fossils from the province of Nelson.
              

              

                
	—
                
	
              

              

                
	470
                
	specimens in all.
              

            

          

          
This was a small beginning, but Dr. Haast immediately set to work to increase it, and his journeys to the head waters of the Rangitata, the Malvern Hills, and the head waters of the Waitaki were so successful, that, in 1863, 742 specimens of 

rocks, ores, and minerals, and 520 fossils had been added to the collection. Among others, also 182 specimens of New Zealand shells had been obtained.

          
In the meantime, at Dr. Haast's suggestion, the Provincial Council, in 1862, had voted £100 for the purchase of type collections in mineralogy, lithology, palæontology, and conchology, which were obtained from the Mineralien Comptoir, in Heidelberg, Germany. It contained 2613 well-selected specimens, many of them of permanent value. About the same time Professor Ferdinand von Hochstetter sent out a collection of German fossils, ores, and minerals, some of them being of great rarity and beauty.

          
In August, 1862, a cast of the skeleton of the 
Palapteryx ingens arrived from Europe, and was presented by Dr. Haast to the Museum. It was constructed by, and purchased from, Dr. Jaeger, of Vienna, an eminent German palæontologist, from bones dug out of a cave in Nelson. About this time Mr E. F. Gray, of Avonhead, presented to the Museum some leg bones of the 
Dinornis maximus; and, beside the geological specimens, a large herbarium and a number of bird skins and invertebrates had been obtained.

          
The first presentation to the Museum was made, in August, 1861, by Mr. C. J. Tripp. It was a 
Nestor notabilis. The next two were a skin of the shining cuckoo, by Mr. C. Dunnage, and a polished stone implement found under the root of a large tree in Wellington, by Mr. George Hart. The first exchange was made with Mr., now Dr., 
W. L. Buller, who received a kea 
(nestor notabilis) obtained from the 
Mount Cook region, giving in exchange a Mantells kiwi 
(apteryx Mantelli).

          
By August, 1864, the collection had been considerably augmented, so that the whole geological series of New Zealand rocks consisted of nearly 1700 specimens, including 33 specimens of building stone either from quarries already opened in Canterbury, or from those to which it was desirable public attention should be directed. About 40 specimens of New Zealand shells had also been added to the collection, and this work was being done at trifling expense, the Provincial Council satisfying itself with voting an occasional sum for the purchase of show cases.

          
Donations now commenced to come in pretty freely, including a magnificent collection of British 
Lepidoptera, presented by Mr. R. Fereday; 1,086 specimens of European and North American plants, from the Rev. J. Butler, of Langar, near Nottingham; and 460 specimens of Australian plants from Dr. Ferd. Müller, in Melbourne.

          


          
In 1864, also, the late Professor Louis Agassiz sent out a large collection of 
Echinodermata, both recent and fossil, in return for which exchanges were subsequently sent to him; and, in exchange for a small collection of New Zealand bird skins, the late George von Frauenfeld, director of the Imperial Zoological Museum, Vienna, sent a fine series of European skins. When, in August, 1864, the first account of the contents of the Museum was tendered to the Provincial Government, 5,860 specimens had been catalogued.

          
In 1865 Dr. von Haast obtained from Otago a series of specimens which still illustrate the rich localities where the first gold " rushes" took place; and from Westland he obtained a large series of geological specimens and a number of bird skins and plants; while the Provincial Government caused purchases to be made of samples of gold, and the "wash-dirt" it was found in, from the various West Coast gold-mining claims, so as to have a record of the rich ground then worked by many miners.

          
In 1866, the number of donors had reached 30 in that year.

          
Hitherto, New Zealand bird skins were the principal materials for exchange, upon which the Museum had to rely; but in December, 1866, a new era began. Under permission from the proprietors of Glenmark station, Dr. von Haast commenced to search for Moa bones in that locality, on his first trip obtaining sufficient to fill a large American four-horsed waggon.

          
About this time a large collection of skins of North American mammals arrived from Professor Agassiz, so that now the Museum contained some representative specimens from the American continent.

          
By the end of 1866 the collection had so increased that there was no space for it in the old rooms, so a small cottage in Kilmore street, and a room in the Government Buildings, over Bellamy's, were placed at Dr. Haast's disposal. In this latter, the first seven moa skeletons obtained were articulated.

          
In September, 1867, more moa bones having been obtained, collections were shipped to the Australian Museum in Sydney, and to the Museum of Comparative Geology in Cambridge, U.S.A. In the following month, the former Museum sent a valuable return collection of skins, mounted specimens of Australian mammals, birds, and reptiles, together with some in spirits of wine.

          
On the 3rd December, 1867, the Museum was first opened to the public. The number of specimens, all properly labelled, amounted to 7,886, of which 4,312 were collected by Dr. von Haast, and 3,575 were received from other countries.

          


          
In 1868, a fine collection of molluscs, mostly from the tropics, an articulated human skeleton, and a number of bird skins, principally African, were received from the Vienna Zoological Museum; also an extensive series of pre-historic remains from the late Mr. John Flower, of Croydon, Surrey. Thus the prehistoric series was fairly begun.

          
In 1868, the Provincial Council voted £1,200 for a stone building for the Museum, besides giving the stone, and £150 for cases. Dr. Haast appealed to the public for private subscriptions, the result being that a further sum of £483 was collected. A hall, 70 feet long and 35 feet wide, with a gallery running all round, and a lean-to, 35 feet long and 12 feet wide, were built. It is a portion of the present building, and was opened with an Art Exhibition in February, 1870.

          
In the meantime, valuable additions to the Museum were received from the museums in Bremen, Vienna, Munich, Calcutta, Cambridge (U.S.A.), and London; and also from private individuals; the system of exchange instituted by the director, Dr. von Haast, working well.

          
In October, 1870, the collections having been removed to the new building, the Museum, under its new and improved condition, was formally opened. At this time it contained 25,353 specimens —7,134 geological and palæontological, 11,218 zoological, the rest being botanical and ethnological.

          
Since then, the various halls described in the opening of this chapter, have been from time to time added till the present handsome structure was completed.

          
The visitor, entering by the main door facing Worcester-street, finds on the right the



Mammal Room.

          
In here, on the right, is a case containing some magnificent lions and tigers, splendidly mounted, and presenting a life-like appearance. On the opposite side are the bears, which include the finest specimens to be seen anywhere. The skins are not stuffed with straw in the old way, but the animal is modelled in clay, and, when the clay is still plastic, the skin is moulded on In the next case to the lions are the monkeys. Here is to be seen a very fine specimen of male gorilla, and the family of ourang-outangs. There is a remarkable " nose" monkey from Borneo, a very rare specimen, and, besides many others, some "Lemures," of Madagascar, a very peculiar family of monkeys.

          
The next case contains sloths, ant-eaters, armadilloes, marmots moles, and squirrels, and next it are specimens of smaller deer, antelopes, chamois, &c. Among these, one of the most remarkable is a specimen of the "Bighorn" of the North American 

Rocky Mountains. Its curled horns, which are of considerable size, weigh between thirty and forty pounds, and are immensely strong, it being the habit of this animal, when jumping down precipices, to land on his head.

          
At the end of the room is a group of animals too large to be put in a case, amongst them being an elephant, a rhinoceros, a camel, a giraffe, an elk, and the American and European bison.

          
Turning back towards the door, the visitor comes to a case containing beavers, hares, porcupines, and representatives of the large family of rats and mice. In the centre of the case is a fine group of seals. With the exception of one northern specimen (Crested Seal, of Greenland), they are all of the Southern Hemisphere. There is also a group of sea-lions, sea-leopards, and smaller fur seals. The end of the case contains specimens of all the marsupial animals of Australia—kangaroos, wallabys, &c.

          
The next case contains otters, badgers, wolves, foxes, and hyenas.

          
The centre of the room at the south side is used for the skeletons of large mammals, either recent or extinct. Of the former, the most conspicuous are the skeletons of a large Indian elephant, giraffe, camel, and rhinoceros. Here stands the skeleton, ot the celebrated sire Traducer. Among the extinct forms is the gigantic megatherium, of South America, a gigantic sloth. This animal, which, like its present climbing representative, fed on leaves, was, from its immense size, unable to climb, and it is supposed that after grubbing up round the roots of trees, it used its enormous strength to rock them backwards and forwards till they fell. There is also a beautiful complete skeleton of the giant Irish elk.

          
At the north-east side of the room are a number of reptiles, amongst them an immense crocodile; while in the centre, at the north side, are a number of other mammals, among which the most remarkable are a zebu, of India, the manatee of South America (a fresh water seal), and a quagga, of South Africa. There is also a fine group of New Zealand boars. The windows aud spare pillars of this room are decorated with cases containing a large collection of beetles and butterflies.

          
The entrance-hall is hung round with weapons and implements of savage races, and the passage leading to the various rooms is hung with a valuable collection of line and mezzotinto engravings of the principal English engravers of the last century.

          


          
The visitor next enters the

          

            

Technological Room,

          

          
one of the most recent additions to the Museum. The various show-cases standing against the walls are each surmounted by a bust of some eminent man. In the first case on the right (over which is a bust of 
Sir Isaac Newton) are models illustrating mining, metallurgical works, and shipbuilding. The second case (surmounted by a bust of F. von Hochstetter) contains models illustrating steam, water, and gas power engines. The third case (carrying a bust of the Duke of Manchester) shows details of machinery, and models illustrating mechanical motion for drainage and irrigation. The fourth case (on which is a bust of Linnæus) is fitted with models of mechanical powers, geometrical models, and models illustrating mechanical motion.

          
The next case (over which stands a bust of Raffaelle Sanzio) contains specimens of art metal work, Japanese ancient and modern, Indian and recent German, besides casts from the most celebrated works of art by Cellini and others, We next come to a case containing some very beautiful Japanese art-work in China and bronze castings. Next this are some wood and shell carvings, some of them of great beauty.

          
The long case at the end of the room contains illustrations of ceramic art for industrial purposes from the various Canterbury pottery works, stoneware of various countries and ages, and illustrations for agricultural and pastoral purposes; while below it are illustrations of the manufacture of steel, india-rubber, and gutta percha.

          
Illustrations of steel and iron manufactures from some of the largest works in England and Scotland are a prominent feature at this end of the room, and will be examined with interest by both amateurs and the practical workman.

          
The first of a row of desk cases on the right in this room contains specimens of useful and ornamental ores, minerals, and rocks, of New Zealand and other countries. Amongst them is a fine series of real gems, as found in nature and polished, and a series of diamonds from the African fields. The quartz rocks as worked in Germany, and fibres of New Zealand and other countries are also fully represented.

          
On the opposite side of the room, in a long desk case, is a splendid metallurgical series, which there is probably nothing to equal in the Southern Hemisphere. The specimens illustrate the mining of ores and the processes by which the metals are refined. At the one end the metallurgy of gold is represented. There is a fine series from the gold mines of Hungary, showing rocks the exact counterpart of those found at the Thames. 

Quartz from various mines in Australia is also shown, and models of the largest nuggets ever found either there or elsewhere. All the processes of refining, from the crude ore to the pure metal, are also illustrated by specimens with regard to silver, quicksilver, iron, nickel, zinc, tin, lead, and copper; a large part of the series being presentations from the Austrian Government. It is difficult to speak too highly of this portion of the Museum, as it would be difficult to surpass the specimens.

          
In the case on the western side of the room (surmounted by a bust of 
Mr. E. G. Wakefield) are models explaining wood construction, joinery, and shipbuilding; and another case (on which is a bust of Lord Lyttelton) contains models of wood and stone construction. Another small case contains chemical preparations and articles made from minerals, such as asbestos goods, white lead, paints, &c.

          
In a handsome wall case is a series of submarine cables, presented by the Telegraph Construction and Maintenance Company, London, containing both shore and deep-sea cables, and their sections.

          
Woollen manufactures are represented by a fine case of specimens from T. W. Rust & Co., of Leicester; and a series showing the manufacture of woollen goods, from the initial stage to the completion, from the Kaiapoi Woollen Manufacturing; Company.

          
In a case against the wall the New Zealand goldfields, are represented; the "washdirt" from the different claims being, shown in glass bottles, and the washed gold from the same claims in trays. In this dual way the principal claims at the Thames, Westland, and in Otago are represented.

          
The collection of about fifty specimens of building stones near the entrance to this room, all of them from Canterbury quarries, proves how rich in this respect the district is, almost every degree of colour, texture, and hardness, being represented. Specimens of New Zealand timbers from Westland and other parts of the Colony, both in the rough and dressed, are also a prominent feature of this room, and confirm other testimony as to the variety and great value of our native forest trees.

          
In a high centre case the ceramic art is represented, showing, by specimens from Copeland and Son's works, Stoke upon Trent, the various processes through which porcelain ware passes in the course of manufacture. Specimens of stoneware, porcelain, and majolica, some of them of great beauty and excellence, from all parts of the world, give a good insight into the former and present mode of manufacture. If we say that the national manufactories of Meissen, Sevres, and Vienna, are represented, 

that unique specimens from the great English manufactories in Staffordshire and Shropshire have found a resting place in this Museum, and that Japan, China, and India are represented by valuable specimens, a good idea may be conveyed of the beauty and value of the collection.

          
Although the exhibits of glassware are small, yet the manufactories of Bohemia and England are represented by some very choice specimens, engraved, plain, and coloured, while a small case of Murano glass is particularly worthy of notice.

          
Textile fabrics representing both the manufactured and raw material, principally in flax, cotton, and silk; some very fine Japanese embroidery work; enamelling, inlaying in wood, ivory carving, 
repousé work in silver and other metals, both ancient and modern, form of themselves highly interesting and costly specimens.

          
The next room (at the end of the passage), is devoted to

          

            

Osteology,

          

          
and some fine series of skeletons arranged according to their sub-kingdoms. Particularly worth notice is a fine male gorilla skeleton, the giant Python from India, besides some articulated human skeletons. A separate case contains skulls of the different human races, both ancient and modern, among them being skulls from Egyptian mummies, Roman of the Augustine period, and Anglo-Saxon and Romano-British races. Skulls from Peruvian mummies; Flat-headed Indians, and a Tasmanian one are among the rarities. The Maoris of New Zealand and the Mori-ori of the 
Chatham Islands are well represented.

          
In some desk cases is shown a fine collection of European eggs.

          
Skeletons of birds, fishes, and reptiles, including the crocodile, condor, and ostrich, are well represented, and above the cases are a large sunfish, a stingaree, and the smallest whale known (seven feet long).

          
Continuing east we come to a room principally devoted to

          

            

Fossils.

          

          
The collection is contained in a number of central and side cases, and is arranged both stratigraphically and zoologically. The fossils zoologically arranged are distinguished by the different coloured borders on the tickets, the black borders belonging to the Palæozoic, the blue to the Mesozoic, and the red to the Kainozoic periods.

          
Casts of the gigantic armadillo (the extinct Glyptodon), and of skulls of the Elephas Ganesa, Mastodon, and Dinotherium, and several others are also to be seen.

          


          
Among the most remarkable fossils is a collection from the celebrated Solenhofen lithographic stone quarries.

          
Celebrated footprints from Massachusetts, bones of extinct elephants, a fine collection of corals, and a case of stuffed fishes, snakes, 
&c., from foreign countries, complete our notice of this room.

          
Returning to the skeleton room, and passing through it to the left, we come to

          

            

The Moa Room,

          

          
which is principally devoted to specimens belonging to New Zealand. The most striking feature here is the magnificent collection of moa skeletons, two of which, the 
Dinornis Maximus, stand twelve feet three inches high. Other specimens of this bird without wings are to be seen, from the size of a small emu up to that of a giraffe, all, even the smallest, being fullgrown, showing the different species into which this family is divided. There are also some complete whale skeletons.

          
In the cases round the sides of the room are stuffed and mounted New Zealand birds, making, with one or two exceptions, a complete collection, while many of them are unique specimens not to be seen in any other museum. The kiwi or 
apteryx, the last remnant of the moas, is worth notice, as are some very rare New Zealand quail, which are under a glass case at the end of the room.

          
As everything during the moa age was on a gigantic scale, our visitors should not be surprised to see the skeleton of a woodhen 
(Aptornis) about three feet high, and of an extinct goose 
(Cnemiornis) about the same height. In one of the cases, also, is a gigantic harrier 
(Harpagornis) which preyed upon the moa, about the size of the largest condor.

          
Cases in this room are also devoted to penguins, New Zealand fishes, crustaceas, and other invertebra.

          
A ribbon-fish 
(Regalaceus Pacificus), about twelve feet long, in this room is a rare specimen, probably the only one of the kind in existence.

          
Upstairs in this hall is devoted to

          

            

Geology and Mineralogy.

          

          
On the right are the rocks of New Zealand and other countries, and in the lower show cases are collections of foreign minerals. On the opposite side are New Zealand fossils, and in the lower show cases New Zealand fossils again, and a collection of rocks especially arranged for those who wish to study lithology. The rest of the high cases on the western wall contain botanical collections, timbers, fruits, seeds, &c.

          


          
Above the low cases small vertical cases run all round the room, in which spirits of wine specimens are exhibited. Here we find a collection of foreign and New Zealand fishes, snakes, lizards; also in the same cases a fine collection of sponges. Particularly worth notice is a collection of beautiful stone lilies, or stalked crinoids, which were formerly supposed to be extinct, but which have been dredged up in the course of recent deep-sea fishing. The collection or minerals is magnificent. Among the sponges attention is drawn to the wonderful siliceous sponges 
(Eúplectella Aspergillum), and a splendid specimen of Neptune's Cup sponge, lately found in Singapore. The walls are covered with maps, typographical and geological, the collection being valuable, as containing one of every map ever published of Canterbury. One specimen, published in 1850, is supposed to be the only copy of it in existence. They are particularly worth notice, as illustrating the progress of typographical and geological survey in Canterbury.

          
A small corridor off the west side of this room, which contains cases of recent New Zealand shells, and photographs of remarkable New Zealand scenery, leads to

          

            

The Maori House.

          

          
This house was designed, and the carvings and scrolls executed, by Hone Taahu, of the Ngatiporou tribe, who named it Hau-te-ana-nui-o-Tangaroa (the sacred great cave of Tangaroa, the Polynesian Neptune). It was originally intended as a residence for the chief 
Henare Potae, of Tokomario. During the war prior to 1875 the materials were partially destroyed by the Hau-Haus, which delayed its erection till it was fortunately secured for the Christchurch Museum by 
Samuel Locke, Esq., of Napier. It was brought down and erected on its present site by two Maoris, one being the designer of it, and the other Tamati Ngakako.

          
Tamati Taahu stated that the art of carving was hereditary in his family. The art is practised in greater perfection among the Maoris of the East Coast of the North Island than elsewhere. This is generally attributed to the fact that the stern posts and figure heads of the canoes in which their ancestors came from Hawaiki were highly carved, and were preserved and used as models by their descendants, who, having cultivated a taste for the art, have never lost it.

          
In the centre of this remarkable building are ethnological collections of past and present generations of our fine Native race. Opposite the entrance are two large show cases containing specimens found during the excavations in Moa Bone Cave, Sumner, which have given such an insight to the history of the 

aboriginal Maoris. The smaller cases next these, on both sides, contain remnants from the kitchen middens of the moa hunters, by whom that gigantic bird was exterminated.

          
The two last cases at the northern end contain a selection of beautiful stone weapons and implements of the Maoris of New Zealand and of the Morioris of the Chatham Islands, ornaments, weapons, clothing, and other remarkable objects.

          
The visitor's special attention will.probably be given to a cast of an antique Tamil Bronze Bell, found in the possession of the natives of the North Island, and a cast of " Korotangi," a carved stone bird, said by the natives to have been brought from Hawaiki.

          
In the centre of the room, between the cases, are a number of beautiful wood carvings for the prows and stern posts of canoes, showing the great proficiency in this art attained by the Maoris. There is also a half-size model of a Moriori canoe made of flaxsticks (there being no large timber in the 
Chatham Islands) in which they used to go miles out to sea. Round the walls are hung some very finely-wrought mats and rugs, implements of war and chase, and paddles. One article, of which very few are known to exist, is a Tai-aha, a chief's spear made of whalebone, curiously carved and inlaid with pawa shells.

          
Returning to the main entrance of the building and ascending the principal staircase, the visitor reaches the gallery in the mammal room, where, all along the walls, the

          

            

              
Collection of Birds
            

          

          
from all parts of the world is exhibited. The first case on the left contains birds of prey, vultures, eagles, &c.: among them the gigantic condor from the Andes is conspicuous. The case of owls is very fine, particularly the great horned and snowy owls.

          
A glance along this side of the room will make it evident that great care has been given to the arrangement of the various specimens, anything like soldier - like appearance having been avoided, and the many bright colours give alternately blazes of pleasing contrasts and harmony. The group of trojons from Central America is very fine, equalling in plumage the birds of paradise. Next to this are groups of American humming birds and African sun birds. Next to these again are two prominent groups of birds of paradise containing some of the rarest specimens in existence, the black bird of paradise in particular being so rare that there are only four similar specimens known to exist in the whole world. It is impossible in the limited space at our command to dwell on the beauties of this splendid collection of birds as it deserves. Few museums, even in old countries, though larger, can equal it, and fewer still, if any, can surpass it. The 

remarkable toucans, the scarlet ibis, the splendid collection of pheasants, the emus, ostriches, the Australian paroquets and the cuckoos, the pigeons, with the gigantic crested pigeons of New Guinea, the interesting group of capercailies, the waders, swans, geese, ducks, gulls, terns, and pelicans would take a volume were we to attempt to describe them.

          
In the low cases is a very large collection of recent shells, marine, fresh water, and land. In order to assist the student, the tickets of the shells have different-coloured borders, the marine having black, the freshwater blue, and the land shells red.

          
The rest of the low cases are filled with echinodermata, &c. (sea. urchins, British star-fish, &c.) There is also a collection of glass models of invertebrate animals, to the life-like appearance of which special attention is drawn, and a number of cuttle fish preserved in spirits of wine.

          
The next room is devoted to

          

            

Statuary and Painting.

          

          
It contains casts of the most celebrated statues by ancient and modern sculptors. A marble bust of Garibaldi, life size, by Giani Vincenzo, of Rome, presented b
y Italian admirers of the patriot in New Zealand, stands in this room. Among the statues of the Greek period are the Laocoon, Apollo Belvedere, Venus of Milo, and Venus de Medicis; of the Roman period,. Antinous and the Dying Gladiator, &c.; of Renaissance,. Mercury; and of more recent times, Eve at the fountain, and Perseus, by Canova, are most noticeable.

          
A good beginning has been made towards a picture gallery, the most beautiful in the small collection being the well-known picture in oils, by Jourdan, of " Leda." New Zealand is represented by the works of Cousins, Gully, Gibbs, Richmond, and others.

          
A door leads from this room to the

          

            

              
Ethnological and Antiquity
            

          

          
room. Here are Etruscan and Roman antiquities; Indian, American, Fijian, and pre-historic pottery, and a very complete and interesting series of pre-historic remains from Europe. These latter, consisting of flint implements and kitchen middens, from France, Germany, Belgium, Italy, and Scandinavia, some of the latter containing remains of both extinct and living; animals. The Swiss lake dwellings are particularly well represented by flint, stone and bone implements, and by pottery, bronzes, &c. A small model of one of these remarkable lake dwellings makes us acquainted with the mode of living of those very interesting pre-historic people.

          


          
A high case against one wall contains four Etruscan cinerary cists, carved in limestone or alabaster. There is also a fine collection of coins, medals, autographs, and prints. The mound boulders of North America, the Aztecs of Mexico, and the original inhabitants of Peru are represented. There is a fine series of ethnological specimens from New Guinea, Australia, Fiji, and Samoa, as well as Africa and America. A large collection of casts of ivory carvings from the Roman period to the seventeenth century is very interesting, and a collection of ancient Japan tools, paintings, and warlike implements. The wall on the south side is decorated with specimens of Egyptian papyri, and on the opposite side is a collection of publications of the Arundel Society, 
being fac similes of celebrated works of art.
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The Public Gardens and Hagley Park.
        

        

          
The public gardens (or Government Domain) are situated in a bend ox the Avon on the western side of the city, and immediately adjoining it, with the main entrance opposite the end of Hereford-street, only about five minutes' walk from the centre of the town. Along the side of Antigua-street a strip of ground has been left unfenced in front of the gardens, and planted with a splendid avenue of sycamores and elms, which afford pleasant shade during the hot days of summer. The garden comprises about eighty acres, laid out in the picturesque style, and is almost surrounded by the river, which forms a splendid feature, being lined by fine thriving trees of various kinds, the weepingwillow predominating, and laving its beautiful drooping branches in the deep, clear water, produces that pretty effect so beautifully described by Shakespeare—

          

            

              
"There is a willow grows aslant a brook


              
That shows his hoar leaves in the glassy stream."
            

          

          
The garden was laid out about eighteen years ago, and affords a fine instance of the triumph of art over nature, seeing that the soil is of an extremely sterile nature, consisting of a thin layer of sandy loam over a deep bed of loose, dry shingle, and liable to extreme droughts during summer. The main walk, sixteen feet wide, runs all round the garden, following the windings of the Avon, and is the most delightful promenade about Christchurch, being crowded on Sundays and holidays with pleasure-seekers. The garden may be said to be only in a half-finished state, as, owing to the want of funds, the original design of the present 

Curator has never been completed. However, this incompleteness does not in any way detract from the value of the garden as a recreation ground, but from its scientific value only. It is intended that the garden, when completed, shall contain groups of plants arranged in a geographic manner—
i.e., that all the hardy sorts of plants from one country shall be brought together into one group, so that they may be seen at a glance. At present the only groups completed are those representing: Australia, Japan, Great Britain, and New Zealand, all of which contain plants of great rarity, beauty, and scientific interest. That of New Zealand contains about 500 species, and is especially valuable, seeing that our native flora (which is totally distinct from that of all other countries) is being rapidly exterminated by the progress of settlement; and this collection will therefore aid in the preservation of many plant forms which would otherwise shortly become extinct.

          
Besides these geographical groups, it is intended to form groups of all the principal natural orders of plants to facilitate the study of botany, and so help forward that liberal system which the people of New Zealand have adopted at so much selfsacrifice. A good many of these groups have been partially completed, the most striking being the group of the pine tribe, or 
pinetum, which contains about 170 sorts of young conifers, mostly in a thriving condition, covering about fourteen acres of ground. Of course the collection is far too young to possess any such grand specimens of conifers as are to be seen in the great: show places of England, but no English collection of the same age can surpass it. There is a finely-formed specimen of the Chilian pine, 
Araucaria imbricata, over twenty feet high, which flowered last year; a unique specimen of the rare 
Aibes bifida, of Japan, numerous fine cedars, and the usual kinds of pines, yews, silver firs, spruces, etc., all growing well. It is hoped that this 
pinetum will enable intending planters to see what sorts of trees are most fitted for cultivation in Canterbury, and be the means of avoiding much useless expenditure of labour and money in the future.

          
There are in the garden many thousands of thriving trees from all countries, except the tropics, and our space is insufficient to mention any; but the most interesting among the most beautiful are a number of sorts of Japanese maples, varieties of 
Acer Polymorphum, which are very attractive, on account of their exquisite foliage, producing many shades of colour. There is a splendid specimen of the royal tree of Japan, 
Paulownia imperialis; another of the cork oak, which yields the cork of commerce; several fine specimens of the tulip-tree of North America; a large sugar maple, several splendid Wellingtonias, 

etc. British and Australian trees are represented in large numbers, and in numerous forms.

          
Some thousands of roses on the beds and borders form the principal attractions during the early part of summer, but suffer much from the droughts later on, and their health is only maintained with difficulty. The fashionable bedding out system has not been much practised as yet, owing to the paucity of glass and the scarcity of funds; but in laying out the lawns ample room has been left for the formation of beds, ribbon-borders, etc., for the display of such things whenever money may be found for the proper maintenance of the garden. About four acres was devoted to a nursery for the propagation of forest trees for distribution to public bodies, such as Road Boards, etc. In some years as many as 150,000 trees have been so distributed, but owing to the almost entire absence of funds of late years the nursery has had to be abandoned. Latterly attention has been given chiefly to economic plants and hardy herbaceous plants. Of these latter about a thousand species have been introduced almost entirely at the Curator's own expense, and the collection of these is now by far the finest in the colony, although the soil is a very unpromising one for such things. An immense quantity of native seeds and plants have been sent to other countries, and the naming of native and exotic plants for correspondents in various parts of the colony forms no small part of the work of the garden.

          
Of economic plants very many kinds have been introduced and freely distributed throughout the colony in exchange for native plants and seeds. During the present year about 1000 olives will be distributed, besides some hundreds of white mulberries, American vines, etc.

          
Enough has been said to show that the miserable pittance hitherto expended on the garden has been expended to the best advantage; but, small as the funds have been, they show a tendency to decrease, owing to the fact that as the population of the city increases the sheep pasturage of the park (the only source of income) becomes of less value. It is to be hoped that some way of increasing the funds may be discovered, otherwise the garden must deteriorate, and the work hitherto done be wasted. If the necessary funds were forthcoming the garden might do much to aid in founding new industries. Various horticultural and agricultural experiments might be carried out, and the cause of education be furthered by the teaching of botany, and the introduction of beautiful and useful plants.

        

        

          

            
Hagley Park
          

          
is situated to the north and south of the Public Gardens, with which it is connected by two foot-bridges over the Avon, and is 

divided into two by the Riccarton-road. It contains about 400 acres, and was presented to the people o£ Canterbury by a number of English well-wishers of the Canterbury settlement. A broad road runs round the whole of it, and it is surrounded by thriving belts and avenues of English trees, such as oaks, ash, sycamores, elms, birch, etc., which have already attained considerable size, and show a vigour of growth unknown in their native country. There are also large numbers of Californian pines and similar trees, all growing well. In the southern part of the park there are several extensive cricket-grounds, on which numerous matches are played during the season. There are numerous shady footpaths in all parts of the park, extending in length to a total of ten miles. Besides these, several grass rides for horsemen have lately been formed, and are much used. The central portions of both parks is at present allowed to remain in the state of pasturage, as the rent derived from it is the only fund available for carrying on the garden and parks. But it is intended that clumps of English and other trees should be distributed over the whole surface, so as to produce the genuine appearance of an old English park.

          
The park and gardens are under the management of a Board nominated by the Government, and the Curator is Mr. J. F. Armstrong.
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The public gardens (or Government Domain) are situated in a bend ox the Avon on the western side of the city, and immediately adjoining it, with the main entrance opposite the end of Hereford-street, only about five minutes' walk from the centre of the town. Along the side of Antigua-street a strip of ground has been left unfenced in front of the gardens, and planted with a splendid avenue of sycamores and elms, which afford pleasant shade during the hot days of summer. The garden comprises about eighty acres, laid out in the picturesque style, and is almost surrounded by the river, which forms a splendid feature, being lined by fine thriving trees of various kinds, the weepingwillow predominating, and laving its beautiful drooping branches in the deep, clear water, produces that pretty effect so beautifully described by Shakespeare—

          

            

              
"There is a willow grows aslant a brook


              
That shows his hoar leaves in the glassy stream."
            

          

          
The garden was laid out about eighteen years ago, and affords a fine instance of the triumph of art over nature, seeing that the soil is of an extremely sterile nature, consisting of a thin layer of sandy loam over a deep bed of loose, dry shingle, and liable to extreme droughts during summer. The main walk, sixteen feet wide, runs all round the garden, following the windings of the Avon, and is the most delightful promenade about Christchurch, being crowded on Sundays and holidays with pleasure-seekers. The garden may be said to be only in a half-finished state, as, owing to the want of funds, the original design of the present 

Curator has never been completed. However, this incompleteness does not in any way detract from the value of the garden as a recreation ground, but from its scientific value only. It is intended that the garden, when completed, shall contain groups of plants arranged in a geographic manner—
i.e., that all the hardy sorts of plants from one country shall be brought together into one group, so that they may be seen at a glance. At present the only groups completed are those representing: Australia, Japan, Great Britain, and New Zealand, all of which contain plants of great rarity, beauty, and scientific interest. That of New Zealand contains about 500 species, and is especially valuable, seeing that our native flora (which is totally distinct from that of all other countries) is being rapidly exterminated by the progress of settlement; and this collection will therefore aid in the preservation of many plant forms which would otherwise shortly become extinct.

          
Besides these geographical groups, it is intended to form groups of all the principal natural orders of plants to facilitate the study of botany, and so help forward that liberal system which the people of New Zealand have adopted at so much selfsacrifice. A good many of these groups have been partially completed, the most striking being the group of the pine tribe, or 
pinetum, which contains about 170 sorts of young conifers, mostly in a thriving condition, covering about fourteen acres of ground. Of course the collection is far too young to possess any such grand specimens of conifers as are to be seen in the great: show places of England, but no English collection of the same age can surpass it. There is a finely-formed specimen of the Chilian pine, 
Araucaria imbricata, over twenty feet high, which flowered last year; a unique specimen of the rare 
Aibes bifida, of Japan, numerous fine cedars, and the usual kinds of pines, yews, silver firs, spruces, etc., all growing well. It is hoped that this 
pinetum will enable intending planters to see what sorts of trees are most fitted for cultivation in Canterbury, and be the means of avoiding much useless expenditure of labour and money in the future.

          
There are in the garden many thousands of thriving trees from all countries, except the tropics, and our space is insufficient to mention any; but the most interesting among the most beautiful are a number of sorts of Japanese maples, varieties of 
Acer Polymorphum, which are very attractive, on account of their exquisite foliage, producing many shades of colour. There is a splendid specimen of the royal tree of Japan, 
Paulownia imperialis; another of the cork oak, which yields the cork of commerce; several fine specimens of the tulip-tree of North America; a large sugar maple, several splendid Wellingtonias, 

etc. British and Australian trees are represented in large numbers, and in numerous forms.

          
Some thousands of roses on the beds and borders form the principal attractions during the early part of summer, but suffer much from the droughts later on, and their health is only maintained with difficulty. The fashionable bedding out system has not been much practised as yet, owing to the paucity of glass and the scarcity of funds; but in laying out the lawns ample room has been left for the formation of beds, ribbon-borders, etc., for the display of such things whenever money may be found for the proper maintenance of the garden. About four acres was devoted to a nursery for the propagation of forest trees for distribution to public bodies, such as Road Boards, etc. In some years as many as 150,000 trees have been so distributed, but owing to the almost entire absence of funds of late years the nursery has had to be abandoned. Latterly attention has been given chiefly to economic plants and hardy herbaceous plants. Of these latter about a thousand species have been introduced almost entirely at the Curator's own expense, and the collection of these is now by far the finest in the colony, although the soil is a very unpromising one for such things. An immense quantity of native seeds and plants have been sent to other countries, and the naming of native and exotic plants for correspondents in various parts of the colony forms no small part of the work of the garden.

          
Of economic plants very many kinds have been introduced and freely distributed throughout the colony in exchange for native plants and seeds. During the present year about 1000 olives will be distributed, besides some hundreds of white mulberries, American vines, etc.

          
Enough has been said to show that the miserable pittance hitherto expended on the garden has been expended to the best advantage; but, small as the funds have been, they show a tendency to decrease, owing to the fact that as the population of the city increases the sheep pasturage of the park (the only source of income) becomes of less value. It is to be hoped that some way of increasing the funds may be discovered, otherwise the garden must deteriorate, and the work hitherto done be wasted. If the necessary funds were forthcoming the garden might do much to aid in founding new industries. Various horticultural and agricultural experiments might be carried out, and the cause of education be furthered by the teaching of botany, and the introduction of beautiful and useful plants.

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

Hagley Park



          

            
Hagley Park
          

          
is situated to the north and south of the Public Gardens, with which it is connected by two foot-bridges over the Avon, and is 

divided into two by the Riccarton-road. It contains about 400 acres, and was presented to the people o£ Canterbury by a number of English well-wishers of the Canterbury settlement. A broad road runs round the whole of it, and it is surrounded by thriving belts and avenues of English trees, such as oaks, ash, sycamores, elms, birch, etc., which have already attained considerable size, and show a vigour of growth unknown in their native country. There are also large numbers of Californian pines and similar trees, all growing well. In the southern part of the park there are several extensive cricket-grounds, on which numerous matches are played during the season. There are numerous shady footpaths in all parts of the park, extending in length to a total of ten miles. Besides these, several grass rides for horsemen have lately been formed, and are much used. The central portions of both parks is at present allowed to remain in the state of pasturage, as the rent derived from it is the only fund available for carrying on the garden and parks. But it is intended that clumps of English and other trees should be distributed over the whole surface, so as to produce the genuine appearance of an old English park.

          
The park and gardens are under the management of a Board nominated by the Government, and the Curator is Mr. J. F. Armstrong.
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Acclimatization Gardens.
        

        
The Canterbury Acclimatization Society has now been established and in working order for twenty years. In January, 1864, Mr. F. A. Weld, now Governor of South Australia, and a few other gentlemen met in Christchurch and decided to form a Society. The idea once mooted met with general acceptance. Meetings, public and private, were held on the subject, and 
Mr. W. T. L. Travers, F.L.S., delivered a lecture, urging its claims, on the 31st March the same year. On the 21st April following, a public meeting was held in the Town Hall, His Honor the Superintendent in the chair, when a resolution was unanimously passed, "That a Society be formed, to be called the 'Canterbury Horticultural and Acclimatization Society,'" and another, that the Provincial Government be requested to place at the disposal of the Society such portion of Hagley Park near the Hospital as might be necessary for the objects of the Society.

        
Five days afterwards another public meeting was held, when His Honor the Superintendent was 
ex officio elected patron of the Society; Mr. F. A. Weld was elected President; the 

Ven. Archdeacon of Akaroa, Messrs J. C. Wilson, 
Julius Haast, W 
T. L. Travers, M. Stoddart, and 
T. H. Potts, were elected vice-Presidents; and an influential Committee was formed, with Mr. G. Gould as Treasurer, and Col. Packe as Hon. Secretary.

        
Subsequently the Provincial Government gave the land—a portion of Hagley Park adjoining the Hospital—that was asked for to the Society, together with a grant of £1000; and subscriptions to the amount of £600 from the public having been received, the Society, in July, 1864, commenced operations with £1600 in hand; and the fencing and laying out of the grounds, together with the importation of birds, was proceeded with energetically.

        
The introduction of trout has been an important object of the Society since its very early years. In 1866 fish ponds were formed in their grounds, first supplied with water from a stream running through the south of Hagley Park; but subsequently artesian wells were sunk, which yield an abundant supply of pure water at a low and even temperature, 
i.e., 53° Fahrenheit, which is a great desideratum in breeding fish. The necessary shelter and shade were provided by planting various trees, thorn, broom, &c.

        
In June, 1867, the ponds being ready for the reception of fish, the curator was sent to Hobart, at the Society's expense, to bring down any ova that might be presented by the Royal Society, in accordance with a promise made the year previously: 800 ova were presented by the Commissioners, who attended most carefully to the supply of all requirements, and the necessary arrangements; but only three fish were hatched in the gardens, and they were lost, so that this first attempt to introduce the fish was a failure, the money spent on it by the Society had been thrown away, and the season lost.

        
In 1868 the first substantial success with trout was made, when a number of ova were obtained from Tasmania, through the Otago Government, a large proportion of which were hatched, and 433 young trout turned out as follows:—164 in the river Avon; 12 in the Heathcote; 25 in the Purau stream; 40 in the river Irwell; 20 in Lake Coleridge; 20 in the Cam; 20 in the Little Rakaia; 10 in Mr. Jenning's ponds at Rangiora; 10 in Mr. Peacock's ponds at St. Albans; and 112 retained in the Society's ponds in the gardens as a reserve for breeding.

        
In 1869 a second lot of trout ova was obtained from Tasmania with a moderate success, and some fish were distributed. Since then each year the breeding and distribution has been continued, till the Society can now point to the distribution 

of about 250,000 trout in New Zealand, but principally throughout Canterbury, as one most beneficial and successful work it has accomplished.

        
At first sales of fish to private individuals were made at the rate of forty shillings per dozen, but as the trout became more numerous the price has been reduced, till now they are sold at ten shillings per hundred for young ones just old enough for removal. The number sold, it should be remembered, bears but a small proportion to that distributed free for stocking streams, &c.

        
Some description of the 
modus operandi in trout breeding, as carried on in the gardens, may be interesting to our readers. In the hatching house the ova are laid on the hatching boxes (about sixty in number), which are shallow, with the bottoms covered with fine shingle. The boxes are so arranged that the water runs in tiny waterfalls from one to another, one great object being to aërate it as much as possible.

        
The stripping of the fish of their ova commences in June and July, when the ova, after being cleaned, are placed in the hatching boxes. They hatch in about a month, but it is fully six weeks longer before they are fit for removal to the reservoirs. When about three months old they are ready for distribution.

        
There are three ponds in that portion of the gardens open to the public, containing mixed male and female trout; two ponds of gold fish; and one pond in which are perch. In the private part of the gardens there are nine ponds devoted to the breeding of gold fish, trout, perch, tench, and West Coast grayling. In this part also are some ornamental races, principally used for young fish, and for putting old fish in during the stripping season.

        
New ponds are being constructed near the river Avon, in which it is intended to put fish which, at the proper age, may be sold retail to householders who like their tables supplied with fresh trout, &c.

        
Besides fish there are in the gardens Ligurian bees that are thriving well; a monkey; three pairs of Paradise ducks; some Houdan, Spanish, black Bramah, bantam, and other fowls; two opossums, two native hawks; one owl (morepawk); some wekas; silver and other pheasants; Australian crested topknot, Wonga Wonga; and Bronze-wing pigeons; fallow deer; black swan; Chinese geese; rat kangaroos; peacocks and peahens, and blue mountain ducks.

        


        
Altogether the visitor to Christchurch will find these gardens well worth inspection; while they are so tastefully laid out as to form a most pleasant and shady promenade. They are open to the public, without charge, daily (including Sundays) from early morning till sunset. Access to them can be gained either from the Domain or from the Riccarton-road a little beyond the Hospital.

        
The present curator of this portion of the gardens is Mr Starkiss, who has been in the Society's employment for thirteen years. 
Mr. S. C. Farr is their most enthusiastic and capable Secretary.
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The Canterbury Agricultural and Pastoral Association.
          

          
This Association, which has now been established twenty-one years, has long held the premier position among kindred associations in New Zealand, and is recognised as a high authority by similar bodies, both in the Australias and at Home. It was established in 1863, "for the promotion of Agricultural and Pastoral interests, and of Industries connected with Agriculture generally." The first office-bearers were W. S. Moorhouse (then Superintendent of the Province), Patron; R. Wilkin, President; J. Brittan, vice-President; J. Palmer, Treasurer; W. Thomson, Secretary, with the following Committee:— S. Bealey, E. B. Bishop, R. Brunsden, J. Coker, E. H. Fereday, D. Graham, L. B. Higgins, C. Newton, J. Ollivier, M. Sprot, E. M. Templer, E. Turton, H. Washbourne, J. C. Wilson, C.B., and W. Wilson.

          
In October, 1863, it acquired its present Show Grounds, situated at the south end of Colombo-road, Christchurch, comprising fourteen acres; and since then fully £2000 have been expended on improving them.

          
There are now 300 members on the books of Association, exclusive of 139 life-members.

          
The annual shows of stock, machinery, and manufactures held by the Association are the most important of the kind held in the colony. In 1883 the attendance was about 18,000; the prize money being, cash £970, besides cups, gold and silver medals, and books, fully equal in value to £300 more. The entries were:—sheep, 414; cattle, 189; horses, 205; 

pigs, 56; dogs, 24; dairy produce, meats, &c., 132; implements and carriages, 418; New Zealand manufactures, 91.

          
There are also held an Annual Parade of stallions, and an Annual Ram and Ewe Fair.

          
Besides these shows, parades, fairs, and occasional trials of implements, useful for farmers, such as grass-seed strippers, gorse cutters, reapers and binders, &c., the Association also attends to several matters of great importance.

          
“The New Zealand Herd Book” has been taken over from the original proprietor with a view to its publication at regular intervals. Complete arrangements for carrying out this work have been made, and the first volume of the new series is now issued, containing 1026 entries.

          
“The New Zealand Country Journal” has now been published by the Association for over six years, and is self-supporting. It is issued six times a year, and its pages are devoted to the promotion of Agricultural, Pastoral, and Horticultural pursuits, and Rural Sports in New Zealand.

          
“The New Zealand Draught Horse Stud Book” is another work more recently taken up by the Association. It is intended to issue it every two years, and every care is being taken to make the information thoroughly reliable; the pedigrees being authenticated beyond doubt, wherever possible.

          
Much of the usefulness and success of the Association is due to the ability and energy of the Secretary, Mr. M. Murphy, F. L. S., who has occupied his present onerous post for over seven years. The offices of the Association are Hereford-street, Christchurch.
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Christchurch Benevolent Association.
          

          
The Christchurch Benevolent Association was established in 1880. Its object is to give relief, by supplementing the actual necessaries of life given by the Charitable Aid Board, and to help by assisting families to join their bread-winners, who may have found permanent employment in another district. The funds are derived from private subscriptions, the results of a “Charity Sunday,” and a Government subsidy. The management is in the hands of a committee, elected by the subscribers. Actual cash, except in cases of “aid to rent,” is never given into the hands of the grantee, but is disbursed by authorised persons. During the past year 1764 persons were assisted. The receipts were £2062 11s 7d, and the expenditure £1235 4s. 2d., including provisions, £58 8s. 3d.; coal, £222 1s. 6d.; boots, £229 8s. 7d.; drapery, £156 3s. 6d.; labour, £12 13s. 6d.; special grants in 

aid, £248 19s. 10d.; rents in aid, £110 13s. The office of the Association is in the Market Square, Christchurch.
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Canterbury Caledonian Society.
          

          
The Canterbury Caledonian Society was established in 1882. Its objects are to give advice and assistance to new arrivals from Scotland, to contribute to charitable institutions, for the establishment of evening classes, and for the cultivation of Scottish literature, customs, and accomplishments. The Society is also prepared to give medals for bravery in saving life in New Zealand. The nucleus of a good library has been formed, and a comfortable room where members can meet will shortly be procured. Annual sports and concerts, at which Scottish music is given, are held. The last concert will long be remembered by the Christchurch public. On that occasion the Theatre Royal was filled to overflowing, the chief attraction being the presentation by the vice-President, James Campbell, of the Society's silver St. Andrew's Cross, inscribed “For Valor,” to George Austin, for bravery in saving the life of a child in the Heathcote River, on March 13th, 1884. The management is in the hands of an influential committee, Mr Peter Cunningham being president. The secretary is Mr. Neil Black, and the offices are in Cathedral Square, Christchurch.
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Girls' Friendly Society.
          

          
Among the many institutions established in Christchurch by warm-hearted philanthropists probably not one ranks higher than this society, started and carried on unostentatiously, and quietly working for the good and healthy amusement of the young girls In the city. Commenced here about two years ago by a few ladies, it is a part of a system having branches spreading through Great Britain, Ireland, America, Canada, Nova Scotia, 
Cape Town, New South Wales, South Australia, Victoria, Queensland, and through many parts of New Zealand.

          
It is located in an unpretending, but commodious, building in Hereford-street West, opposite the Public Library. Its objects are, as stated in the last annual report—1. “To bind together, in one society, ladies as associates, and working girls and young women as members, for mutual help (religious and secular) for sympathy and prayer. 2. To encourage purity of life, dutifulness to parents, faithfulness to employers, and thrift. 3. To provide the privileges of the society for its members, wherever they may be, by giving them an introduction from one branch to another.” Its affairs are under the control of a lady 

president, vice-president, secretary, treasurer, and a council of four ladies, elected annually at a general meeting of associates. More than one hundred associates have joined the Society, and the members' names on the register amount to three hundred. The rooms, which are comfortably furnished, and contain a piano, library, and the requisites for various games, are open through the day, and from seven to nine o'clock in the evening. Classes for instruction in music, singing, and other branches of education are regularly held, the evening meetings particularly being well attended. As a means for providing safe companionship amusement, and instruction for young girls engaged through the day, in many cases at arduous work, the society is most worthy of support, and we may well step outside our province to recommend it both to our young girl readers and to the ladies of the community, who, by their presence and subscriptions, will be following one of the Christian lines of duty, which says—“Bear ye one another's burdens.”
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Farmers' Association.
          

          
The New Zealand Farmers' Co-operative Association of Canterbury, Limited, has been in existence about three years. It was started by farmers, to enable them to do their business without the aid and expense of the middleman. The preliminary meeting was held in July, 1881, and the Association was started in September the same year, with 318 members, holding 1786 shares. It now numbers 1150 members, holding 5439 shares of £5 each. The Association has a freehold of four sections, two facing Cashel-street and two in the rear of them fronting Bedford Row, on which has been erected a building providing ample storage and office accommodation. It also leases premises on the railway line and the South Belt, on which is a grain store 150ft. by 70ft., furnished with a grain hoist, a grass cleaning machine, and a 6 h. p. engine. These premises are connected with the Cashel-street offices by means of the Telephone Exchange. A "discount ticket" system has been established, under which shareholders purchasing their requirements at certain shops in Christchurch, with whom arrangements have been made, receive discounts varying from 7½ to 15 per cent on their payments. The Association, as regards the main object for which it was established, has been a marked success. It turned over last year about £90,000, and after paying a dividend of 7 per cent., a considerable sum was put to the Reserve Fund. The management is in the hand of a directory of twenty, elected by and from among the shareholders. The Secretary is Mr. L. C. Williams.
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Society of Oddfellows, M.U.

          
The establishment of Oddfellowship in Canterbury followed very quickly upon the foundation of the settlement. Brother P. G. Thos. Abrahams, who arrived in one of the first four ships, having brought out the necessary dispensation for the formation of a lodge. In consequence of his exertions the Loyal City of Norwich Lodge was opened in Lyttelton, at Bro. Rowland Davis's Canterbury Hotel, on the 22nd December, 1851. It continued to hold its meetings there for some years, till their new Hall was built. It may be mentioned here that Bro. Davis had, previously to this, introduced the order into Wellington.

          
In 1853 the first steps were taken for the formation of a Lodge in Christchurch. Bro. Thomas Kent, then Secretary of the City of Norwich Lodge, having removed to the plains, as Christchurch was then termed, thought he would like to see a Lodge near him, instead of having to walk over the port hills to attend Lodge meetings. After some time he succeeded in getting a sufficient number together, who were proposed in the Lyttelton Lodge, and on the 27th June, 1853, the Loyal City of Christchurch Lodge, No. 4602, was duly opened by Provincial G. M. Thomas Abrahams, Deputy Provincial G. M. John Bannister, and Provincial C. S. Rowland Davis, assisted by Bros. Stout, Kent, Kerridge, &c. Prov. G. M. Abrahams was appointed N. G.; P. S. Thomas Kent, V. G.; Bro. Thomas Papprill Secretary, and Bro. M. B. Hart, Host. It was resolved that the Lodge meet every alternate Saturday, commencing from July 9, at the White Hart Hotel, Christchurch.

          
The first meetings were held in a room 12ft x 10ft, next to the bar, but it was found too noisy and inconvenient, and it was decided to move higher up, to the cock-loft over the White Hart stables. Here many pleasant evenings were spent, and the people in the lower regions were often attracted by the warbling notes of the harmonious brethren in the cock-loft above them. After some months, the number of members increasing, it was decided to find a more suitable place to meet in, and a two-roomed cottage opposite the Royal Hotel was taken for one year. The partitions being removed and the walls renovated, it made a very comfortable little Lodge-room. The first meeting was held there on April 29, 1854. The members continued to increase, so that there were fifty to sit down to the first anniversary dinner supplied by Host Bro. Stewart, of the Royal Hotel. The recollections of evenings spent in this Hall are very pleasant to old members. Subsequently, on July 25, 1855, the Lodge moved back to the 

White Hart Hotel, where they obtained better accommodation than formerly. The Lodge progressed steadily, making fresh members, but not increasing very fast in numbers, owing to the unsettled state of the community, &c. The Lodge was put to great inconvenience through not having received the dispensation, lecture books, &c., owing to some informality in the application by the District Officers; in consequence of which it had to borrow the lecture book, &c., belonging to the Lyttelton Lodge (at that time the only one in the Province), and some past officer had to fetch it from Port over the hills, not always a pleasant journey, especially in a sou'-wester. At length, after application and correspondence, on June 22 (four years after the opening of the Lodge), P.G. Kent had the pleasure of handing the dispensation to the Officers of the Lodge, he having brought it from Port that day. A unanimous vote of thanks was recorded to him for the interest and trouble he had taken to get the dispensation for the Lodge. The anniversary dinner, June 27, 1857, was held at Bro. Dilliway's Plough Inn, Riccarton, P.G. Barnard presiding. During the evening a silver snuff box was presented to P.P.G.M. Thos. Abrahams, as a token of respect and esteem by the members; a very pleasant evening was spent; good dinner; good wine; good singing; and a good walk home in the morning.

          
On September 20, 1858, the Kaiapoi Lodge was opened at the house of Bro. Everest, by Rowland Davis, P.G.M., and Thomas Kent, D.P.G.M., assisted by Bros. Kerridge, Everet, Haymond, Hutchinson, &c. Bro. Hutchinson was appointed N.G. On the 4th January, 1859, the Good Intent Lodge, Akaroa, was opened at the house of Host Gibbs, by Thomas Kent, P.G.M., George Kerridge, D.G.M., Thomas Barnard, Corresponding Secretary, assisted by P.G.'s Garwood and Gibbs. P.G.S. Gibbs was appointed N.G.; P.G. James Garwood V.G.; and Bro. Richard Hill Secretary. On the 15th October, 1860, the Loyal Rangiora Lodge was opened at Rangiora by George Kerridge, P.G.M., Thomas Kent, P.P.G.M., and Thos. Barnard, C. S., assisted by Bros. Stevens and Evans. Bro. R. Evans was appointed N.G., and Bro. F. Bean, Secretary.

          
During the year 1858 it was decided to purchase a piece of land and build a hall for Lodge meetings. The site selected was in Lichfield-street, which was purchased of Mr. Richard Packer, for the sum of £50. The foundation stone of the new hall was laid on April 1, 1859, by Thos. Kent, Provincial Grand Master of the District, in the presence of George Kerridge, D.P.G.M.;Thos. Barnard, P.G.; George 

Cliffe, N.G.; Joseph Ashby, P.G.; Edward Rossiter, C.J. Rae, &c. The new hall, which was built by Bro. George Cliffe, was opened with a dinner on the 27th of June, 1859. At the District Meeting held at Christchurch on June 22, 1862, it was agreed that the District be divided into two, to be called respectively the Lyttelton and Christchurch Districts; P.P.G.M. Thos. Kent was appointed Grand Master of the Christchurch District, P.G. Soloman Stephens, D.G.M., and P.G. John Ashton, C.S. During the year 1862, and part of 1863, there had been, from various causes, a falling off in the number of the members of the Lodge. In the latter part of June, in response to a letter received from the committee appointed to arrange a public procession to commemorate the Prince of Wales marriage, it was resolved to accede and to join in a procession; and a committee was appointed by the Lodge to procure banner, regalia, &c. (the Lodge at that time not being in possession of anything of the kind). The Committee spared no time and trouble to carry out the wishes of the Lodge, and on July 9 there was a very respectable and numerous turn out of the members on the occasion, and many persons who lined the streets on that day were surprised to see such a number of members in marching order, as it had been supposed by many that the Odd fellows were nearly defunct, or, as one person in the crowd said, "I thought you chaps had all gone to pot some time ago," From this time the Lodge began to improve again, many members who had left rejoined when they found that it was making a fresh start, and others were induced to join the Lodge: and on the anniversary dinner held in September, Mr. John Ollivier presiding, more than fifty members sat down. On Dec. 26, 1863, the members of the Lodge amalgamated with the Foresters in a procession and public demonstration. On June 28, 1864, the members of the Lodge sat down to a good dinner, 
Mr. William Sefton Moorhouse in the chair, supported on his right by P.P.G.M. Roland Davis, on his left by Prov. G.M. Thos. Kent, the guest of the evening. After the usual loyal and patriotic toasts had been responded to, Mr. Moorhouse proposed the toast of the evening, and after some remarks in reference to the valuable services rendered to the Society in Canterbury by its Grand Master, Bro. Thos. Kent, presented that gentleman with a gold medal, on one side of which were the name and device of the Order, and on the other the words, “Presented to Prov. G.M. Thos. Kent by the officers and brothers of the Loyal City of Christchurch Lodge, No. 4602, as a token of their respect and esteem.” The Insignia of the Order was then presented to Bro. Thos. Grantham.

          
On December 16, 1864, by request of the Secretary to the 

Cathedral Commission, the Lodge formed in procession and assisted at the laying the foundation stone of the Cathedral. From 1864 to 1871 the Lodge gradually increasing in members and funds, and the hall being too small for meetings, although it had been enlarged at various times, it was thought advisable to procure another site and erect a larger building, which could be used for summoned meetings and entertainments of the Order, also for letting to the public, as there was a want of a public building in Christchurch (the old Town Hall having been destroyed by fire). A site was selected in Lichfield-street, nearly opposite the original hall, which was purchased, and plans prepared by Mr. Armson. The foundation stone was laid on August 12, 1881, by Bro. Henry Sawtell, in the presence of the Building Committee, &c., and on Easter Monday, April 1, 1872, it was opened by a tea and entertainment, Bro. 
William Rolleston presiding. The members soon had reasons for being satisfied with the outlay, for it became in great demand by the public for meetings and entertainments; in fact, in the course of time it was so much monopolised for public use that the members were often put to a great inconvenience for a place for the Lodge meetings, though in possession of two halls. It was then determined that the old hall should be pulled down and a substantial two storey brick building erected in its place, the upper storey to be used, for Lodge purposes. Competitive designs were called for, and those of Mr. Maddison accepted.

          
The Mayor of Christchurch, Mr. C.T. Ick, laid the foundation stone of the new building on Saturday afternoon, May 8, 1880; there was a goodly attendance both of brethren of the Order and spectators; of the former P.P.G.M. Kent, E. Rossiter, P. Secretary C.T. Rae, were present at the laying of the foundation stone of the first building twenty-one years previously. A short history of the rise and progress of the Lodge, a parchment with names of Lodge, also names of District Officers, Lodge Officers, Trustees, and Building Committee, along with the newspapers of the day, also a small piece of parchment, in excellent preservation, which had been dug out of the old foundation by P.P.G.M. Thos. Kent, were deposited in a cavity prepared for that purpose. The architect, Mr. T.C. Maddison, then presented the Mayor on behalf of the contractors with a very handsome silver trowel, a spirit level, and mallet.

          
The building was opened with a dinner on Thursday, October 14, 1880, when the new Lodge room was taxed to its utmost extent, at least 200 members and visiting brethren sat down to dinner, P.P.G.M. Kent presiding, supported on the right and. 

left by Drs. Deamer and Campbell, the medical officers of the Lodge. After the cloth, had been removed the Chairman made a few remarks appropriate to the occasion, and called upon Bros. Borland and Pratt to unfurl the large and handsome new banner which, had just been received from England.

          
The Ashley District, which consists of the Lodges situate in the County of Ashley, and extends to the dividing range between Canterbury and Nelson, was formed in January, 1880, having been a portion of what was then known as the North Canterbury District, and was named Ashley after the county, though a proposal was made to change its name and to retain the more appropriate one of North Canterbury. At the time of it being formed there were nine lodges, viz,: the Rangiora, Woodend, Leithfield, Cust, Oxford East (called 
Nil Desperandum), Oxford West (called Oxford), Ohoka, Amberley, and Sefton; they comprised 390 members, having funds to the value of £3532, of which £1400 was the property of the Raugiora Lodge, the oldest in the District. There has since been another Lodge formed, viz.: the Waikari, and the latest return gives now ten Lodges, comprising 456 members, owning £4977. This steady progress is due to the care and attention paid to the working of the District by that veteran of Corresponding Secretaries, Mr J. J.Robinson, of Rangiora. The meetings of the Executive Committee are held bi-annually; the Annual one in April being always held at head quarters, Rangiora, the Half-yearly meeting being moveable, and held at the different Lodge rooms. Mr R. Aherne, of Rangiora, was elected the first Provincial Grand Master, and Mr A. Simpson, of Amberley, was elected to the office of Deputy G.M., which they held respectively during the first fifteen months of the formation of the District. All the Lodges in the District have a uniform set of by-laws adopted by the District for their guidance. In the North Canterbury District there are now twenty Lodges, with a total capital of over £16,000; and in the Lyttelton District, which includes Timaru, there are several, the oldest being the City of Norwich, at Lyttelton, which has a capital of £3867.

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

Ancient Order of Foresters



          

            
Ancient Order of Foresters.
          

          
The Ancient Order of Foresters is one of the great systems of Friendly Societies which, during the present century, have almost overspread the world with a beneficent network of Courts or Lodges. These bodies have systematised prudence, mutual help, and manly self-reliance among the working classes, and have succeeded in establishing a system of inter-communion amongst their members for the best and purest purposes, viz., 

the visitation and relief of their sick members the decent interment of the dead, and the relief of the industrious poor.

          
The general community cannot afford to look upon the operations of these Societies with indifference, and thinking people trace with thankfulness the beneficial influences of their actions.

          
The artizans who form the great bulk of the members, have developed amongst them not only the legislative energy which, has given shape to these great organizations, but also the administrative ability which despatches business, involving the interests of hundreds of thousands of members, and the investment or expenditure of millions of money. Especially have these qualities been shown in connection with the A.O.F., which has, to a marked degree, been free from the discords and internal dissensions that bring about dis-union, and ultimately secession from the parent body. There can be little doubt that this fortunate position is mainly due to the very liberal constitution of the Order, and the gratitude of the community is undoubtedly due to the delegates who met at Rochdale in 1834, and founded the Order on such a grand basis that it has gradually worked its way, and is now, both, numerically and financially, the largest Friendly Society in the world. The Order was instituted in Canterbury when Christchurch was in its infancy; in the days when gas-lamps were unknown, and when electric lights, asphalte pavements, steam road rollers, and refrigerating machinery were no more thought of than aerial navigation is to-day. To one of the historical first “Four Ships” belongs the honour of bringing to our shores the founder of Forestry in New Zealand (Bro. R. Woodford), by whose exertions “Court Star of Canterbury” was opened at the Golden Fleece Hotel, in January, 1852, thirtythree years ago. No one thought then of graduated entrance fees or rates of contributions. All paid alike, young and old, and were entitled to the same benefits, the younger members being, by this arrangement, heavily handicapped; but it was a long time before the members saw the necessity of adopting a graduated scale (according to age) of payments. The contribution was 10s. per quarter, and the benefits were these:— Medical attendance for member, wife, and children under 14 years of age; 20s. per week, if unable, through accident or illness, to follow usual employment; £12 on the death of a member, and £8 on the death of a member's wife. In 1866, whilst the same scale of benefits remained in force, the rate of contribution was increased to 11s. per quarter for all new members. So matters rested until the year 1871, when, after 

twelve months' discussion, the graduated system was fully adopted, the contributions commencing at 13s. per quarter for members joining between the ages of 18 and 21, up to 17s. 6d. for those joining from 37 to 40, the last being the age limit at which any one can become a Forester. A like principle was adopted in the scale of Initiation Fees, but the members recognising the principle that it is not the initiation fee, but the annual contribution that must be depended upon, have quite recently reduced the initiation fees to a graduated scale of from 5s. to 21s., according to age. Under the existing laws a member is entitled to 20s. per week during illness; £20 funeral donation on the death of a member, and £10 on the death of a member's wife, and the usual medical attendance. “Court Star of Canterbury” has now a membership of 435, and an accumulated capital of over £5000; being, in fact, the largest Friendly Society south of the Line, and is, undoubtedly, doing a large amount of good, having paid the large sum of £438 sick pay and £220 in funeral donations during 1884. The following are the names of the various branches of the Order in the Canterbury United District:—

          

            
Court Star of Canterbury, No. 2309, Bro. W. Buckley, Secretary, Foresters' Hall, Oxford Terrace, Christchurch.

            
Court Queen of the Isles, No. 2703, Bro. Smith, Secretary, Foresters Hall, Lyttelton.

            
Court Pride of Courtenay, No. 6031, Bro. G.F. White, Secretary, Courtenay.

            
Court Star of Ashburton, No. ——, Bro. Barrett, Secretary, Ashburton.

            
Court Thistle of the Forest, No. 6494, Bro. W.D. Marks, Secretary, Sydenham.

            
Court Woodford, No. 6583, Bro. ———, Secretary, Kaiapoi.

            
Court Pride of Richmond, No. 6584, Bro. T.G. Strange, Secretary, Linwood.

            
Court Pride of Papanui, No. 6585, Bro. Osborne, Secretary, Papanui.

          

          
The total membership of these is 791, and the amount of funds £9312. The Canterbury United District, the High Court of Forestry in Canterbury, was established in 1863, the present secretary being Bro. Thos. Gapes, Victoria-street, Christchurch.

          
In connection with the A.O.F., a Widow and Orphans' Fund was established in 1867, having for its aims and objects the relief of Widows and Orphans of deceased Foresters, by securing to them a weekly payment. This branch of the Order may be joined by any Forester residing within fifteen miles of Christchurch; the entrance fee ranges from 2s. 6d. to 12s. 6d., according to age, with a quarterly contribution of 3s: this small sum secures to the widow a bonus of £20 if the deceased 

member has been in the Fund two years and under five years; a bonus of £26 if a member over five years and under eight; a bonus of £32 if a member over eight years, and one shilling per week for each child under 12 years of age. Bro. Henry Crooks, Salisbury-street, Christchurch, is the secretary of this Branch.

          
The Foresters have a higher degree for those who aspire thereto, called the Ancient Order of Shepherds, their place of meeting being the Foresters' Hall, Oxford Terrace, Christchurch, and their Secretary being Bro. E.H. Wood, St. Albans. The last, but not least, of the Institutions connected with the A.O.F. is the Juvenile Branch, and the work aimed at with the youngsters is to give them innocent recreation and instruction, and to retain them until the age of eighteen, when their previous small contribution will have accumulated sufficiently to pay their entrance fee into the parent Court.

          
What are the advantages of Forestry? The members are taught that their Institution was founded in order that they might assist each other in times of need. They are bound by a solemn tie to act towards each other as brethren; to cheer the unfortunate; to sympathise with those whom accident or disease has overtaken; and to dry the cheek of the mourners. These are among the declared objects of Forestry; in addition to these the social advantages are many, as the members frequently meet together to promote the social happiness of each other, and relieve their minds occasionally from the pressure of care with temperate conviviality.

          
The true mission of Forestry is pure humanity and brotherly love, and how little extraneous help has been extended to them in the great task they have achieved can scarcely be realised; and with regard to the results obtained, it is the glory of the Foresters that, by self-help alone, has the whole work been done. In conclusion, permit me, dear reader, to ask the question, Do you belong to a Benefit Society? and if not, to put yourself in communication with one of the secretaries, whose names are mentioned above, with the object of joining the noble order whose motto is “
Unitas Benevolentia et Concordiœ.”
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United Ancient Order of Druids.
          

          
The first Lodge in New Zealand, named the Pioneer, No. 47, was opened on April 22, 1876, at the Orange Hall, Worcester-street, Christchurch, by Past Arch Druid Bro. Solomons, of Melbourne, at that time residing at Dunedin. The Lodge 

opened with sixty members, and the prominent men in starting the Society were Bros. Gaul, Tomson, Harris and Rouke. Bro. Oppenheim was the first District President of the Order, and Bro. W.E. Samuels, as treasurer, deserves great praise for the way he looked after the funds. In October, 1879, they could only muster thirty-seven financial members. The same month the Grand Secretary, Bro. J.J. Brenan, arrived in Christchurch for the purpose of opening two Lodges, the Hope of St. Albans and the Mistletoe Lodges; and the Order has rapidly progressed ever since through the exertions of some of the leading officers, conspicuous amongst them being Bros. Swinnerton, P.D.P., Willsteed, P.D.P., Rose, P.A., Hill, P.D.P., Skinner, P.D.P., Nathan, P.A., Ryan, P.A., Bailey, D.P., and last, but not least, Bro. D.G. Sutherland, P.D.P. P.D.P. means Past District President; P.A., Past Arch; D.P., District President.

          
P.D.P. Bro. Tomson has a depôt for supplying all the necessary regalia and books to the Lodges in Canterbury, and P.D.P. Bro. Willsteed is the Examining Officer of Lodge books with respect to funeral claims, &c. The Grand Secretary visited New Zealand in November, 1882, for the purpose of looking after the state of the various lodges, and for giving advice to the secretaries 
re keeping their books. According to the last annual report there are in New Zealand 44 lodges, with 2536 members, and funds amounting to £5326 17s. l0d. Since then five or six more lodges have been opened. There are eight districts in New Zealand, numbered respectively, 13, 18, 19, 20, 21, 24, 25, and 27. The District Presidents in Canterbury are Bro. D.S. Sutherland, P.A., Mistletoe Lodge, Christchurch; Bro. J. Taylor, P.A. Lyttelton Heart of Oak Lodge, Lyttelton; Bro. G.W. Luxton, P.A., Bud of Hope Lodge, Rangiora; and Bro. G. Bishop, P.A., Star of Anglesea Lodge, Southbridge. In Nov. 1883, the advisability of forming a Grand Lodge of the Order in New Zealand was discussed at a meeting of delegates of the various U.A.O.D. Lodges in the Middle Island, held in the Terminus Hotel, Christchurch. At the conclusion of' the meeting the chairman presented P.D.P. Bro. Tomson, of the Pioneer Lodge, with a token of the esteem in which he was held by the local members of the Order. It was a valuable gold albert chain with a locket attached. On the latter was the following inscription:—“To P.D.P. Bro. C. Tomson, of the Pioneer Lodge, from members of the 13th District U.A.O.D., November, 1883.”

          
It is worthy of note that, according to the report of the special meeting of the Grand Lodge of Australia, held on 

July 3, 1881, at the Trades' Hall, Victoria-street, Melbourne, the list of the winners of prizes at the great Druids' Gala included four New Zealand names, one Christchurch, one Dunedin, one Auckland, and one Wellington, not a bad proportion out of fifty prize winners. For this gala 36,583 tickets were sold, and with an expenditure of over £1000 in prizes, music and all the etceteras incidental to such affairs, there was still nearly £900 to the credit side of the account. The handsome sum of £75 was subsequently donated to various Victorian charities.
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Christchurch Musical Society.
          

          
Almost from the very earliest years of the settlement Christchurch has been able to boast of a musical society—and sometimes of two—including vocal and instrumental performers of more than ordinary proficiency. Among those who are remembered as members twenty years ago the names of Bonnington (the violinist), Richard Kohler (the cornet player), and Wood (the flautist) stand out in bold relief; while the vocalists, both gentlemen and ladies, would furnish a long list of names; and the concerts given by the Society in those days would have done credit to any provincial town in the Old. Country; there being then, probably, more musical talent in Christchurch than was to be found in any other city in New Zealand. If Christchurch has not been able to keep the preeminence it is because others have advanced, and not because it has retrograded. The Musical Society of to-day was reconstructed out of the materials of a former one in May, 1881. It numbers 110 performers, and 110 honorary members, and the conductor is Mr Wells, the organist to the Cathedral. The subscription is one guinea per annum (four concerts being given each season), and Mr. A. Appleby, the Hon. Secretary and Treasurer, is always willing to receive the names of those willing to join.
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Working Men's Political Association.
          

          
The Working Men's Political Association has for its object the education of working men in the political problems of the day, the history of the colony, and the rights and duties of working men as regards the community generally, and themselves. It has a member's roll of about 150, and meets monthly in the Freethought Hall, Worcester-street West. Mr J.L. Guinness is the President, and Mr Jebson the Secretary.
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Working Men's Club.
          

          
This institution, which is located on its own freehold on Oxford Terrace, opposite the old Provincial Government Buildings, was established July 4, 1880. There were then twenty-four members. It now numbers 400 members, and has a most commodious house of eleven rooms, consisting of reading, card and chess rooms, library, committee room, social hall, secretary's office, bar, steward's sleeping apartments, &c. In front of the house, facing the street, is one of the prettiest gardens in the City. The library, though small, is very well selected, and embraces the Encyclopædia Britannica, Chambers' Encyclopædia, dictionaries of languages and of mechanics, the latest works on electricity, chemistry, carpentry, joinery, engineering, mechanics, medicine; in fact, all that is necessary for the artisan and mechanic. A circulating library has also been recently established. A new lecture hall has just been erected at a cost of £700. Its size is 66ft. by 33ft., having a stage 30ft. wide and 12ft. deep, fitted with scenery and a handsome act drop, representing Lake Como, by Mr E. Briggs, scenic artist. The ceiling of the hall is coved, with two sunlights and three centre flues for ventilation. The hall is built of the best-pressed bricks, and plastered throughout; the walls are hollow and, consequently, will always be dry. The reading-room is well furnished with magazines and newspapers. The club has a Dramatic Society, and a brass band is in course of formation. Lectures on scientific subjects are delivered periodically, and monthly concerts are given in the hall. Open-air concerts on the lawn in front of the building are also frequently given during the summer months, the various bands in Christchurch giving their services. The Club consists of honorary and working members, and is governed by a President, vice-President, and Committee, elected annually. To working members the subscription is sixpence weekly, with an entrance fee of half-a-crown, admission being by ballot. The subscription for honorary members is one guinea per annum. These have the same privileges as other members, except holding office and voting, thus placing the management of the Club entirely in the hands of the working class, and many influential residents in Christchurch are on the honorary list, frequently attending and taking a warm interest in the Club. Visitors from other towns, who are introduced by members, are also allowed the use of the Club for one month on payment of half-a-crown. The President is Mr J.M. Thompson, who has held that office for the two previous years, and to whose exertions is due the possession by the Club of its excellent library. The vice-President is Mr W.S. Williams, and the Secretary Mr S.W. Neate.
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The Philosophical Institute of Canterbury.
          

          
The origin and early history of this Society, a matter of considerable interest to many in this province, has been till recently enveloped in somewhat of a haze, owing to the unfortunate loss of the minutes of proceedings and other papers connected with the first few years of its existence. Fortunately, Dr. Von Haast, F.R.S., one of the promoters of the Institute, undertook a short time ago the task of compiling the history, which he read at the last Annual Meeting of the Institute, he then occupying the position of retiring President. In 1862, the two Institutions in Canterbury having an intellectual aim of a general character were the Colonists' Society in Lyttelton and the Mechanics' Institute in Christchurch, but as these Societies did not offer to their members any facilities to bring before the public the results of their own observations and researches, all of value in a country so very lately settled by Europeans, Dr. Yon Haast suggested to several of our leading citizens that a Society for purely scientific and literary purposes might be formed amongst us.

          
Warmly encouraged in this idea, he invited by circular, dated July 16, 1862, a small number of our prominent citizens to a preliminary meeting, to be held at the offices of the Geological Society in the Government Buildings, for the 24th July, to consider the project. The meeting took place on the day appointed, His Lordship the Bishop of Christchurch being in the chair. The proposal to found a scientific society under the name of the Philosophical Institute of Canterbury was received with great favour, and the motion to constitute it at once was adopted unanimously, and the necessary steps were taken to invite a number of the professional scientific members of our community to join in the undertaking. The first meeting was attended by the following gentlemen: The Right Rev. Lord Bishop of Christchurch, the Hon. Mr Justice Gresson, the Hon. W.S. Moorhouse, Messrs A.C. Barker, John Bealey, Samuel Bealey, Thomas Cass, 
Edward Dobson, William Donald, 
Julius Haast, John Hall, T.W. Maude, 
H.J. Tancred, 
W.T.L. Travers, Dr. Turnbull, and the Rev. J. Wilson.

          
Rules were at the same time drawn up, and the late John Bealey was appointed treasurer 
pro tempore; also a list was prepared, containing the names of about forty gentlemen, all living in the Province of Canterbury, to whom a circular was addressed.

          
The first regular meeting of the Philosophical Institute was held on Monday, September 1, 1862, in the office of the Geological Survey, over thirty members out of a roll of fifty 

being present. The Right Rev. Dr. Harper, Bishop of Christchurch, presided, and Wm. Donald, Esq., R.M., acted as Secretary. The following gentlemen were unanimously elected officers for the coming year:—President, Julius Haast, Esq.; Vice-Presidents, Dr. Turnbull and E. Dobson, Esq.; Treasurer, J. Bealey, Esq.; Hon. Secretary, E.J.C. Stevens, Esq. From thirteen proposed members the following were elected members of the Council: A.C. Barker, Esq., S. Bealey, Esq., the Bishop of Christchurch, Mr. Justice Gresson, 
W.T.L. Travers, Esq., and Rev. J. Wilson. It was resolved to celebrate the foundation of the Society by a dinner on September 30, after which the newly elected President should deliver an inaugural address.

          
On October 2 of the same year, pursuing an old custom which has been for a number of years dispensed with, the foundation of the Society was celebrated by a dinner at the Royal Hotel, when about forty members were present, including His Honor the Superintendent (the late W.S. Moorhouse) and His Lordship the Bishop of Christchurch. After the usual loyal toasts, the President read an inaugural address, occupying an hour and a half in the delivery, in which the attempt was made to pass in review all that had been done in scientific research in New Zealand, to explain the aims of the Society, and to point out the various subjects of investigation to which it should direct its attention. Thus the first step was taken, at least in this island, to encourage scientific enquiry and to lay its results before a number of fellow workers, to have them discussed upon their merits. In fact, at that time the Philosophical Institute was the only Society in New Zealand attempting original research, because the older New Zealand Society in Wellington, though still in existence, had not met for years. The second meeting of the Institute took place on Monday, November 3, 1862, when a report prepared by 
Mr. E. J.C. Stevens, at the request of the Council, was read, "On the subject of thistles and their eradication," a question at that time of great importance to the Provinces. After some discussion, Messrs Stevens and Travers were requested to prepare for publication in the local papers an extended report on the subject based upon the one read. 
Mr. W.T.L. Travers read a paper on New Zealand flax (
Phormium Tenax); its preparation and cultivation. A long discussion ensued, in which the President, Messrs J. and S. Bealey, Bray, Davie, Dobson, Travers, and Dr. Turnbull took part. Considering the importance of this subject, it was resolved that a more extended enquiry was desirable, and a committee of seven members of the Institute was appointed to consider the best means of making the New Zealand flax available for commercial purposes.

          


          
This was the last meeting of the year—the session, according to the adopted rules, closing in November. However, when the time for opening the new session in 1863 arrived, the President as well as some of the principal members, were absent from town, occupied with official work in the interior, so that the first meeting took place as late as July 4. This was well attended. Mr, G.A.E. Ross was elected Honorary Treasurer in place of Mr. John Bealey, the latter having left the Province on a visit to England. The Honorable H.J. Tancred was elected a member of the Council, instead of the Honorable the Superintendent, Mr. S. Bealey, who had been named Patron of the Institute. The President announced, and caused to be read, several important suggestive communications from men of high scientific attainments in Europe, showing the great interest that was being taken in the proceedings of the Institute, and urged upon the members to exert themselves to fulfil the expectations of the Mother Country. He also announced the death of Mr. W. Whitcombe, drowned near the mouth of the Teramakau, a distinguished member of the Institute, whose early death was deeply felt by all the members. A sub-committee was elected to select suitable rooms for the accommodation of the Institute, and to arrange with the Provincial Government for opening the 
Canterbury Museum.

          
The President (Dr. Haast) then vacated the chair, and read a paper on the habits of the 
kakapo, in which he embodied the observations made during his recent journey to the West Coast, 
via 
Haast Pass, on the anomalous inhabitant of our primeval forests. A lengthened discussion ensued, in which Dr. Turnbull, Mr. 
W.T.L. Travers, and others took part. No reports of further meetings appear in any of the newspapers, although two more were held. One of them took place on the third of August, at which Mr. E. Dobson read a paper on the construction of the Mt. Cenis and Lyttelton Tunnels. This paper was copiously illustrated, and contained a great deal of valuable information, at that time of especial interest to the members. A third meeting was held on September 4.

          
Some Council meetings were held during the session 1864, but the first and a numerously attended meeting was held on November 7, in the offices of the Provincial Geologist, Dr. Haast occupied the chair. The President then read a paper on the climate of the Pleitocene epoch of New Zealand, and treating of the great glacier period in New Zealand, and the causes of the extinction of the moa; and a lengthened discussion on the paper ensued, His Honor the Superintendent and other members taking part. A paper by Mr. W. Buller on the "Birds of New 

Zealand" was read by the Secretary, in which the author reviewed the advance, made in the knowledge of our 
fauna since the publication of the synopsis of New Zealand birds by the late Mr. Jno. Edward Gray, in the Ibis, of July, 1862. Mr. Buller proposed to expunge several species, as not occurring in New Zealand, and to add others, of which the author offered a description.

          
Mr. Birch reported the discovery of a Moa's egg near Mr. Fyfer's estate, near the Kaikouras, and from the accompanying circumstances concluded that the race of these huge birds had been extinct for at least 250 years, whilst several members were of opinion that the extinction of the Moa was quite of a recent date. After some routine business had been transacted, the meeting broke up, highly gratified with the proceedings of the evening.

          
No reports of meetings in 1865 are to be found.

          
Several unsuccessful attempts were made during the first part of 1866 to have a regular meeting, but a Council meeting was held on October 9, when it was resolved that a general meeting of the Society should at once be called. This was done at the appointed time, but there was again no quorum. However, it was decided at a subsequent meeting of the Council a few days afterwards to have at least the annual dinner, to bring the members together. This took place on November 5, at the Clarendon Hotel, and was well attended. The President (Dr. Haast) occupied the chair, and was supported by His Honor the Superintendent on the right; and the President of the Executive Council on the left. Mr. C. Dobson occupied the vice-chair. He read a very able paper on the "Present State of Applied Science in the Canterbury Province."

          
No meetings of the Society are reported as haying taken place during 1867, although the attempt was made twice, but the Council met several times, and it was only on May 3, of next year (1868), that another general meeting was held; a new impetus having been given by the passing of the N.Z. Institute Act, 1867, by the Colonial Legislature, The present minute book was begun after the election of the Rev. Charles Fraser as Hon. Sec. at the meeting of June 17, 1868, when the Council requested the new Hon. Secretary, towards the end of the Session, to collect all memoranda having reference to the meetings of the Society, and to have them copied in a new minute book. Mr R. L. Holmes, who had previously acted as Secretary for a short time, had in the meantime left the Province.

          
Although there were always some funds at the Bank, they were scarcely sufficient to print any transactions, even if the necessary material in the form of papers had been brought 

forward. The papers having been read had, therefore, either to be printed in the newspapers, or they had to be sent to Europe, to other societies, for publication; so that, after all, some useful work was accomplished. The total income of the Society to the end of March, 1863, was £120 7s. 1d., which, with the addition of some small sums for postages and incidental expenses, would show that about sixty members paid their subscription of £2 2s. During that year the sum of £16 7s. 6d. was paid for printing, so that a credit balance of £103 19s. 7d. remained to the Society. In 1863 £48 10s. was added to the credit, a sum doubtless made up by some of the original members paying their subscription of £2 2s., or some of the newly-elected members having paid their entrance fee of the same amount. No expenses were incurred, so that the sum total to its credit was £152 11s. 7d. Up to March 31, 1868, no other subscriptions were collected, and only a few small items for printing and incidentals were expended, so that on the 1st April, 1868, there was still a balance of £135 12s. 3d. to credit. In June of the same year the subscriptions began again to be paid regularly, the Society making a fresh start, and from that time has continued to prosper.
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The Canterbury Society of Arts.
          

          
This Society was founded in August, 1880, for promoting study in the Fine Arts, and for the periodical exhibition, in Christchurch, of original works of art. It consists of working and ordinary members, members of other art societies being deemed honorary members. Admission is by ballot, candidates for working membership having, in addition, to produce satisfactory evidence of artistic ability. The Society, though in a fairly prosperous financial condition, has not met with the success which might have been expected from those of the public outside the profession. The number of ordinary members is almost ridiculously small for a district like Canterbury, and even the attendance at the annual exhibitions is far below what might reasonably be expected as the minimum in a city the size of Christchurch, with its suburbs, and easy communication with country districts. The exhibitions have been very creditable indeed, and have proved conclusively that among our resident artists we have several who, as they become more generally known, will be highly appreciated, and that there are many young students growing up who, with increased advantage, will develope into artists of no mean calibre,
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Canterbury Catholic Library Society.
          

          
This Society was founded about three years ago, and grew out of the Catholic Young Men's Society. It originally held 

its meetings in the old Presbytery, in Barbadoes-street, and continued there till (the accommodation being found too limited) it moved to its present rooms at the corner of Madras and Lichfield streets. The rooms are open, and the librarian in attendance, every evening; but the regular meetings are held on Mondays, when original papers are read, lectures delivered, and debates held. There are also classes for instruction in various subjects, including French and higher mathematics. Occasional social evenings are held, at which short plays and farces are performed, varied by readings and songs. The Society, which is mainly supported by members' subscriptions and the proceeds of entertainments, is managed by a spiritual director, the Rev. Father Bowers; President, Mr, E. O'Connor; vice-President, Mr. P. Leahy; Secretary and Treasurer, Mr. Scanlan; Librarian, Mr. Baxter; and a committee. Admission of members is by ballot. The library is a very good one, and consists of between 800 and 900 volumes.
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Canterbury District Law Society.
          

          
This Society, which is the oldest of the kind in New Zealand, was formed in October, 1868. On the 5th of that month, a meeting of the legal profession was held in Christchurch, present—Messrs W. S. Moorhouse, Porter, F. Slater, J. D. Bamford, Nalder senior, Cotterill, Duncan, 
J. S. Williams, W. Wynn Williams, Fereday, Harper, Nottidge, Cowlishaw, D'Oyley, Joynt, and Dr. Foster. Mr. T. S. Duncan was called to the chair. Resolutions as to the formation of the Canterbury Law Society were passed, also one moved by Mr. W. S. Moorhouse, that the foundation should be celebrated by a dinner, a celebration which has taken place annually ever since. This Society existed till March, 1878, when, in accordance with " the New Zealand Law Societies Act, 1869, Amendment Act, 1877," it was merged into a branch of the "New Zealand Law Society" for the Canterbury District, all on the roll in 1869 being admitted as members, while others had to stand election. From the starting of the Society in 1868 till his death, Mr. T. S. Duncan was the President. Besides the work which might ordinarily be supposed to fall to this Society, it has offered annually, since 1881, to all New Zealand, a gold medal and a certificate of honour to candidates, for special ability in passing their examination for admission as barristers and solicitors. These are only awarded where special ability calls for a special recognition, and the list of those who have gained them proves that they are impartially given to any part of the colony. In April, 1882, Mr. H. D. Andrews, of Nelson, received the gold 

medal, and Mr. F. J. Stilling, of Palmerston South, and Mr. W V. Millton, of Christchurch, received certificates of honour as solicitors, no award being made to barristers. At the September 1882 examination, no awards to either class were made. In March, 1883, Messrs W. J. Byrne and F. O' B. Loughnan, both of Christchurch, received certificates as solicitors, no award being made to barristers. In August, 1883, Mr. J. Hay, M. A. L.L.B., of Christchurch, was awarded the gold medal for special ability shown in his pass examination for barrister being the first barrister to whom it has been awarded. Mr. W. C. McGregor, of Dunedin, received a solicitor's gold medal at the same time, and Mr. H. T. Halliwell, of Dunedin, and Mr. F. Kippenberger, of Christchurch, both solicitors, were awarded certificates. The roll of members of the Society includes nearly every barrister and solicitor in the district. From first to last, 70 names have been on the list.
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Christchurch Law Debating Club.
          

          
This Society was established, about twelve months ago, for the purpose of encouraging the practice of debating among the junior members of the profession. The subjects debated are not confined to legal questions, but include also social and political problems of general interest. The Society is governed by a president, vice-president, and committee, elected annually from among the members, and meets fortnightly during the winter months in the Supreme Court Buildings. admission is by ballot. Mr. George Harper is the present president and Mr. H. J. Beswick the secretary.
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Christchurch Parliamentary Debating Society.
          

          
The fashion of forming Debating Societies on the model of Parliaments, ruled by May's practice, which has obtained at Home, has, of course, reached the colonies, and Christchurch, as well as other towns in New Zealand, has its little coterie with its Hon. Speaker, ministers and leaders of the opposition, the ins and the outs, as well as the feeble ones sitting on rails. It numbers about 115 members; has its session each year, and occasionally some good debating power is evinced. It meets in the old Provincial Council Chambers.
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Churchmen's Club.
          

          
This Club, which has for its object the bringing of members of the Church of England into closer communication with each other than hitherto, has been formed within the last few months, and is located in a fine suite of rooms in Hobbs' 

buildings, Cathedral-square, Christchurch. It is managed by officers and committee, half of whom are laymen and half clerical, elected from among the members. The only qualifications required of members are a declaration as to membership in the Church of England, the payment of ten shillings annual subscription, and election by ballot. The Hon. Secretary is Mr Leonard W. Blake.
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The Commercial Club.
          

          
This Club is of recent formation, and includes many leading business men in Christchurch. It occupies a commodious suite of five rooms and offices in Hobbs' Buildings, Cathedral-square, Christchurch, including reading, smoking, billiard, and refreshment rooms. The admission is by ballot, and the subscription three guineas per annum. The number of members at present is about seventy.
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The New Zealand Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Animals.
          

          
This Society was formed in Christchurch in June, 1882, and in December the same year, a public meeting was held in the old Provincial Council Chamber to report progress, and further enlist the interest of the public. The first annual meeting was held in May, 1883, when it appeared that up to March 31, £110 had been received, and £104 spent. In the second year—that is up to March 31, 1884,—the amount collected was £119 11s 10d, being a trifling advance, and the roll of membership was. 133, as against 109 in 1883. The objects of the Society are:— To encourage the principles of humanity, especially in the education of the young; to put in force legislative action to curb cruelty, and to circulate literature advocating the objects of the Society. The principle laid down is to endeavour to check rather than punish cruelty, and acting on this, prosecutions were only instituted in 14 out of 155 cases which came under the notice of the Society last year, in the others cautions—some of them written ones—being deemed sufficient. So far as Christchurch is concerned, the work of the Society has already had a marked effect, few cases of cruelty being openly met with now; but the letters which the Committee receive from time to time, and other private communications made to them, show clearly the need of the Society's operations in many quarters, as soon as the funds at the disposal of the-Committee will permit of more systematic investigations being conducted. A Young People's Branch of the Society has been formed, and the annual essay competition in it has been very 

successful, 34 essays being sent in the first year and 47 in 1884, while in style and matter they compare more than favourably with those written by the young people belonging to the Society in England. His Excellency Sir W. F. Drummond Jervois, G. C. M. G., C.B., is patron of the Society; Sir John Hall, K.C.M.G, is President, and Mr. W. H. Shaw is the energetic Hon. Secretary. The office is in the Old Post-office buildings, Market-place, Christchurch.
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New Zealand Protection Society.
          

          
This Society, which was established in September, 1884, may be looked upon as one of the proofs that protection principles are gradually gaining ground in New Zealand. As yet, it may almost be said to be in process of formation, having had time to do little else than arrange all necessary preliminary steps. To-strengthen its position it has become affiliated with the Trades and Labour Union of Dunedin, and sent (in January) three delegates to a conference to be held of that Union. Mr. Pozzi is acting-President; Mr. J. M. Douglas vice-President; Mr. C. R. Anderson hon. Treasurer; and Mr. D. Bellhouse acting hon. Secretary. These officers, with a committee of twenty-five members, manage the affairs of the Society.
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Canterbury Anglers' Society.
          

          
This Society was formed in October, 1879, for the purpose of assisting in the preservation of imported fish in the various streams of the district; for the encouragement of angling; and to foster a feeling of emulation amongst anglers, so that a reliable record of all fish taken during each season might be kept. Members are elected by ballot, and each member binds himself, so far as lies in his power, to further the objects of the Society, and to prevent illegal fishing. The establishment of the Society is due principally to the exertions of Dr. Chilton and Mr McWilliams, and it has done good service to the cause of Acclimatization, in the way of giving suggestions to the Society for that purpose. The President is Mr. W. S. Cooke, and Mr. McWilliams is the Hon. Secretary and Treasurer.
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Christchurch Poultry, Pigeon, Canary, and Cat Society.
          

          
This Society, established in 1868, seeks improvement in the breed of the birds and animals from which it takes its name. Year by year, since its formation, it has held exhibitions which have been well attended and well supplied with exhibits. Prior 

to 1844 cats had not received any attention at the hands of the Society, but in that year they were added to the list of objects of it, and they were exhibited in strong force at the show in July, 1844, there being ten classes on the catalogue, and eighty entries. The Society is managed by a President (
Mr. R. W. Fereday), vice-Presidents, and a Committee. Mr. R. E. M. Evans is the hon. Secretary, and Mr. George E. Trigg the hon. Treasurer.
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Canterbury Licensed Victuallers' Association.
          

          
Formed for the purpose of protecting the interests of the publicans of Canterbury, this Association has been for many years in existence with varying prosperity, and undergoing occasional changes in form. It has latterly taken considerable interest in the elections in the district, both for municipalities and for the General Assembly, on which occasions a kind of mild struggle takes place between the believers in Total Abstinence and the supporters of the drinking traffic. The Association is managed by a President, vice-President, and Committee, elected annually. The Secretary is Mr. F. A. Bromley, and the office 162, High-street, Christchurch.
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The Industrial Association of Canterbury.
          

          
This Association, which has now been established over five years, has been one of the most useful yet formed in Christchurch in fostering local industries already planted in the colony, and disseminating information as to others, whereby the natural resources of New Zealand may be developed. The history of the formation and growth of it may be summarised as follows:—

          
A meeting was convened on July 9, 1879, by advertisement, “To consider the question of Protection of Native Industries,” and was adjourned till the next evening, at the offices of Mr E. H. Banks.

          
At the adjourned meeting ten gentlemen were present, who formed themselves into a committee, to collect information, and to generally aid in the formation of an Association for the fostering and protection of local industries throughout New Zealand. Mr R. Allan was elected chairman.

          
Subsequent meetings were held by the Committee, and a circular and pamphlet, setting forth the objects and views of the Association, were printed, and 3000 copies were distributed throughout the colony for general information, Copies were sent to all the Chambers of Commerce, newspapers, and 

principal manufacturers throughout New Zealand, the result of which was the establishment of associations in all the large cities in the colony.

          
A public meeting was held on the 12th of August, in Christchurch, at which the draft rules for the working of the Association were read and adopted, and the officers elected for the ensuing twelve months.

          
About this time the general election for members of the House of Representatives was taking place, and the candidates for Ohristchurch were interviewed by a deputation from the Committee, and their views on the objects of the Association ascertained,. the result of which was reported to a general meeting of members.

          
Shortly after parliament assembled 
Mr E. C. J. Stevens moved for a select committee to consider what duties could be remitted, with a view to giving relief to manufacturers; an amendment was proposed by Mr Levin, of Wellington, and carried, authorising the Committee to also consider other means by which manufactures could be promoted. The committee consisted of Messrs E. C. J. Stevens (chairman), S. P. Andrews, 
E. G. Wright, Hurst, Oliver, Dick, Levin, and others. The chairman applied to the Industrial Association of Canterbury for its views on the subject, and the Committee of the Association took considerable pains to arrive at a fair opinion of the same, the result being embodied in several reports regarding the manufacture of drainage pipes, &c.; iron work, boots and shoes; coffee, spices, &c.; coaches and carriages; stationery, &c.

          
The select committee also received recommendations from kindred associations in other parts of the colony, the chairman of which committee complimented the Associations on the satisfactory manner in which they communicated their views.

          
It is noticeable that the recommendations of the select committee to the house, adopted by the Government, were quite in accordance with the suggestions of the Associations so far as the 
remission of duties were concerned. With respect to the 
imposition of duties, the select committee did not go to the length the Associations wished, but recommended some increases, and the Hon. the Colonial Treasurer, Major Atkinson, by his budget, gave still further encouragement to manufacturers by increasing the 
ad valorem duties to 15 per cent.

          
In February, 1880, the Association had over 400 members on its roll, amongst whom were some of the largest employers of labour in the province.

          
On the 15th July, 1880, an exhibition of New Zealand 

manufactures, under the auspices of the Association, was opened in the Drill Shed grounds, Christchurch. It was a hurriedly got up affair, and had originated in a desire to show something of the manufactures and resources of the province. The exhibits were numerous, and most of them of a high quality. Although. a small affair and only open six days, it was visited by 24,000 persons, and resulted in a very considerable augmentation of the Association's funds, £300 being set aside as a nucleus of the funds for a future exhibition.

          
In 1882, Messrs Joubert and Twopenny having decided to open an International Exhibition in Christchurch, applied to the Industrial Association for moral and practical support, which, after much discussion among the members, was heartily given, many of the individual members giving their time and money liberally to assist the undertaking. A strong committee was formed, including members of the Association and others resident in the city; and sub-committees from them were appointed to obtain exhibits from various parts of New Zealand. The result far exceeded the anticipation of Messrs Joubert and Twopenny, and contributed mainly to the success of the exhibition, New Zealand occupying fully one-half the space allotted to exhibitors. Some idea of the quantity of manufactures and produce of this colony which were gathered together may be gained from the fact, that the building, which was in the form of a quadrangle, was 668ft. long, by 282ft. in breadth.

          
An exhibition of New Zealand manufactures, got up by this association and opened on the 17th December, 1883, was a decided success. It was held in the drill-shed and in buildings erected on the ground adjoining, and lit up at night by electric light, used for this purpose for the first time in Christchurch on that occasion. The exhibits mainly showed the ordinary products of the various manufactories, very few of the articles having been specially made for the exhibition The several parts of the colony were fairly represented. Musical and other entertainments, given daily, added to the attractions of the exhibition, which was kept open for about two months, and attended by about 70,000 people.

          
The association has been fortunate in having had for its presidents two gentlemen of standing, ability, and exceptional energy, viz.—Mr. Robert Allan, who occupied that position for two successive years at the starting of the association; and Mr. A.G. Howland, who, during his two years' tenure of office, caused the society to be recognised as an influential power on all questions affecting the commerce and shipping of the colony.

          
The offices of the association are in Hereford-street, and Mr. W. Jameson is the secretary.
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Early Boating Days in Canterbury





          

            
Early Boating Days in Canterbury.
          

          
The numerous and important alterations and improvements which have been invented and made of late years in the model and build of both racing and pleasure boats, and the appliances connected therewith, will show much more apparently if taken in view and compared with such as were commonly in use only a few years back. Outriggers are comparatively a modern innovation so far as we are concerned, and sliding-seats upset nearly all pre-conceived ideas of the bodily movement of an oarsman. A new swivel rowlock also seems to be a recent feature, and although I am not personally acquainted with its working, from its description I have my doubts if it is not an improved revival of an obsolete idea. I may say the same of sliding-seats, having myself used a double-width thwart for the purpose, and afterwards heard that Clasper or Renforth did the same years before on the Tyne.

          
Situated as we are, so far from Home, and bearing in mind that the distance has been theoretically shortened—say from three months to one day, since the early days—it must reflect creditably upon us to have so promptly adopted these latest improvements; for although the comparison between now and over twenty years ago to a modern oarsman may be somewhat ludicrous, there cannot have been lacking a good show of British pluck in these colonies to keep pace with the stride of advance as made at Home.

          
It will be my endeavour, in this sketch, to show some of the early difficulties which had to be contended with in initiating the pleasant exercise and pastime of rowing in Canterbury, and the efforts made to put it in its present proper place among the many other athletic diversions to which the Colonial Britisher is naturally prone—or, in other words, to the manner born. In attempting to do this, "memory must be my eloquence." It might be an easier task to look up old files of newspapers and give a lengthy abstract from the reports of regattas, with names of competitors and boats—and I may have to refer to some of the more important of these events—but having myself been something of a boating man in my time, I prefer, with the assistance of other "old files," likewise on the shelf, to jot down approximately reminiscenses of occurrences, which may still be interesting, and also tend to show that the present tolerably easy-going club 
ménage was not arrived at without some 
uphill work being performed by the pioneers. The early boating days of Canterbury may be said to date back for about a quarter of a century, 

when the watermen of Lyttelton entered into hot emulation, for pride of place, both in rowing and sailing. A few whaleboats were also to the fore, some being manned by Maories, and if one or two ships happened to be lying in the stream, the material was ready to hand to constitute an interesting regatta.

          
So far as Christchurch was concerned a few small craft traded up to the Bricks wharf, which was within a stone's throw of the present "Star and Garter;" I have heard that a whaleboat got up as far as Dean's estate, at Riccarton, but it was before my time; as Inwood's (now known as Lane's) mill would have offered a serious impediment. I have, however, some fifteen years ago, carried a canoe round this, and also round the dam at Wood's mill, at Riccarton, and paddled the whole length of the Avon, from its tributary, the Wairarapa, to the sea.

          
To return to Lyttelton, at the time just mentioned and for some years after, it faced an open bay, there was no breakwater to lend its friendly shelter, and the sou'-west rollers came merrily across the harbour, dashed their waves without hindrance against the face of Norwich Quay, and showered their spray across the narrow roadway—there was no reclaimed ground then—to the row of houses fronting the briny, notably to the verandah of the Mitre Hotel, where, at the time, both skippers and land lubbers, interested in nautical events, did mostly congregate—and hereby hangs a yarn;—mine host of the Mitre was a character in his way, and had earned the soubriquet of "Hard a Starboard," consequent on his navigation of a craft bound from Port to the Chatham Islands. It is generally and generously supposed that the bold skipper succeeded in circum-navigating the entire group, but after a rather lengthy voyage, owing probably to adverse winds, coupled with the too frequent use of—well say this one word of command, viz., "Hard a Starboard," which was to the skipper as infallible as the "Pax Vobiscum" of Friar Tuck, in Ivanboe, the first land sighted was Lyttelton Heads.

          
However well adapted for sailing, and such rowing events as I have named, the harbour was much too open for light gig races; a small T jetty, the piles of which may form part of the foundation of the present Post Office, being the only wharf accommodation fronting the town, and although occasions happened when even the similitude of the millpond was allowable, there has always been some risk for light gigs or the—to oarsmen in training—even more unpleasant danger of being "put off," as a record of the swampings and postponings would tend to show; nevertheless, the higher class of rowing, if it 

may so be called, found its place in the programme as far back as 1860 or 1861.

          
The red letter Lyttelton event has, I believe, continued to come off yearly ever since that date on each succeeding first of January or there about, and the opportunity should not be overlooked of mentioning the public spirit which has invariably been shown by commanders of ships in placing their vessels at the disposal of the local committees, to say nothing of the liberality so often extended to a long list of visitors, and the similar liberality of the elected commodore of the Regatta, who often put his hand in his pocket to the extent of some hundreds, in order to ensure the success of the particular event, and extend a like hospitality to all comers.

          
The combined attractions of course drew many visitors from the city of the plains and surrounding country, but the "Hole in the hill" was only just commenced, and the Bridle-path or the road 
vid Sumner, and the Zig-zag were obstructive; after crossing the Heathcote ferry on Dale's punt, which traversed the river a few chains above the present swing bridge, foot passengers usually chose the former route, while cavalcades of horsemen might be seen turning to the left, skirting the estuary to the Shag Rock, and making a halt at Day's Hotel at Sumner as a half-way-house for a refresher for man and beast before encountering the ascent to reach the Zig-zig; vehicles of any description were, of course, like angels' visits.

          

The Lyttelton Boating Club was formed about this time (although there were sundry fours, the property of sundry owners, competing at the earlier regattas), their first gig, so far as I can bring to mind, being imported, and called the "Planet," she stood the string test, although I do not think the same could be said of the "Snowdrop," which followed shortly, and scored many a win for its plucky crews, the blue and white never losing an opportunity of shewing their colours (I notice that at a meeting lately held, some members of the L.B.C. were hauled over the coals for wearing magenta and black instead of 
red! ergo I conclude this must be another L.B.C., composed of men who know not blue and white, and are not aware of the hard-earned honours won by its wearers; doubtless the veterans, Cuff, Cameron, Roper, and others, will enjoy their smile). Christchurch, even in its baby days, could not, of course, keep out of the racket, and it fell on the broad shoulders of Dan Reese (I beg pardon, I should have said D. Reese, Esq., the present M.H.R. for Stanmore) to form the first representative crew. He, with the assistance of R. McDonald and some others of his fellow-craftsmen, set to work, and in their spare 

time succeeded in putting together a first-class inrigged gig. She was very light, being built of spruce, about twenty-eight feet in length, and painted black. The latter fact, coupled with the intention to keep her dark, probably caused her to be named the "Black Eagle"—a name sounding more of a continental than a stern and wild Caledonian descent. For if I remember rightly the crew had all competed at regattas held on the Clyde and elsewhere; there being nothing to contend against on the Christchurch river, their ambition was to enter for the Lyttelton great annual event, nothwithstanding the apparent difficulty of getting there. There was a story, with perhaps a spice of truth in it, that the "Black Eagle" was rowed round by way of Sumner to the Lyttelton Heads, and being nearly water-logged, attempted a landing at the present pilot station, which was then in use as a quarantine ground. The piratical-looking craft was ordered to "stand off," amid the waving and yelling of the temporarily imprisoned immigrants, for fear of communicating yellow fever, or whatever the sickness may have been. The result is unknown, but as it is not on record that the population of Lyttelton was decimated at the time, the possibility remains that this is only a yarn, and that the Imperial Bird safely arrived at its destination, per Bruce's cart, 
via Sumner. That she did duly arrive in Lyttelton is a fact, won every event for which she could be entered, and—with coming distrust of both salt water, quarantine, and zig-zag—was shouldered triumphantly by her gallant crew of North Britons, who, with foot upon their adopted tussocks (with the builder, McDonald), 
carried her over the hill to the Heathcote Valley. Mr. D. Reese may fairly be acknowledged to be the father of rowing in Christchurch. I am not aware that his crew was constituted a club for some time afterwards, but it was so eventually, and from it—owing to a split in the camp—the first Trades Club (the present T.R.C. is only of recent formation) was started by Mr. S. P. Andrews, who built the "Alpha," a four-oar, which was shortly relegated to Kaiapoi; and then the "Alarm;" both boats doing good service for some years, but neither of them very tip-top. The old "Black Eagle," after standing severe work, and well earning many prizes, was cut down, or, rather, shortened, into a pair-oar, the crew building a superior boat with the same name, in order to keep up with the pace of the period.

          
These two boats formed the nucleus of the Avon Rowing Club, with a commodious shed on the river bank adjacent to that of the C.R.C.

          
In the meantime (March, 1862), the Christchurch Boating Club was started, more for exercise and amusement than for 

pot hunting; this, of course, without any slur against those who had previously contested for honour and glory at an earlier date. The Club purchased a four-oar, the "Christchurch Maid," a good practice boat, and tolerably fast, as things went in those days; she was built by a man named Able, and came in 
first at a regatta in Port, but by 
time allowance for length of keel only scored 
third place. This barbaric custom was partly modified by limiting gigs to thirty feet in length, and before long the "any description" of gig, inrigged or outrigged, disposed of the difficulty. A crew in the "Maid" performed this year the somewhat foolhardy feat of rowing from Christchurch down the Avon and Estuary, managed to find a passage between the rocks, avoiding the Sumner Bar, and so out to the Heads and up the harbour to Lyttelton, some twenty-five or thirty miles; after a rest, the start back for home was made, very much against the advice of the watermen, and others, as it was getting toward evening, and was quite dark before the Heads were cleared, where the "Maid," after narrowly escaping being smashed on a big rock, which stands out somewhere below the lighthouse, had, to say the least, penty of sea room; there was a long swell on but no curlers; it grew overcast and dark as pitch, but, after keeping well out off Taylor's Mistake, the cox at length perceived the glimmer of a friendly light at Sumner. Pulling on quietly, approaching to where the "harbour bar was moaning," the light was lost sight of; a dip into a trough and a six foot curler over the stern floored the crew and filled the boat, two of the crew jumped out, one on either side and steadied the boat, while two or three more breakers broke over her, washing boat and cargo ashore, and landing them safely on the long beach a few yards beyond the Cave rock. The bar had fortunately been missed, or the crew would have probably lost the numbers of their mess; as it was the external wetting was duly qualified with internal ditto, togs were dried, the "Maid" re-launched inside the bar, and pulled safely up to Christchurch without further catastrophe. The erratic disposition of some members of this Club is manifested at the present time by a very curious old record, which may be seen on one of the doors of the old wool-shed at the Steam Wharf on the Ferry-road, beyond Woolston. It was written in chalk, more than twenty-two years ago, and is even now readable, giving abbreviations of the names of a crew of five, together with their weights, viz., 12st. 81b., 12st. 51b., 12st. 4llb., 11st. 61b., and 10st. 61b.; there are also the names of another crew of the same year with weights, 13st. 131b., 13st. 51b., 12st. 41b., 10st. 41b., and 10 stone.

          

The Christchurch Club was duly constituted with officers, 

members—working and honorary—a code of rules, and three boats. Its early minutes are extant, giving particulars of these, with a permit from the Council, signed by G. Gordon, Town Clerk, to build a shed on the River Avon Bank, not far lower down-stream than the present Fire Bigade Station, in Chesterstreet. But, owing to various causes, this was not accomplished. Business took some of the most active members away, two sailing to the West Coast on an exploring expedition, whence only one returned. I allude to the lamented death of Mr. Claude Ollivier—the oldest son of our well-known R.M.—in August, 1862. The Club soon after lapsed, but from its ashes two new clubs sprang up, and have continued to progress up to the present time.

          

The Canterbury Rowing Club, which was inaugurated by Mr Harman, the Messrs Blakiston, and others, and the Railway Rowing Club, by Messrs Holmes and Richardson, and their staff, were both started within the next two years. The former obtained the use of a river frontage near Ward's Brewery on the East Belt, erected a commodious boat-shed, and at once began, to procure the nucleus of a fleet, which has been increased or renewed year after year, and now stands second to none in the colony; and although it has not, probably, a record of as many first-class wins as some other clubs, it must be especially gratifying to its founders to look over the ever-varying list of members that have taken a college training and many honours in this rowing school, to the fulfilment of the anticipations and hopes of twenty years ago.

          
An equally pleasant record may be noted for the Union, 
née Railway Club, which built its first house at Opawa, on the Heathcote River, owning the old "Christchurch Maid" and the "Blue Bell"; and getting R. MacDonald, who built the first "Black Eagle," to turn out a gig named the "Express" from his yard. The "Lurline" was soon afterward furnished to order by Edwards, of Melbourne; and another four-oar unfortunately was smashed on the voyage from Australia.

          
Before the tunnel was opened, a branch line ran to Ferry Mead, and this Club inaugurated the first regatta there in the upper waters of the Heathcote Estuary, where it was held for two or three years with great success. The membership of the Club having been opened to others than the railway staff, it was thought advisable to alter the name from the "Railway" to the "Union." as previously mentioned; and another shed was built; on the Avon, adjoining that of the C.R.C. The wins of this Club have been numerous, and it has been a capital training school. 

Like the C.R.C., it has grown, to a first-class establishment, and also having some hundred members, with property over £1000 in value.

          
The exigencies of the City Council for a roadway on the river bank caused, in time, the removal of all the boat sheds from their time-honoured position near the Brewery.

          
The "Canterbury" purchased a piece of land on the opposite bank, and the "Union," following suit, but on the city side, and a little higher up, sheds were built—or rebuilt— and a visit to them and their custodian (Mr Rees) is worth the while of any one interested in modern aquatics.

          
In speaking of the old time, I can only make a short mention of the Heathcote Rowing Club, but this would be a pleasure, if only to honour the names of its Captain, Mr. F. Pavitt—truly one of the foremost in the athletics in Canterbury—and his 
confrère, Mr. J.W. Davis. Both these gentlemen are now in the North Island, and the flag they oft have fought under—the old red, white, and blue—now droops in forsaken sorrow on Heathcote's turbid flow, or rather ebb.

          
The Waimakariri's eccentric current has been the scene of many a "pulling hard against the stream" contest, and the hospitality of the late Dr. Dudley, and the many kindnesses and attentions of members of both the "Kaiapoi" and "Cure" Clubs will be pleasant in the recollection of us old fogies and more recent visitors that have taken part in them.

          
I think the Northerners have most frequently taken honours on their own river, but I remember the Railway Club scored a win with the "Lurline;" and a "Westland crew won on one occasion. They were labouring men, and it is said they went into profitable training while putting down sundry artesian wells. I think that Hearn (who has lately been talked about in the North Island as likely to pull a match with Hanlau) was a victor over Dawson, our local sculling champion, on this river. "White, however, I think, beat Hearn in the North, and Dawson beat White, in Wellington, in 1873. This reminds me I am getting on to a comparatively late date, though I may mention that the four-oar Interprovincial, held at that place, and in that year, caused much excitement. Three Canterbury crews showed among the entries, viz.—Lyttelton, Kaiapoi, and a crew selected in Christchurch; Dawson and a brother of D. Reece being in the latter, another Trades Club man, and one from the Canterbury, making the four. The boat was the "Sabriua," belonging to the Union Club, and was without a cox., being steered to glory by Dawson (No. 2.) with pedals and wires. By the way, I 

remember the strands of the tiller-lines were cut in several places, while the boat was under cover in Wellington, but a friendly slip of paper, with "Look to your tiller-lines" pencilled on it, called due attention to the fact, and prevented an ignominious and cruel defeat. There was heavy betting, and the win of the "Sabrina" caused the dabblers in the hot-pot to burn their fingers; in other words, as Te Whiti once observed, the "potato was cooked" with a vengeance. This partly resulted from the fact that the local, and many of the visiting crews, were weather-bound at the Hutt, and had to train on billiards and dumb-bells, while the Christchurch crew were in Wellington for a week, taking a six o'clock run to the top of Mount Victoria and down again, then a header and rub down at the Te Aro baths, and two good rows daily in the harbour; brisk walks; plenty of beef and porter at the Empire Hotel, where the crew put up (added several lbs. weight of muscle per man); no smoking; no anxiety; no business; but a kindly feeling of brotherhood, and mutual confidence, completed the training 
régime, which I respectfully submit for the use of those who wish to pull well together, and earn laurels for themselves and their clubs.

          
The best regattas have for some time been held in the Estuary, with the winning post near Sumner, and this cannot be alluded to without thought of arduous work done by Mr J.S. Mon
[
unclear: illegible]k, and the Pilot, Mr J. Day—the former for his kindness and accommodation to crews and boats, and the latter for the time and exertion given in the difficult task of flagging out the courses. Sumner makes a capital place for training, but many a good race has been lost here and elsewhere, owing to the lack of knowledge of mud banks, currents and tide. There is a splendid course for nearly three miles at the top of high water, and it is smooth at the first ebb with a north-easter blowing, but at low water the channel is devious, and the essence of mud-flats abominable.

          
When first I saw the Estuary I thought, "What a splendid chance for reclamation!" With locks at the mouths of the two inflowing streams, and locks at the Shag Rock, the beetling cliffs shifted in part to the North Spit, the canals from the rivers washing away the Bar, steam dredges excavating docks, and forests of shipping and thousands of acres of land occupying the waste of waters! It has not happened yet; we must wait a little longer. And now my space is filled. These sketchy reminiscences have brought up many more, but I will leave them now, only hoping that it may be long before rowing becomes a 

lost art, and that the pluck and honest manliness it induces may continue to be manifested from generation to generation.

          

            

Sepia.

            
              Christchurch,
            
            1885.
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Christchurch Bowling Club.
          

          
This Club was formed in November, 1875, Mr. W. Wynn-Williams being the first president, and Mr. P. Cunningham vice-president. During the summer 1875-6 the members played on private lawns, the use of which was kindly granted by Messrs. Wynn-Williams, J. T. Peacock, W. D. Wood, R. D. Thomas, and others. The first match was played on Mr. Wynn-Williams' ground, Latimer-square, in December, 1875.

          
In March, 1876, the Club purchased half-an-acre of ground in Worcester-street, which was laid down without delay, but not being ready for play until late in the year, the Club met for practice at Mr. Williams' for the early part of the season. In December of the same year the Club purchased an additional one-eighth of an acre, facing Gloucester-street, and adjoining the rear of its section in Worcester-street; and, subsequently, another one-eighth alongside the other was purchased, making in all three-quarters of an acre. Within, the last few months the Club has acquired an additional thirty-six feet, facing Worcester-street, which has been laid down, and, it is hoped, will be ready for play this season. The grounds are beautifully laid out and kept in splendid order. A small pavilion for the use of members is on the ground; also a summer-house and arbour—the latter, erected at the expense of 
Mr. George Gould, as a gift to the Club. The roll of members includes about one hundred names, and the offices are at 45, Cathedral-square. The officers for the present year are—President, Mr. H. Thomson; vice-President, Mr. R. D. Thomas; hon. Treasurer, Mr. W. Robison; hon. Secretary, Mr. Neil Black. During last season the Club entertained a representative team from Victoria, and inaugurated an annual colonial match, The Club possesses a handsome sixty guinea trophy, presented by Peter Cunningham, Esq., to be played for annually by all New Zealand Clubs.
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Canterbury Bowling Club.
          

          
This Club, whose ground is on a half-acre section in Cashel-street, Christchurch (opposite the Temperance Hotel), was established in October, 1883, and has fifty-five members. In 1884 it played the Victorian bowlers, the game resulting in a tie. In the same year it played a rink of. Dunedin players, 

winning by three to one; and it also beat the Christchurch Bowling Club twice—once on each of the grounds. This year, in playing return matches, it has been beaten once by the other local Club. Messrs. W. H. Partridge and B. Hale are the vice-Presidents. Committee—Messrs. Frank Hobbs, A. Urquhart, L. Bergh, and E. F. Dombrain. H. W. Toomer is the hon. Secretary.
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Canterbury Lawn Tennis Club.
          

          
This Club was started three years and a half ago, more particularly to provide courts, which might be used in winter as well as summer, and with this view the Club has laid down four courts—three of asphalt and one of clay and ash—on their ground, which is situated in Cranmer-square, and is held on lease from the Church Property Trustees. £300 and upwards has been spent by the committee on the formation, improvement, and fencing the ground. The Club consists of a President (hon. E. C. J. Stevens), a vice-President (Mr. H. Allan Scott), an hon. Treasurer (Mr. Joseph Gould), an hon. Secretary (Mr. F. H. Bruges), a committee of seven (consisting of Messrs. H. P. Lance, C. C. Corfe, W. V. Millton, T. D. Condell, E. J. Ross, Geo. Hogben, and J. B. Harrison), and upwards of 100 members and lady subscribers. The annual meetings of the Club are held in September, and, as an indication of the financial condition of the Club, the balance to the credit of the Club, after payment of all expenses, was, last year, over £100. The entrance fee is £1 1s., and the annual subscription £1 1s; but members joining after the 1st November in any year, pay only half the yearly subscription for the year in which they join; the year commencing on the 1st May, and all members being elected by the committee. Ladies pay no entrance fee, and only 10s. 6d. as a yearly subscription; and in return for this they are entitled to play every morning from nine o'clock till one o'clock; and on two afternoons in the week—Mondays and Wednesdays. Members have also the privilege of introducing their friends on Wednesday afternoons. Persons not residing between the rivers Hurunui and Rangitata may, on being proposed by a member, and seconded by one of the committee, become a visiting member for a fortnight. Gentlemen, resident beyond a radius of 12 miles from Christchurch are eligible as members, on payment of an annual subscription of 10s. 6d., and an entrance fee of 10s. 6d. During the spring and autumn months, tournaments, both single and double-handed, are arranged amongst the members of the Club, which hitherto seem to have given great satisfaction, not-withstanding the great difficulty the committee have had in making such handicaps as would place competitors on an equal 

footing, and give each a fair chance of success. The leading players of the Club are — Messrs. F. Wilding, E. J. Ross, W.V. Millton, G. H. Ross, H. Short, and A. W. Cooke. In the single-handed tournament, held during the spring of last year, Mr. Wilding succeeded in carrying off the first prize, beating Mr. E. J. Ross in the last round but one, the latter conceding a bisque in a set to the former. Mr. Wilding also beat Mr. W. V. Millton on level terms in the last round, the latter thus carrying off the second prize. Among the lady subscribers the most prominent players are Mrs. H. Allan Scott, the Misses Hutton, and Miss Maude, all of whom play with considerable skill. There is little doubt that the formation of the Club has been the means of great improvement in the game, and time will probably show that Canterbury can carry off the honours in tennis as she has latterly at cricket.
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Football in Christchurch.
          

          
As the historians of the cities of the ancients deemed it necessary to describe the athletic exercises and pastimes, by means of which their young men trained themselves in strength and hardihood, so we think no account of Christchurch would be complete without some notice of the sports and games which tend so greatly to fortify the bodies of our youth, aye, and their minds too, for the struggle with the world. The nature of the country surrounding Christchurch is specially adapted for cricket and football; and these games have flourished here from the earliest days, and are very popular with our citizens. Cricket, certainly, has always held first place, but great interest is now being manifested in the winter game, and the general adoption of a fast and scientific style of play, of late years, has brought it into far greater favour with spectators.

          
Christ's College Grammar School has, since the earliest days of Canterbury, been a nursery for footballers, and the game was played there from the foundation of the institution. The first copy of rules we have been able to find bears the date of 1862, though the game had been in full swing long before this. These rules, which consisted of an amalgamation of several styles of play, which were then in vogue at Home, were devised in the colony, and were, with some slight modifications, played at the school until as recent a date as 1880. Under them the chief feature of play was "dribbling;" and to this is due the fact that, whatever Canterbury's weakness in football in other respects may have been, our teams have always contained good fast forwards.

          


          
The Christchurch Football Club was started about 1861 or 1862, and, in spite of the many rivals which the last few years have called into existence, still continues to hold a leading position amongst the clubs of the colony. As early as 1863 this Club played a match with Lyttelton, but its chief opponents for many years were the College Boys; and the games with the Club are still looked forward to with the greatest interest at the school, though the youngsters have not as good a chance under the Rugby Union Code as they had under the old rules.

          
In 1875 it was announced that a team from Auckland would make a tour round the colony, but would only play Rugby Union—a game, until that date, quite unknown in Christchurch, so that it was necessary for our men to learn and practise these rules; and, with this end in view, a match with South Canterbury was arranged to be played at Ashburton. The comments of the Press on the new style of. play were anything but complimentary. The Auckland team visited Christchurch in due course, but it was by no means strong, and our men, under the captainship of Mr. John Anderson (who had played for Scotland in 1871), won a fairly easy victory. As it was found that the Rugby Union rules were played in all other parts of the colony, in 1876 it was finally decided to adopt them in Christchurch, though not without considerable opposition. About this time a strong club was organised in South Canterbury, comprising in its ranks such stalwart players as the Potts Brothers, F Barker, and Hamerton; and, under the leadership of Mr. A. St. G Hammersley (erstwhile captain of the English International Team), it played several exciting matches with Christchurch.

          
In return for the visit of the Auckland men, a team was sent North in 1876, and although its members were wanting in combined play and knowledge of the game, they were a strong and active lot. Mr. John Anderson was the captain, and although beaten in Auckland after an exciting contest, be led his men on to easy victories in Nelson and Wellington. In the following year the residents of Merivale got together a good fifteen, and played some even matches with the Christchurch Club. This year, too, Otago followed our example, and sent a team to Auckland, which played Christchurch on its way North. The local men were decidedly worsted, the superior training of the Southerners enabling them to score two tries in the last half-hour. The latter, too, were better up in the rules, and showed our men the important part passing takes in the Rugby Union games. It was now arranged to play annual interprovincial matches with Otago, and in 1878 a drawn game was played in Dunedin. neither side scoring. This contest took place in a howling 
sou'-

wester, and consisted mainly of a succession of close-packed scrimmages. The Eastern Football Club sprang into existence about this date, but did not survive more than two seasons.

          
In 1879 the Canterbury Rugby Union was founded, at a meeting of representatives of the various Clubs in the Province, held at Timaru, and has ever since had the management of football affairs in Canterbury. This example has since been followed in Otago, Auckland, and Wellington.

          
Under the auspices of the Union, a football tournament took place in Christchurch, to which teams were sent from Otago and Wellington. Otago played a drawn match with Canterbury, but Wellington managed, after severe struggles, to inflict defeats on both.

          
The match in 1880, in Dunedin, was also drawn. In this year two clubs were started in Christchurch on the ruins of the Eastern Football Club, 
viz.—'The Ravens, who had but a brief existence, and the East Christchurch Football Club, which has gone on and prospered exceedingly, and now numbers on its member-roll considerably more players than any other club in Canterbury.

          
In 1881 the interprovincial match was played on the College ground, and resulted in a win for Otago by a goal and a try to nothing; and this was followed up in the next year by a still more crushing defeat. Our Southeru opponents had picked up the fast style of play, which had been recently introduced at Home, and its superiority over the old style was most conclusively proved by the score—five goals and three tries to nothing. From this time forth the fast game has been adopted through-out the colony, and the interest in football taken by the public has thereby been greatly increased. Profiting by the lesson taught them in this match, the Canterbury men set to work steadily to improve their play; and the good effect was shown, by the fine game they played against the New South Wales team, later on in the year. Though worsted, they certainly had the best of the game, especially towards the end; and it was only by the greatest good luck that their opponents were enabled to hold the advantage they had gained in the earlier part of the game.

          
In 1883 Canterbury's representatives were beaten in all their matches, but still showed that they were improving in their play. The game with Otago was played on Lancaster Park—which was then new and soft—in showers of rain and sleet. The ground got churned into a perfect pool of mud, and anything like good play was an 
impossi-

bility. The Canterbury team which went to Wellington this year was very weak, several of our best men being unable to go, Nevertheless, Wellington only won by a try, and had none the best of the game. The match with Auckland was an exceedingly interesting one, as the two teams were fairly even, but played different styles of game; the visitors depending entirely on their back play, while the home team placed more reliance on the dribbling of the forwards. Canterbury scored in the first spell, but the superior condition of the Auckland men told in the end, and enabled them to win by a goal and a try to a try. In all three of the matches played in 1883, the most noticeable feature on the Canterbury side was the brilliant forward play of F. Archer, whose smart dashes and good collaring have set an example which has been invaluable to his fellow-players. Canterbury supplied four players for the team which had such a victorious career in New South Wales in 1884, 
viz.:— G H. N. Helmore, R. J. Wilson, E. B. Millton, and W. V. Millton, the latter of whom had the honour of captaining the team.

          
Last season, too, Canterbury at last scored a win over Otago. The number of clubs now playing in and around Christchurch, gave the selection committee ample material to pick from, and a team was chosen, consisting of a lot of smart forwards, who could dribble and collar well, and backs whose strong points were activity and good kicking. The game was played in Dunedin, on a lovely day, and the immense crowd of spectators showed the popularity of football, and the great interest taken in this particular match. In about five minutes from the start Francis cleverly dropped a goal from the field, and Otago were never able to beat this Score, although one try was obtained on their side. Our men's superiority in the smart collaring of the forwards, and the judicious kicking of the backs was particularly noticeable. Helmore played a splendid game for the winners.

          
This success is certain to do a vast amount of good to football in this province, and we think we can safely prophesy that it will be some years before we shall suffer such a reverse as that of 1882.

          
In this account of football in Christchurch we have necessarily had to chronicle, to a certain extent, the doings of the whole province, for the greater number of the interprovincial players are chosen from the town clubs.

          
In addition to the Christchurch, College, and East Christchurch Clubs already mentioned, numerous strong clubs have of late sprung into existence—notably the Sydenham and Merivale. 

To go further afield, there is the North Canterbury Club, which in the past season won pride of place in the district. This Club succeeded in beating all opponents, though it may be placed as about equal with the Christchurch, as the final match of the season between these two resulted in a drawn game, in which neither side could be said to have gained any advantage. The N.C.F.C. had beaten the C.F.C. in the first match, but the latter Club was unable to play nearly its full strength on this occasion. Next to these come the East Christchurch and the Sydenham, who are very much on a par, although the former had rather the best of it in the first trial of strength, between them, the return match being drawn.

          
As we said before, Christchurch is particularly well off for football grounds. The College have a fine dry and level ground, the soil of which is sandy, and never gets muddy. The C.F.C. used to play in Cranmer-square, but of late years have occupied the portion of the park on which the exhibition stood. A fine-new ground has lately been laid down for this Club in the North Park which is sure to prove dry and fast; and the Merivale have also laid out their field of play in the same locality. The East Christchurch F.C. has, we hear, rented Lancaster Park for the ensuing winter, and will have a splendid level turf to perform on; while the Sydenham Club have also a good ground of their own. With all these fine grounds, football is sure to go ahead. The equality and keen rivalry of the different leading clubs must develop plenty of good players, while the number of junior clubs springing up will keep up a continual supply of fresh, blood.

          
Within the last few months a gentleman, representing the football players of Victoria, has been taking a tour through. New Zealand, with a view to having established some universal code of football rules for Australasia; but though the attainment of this object is greatly to be desired, we are afraid that the differences of style between the Rugby Union and Victorian games are so radical, that it will be many years before any such code will be agreed upon. Rugby Union has taken such deep root in New Zealand, and the Victorians are so convinced of the superiority of their own rules, that it will prove extremely difficult to induce the players of either colony to sacrifice any of the cardinal points of their respectives games, and, without some such sacrifice, any amalgamation would be impossible.

          
The modifications which of late years have been made in the Rugby Union code, and the fast style of game now in vogue, have made the game infinitely more interesting to watch; and 

we have more spectators for our local matches than will turn up to see the contests between our cricket clubs. As we have once more placed ourselves on a par with Otago, the interprovincial games are certain to attract more attention than of yore, and we need have no doubts as to the future success and popularity of football in our city.
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The Canterbury Amateur Athletic Club
          

          
Was started in 1880, with a list of 117 members; there are now 172 members on the list. The first meeting was held on the grounds of the Agricultural and Pastoral Association, in March, 1881. The Club holds a Challenge Cup, valued at 100 guineas, presented by the Ladies of Canterbury, for the competitor who wins most points at a meeting. The following are the names inscribed on the Cup at the present date:—

          
March, 1881.—A. S. Baker, 6 points.

          
October 1881.—F. W. Robinson, 10 points.

          
October 1882.—F. W. Robinson, 16 points.

          
October 1883.—F. W. Anderson, 8 points.

          
October 1884.—T. D. Harman, 4 points.

          
The winners of the Standard events are as follows:—

          

            

	Standard, 10 2-5ths: 100 yards—March, 1881, F. W. Robinson, 11 2-5ths. October, 1881, J. L. Smith, 10 3-5ths. October, 1882, F. W. Robinson 11. October, 1883, C. H. Hamilton, 11 3-5ths. October, 1884, J. C. W. Grigg, 10 2-5ths.

	Standard, 12 3-5ths: 120 yards—October, 1881, W. J. Webb, 12½ (5 yds.). October, 1882, A. Templar, 12 4-5ths (6 yds.). October, 1883, C. H. Hamilton, 12 3-5th. October, 1884, G. H. Helmore, 12 3-5th (5 yds.).

	Standard, 54: 440 yds.—March, 1881, J. L. Smith, 55 2-5ths. October, 1881, J. L. Smith, 56. October, 1882, F. W. Robinson, 53 2-5ths. October, 1883, C. H. Hamilton, 55. October, 1884, E. R. Webb, 55 l-5th.

	Standard, 2-5: ½-rnile—March, 1881, A. S. Baker, 2 20 4-5ths. October, 1881, A. S. Baker, 2 15 4-5ths. October, 1882, F. W. Robinson, 2 11½. October, 1883, F. W. Anderson, 2 9 1.5th. October, 1884, A. H. Lees.

	Standard, 4-45: one mile—March, 1881, A. S. Baker, 5-1, October, 1881, A. S. Baker, 5. October, 1882, F. W. Anderson, 4 49 3-5ths. October 1883, J. W. T. Boys, 4 54 2-5ths. October, 1884, W. E. Mellish, 4-59.

	Standard, 17 2-5ths: 120 yds. (hurdles)—March, 1881, A. G. Sheath, 18½. October, 1881, F. W. Robinson, 20. October, 1882, C. Newton, 19 4-5ths, October, 1383, J. Roberts, 19 2-5ths. October, 1884, J. Roberts, 18 l-5th.

	Standard, 63: 440 yds. (hurdles)—October, 1882, F. W. Robinson, 66 3-5th. October, 1883, W. B. Craig, 72 2-5ths.



	Standard, 7-40: mile (walking)—March, 1881, H. C. Ford, 8 1 3-5ths. October, 1882, F. Archer, 7 32 3-5ths. October, 1883, F. A. Archer, 7 30 2-5ths.

	Standard, 20ft.: Long Jump—March, 1881, L. A. Hawkes, 18 ½|. October 1881, L. A. Hawkes, 18-7. October, 1882, F. W. Robinson, 18 6½. October, 1883, T. D, Harman, 19 5. October, 1884, T. D. Harman, 181.

	Standard, 5-5: High Jump—March, 1881, F. W. Robinson, 5 2½. October 1881, F. W. Robinson, 5. October, 1882, F. W. Robinson, 5 1. October, 1883, W. H. Newton and C. W. Bowen, 4 ll½. October, 1884, W. M. McDowall, 4-11.

	Standard, 9-6: Pole Jump—October, 1881, J. Partridge, 10ft. October, 1882, J. Partridge, 10ft. October, 1883, J. Partridge, 10ft.

	Standard, 33-6: Putting 161b. Shot—March, 1881, A. G. Sheath, 34-9. October, 1881, J. S. Smith, 31-8. October, 1882, J. S. Smith, 30 5½. October, 1884, B. M. Moorhouse, 32-0½.

	Standard, 80ft: Throwing Hammer—March, 1881, C. C. Corfe, 85-10. October, 1881, W. Willis, 92 0½. October, 1882, J. S. Smith, 79-2. J. F. Wachsman, 69. October, 1883, E. M. Boulton, 76 2½.


          

          
The programme always includes three events for the boys of 
Christ's College and High School; and a Challenge Cup is awarded to the school which wins two out of the three events.

          
The Club now holds its Annual Sports meeting in October, at Lancaster Park. As the cinder-path at the park is anything but a first-class track, the records cannot be expected to be very high. Very considerable interest is taken in the sports, entries being received from no less than forty-two members at the last meeting in October, 1884, besides the entries for the College Boys' Races and the Tug-of-War.

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

Racing



          

            
Racing.
          

          
Among the first amusements instituted in Canterbury—even when it was a very little settlement, numbering its settlers by the hundred, when horses (except of the strictly useful kind) were scarce, and when trained racers were unknown—was that of horse-racing. For sheer love of the sport owners pitted their hacks, and even their cart-horses, against each other for a spin. Trotting matches were fairly numerous, and if the pace was not wonderful, the fun was capital, and the racing “straight.” The Canterbury St. Ledger, of £1 each, with £10 added from the fund, open to all horses—on Easter Monday, 1852—and two other events, including a “cart-horse race for ten shillings each, with £6 5s. added from the fund, for horses-that have been regularly worked in harness during the last three months, owners to ride,” drew a good crowd of spectators on the occasion. “The course was levelled, and was roped in 

for the first time,” says a chronicler of the day, who further tells us that "two or three of the jockeys were in full racing costume.” A race ball at the Golden Fleece wound up the day's sport, and was kept up vigorously till four in the morning, about eighty ladies and gentlemen having responded to the invitation of four lady patronesses and a committee of twelve gentlemen. Among the list of names of those present we find the well-remembered ones of Godley, Simeon, Russell, Cookson, Wakefield, Westenra, Paul, Wortley, Bealey, Woolcombe, Creyke, Harman, Bowen, Muter, Townsend, Hamilton, Jacobs (our worthy and very rev. friend the present Dean), and many others, some of whom remain with us still to tell of those early days.

          
Of these very early days of racing in Canterbury, but incomplete records remain. In December, 1852, two days' racing in Hagley Park attracted a large concourse of spectators on the anniversary day and the Saturday following, the stewards being Messrs. Watts. Russell, E. J. Wakefield, W. Fendal, and Captain Harvey. A much improved course, 1 mile 150 yards in length, with a good start and finish, had been arranged, and on it Mr. Leach's Harkaway, Mr. Wakefield's Robin Hood, Hon. J. S. Wortley's Abd-el-Kader, Mr. Caverhill's Maid of the Mountains (ridden by our old friend Janaway), and Gartner and Ellis's John Heke, gained honours. They could race without betting in those days, and enjoy the fun. Somewhere about this time a Canterbury Jockey Club was first mooted. For a year or two Anniversary Day was 
the day for races, when a regularly drawn-up programme was put forth, and all the little 
et ceteras of a well-appointed meet were duly attended to. An occasional day's sport was also frequently arranged for other holidays, usual or special; and other places beyond Christchurch followed the lead, and had their own little meets, affording good sport.

          
An accident caused the race days to be altered from December to March. In 1854 the weather towards Anniversary Day was so wretched that the Jockey Club (just established) decided to postpone them till Easter Monday; and the change being found to be convenient, it was retained, leaving the old day to the full disposal of the Lyttelton boatmen, who speedily established their annual regatta.

          
November 1854 was an auspicious time for racing in Canterbury. On one Saturday in that month, after a market dinner in Christchurch, a few choice spirits held a meeting—either in the White Hart or the Golden Fleece, which, the chroniclers do not say—and on the motion of 
Mr. E. J. Wakefield, seconded by Mr. I. T. Cookson, decided to form the Canterbury Jockey 

Club. The subscription was fixed at one guinea, with an entrance fee of a similar amount; and all those who chose to subscribe prior to December 2nd, 1854, were admitted as members The races on Easter Monday, 1855, were the first run in Canterbury under the auspices of this Club. Prior to this the rules of the Wellington Jockey Club had been those under which our little events were pulled off. The Club soon made its existence felt beneficially. The course, which before had been a ring in Hagley Park, almost untouched, was levelled, roped in, and kept in fair order. A plan of that old course would show us that our gallants and ladies fair, when doing Rotten Bow on a fine afternoon, are cantering very nearly over the same ground on which our early jockeys won their laurels in their gaily-coloured silks and satins. The winning-post was about where the Riccarton Hotel—erstwhile the Plough Inn—now stands, the "straight" home being about where the road round the park now runs from the mill to the hotel. But in 1858 the Provincial Council passed "The Racecourse Reserve Ordinance," whereby the present ground at Riccarton—a little over 300 acres—was reserved as a public recreation ground, and leased for twenty-five years to the President (for the time being) of the Canterbury Jockey Club, for the purposes of a race-course, at a rental of £15 per annum. By that Ordinance, while a charge could be made for admitting horses and vehicles into the ground, foot passengers were admitted free; but a later Ordinance—the only one, if we remember rightly, which Mr. J. D. Lance had the honour of originating—amended this state of things, and authorised a charge for them also.

          
For several years racing matters in Canterbury gradually grew more important, till in 1865 a Champion Race of 1000 sovs, added to a sweepstakes of 50 sovs., 3 miles, was inaugurated, for which. Stormbird, Lady Bird, Miss Lee, Otto, and six others, competed, Ladybird winning easily; time, 5 min, 56 sees., being within a second of the Otago champion. This year Mr. Creyke retired from the active duties of treasurership of the Jockey Club, having done more than any other man to establish racing on a sound footing in the province. When he first took office the whole machinery of the Club was in confusion, and affairs were at the lowest ebb. To his exertions were due the revival of racing. Entering office with a bankrupt exchequer, he left the Club in a prosperous condition, after having built a grand stand—then unrivalled in New Zealand—and inaugurated the first Champion meeting held in Canterbury.

          
In 1866 the January races were announced as "The New Zealand Metropolitan Meeting," and the total amount of added 

money for the three days' events was £2300. The "Champion" was not on the programme, but the "Canterbury Cup" was increased to 1000 sovs. The winner, Belle of the Isle, was Canterbury bred, and trained by Mr. Webb, near Christchurch, for her owner, Mr. W. H. Harris, who also owned Stormbird, that ran second for this event. It must be remembered that at this time Canterbury and Nelson were the two principal racing provinces, and that it was an ordinary thing for the studs owned in the one province one year to be transferred by purchase in the next to the other. But Belle of the Isle was a thorough Canterbury filly, her sire (Malton) having been imported by her owner.

          
By this time races had been established in many parts of the province. Kajapoi had long had its capital little meets; Timaru events had become important; and Akaroa, Amuri, and several other places, put out good programmes that attracted the local horses and public.

          
In 1868 the value of the Canterbury Cup was reduced to 500 sovs., added to a sweepstakes of 25 sovs. Mr. Studholme's Knottingley was the winner, Mr. Mallock's Backbiter taking second honours. In 1869 the Club, feeling the effect of the bad times that were crippling every settler, had again to reduce the value of the Cup to 300 sovs., with a sweepstakes of 20 sovs.; but the event was as splendid a race has had hitherto been run in New Zealand. Manuka, Knottingley, and Magenta faced the starter, and reached the winning-post in-the order we have given. Time, 5 min. 42 secs. This is the first time the Cup went out of Canterbury since the race was established, but no one grudged Mr. Redwood his success. It is noteworthy that the time was only five seconds longer than the Barb took to travel over the same distance in Melbourne two years previously—a performance then considered wonderful.

          
In 1871 the time for holding the Metropolitan Meeting was changed from January to November—the month in which it still is held. The Cup this year was contested for by only two horses, although the distance was reduced to 2½ miles. Mr. Redwood's ch.m. Peeress, and Mr, Studholme's Knottingley made a splendid race of it, resulting in a dead heat; but when it was run off the mare knocked the old horse out of time, although he made a game struggle to the end.

          
1872, the first year that Mr. S. Nosworthy's Lurline won the Cup, Mr. P. Campbell's Tambourine running second, was the one when the ladies' lawn, in front of the grand stand, was laid down, planted, and fenced. The following year Lurline again carried off the Cup, Mr. Redwood's Papapa taking second place. 

This year the Derby, won by Papapa, was done in the shortest time hitherto recorded, viz., 2min. 46secs.

          
Since 1873 matters have gone very smoothly as regards racing in Christchurch. The Metropolitan Meeting is still held in November, and is well supported and largely attended. The Club acts very liberally, the added money at the last amounting to £4300 for the three days' events. The Canterbury Jockey Club Handicap, established in 1866, and numbering as its winners Nourmabal, Magenta, Flying Jib, Mainsail, Knottingley, Peeress, Detractor, Kakapo, Tambourine, Nectar, Guy Faux, Mata, Maritana, Chancellor, Le Troup, Grip, and Welcome Jack, was, after a life of eighteen years, merged, into "The New Zealand Cup," a handicap sweepstakes of 20 sovs. each, with 1000 sovs. added, and has been won by Tasman and Vanguard. The Derby Stakes, established in 1861, has been made a 500 sov. race, and the Canterbury Cap has been made again a sweepstakes of 20 sovs, with 500 sovs. added. Eight of the winners of this claim Traducer for their sire; three, The Peer; while Malton, Towton, Scud, Sledmere, Ravensworth, and Dainty Ariel, produced the others.

          
The Autumn Meeting of the Christchurch Jockey Club has al o become very popular; the Great Autumn Handicap, a sweepstakes of 10 sovs., with 300 sovs. added; and the Champagne Stakes, a sweep., with 250 sovs. added, having both attracted good horses. The added money at these meets ranges about £1200. Besides these there are Plumpton Park races, and meets at Heathcote and New Brighton, so that residents in Christchurch and the neighbourhood—who either like the sport for itself, or as an excuse for a day's outing—have every chance of gratifying their taste at almost any season of the year, and in almost any suburb of the city. The Canterbury Jockey Club is now a power in the racing world of the Australasias, and includes many men of high standing. Mr. Penfold is the Secretary.
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Chess.
          

          
Clubs for the practice of this game have been in existence for many years. So far back as twenty years ago a club was established which, after an intermittent kind of life, expired from inanition. The present Club was practically formed about ten years ago. It meets in the rooms of the Philosophical Institute, at the Public Library, every Tuesday and Friday evening. The roll of members numbers about fifty, and the average attendance is from eighteen to twenty each evening. Admission is by ballot, and the subscription is ten shillings per annum. Two or 

three handicap tourneys are held every year; also interprovincial matches with the Wellington and Dunedin Clubs, in which hitherto Christchurch has been able, at least, to do more than hold its own. In 1879 a New Zealand chess tourney was held in Christchurch, the old Provincial Council Hall being lent for the purpose. About ten of the best players in the colony attended, and it evoked considerable interest. The prizes were £50, £20 and £10, to be taken either in money or trophies. The first was won by Mr. Hook ham (Christchurch), the second by Mr. D. R. Hay (Dunedin), and the third by Mr. P. F. Jacobsen (Christchurch). The Club is numerically stronger than any other similar one in the colony, if not in the Australias. The President is Mr. H. Hookham; the vice-President, Mr. P. F. Jacobsen; the Secretary, Mr. Howard; and the Treasurer, Mr. W. A. Smith.
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Cycling.
          

          
Bicycles and tricycles are numerous now in Christchurch, and, as may be expected, the riders have formed themselves into clubs, of which there are now two—the Pioneer and the Christchurch, both with a considerable number of members. Opportunities are taken of the public holidays to get up races, both local and interprovincial, and the members meet for runs in the country about for miles on Saturdays.
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Music and the Drama.
          

          
As regards these amusements Christchurch is very well supplied. In another place, under the head of “Societies,” we have referred to the Christchurch Musical Society. Besides this, we have four or five good brass bands, which are always ready to afford entertainment. The visits of professional musical talent to our city are neither few nor far between; none of any note thinking arrangements for New Zealand complete that do not include Christchurch. The same may be said of the drama. We have two theatres and several halls, and it is very rarely that one or more of them are not occupied by some company of local talent or European reputation.
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Cricket.
          

          
Canterbury is particularly adapted for those who wish to indulge in this fine old English game. Plenty of level land and good grass-growing soil supply every requisite required to make a fine cricket ground. For some years now players have had one or more good grounds to play upon, and a short history of 

the game and play—more especially of the early days—in this Provincial District, may not therefore be uninteresting.

          
The first match was played in Hagley Park, at the end of March, 1852, between the married and single, which resulted in a win for the Benedicts. Afterwards, £30 was collected towards making a ground. To give our readers some idea of the difficulties under which the game was played, a few lines about the nature of the country in those days may not be amiss. Christchurch was situated in a swamp. Flax and native tussock were in abundance, and a spade rather than a scythe had to be used to prepare a wicket. There were no English grass paddocks for some few years after the date we have mentioned. It was necessary to pare off the native tussock, and after some little trouble a pitch was obtained sufficiently level. It was upon such wickets as this that the first games were played. The first club —the Christchurch Cricket Club—was formed in 1852, and played their first matches in the season of 1852.3. They were two games with the working men, and resulted in a win for the Club on both occasions. They were played in Hagley Park, opposite the College grounds. For some two or three years occasional games were played, and then the Club became defunct.

          
It was not until 1858 that the game was revived and put upon a more permanent basis; in fact, this really may be called the commencement of cricket in Canterbury, as, after tins date, it has been carried on season after season until the present date. It is curious what small things lead to big results, and the revival of the game in Christchurch arose from one of these small incidents. Some short time after his arrival in the colony Mr. George Turner, the veteran who now stands umpire in some of our local matches, saw some one in Cathedral-square with a bat in his hand. He hailed him with delight, and in the course of conversation with the stranger, who he found was Mr. William Hobbs (father of Mr. Fred. Hobbs, of Christchurch), known then and afterwards as "Bill" Hobbs, he discovered that a Mr. George Dickinson—better known in these days as "Old Dickinson"—possessed another bat. No sooner was this information obtained than he trudged off to St. Albans, through the flax and swamp, to unearth this treasure. Having ascertained the fact, Mr. Turner inserted an advertisement in the 
Lyttelton Times, calling a meeting, and, in response, fourteen or fifteen colonists attended. At this meeting the Albion Club was formed, being called after one of the same name in England, with which Mr. Turner used to play. The enthusiastic promoter was appointed Secretary, and for all but the last year of its existence held that office. The scene of its play was 
Latimer-

square, which was ploughed up and sown down for the purpose. It was never a good ground, but in those days the batsmen were not so particular, and received their knocks without a murmur. The formation of this Club was soon followed by another, called the Avonside, which played in the late Mr. W. G. Brittan's paddock, at Avonside, just below Ward's brewery. The first inter-club match was played on this ground on February 17th and 18th, 1859, and resulted in a win for the Avonside by 59 runs. There was a large number of spectators, as a cricket match was an important event, and the early colonists were always fond of a day's sport. This being the first club match played in Christchurch we give the score to show who were our principal players:—

          

            

              

                
Avonside
              
              

                


                
First Innings.
              
              

                
	  J. C. Veel, l.b.w., b. Dickinson
                
	5
              

              

                
	  G. Miles, b. J. Marshall
                
	2
              

              

                
	  A. C. Croft, b. J. Marshall
                
	0
              

              

                
	  E. F. B. Harston, c. Turner, b. Dickinson
                
	3
              

              

                
	  W. H. Dawe, c. R., b. J. Marshall
                
	25
              

              

                
	  J. Longden, b. R. Marshall
                
	6
              

              

                
	  F. E. Stewart, c. J., b. R. Marshall
                
	18
              

              

                
	  G. Palairet, c. Green, b. Dickinson
                
	0
              

              

                
	  A. Blakiston, c. Turner, b. Dickinson
                
	1
              

              

                
	  T. Henley, not out
                
	0
              

              

                
	  S. S. Field, b. R. Marshall
                
	0
              

              

                
	  Wides, 6; byes,
                
	6
                
	12
              

              

                
	
                
	72
              

            

            

              

                
Second Innings.
              
              

                
	J. C. Veel, b. Merton
                
	6
              

              

                
	G. Miles, c. Auckland, b. Dickinson
                
	10
              

              

                
	A. C. Croft, b. Merton
                
	2
              

              

                
	E. F. B. Harston, l.b.w., b. Bargrove
                
	11
              

              

                
	W. H. Dawe, c. Auckland, b. Dickinson
                
	14
              

              

                
	J. Longden, not out,
                
	0
              

              

                
	F. E. Stewart, b. Merton
                
	30
              

              

                
	G. Palairet, l.b.w., b. Merton
                
	5
              

              

                
	A. Blakiston, b. Dickinson
                
	3
              

              

                
	T. Henley, b. Dickinson
                
	13
              

              

                
	S. S. Field, b. Bargrove
                
	0
              

              

                
	Wides, 3; byes, 19; leg byes,
                
	6
                
	28
              

              

                
	
                
	122
              

            

          

          


          

            

              

                
Albion
              
              

                
First Innings.
              
              

                
	  J. Auckland, b. Croft
                
	11
              

              

                
	  J. Marshall, l.b.w., b. Blakiston
                
	0
              

              

                
	  R. Marshall, b. Croft
                
	0
              

              

                
	  H. Green, b. Croft
                
	9
              

              

                
	  G. Turner, run out
                
	2
              

              

                
	  J. Bargrove. b. Croft
                
	1
              

              

                
	  C. Merton, run out
                
	14
              

              

                
	  G. Ford, b. Croft
                
	0
              

              

                
	  F. Slee, not out
                
	5
              

              

                
	  G. Dickinson, b. Croft
                
	5
              

              

                
	  J. Wood, run out
                
	8
              

              

                
	  Wides, 4; byes, 23; leg byes, 3
                
	80
              

              

                
	
                
	85
              

            

          

          

            

              

                
Second Innings.
              
              

                
	J. Auckland, run out
                
	3
              

              

                
	J. Marshall, c. Stewart, b. Croft
                
	2
              

              

                
	R. Marshall, b. Dawe
                
	17
              

              

                
	H. Green, b. Dawe
                
	2
              

              

                
	G. Turner, not out
                
	0
              

              

                
	J. Bargrove. c. and b. Croft
                
	0
              

              

                
	C. Merton, absent
                
	0
              

              

                
	G. Ford, absent
                
	0
              

              

                
	F. Slee, c. Stewart, b. Dawe
                
	4
              

              

                
	G. Dickinson, b. Croft
                
	3
              

              

                
	J. Wood, absent
                
	0
              

              

                
	Wides, 9; byes, 9; no ball,
                
	1
                
	19
              

              

                
	
                
	50
              

            

          

          
The return match was played in March, at Hagley Park, when the Albion won by five wickets. About this time these matches were made the occasion of much enjoyment. There were no pavilions, so large tents were erected for the use of the cricketers and for luncheon. A band played in the afternoon, and everyone went to see the game. These two Clubs kept up a wholesome rivalry until 1861, when the Canterbury Club was formed, which included most of the members of the Avonside. This year the ground up by Dilloway's was used, and a pavilion built by private subscription. A grand match was got up to celebrate 

the Anniversary of the Province, between the Town and Country. The Town, chiefly by the aid of Mr. B. Parkerson, who made 48, scored an easy victory. This score was the highest, individual total made in a match up to that date, and was looked upon as a great performance.

          
About this time the goldfields in Otago and Nelson attracted a number of visitors, some of whom were good cricketers; but their assistance was only transitory. Club matches kept the game alive, and it was very amusing, when any ship arrived in Lyttelton, to see the rival representatives of the two Clubs looking after recruits. A new bowler was "kept dark," and none of the opposition Club were allowed to see him bowl. In those days you knew everyone, and the Club matches were the occasion of many a gay gathering. Of course, the friends of the respective Clubs were much interested in the game, and it was truly a pleasant meeting, and one which will never be forgotten by those who took part in them. About 1863-4 another club was formed, which received the name of the first one, viz., the Christchurch Cricket Club. It was composed mostly of young players who could not afford the entrance fee and subscription to the Canterbury, which was looked upon as the "Swell" Club. They used to play in a paddock behind what was then known as "Kohler's Gardens," just beyond the West Christchurch School, on the Lincoln-road; but after this ground being required for other purposes, application was made to the Provincial Government of the day for the use of ground in Hagley Park. The result of this was that ten acres were allotted to each of the three Clubs; and on most of the maps of the city these are shown. The Christchurch Club were the first to move in the matter of forming their ground. This was in 1865; but we are passing one of the greatest events which occurred in connection with the game. In 1863-4 Messrs. Kissling and James Fulton, of Otago; and Messrs. H. P. Lance and E. C. J. Stevens, of this province, were chiefly instrumental in establishing the inter-provincial matches which up to the present season have been played annually—alternately in each town. We can recollect quite well the first Canterbury Eleven going South. The oval upon which the match was played that year, and for some seasons afterwards, had been newly turfed, and during the game Mr. Sale, while batting, hit the ground and knocked a large piece of turf out, which, of course, had to be replaced. As few people know anything about this match, the score may not be uninteresting. Mr. H. P. Lance acted as Captain for Canterbury, and Mr. James Fulton, for Otago:—

          


          

            

              

                
Otago.
              
              

                
	
First Innings.
                
	
                
	
Second Innings.
              

              

                
	C. Morris, c. Powys, b. Stevens
                
	1
                
	
                
	run out
                
	2
              

              

                
	J. Jacomb, l.b.w., b, Taylor
                
	0
                
	
                
	b. Dickinson
                
	2
              

              

                
	C. Mace, b. Stevens
                
	1
                
	
                
	b. Stevens
                
	0
              

              

                
	J. H. Hope, b. Stevens
                
	3
                
	
                
	c. Dickinson, b. Tennant
                
	17
              

              

                
	J. Redfern, b. Taylor
                
	14
                
	
                
	c. Murison (subs), b. Stevens
                
	13
              

              

                
	J. MacDonald, b. Taylor
                
	0
                
	
                
	b. Tennant
                
	12
              

              

                
	J. Fulton (capt.), not out
                
	25
                
	
                
	b. Taylor
                
	1
              

              

                
	J. Mace, c. Bennett, b. Taylor
                
	1
                
	
                
	b. Dickinson
                
	8
              

              

                
	B. Couldstock, c. Murison (subs.), b. Taylor
                
	2
                
	
                
	b. Dickinson
                
	0
              

              

                
	G. K. Turton, c. Bennett, b. Dickinson
                
	7
                
	
                
	not out
                
	0
              

              

                
	H. D. Maddock, c. Dickinson, b. Taylor
                
	10
                
	
                
	c Stevens, b. Taylor
                
	4
              

              

                
	Extras
                
	14
                
	
                
	Extras
                
	12
              

              

                
	
                
	78
                
	
                
	
                
	74
              

            

          

          

            

              

                
Canterbury.
              
              

                
	
First Innings.
                
	
                
	
                
	
Second Innings.
                
	
              

              

                
	W. C. Wilson, run out
                
	2
                
	
                
	b. MacDonald
                
	1
              

              

                
	A. L. Powys, b. MacDonald
                
	1
                
	
                
	c. Hope, b. MacDonald
                
	0
              

              

                
	A. E. Tennant, b. MacDonald
                
	1
                
	
                
	c. Redfern, b. MacDonald
                
	3
              

              

                
	H. P. Lance (capt.), c. Jacomb, b. J. Mace
                
	3
                
	
                
	C. Redfern, b. J. Mace
                
	0
              

              

                
	E. C. J. Stevens, run out
                
	5
                
	
                
	b. J. Mace
                
	0
              

              

                
	G. S. Sale, c. MacDonald, b J. Mace
                
	0
                
	
                
	not out
                
	15
              

              

                
	J. H. Bennett, l.b.w., b. Macdonald
                
	5
                
	
                
	c. Fulton, b. J. Mace
                
	5
              

              

                
	H. Mytton, b. J. Mace
                
	7
                
	
                
	c. Fulton, b. J. Mace
                
	3
              

              

                
	J. W. Stevens, not out
                
	3
                
	
                
	b. MacDonald
                
	6
              

              

                
	G. Dickinson, c. Hope, b. J. Mace
                
	2
                
	
                
	c. Hope, b. MacDonald
                
	0
              

              

                
	R. Taylor, b. MacDonald
                
	1
                
	
                
	c. J. Mace, b. MacDonald
                
	5
              

              

                
	Extras
                
	2
                
	
                
	Extras
                
	5
              

              

                
	
                
	34
                
	
                
	
                
	42
              

            

          

          
Mr. Tennant, who played in this match, was one of the best cricketers the province ever had; as, besides being a grand batsman, he was a magnificent field and good fast bowler. He now resides on the West Coast. At this time bowling over the shoulder was not in general practice. 
Mr. E. C. J. Stevens, when he arrived from England, where it had just been allowed, was "no balled" for bowling over the shoulder, and gave it up in consequence. Since then he has never been able to recover his lost art. He was very destructive, which was perhaps some reason for his being "no balled." The Stevens who bowled in the above match was J. W. Stevens. Mr. H. P. Lance is still in Canterbury, and Mr. Geo. Dickinson can always be found on the ground when an important match is being played. Mr. G 

S. Sale is now a professor in Otago, and Bob Taylor we occasionally see in town. It was in this year that Mr. Jones, of Otago, brought "Parr's" All-England Eleven over to New Zealand, and a combined match.—Otago and Canterbury—was played after the Interprovincial. Parr's Eleven played a twenty-two of Canterbury on the ground near Dilloway's Plough Inn. Canterbury made 30 in the first innings, but thanks to the splendid play of A. E. Tennant, who scored 28, the total reached 105. W. C. Wilson made 12, and T. R. Moore, then a College boy, contributed 10. Parr's Eleven made 137 in the first innings, and won the match by an innings and two runs.

          
The following year Canterbury turned the tables upon Otago, and won the match by four wickets. It was in this year (1864) that A. R. Bloxham, E. S. Harley, and W. P. Cowlishaw first played for Canterbury. In 1865 local matches became more frequent, but it was not until 1867-8 season that any great improvement took place in this respect. In the meantime the Christchurch Club had commenced the formation of their ground, and the Canterbury Club finding it difficult to raise funds for making theirs, an arrangement was made by which these two Clubs united, and thus came the United Canterbury Cricket Club. The formation of the old Hagley Park ground was not completed until the autumn of 1866, but owing to the very dry spring play did not commence on the ground until the end of November or beginning of December. Our cricketers, consequently, obtained very little practice, and suffered a severe defeat at the hands of our Otago friends. In fact, this was the worst defeat Canterbury has ever suffered from Otago—one innings and 37 runs. A. L. Parry was captain of the Canterbury Eleven for the second time. In this match A. J. Cotterill—brother to the Cotterills playing now—played in his second interprovincial match, having well earned his place in the previous contest in Dunedin by making 17 in the second innings. He and A. Ollivier, who played for the first time, showed good form. This was the first time T. R. Moore played in these interprovincial matches.

          
In the following year the Albion Club was revived, a monster gathering being held in Latimer-square, at which all the spectators received a free lunch. The cricket on this occasion was not of the highest order. Some good matches were played with the United Club with varying success; but owing to the want of a good ground the old Albion Club languished, and eventually became defunct, after an honourable existence of many years.

          


          
Cricket, in 1867-8, improved very much under the active exertions of the Secretary of the United, Mr. F. M. Ollivier, and in this year there was a veritable Canterbury week, three two-day matches being played during Christmas week. Although the Canterbury players improved, Otago were too much for them in the field at this time, as they received such numerous assistance from visitors who were attracted by the gold diggings. In 1868-9 was played the memorable drawn match between Otago and Canterbury, the latter having 17 runs to get and three wickets to fall. In this match A. J. Cotterill made the splendid score of 72. The following season, 1869-70, was the last that the Albion Club appeared in the field; and in the following year, in order to secure that wholesome rivalry which is so beneficial to all games, Messrs. E. S. Harley and E. Fowler (a celebrated Victorian player, who had come to Canterbury in 1868), established a new club, which for the third time received the name of Christchurch, but some years afterwards the name was altered to "Midland." The Ellesmere Club also flourished at this time, and between the three, frequent matches were played.

          
In 1870-1 Canterbury, as if to make up for a series of defeats at the hands of Otago, had a full revenge by this year scoring a one-innings victory, with 29 runs to spare. Besides several of the old players, Messrs. G. H. Lee, C. S. Odell, C. Perry, and H. H. Loughnan, helped materially to achieve this result. In this year a presentation was made to William Guise Brittan, as a memento of the support he had always rendered the game, more especially in the early days of the settlement. The clock, which formed the presentation, was inscribed, "Presented to William Guise Brittan, by the Cricketers of Canterbury, N.Z., February 16th, 1871." For some seasons the regular Saturday afternoon matches had been established, and have been continued until the present time. Canterbury, thanks to the fine batting of Messrs. G. Savill (58), who played for the first time; and E. Fowler (40), again scored an easy victory over their old opponents.

          
Shaw's All England Eleven visited the colonies in 1876-7, and the match with our local cricketers resulted in a win for England by 24 runs.

          
The following year the first Australian Eleven commenced their tour of the colonies, prior to going to England. After being successful in all their previous matches, they suffered their first defeat in Christchurch, at the hands of our local fifteen. The scores were—Australia, first innings, 46; second innings, 

143. Total, 189. Canterbury Fifteen—first innings, 135; and second innings (for eight wickets), 57. Total, 192. In 1878-9 Canterbury sent an Eleven to Victoria, when they played six matches, winning three against East Melbourne, Ballarat, and Richmond; and losing three against Melbourne, South Melbourne, and Bohemians. Upon their return they played an afternoon's match at Tasmania, which resulted in favour of Tasmania by a few runs. Only one innings each was played. In 1881 another Australian Eleven visited New Zealand, their main object being to revenge the defeat of the first team by Canterbury. On this occasion they made ample amends for their previous failure by winning the match in one innings and 100 runs to spare. This result was in a great measure due to 
W. L. Murdoch, who played a grand innings for 111. Australia —first innings, 323. Canterbury Fifteen—90-133. Total, 223. Several matches have been played with Auckland, the first taking place in 1873, when the Northern team defeated our local players by seven runs. Since then four other matches have been played, of which our local cricketers have won three. The interprovincial matches with Otago have continued year after year without intermission, and, in all, twenty-two matches have been played with the following result:—Canterbury won thirteen, Otago won eight, and one was drawn. About five years ago the Addington Club started, and promises to become one of our leading clubs.

          
In 1884 Tasmania sent an Eleven over, and played two very exciting matches with Canterbury. The first they lost by one wicket, and the next by six runs.

          
Shaw again brought an English Eleven to Canterbury in 1882, but owing to bad weather the match was not played out, although the result would have been an easy win for the visiting team. In 1880 the first steps were taken to obtain a freehold ground for cricket purposes, and to 
Mr. A. Morton Ollivier is due the credit of having secured to Canterbury such a ground as Lancaster Park. The total area is nearly eleven acres, and with the buildings and formation, cost a little over £7000.

          
In 1881 this ground was used for the first time, and now all the principal matches are played there. Cup matches were instituted in the season 1882-3, and, so far, have proved a great success. The benefit derived by the first Eleven, has this year been extended to the second Eleven, and now there is a Junior as well as a Senior Cup. The winning club hold it for the year, and have their name engraved upon it.

          
The management of the game is in the hands of an 
Associa-

tion formed of all members of clubs subscribing to its rules and regulations.

          
Speaking of cricket generally, the play improved very fast from the time that the present Hagley Park was formed up to 1879; after which, through the loss of a number of the best players, it fell off very much; but this year it has again improved, and but for the untimely death of Mr. Geo. Watson, the Canterbury Eleven would have been as formidable as any that have been put in the field. With two fine grounds the game is sure to progress, and in a few years a player will have to be good indeed to represent Canterbury in the Eleven.
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Coursing.
          

          
This favourite amusement in the Old Country has the last few years taken root here, and several districts in Canterbury have their coursing clubs, while private owners have their aristocratic dogs, claiming noble descent. The lead in the sport was taken by Christchurch gentlemen, who formed a club and enclosed the Plumpton Park, with all the requisites for breeding hares, and the grounds for coursing them. Meetings are held at intervals, which are well attended, and at which some capital sport is afforded. Last year the Plumpton Park Company enlarged the sphere of its operations and formed a racecourse upon which already some very fair horse-racing has been held. The Secretary of the Club is Mr. W. E. Walker.
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Horticulture.
        

        

          
Any account of the amusements of Christchurch would be incomplete without some reference to the Horticultural Shows held in the city and in the suburbs. In this matter, as in many others, Christchurch has led the way, the first show having been held when the settlement was only a few months old. Since then they have been pretty regularly opened. For many years the Christchurch Horticultural Society has been in existence, and has done good work in encouraging attention to this most beautiful occupation. The exhibitions held under it have been generally of a high order; and, latterly, have rivalled those to be seen in many English provincial towns of far greater pretensions than ours. As the suburbs have increased, societies have sprung up in them, notably—in Addington, Papanui, and Merivale. Juvenile clubs have also been formed, the Foresters Juvenile in particular having achieved a very fair amount of success. To the influence of these societies Christchurch and 

its neighbourhood owes its chief beauties, having probably, for its size and age, more gardens—from that of the cottage to those attached to the houses of the richer classes—displaying greater wealth of bloom and colour than any other city in the colony.

          
Beyond comparison, the grounds of the professional gardeners in and about our city, surpass those to be seen elsewhere in New Zealand as regards size, cultivation, and the quality of the plants. No visitor to Christchurch should fail to inspect them. A brief description of some of them will be interesting to our readers, and we give it below. The Public Gardens, situated in the Park, we have already described.

        

        

          

            
Mr. Abbott's Nursery.
          

          
It is now twenty-four years since Mr. Abbott formed his first nursery in Canterbury. He arrived in Christchurch in 1858, and having set to work within a very few months, is now the oldest nurseryman in the district. He has two grounds, the one situated on the Papanui-road—a conspicuous spot, which the passer-by cannot fail to notice—about 14 acres in extent, 8½ of which is in cultivation; and the other at Shirley Cross, two miles distant, containing nine acres.

          
One covers, as we have said, 8½ acres, and contain two greenhouses each 50 feet long, and one propagating and hothouse, also 50 feet long, all three heated by means of about 700 feet of hot water piping laid on; a fernery 36 feet long, a dozen or so of skeleton frames for raising young plants in, besides large shrubberies and plantations. The St. Albans creek runs through the grounds, feeding a pond filled with various kinds of water-lilies and other beautiful aquatic plants, of which Mr. Abbott has a large quantity to dispose of.

          
Entering from the Papanui-road by the double iron gates, the visitor finds himself in a long avenue fifty feet wide, flanked on either side by shrubberies of specimen shrubs and trees, including the Cedrus Deodara, Cryptomeria elegans, Retonospora leptoclada, R. plumosa, R. squarrosa, Libo-cedrus decurrens, Arbutus Croomi, A. Andrachne, A. Canariensis, Picea pinsapo, P. amabilis, P. Nordmaniana, P. cephalonica, P. Webbiana, and other beautiful shrubs, some of them of most exquisite foliage. People wishing to purchase can see for themselves how certain shrubs grow and thrive, and can select those which they think most suitable to their gardens. On the left of this avenue are 

three large rose beds, divided by broad grass walks, containing many thousand plants of over two hundred varieties, in which Mr. Abbott does a large wholesale trade. There are also several other beds filled with general nursery stock, and 
one very large bed of fine arbutus plants. On the right are several beds, divided by grass-walks, containing many thousands of beautiful coniferæ and choice hybrid-named rhododendrons, of which there are here shown over one hundred and twenty varieties. As you near the house there are other beds filled with choice kinds of flowering and evergreen shrubs, and herbaceous and flowering plants of all descriptions. Again, turning to the right, are five acres, subdivided by grass and other small walks, into beds filled with all kinds of coniferous, fruit, and forest trees. On the left of the avenue are the greenhouses. In the first one the display of many-coloured bloom is gorgeous. Primula sinensis, cyclamens –including the cyclamen gigantia—camelias, geraniums, cineraria, echeveria (which flowers the whole winter through), tuberous-rooted Begonia, of recent introduction, of which there are great numbers of gorgeous blooming plants; Salvia verchaffelti, which also flowers all through the winter; and Kennedya Baumanii, a recent introduction, flowering very freely, the bloom being tinted a most peculiar shade of red. These are only a few of the plants which are thriving in this greenhouse. The stock is immense, and any visitor with a small purse would need all his philosophy not to indulge, when looking at them, in naughty envy. It should be mentioned that, Mr. Abbott being an enthusiast over ferns, every available space under the stages of the greenhouses is filled with these lovely plants, of which he sends large quantities out of the colony.

          
The second greenhouse is also rich in colour, and is a sight worth seeing. Heaths and azaleas abound, and the beautiful Daphne Indica odora rubra has several representatives here. There is a very large collection of show and tricolour pelargoniums; the Abutilons, in great variety of colour; the Primula —some double and new colours—and a large stock of young bedding plants coming on, including geraniums, verbenas, calceolaria, lobelia, &c.

          
The propagating and hot-house is next shown us. Here are tropical ferns in great variety. Among them are to be noticed Adiantum Farleyense, A. Mooreii, A. Peruvianum, A. Concinum, A. magnifica, A. Nobilis, and at least twenty other varieties of this select plant. Ferns and lycopodiums, in baskets, are suspended from the roof. There is a large collection of fine foliage and variegated plants, and a large number of new roses, propagated from importations, received a few 

weeks since. New pelargoniums, including all the newest and best varieties of Regals, are to be seen; also, about thirty varieties of orchids, and a new introduction here, the Aphelexis Macrantha Purpurea. A new gold fern, Gymnogranum Peruviana, in splendid condition, has several representatives here, and they are perfect gems.

          
In the propagating pits are immense numbers of varieties of coniferæ and hardy shrubs, variegated pines and cypress. One of these pits contains half a thousand rhododendrons, newly grafted from a large number of varieties very recently imported from England, and which has been a complete success.

          
The fernery, one of the most beautiful spots in the nursery, is the largest in the district. It is 36 feet long and 12 feet wide, and built of corrugated iron, of which, however, not a vestige can be seen inside, a splendid imitation of the natural habitat of the fern being made with refuse from the pottery works, lightly covered in parts with mould. In this Mr. Abbott has planted his tree and other ferns, and they thrive splendidly. Altogether they include a very large proportion of the entire list of known ferns, and the visitor has here the treat of seeing the most complete collection of varieties of exotics and others to be found in this colony, Mr. Abbott having had collectors at work for him, for some time past, in several parts of the colonies. They include Leptopteres superba, Onychicum Japonicum, Todea Africana, Seolapendrum (many varieties), and several are his own seedlings; the Adiantum cuneatum, A. gracilimum, A. formosum, A. pedatum, A. fulvum, A. hispidulum, the old English maidenhair (capelus venerus), Gleichenia flabelata, G. Cunniughami, G. dicarpa, G. Circinata, Marattia fraxinea, M. Salicena (these two last from the Rotomahana, Hot Springs), Lastrea felix mas Cristata, and a Nephrodium molle corymbiferum.

          
At the back of the house, on the east side of the creek, the ground is covered with flowering shrubs, rhododendrons, lauristinas, carnations, and picotees, of which there is an immense collection, and some skeleton frames for raising young conifers, &c. The Shirley Cross Nursery, covering, as we have said, a space of niue acres, is devoted to general nursery stock, including many thousands of fruit trees. There are over a hundred varieties of apples—a great many thousands in all—and all grafted on the blight-proof stock.

        

        
        



          

            
Messrs. Adams & Son's Nursery.
          

          

About 300 yards beyond the East Town Belt, in Gloucester-street, is situated this establishment, which was started ten years back for the purpose of acclimatising bulbs and growing flower seeds. During that period the work has been steadily prosecuted until, at the present date, some 1500 varieties of bulbs have been imported and successfully acclimatised to the soil and climate of New, Zealand. Indeed, looking at the catalogue issued by the firm, the day is not far distant when the list of bulbs will rival those issued by the leading firms in England. Special attention has been devoted to the Hyacinth, and in addition to the best varieties from Holland, a large stock has been grown from the seed, and these bulbs may be fairly considered as New Zealand Hyacinths. They are superior to the Dutch sorts in, intensity and variety of colour, and, as may be expected, in vigour of growth. The collection of lilies is very complete, and comprises some of the rarer varieties from California and Japan. Ixias, Gladiolus, Anemones, Narcisscis, Tulips, Crocus, Snowdrops, Iris, and Pæonias, are grown by the thousand, and can now be obtained, fit for blooming the first season, at moderate prices, without the risk of importation and the tedious process of acclimatisation.

          
The growth and harvesting of florists' flower seeds is a part of the business to which a considerable amount of care has been devoted. By starting with the best strains procurable from England and the Continent, a superior class of seed has been secured, which will produce flowers of equal merit to the latest varieties in England, and free from the unreliability which must always attend the imported article. There is also a growing foreign trade done in native seeds, which are collected every season by expeditions organised for the purpose. The seeds are neatly made up in collections, accurately named, and form Acceptable presents to friends at Home.

          
Hardy flowers are also extensively grown, and the list of hardy perennials is very extensive. All the principal groups are well represented in healthy specimens of Delpheneum, Hepatica, Saxifrage, Panstemon, Convallaria, Agapanthus, Tradescantia, Spiræa, Hilleborus, Anemone, Lychuis, and Antrietia.

          
Many greenhouse plants of the latest and most approved kinds, of Fuchsias, Calceolarias, Cinerarias, and Cyclamen; stone plants, comprising Poinsettias, Gardenias, Dipladenias, Gloxinias, Begonias, Dracœnas, Adamandas, Lapagerius, Stephanotis, and Orchids; in fact, it is difficult to say what cannot be obtained either in bulb, seed, or plants, at the 
omnium gatherum of this establishment.

          


          
Ferns, both native and exotic, are to be found here in great numbers and variety. The indigenous sorts are, as may be supposed, in great demand in England, and extensive shipments are made in the season.

          
Since the direct steamers have commenced running, an export trade in native plants has also sprung up, and the firm have sent expeditions to the Southern Alps to collect the Alpines and other varities, which are afterwards established in pots and. shipped to London.

        

        

          

            
Mr. J. W. Leigh's Nursery.
          

          

Zion Nursery, as Mr. Leigh's place is named, is situated on the Shakespeare-road, Sydenham, near Wilson's road. It is two acres and a half in extent, and is one of those of our gardens which a visitor will find well worth inspection. Mr. Leigh, who has been about sixteen years gardening in this part of the colony, and been about ten years on his present grounds, has had a long experience in his profession, and has therefore gained an intimate knowledge of the effects of our climate upon various kinds of plants, &c. This knowledge has enabled him to select his stock from kinds and sorts which have been acclimatised here, or which are likely to thrive here. The importance of this is well known to professional gardeners, and has been learnt at considerable cost by many amateurs, who have imported new varieties, or new seeds, from Europe, America, or elsewhere. Mr. Leigh's collection of coniferæ, hardy, and other, is very large and well assorted. Of ornamental trees and shrubs, he has also a considerable stock, while his collection of flowering and herbaceous plants should be seen by anyone wishing to stock a garden or a greenhouse. One specialty of Mr. Leigh's is his collection of camelias, all grafted, of which he has above seventy named specimens; another, is his roses. Hedge plants, edging plants, culinary roots, herbs, grape vines, and fruit bushes; canes and trees are also to be seen in his nursery in considerable variety. At the time of our visit he had a large number of apple-trees, which all had to be delivered in Sydney under a heavy penalty for the loss of even one. We must not omit to notice Mr. Leigh's greenhouses and hot-houses, four in number, 60 feet long by 12 feet wide, the very perfection of useful glass, without a yard of unprofitable space. Indeed, the whole grounds bear evidence of being arranged and worked for use, and not show, in a thoroughly workmanlike manner.

          
Mr. Leigh will at any time be happy to show visitors over his place, which will, as we have said, well repay the trouble.
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Any account of the amusements of Christchurch would be incomplete without some reference to the Horticultural Shows held in the city and in the suburbs. In this matter, as in many others, Christchurch has led the way, the first show having been held when the settlement was only a few months old. Since then they have been pretty regularly opened. For many years the Christchurch Horticultural Society has been in existence, and has done good work in encouraging attention to this most beautiful occupation. The exhibitions held under it have been generally of a high order; and, latterly, have rivalled those to be seen in many English provincial towns of far greater pretensions than ours. As the suburbs have increased, societies have sprung up in them, notably—in Addington, Papanui, and Merivale. Juvenile clubs have also been formed, the Foresters Juvenile in particular having achieved a very fair amount of success. To the influence of these societies Christchurch and 

its neighbourhood owes its chief beauties, having probably, for its size and age, more gardens—from that of the cottage to those attached to the houses of the richer classes—displaying greater wealth of bloom and colour than any other city in the colony.

          
Beyond comparison, the grounds of the professional gardeners in and about our city, surpass those to be seen elsewhere in New Zealand as regards size, cultivation, and the quality of the plants. No visitor to Christchurch should fail to inspect them. A brief description of some of them will be interesting to our readers, and we give it below. The Public Gardens, situated in the Park, we have already described.
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Mr. Abbott's Nursery.
          

          
It is now twenty-four years since Mr. Abbott formed his first nursery in Canterbury. He arrived in Christchurch in 1858, and having set to work within a very few months, is now the oldest nurseryman in the district. He has two grounds, the one situated on the Papanui-road—a conspicuous spot, which the passer-by cannot fail to notice—about 14 acres in extent, 8½ of which is in cultivation; and the other at Shirley Cross, two miles distant, containing nine acres.

          
One covers, as we have said, 8½ acres, and contain two greenhouses each 50 feet long, and one propagating and hothouse, also 50 feet long, all three heated by means of about 700 feet of hot water piping laid on; a fernery 36 feet long, a dozen or so of skeleton frames for raising young plants in, besides large shrubberies and plantations. The St. Albans creek runs through the grounds, feeding a pond filled with various kinds of water-lilies and other beautiful aquatic plants, of which Mr. Abbott has a large quantity to dispose of.

          
Entering from the Papanui-road by the double iron gates, the visitor finds himself in a long avenue fifty feet wide, flanked on either side by shrubberies of specimen shrubs and trees, including the Cedrus Deodara, Cryptomeria elegans, Retonospora leptoclada, R. plumosa, R. squarrosa, Libo-cedrus decurrens, Arbutus Croomi, A. Andrachne, A. Canariensis, Picea pinsapo, P. amabilis, P. Nordmaniana, P. cephalonica, P. Webbiana, and other beautiful shrubs, some of them of most exquisite foliage. People wishing to purchase can see for themselves how certain shrubs grow and thrive, and can select those which they think most suitable to their gardens. On the left of this avenue are 

three large rose beds, divided by broad grass walks, containing many thousand plants of over two hundred varieties, in which Mr. Abbott does a large wholesale trade. There are also several other beds filled with general nursery stock, and 
one very large bed of fine arbutus plants. On the right are several beds, divided by grass-walks, containing many thousands of beautiful coniferæ and choice hybrid-named rhododendrons, of which there are here shown over one hundred and twenty varieties. As you near the house there are other beds filled with choice kinds of flowering and evergreen shrubs, and herbaceous and flowering plants of all descriptions. Again, turning to the right, are five acres, subdivided by grass and other small walks, into beds filled with all kinds of coniferous, fruit, and forest trees. On the left of the avenue are the greenhouses. In the first one the display of many-coloured bloom is gorgeous. Primula sinensis, cyclamens –including the cyclamen gigantia—camelias, geraniums, cineraria, echeveria (which flowers the whole winter through), tuberous-rooted Begonia, of recent introduction, of which there are great numbers of gorgeous blooming plants; Salvia verchaffelti, which also flowers all through the winter; and Kennedya Baumanii, a recent introduction, flowering very freely, the bloom being tinted a most peculiar shade of red. These are only a few of the plants which are thriving in this greenhouse. The stock is immense, and any visitor with a small purse would need all his philosophy not to indulge, when looking at them, in naughty envy. It should be mentioned that, Mr. Abbott being an enthusiast over ferns, every available space under the stages of the greenhouses is filled with these lovely plants, of which he sends large quantities out of the colony.

          
The second greenhouse is also rich in colour, and is a sight worth seeing. Heaths and azaleas abound, and the beautiful Daphne Indica odora rubra has several representatives here. There is a very large collection of show and tricolour pelargoniums; the Abutilons, in great variety of colour; the Primula —some double and new colours—and a large stock of young bedding plants coming on, including geraniums, verbenas, calceolaria, lobelia, &c.

          
The propagating and hot-house is next shown us. Here are tropical ferns in great variety. Among them are to be noticed Adiantum Farleyense, A. Mooreii, A. Peruvianum, A. Concinum, A. magnifica, A. Nobilis, and at least twenty other varieties of this select plant. Ferns and lycopodiums, in baskets, are suspended from the roof. There is a large collection of fine foliage and variegated plants, and a large number of new roses, propagated from importations, received a few 

weeks since. New pelargoniums, including all the newest and best varieties of Regals, are to be seen; also, about thirty varieties of orchids, and a new introduction here, the Aphelexis Macrantha Purpurea. A new gold fern, Gymnogranum Peruviana, in splendid condition, has several representatives here, and they are perfect gems.

          
In the propagating pits are immense numbers of varieties of coniferæ and hardy shrubs, variegated pines and cypress. One of these pits contains half a thousand rhododendrons, newly grafted from a large number of varieties very recently imported from England, and which has been a complete success.

          
The fernery, one of the most beautiful spots in the nursery, is the largest in the district. It is 36 feet long and 12 feet wide, and built of corrugated iron, of which, however, not a vestige can be seen inside, a splendid imitation of the natural habitat of the fern being made with refuse from the pottery works, lightly covered in parts with mould. In this Mr. Abbott has planted his tree and other ferns, and they thrive splendidly. Altogether they include a very large proportion of the entire list of known ferns, and the visitor has here the treat of seeing the most complete collection of varieties of exotics and others to be found in this colony, Mr. Abbott having had collectors at work for him, for some time past, in several parts of the colonies. They include Leptopteres superba, Onychicum Japonicum, Todea Africana, Seolapendrum (many varieties), and several are his own seedlings; the Adiantum cuneatum, A. gracilimum, A. formosum, A. pedatum, A. fulvum, A. hispidulum, the old English maidenhair (capelus venerus), Gleichenia flabelata, G. Cunniughami, G. dicarpa, G. Circinata, Marattia fraxinea, M. Salicena (these two last from the Rotomahana, Hot Springs), Lastrea felix mas Cristata, and a Nephrodium molle corymbiferum.

          
At the back of the house, on the east side of the creek, the ground is covered with flowering shrubs, rhododendrons, lauristinas, carnations, and picotees, of which there is an immense collection, and some skeleton frames for raising young conifers, &c. The Shirley Cross Nursery, covering, as we have said, a space of niue acres, is devoted to general nursery stock, including many thousands of fruit trees. There are over a hundred varieties of apples—a great many thousands in all—and all grafted on the blight-proof stock.
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Messrs. Adams & Son's Nursery.
          

          

About 300 yards beyond the East Town Belt, in Gloucester-street, is situated this establishment, which was started ten years back for the purpose of acclimatising bulbs and growing flower seeds. During that period the work has been steadily prosecuted until, at the present date, some 1500 varieties of bulbs have been imported and successfully acclimatised to the soil and climate of New, Zealand. Indeed, looking at the catalogue issued by the firm, the day is not far distant when the list of bulbs will rival those issued by the leading firms in England. Special attention has been devoted to the Hyacinth, and in addition to the best varieties from Holland, a large stock has been grown from the seed, and these bulbs may be fairly considered as New Zealand Hyacinths. They are superior to the Dutch sorts in, intensity and variety of colour, and, as may be expected, in vigour of growth. The collection of lilies is very complete, and comprises some of the rarer varieties from California and Japan. Ixias, Gladiolus, Anemones, Narcisscis, Tulips, Crocus, Snowdrops, Iris, and Pæonias, are grown by the thousand, and can now be obtained, fit for blooming the first season, at moderate prices, without the risk of importation and the tedious process of acclimatisation.

          
The growth and harvesting of florists' flower seeds is a part of the business to which a considerable amount of care has been devoted. By starting with the best strains procurable from England and the Continent, a superior class of seed has been secured, which will produce flowers of equal merit to the latest varieties in England, and free from the unreliability which must always attend the imported article. There is also a growing foreign trade done in native seeds, which are collected every season by expeditions organised for the purpose. The seeds are neatly made up in collections, accurately named, and form Acceptable presents to friends at Home.

          
Hardy flowers are also extensively grown, and the list of hardy perennials is very extensive. All the principal groups are well represented in healthy specimens of Delpheneum, Hepatica, Saxifrage, Panstemon, Convallaria, Agapanthus, Tradescantia, Spiræa, Hilleborus, Anemone, Lychuis, and Antrietia.

          
Many greenhouse plants of the latest and most approved kinds, of Fuchsias, Calceolarias, Cinerarias, and Cyclamen; stone plants, comprising Poinsettias, Gardenias, Dipladenias, Gloxinias, Begonias, Dracœnas, Adamandas, Lapagerius, Stephanotis, and Orchids; in fact, it is difficult to say what cannot be obtained either in bulb, seed, or plants, at the 
omnium gatherum of this establishment.

          


          
Ferns, both native and exotic, are to be found here in great numbers and variety. The indigenous sorts are, as may be supposed, in great demand in England, and extensive shipments are made in the season.

          
Since the direct steamers have commenced running, an export trade in native plants has also sprung up, and the firm have sent expeditions to the Southern Alps to collect the Alpines and other varities, which are afterwards established in pots and. shipped to London.
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Mr. J. W. Leigh's Nursery.
          

          

Zion Nursery, as Mr. Leigh's place is named, is situated on the Shakespeare-road, Sydenham, near Wilson's road. It is two acres and a half in extent, and is one of those of our gardens which a visitor will find well worth inspection. Mr. Leigh, who has been about sixteen years gardening in this part of the colony, and been about ten years on his present grounds, has had a long experience in his profession, and has therefore gained an intimate knowledge of the effects of our climate upon various kinds of plants, &c. This knowledge has enabled him to select his stock from kinds and sorts which have been acclimatised here, or which are likely to thrive here. The importance of this is well known to professional gardeners, and has been learnt at considerable cost by many amateurs, who have imported new varieties, or new seeds, from Europe, America, or elsewhere. Mr. Leigh's collection of coniferæ, hardy, and other, is very large and well assorted. Of ornamental trees and shrubs, he has also a considerable stock, while his collection of flowering and herbaceous plants should be seen by anyone wishing to stock a garden or a greenhouse. One specialty of Mr. Leigh's is his collection of camelias, all grafted, of which he has above seventy named specimens; another, is his roses. Hedge plants, edging plants, culinary roots, herbs, grape vines, and fruit bushes; canes and trees are also to be seen in his nursery in considerable variety. At the time of our visit he had a large number of apple-trees, which all had to be delivered in Sydney under a heavy penalty for the loss of even one. We must not omit to notice Mr. Leigh's greenhouses and hot-houses, four in number, 60 feet long by 12 feet wide, the very perfection of useful glass, without a yard of unprofitable space. Indeed, the whole grounds bear evidence of being arranged and worked for use, and not show, in a thoroughly workmanlike manner.

          
Mr. Leigh will at any time be happy to show visitors over his place, which will, as we have said, well repay the trouble.
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Hospital & Other Public Institutions.
        

        

          

            
The Christchurch Hospital
          

          
Is situated at the junction of Oxford Terrace with the Riccarton and Lincoln roads; with a remarkably pleasant look-out over its own well-kept, large gardens and terraces, across a bend of the Avon shaded by weeping-willows, to the public gardens and park beyond. It was in 1862 that the old portion of the building was erected, but since then three large, lofty wards — separate buildings — connected by a wide corridor running in front, have been built; and the establishment now is more than equal to any demands that are likely to be made upon it, in ordinary times, for some years to come. It is intended to erect another building in the part of the grounds adjacent to the Acclimatisation Society's gardens, isolated from all the rest, as a fever ward. The internal arrangements of the Hospital are very good. The dispensary is large, convenient, and very well supplied with all requisites. The kitchen is large, and furnished with a range of great capacity; and, besides this, each ward has a small kitchen attached, fitted with appliances for keeping hot water, &c., that may be frequently required by the patients. In the rear of the buildings are stables, fowl-house, and a most commodious laundry. Water is laid on all over the premises from tanks supplied with artesian water, by means of rams. The Hospital is under the management of a Board, who perform their onerous duties very carefully and efficiently and thoroughly, gratuitously. The medical staff is chosen, from the profession in Christchurch. The Resident Surgeon is Dr. Robinson, who is very highly spoken of by patients for the care and consideration with which he attends to their cases.

        

        

          

            
The Sunnyside Hospital for the Insane
          

          
Is one of those institutions which visitors to Christchurch should inspect. Though capable of improvement, owing to its being in an incomplete state, it is still in many ways all that can be desired; and Christchurch has reason to congratulate itself upon the fact that the Resident Medical Superintendent (Dr. Hacon) is eminently qualified for his position by training, experience, temperament, and an enthusiastic love of the branch, of his profession which he has adopted. The establishment is situated about two miles from Christchurch, on the Lincoln-road. The grounds cover 50 acres, now in use and cultivation. An adjoining section of 100 acres has also been purchased, but 

not handed over to Dr. Hacon yet, owing to a lease under which it was held being still unexpired. The site originally was a bad one, owing to the swampy nature of the ground; but when the system of drainage now being carried out is completed, this defect will in a great degree, if not entirely, be remedied.

          
The wooden portion of the buildings, which the visitor sees on the left on entering the grounds, is the original Asylum, erected by the Provincial Council in 1863. Previous to that year unfortunate patients were confined in the Lyttelton Gaol, where it may be said that their recovery was highly problematical, and their death almost certain. Fortunately there were not many whose confinement was necessary in those early days of the settlement, but that even the few lived to enter the Sunnyside Hospital is due more to the care taken of them by 
Mr. Edward Seager, in charge of the gaol, than to anything else. On the right of the grounds the visitor sees the new portion of the building, containing ten wards—four for females and six for men. They are built of concrete, admirably arranged, lofty, well furnished, cheerful, with a full allowance of space for each patient. The sleeping wards, with their beds and ample supply of the best bedding, all beautifully clean, are well worth inspection. They simply leave nothing to be desired, and testify to the admirable care which Dr. Hacon takes of those under his charge.

          
The old building—the original Hospital—is now a day-room and dormitory for women, and similar accommodation for men; besides dispensary, kitchen, &c., with two fenced yards, in each of which are urinals and two refractory cells. This is the part of the establishment we would gladly see demolished; but till the plans of the new building are completed or, at all events, added to, so as to give accommodation for kitchens, &c., it must still be used.

          
The grounds about the Institution are kept in a very fair state of cultivation, entirely by the labour of patients. The number of patients, including convalescents and others in the Hospital, varies continually. At the time of our visit there were 225 men and 123 women under treatment.

          
We cannot close this account without drawing the attention of our kind-hearted readers to the great charity they would exercise in sending for the use of these unfortunate patients—so greatly afflicted—illustrated papers, prints and lively pictures to decorate the walls of the wards, and flowers. For the Christchurch Hospital the presents of these things are many and liberal, and we are sure that attention has only to be 

drawn to this matter to induce our readers to do all that can be wished for the Sunnyside Hospital for the Insane.

        

        

          

            
Armagh Street Depot.
          

          
This institution is to provide homes for those women and children who have unfortunately to be provided for. It has been in existence somewhere about fifteen years, and is made as comfortable as the building will allow. It is under the control of the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board, and is looked after most efficiently by the Master and Matron, Mr. and Mrs. Wills. Accommodation can be found for about fifty women and children.

        

        

          

            
Old Men's Home.
          

          
This place is situated at Ashburton, and is a home for old men past work, in circumstances distressing enough to call in the aid of charity. It is under the control of the same Board that dispenses gratuitously most of our charities, and answers the purpose as well as the funds at the disposal of the Board will admit. Unfortunately, it is always full; and, indeed, were it much larger, it would not do more than meet requirements.

        

        

          

            
Out-Door Relief.
          

          
Charitable aid of this kind is, we regret to say, necessary in Canterbury, and the Board give it in the shape of rations and rent-paying in all deserving cases brought under its notice. In no case is money given to the applicants. The funds for the purpose are supplied by the General Government.
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Is one of those institutions which visitors to Christchurch should inspect. Though capable of improvement, owing to its being in an incomplete state, it is still in many ways all that can be desired; and Christchurch has reason to congratulate itself upon the fact that the Resident Medical Superintendent (Dr. Hacon) is eminently qualified for his position by training, experience, temperament, and an enthusiastic love of the branch, of his profession which he has adopted. The establishment is situated about two miles from Christchurch, on the Lincoln-road. The grounds cover 50 acres, now in use and cultivation. An adjoining section of 100 acres has also been purchased, but 

not handed over to Dr. Hacon yet, owing to a lease under which it was held being still unexpired. The site originally was a bad one, owing to the swampy nature of the ground; but when the system of drainage now being carried out is completed, this defect will in a great degree, if not entirely, be remedied.

          
The wooden portion of the buildings, which the visitor sees on the left on entering the grounds, is the original Asylum, erected by the Provincial Council in 1863. Previous to that year unfortunate patients were confined in the Lyttelton Gaol, where it may be said that their recovery was highly problematical, and their death almost certain. Fortunately there were not many whose confinement was necessary in those early days of the settlement, but that even the few lived to enter the Sunnyside Hospital is due more to the care taken of them by 
Mr. Edward Seager, in charge of the gaol, than to anything else. On the right of the grounds the visitor sees the new portion of the building, containing ten wards—four for females and six for men. They are built of concrete, admirably arranged, lofty, well furnished, cheerful, with a full allowance of space for each patient. The sleeping wards, with their beds and ample supply of the best bedding, all beautifully clean, are well worth inspection. They simply leave nothing to be desired, and testify to the admirable care which Dr. Hacon takes of those under his charge.

          
The old building—the original Hospital—is now a day-room and dormitory for women, and similar accommodation for men; besides dispensary, kitchen, &c., with two fenced yards, in each of which are urinals and two refractory cells. This is the part of the establishment we would gladly see demolished; but till the plans of the new building are completed or, at all events, added to, so as to give accommodation for kitchens, &c., it must still be used.

          
The grounds about the Institution are kept in a very fair state of cultivation, entirely by the labour of patients. The number of patients, including convalescents and others in the Hospital, varies continually. At the time of our visit there were 225 men and 123 women under treatment.

          
We cannot close this account without drawing the attention of our kind-hearted readers to the great charity they would exercise in sending for the use of these unfortunate patients—so greatly afflicted—illustrated papers, prints and lively pictures to decorate the walls of the wards, and flowers. For the Christchurch Hospital the presents of these things are many and liberal, and we are sure that attention has only to be 

drawn to this matter to induce our readers to do all that can be wished for the Sunnyside Hospital for the Insane.
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Armagh Street Depot.
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Old Men's Home.
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Out-Door Relief.
          

          
Charitable aid of this kind is, we regret to say, necessary in Canterbury, and the Board give it in the shape of rations and rent-paying in all deserving cases brought under its notice. In no case is money given to the applicants. The funds for the purpose are supplied by the General Government.
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Lyttelton.
        

        

          
This town, as our readers are aware, was the spot where the Canterbury settlers landed, and where the first attempts at a settlement were made. Indeed, for many years, although Christchurch, Kaiapoi, and Papanui were slowly growing, it was the principal town of the province. The port, and the centre from which all business was carried on, it was originally intended to make it the Cathedral City, but its circumscribed limits caused settlers to prefer the plains, and Christchurch became the more 

important. Gradually the head offices of merchants were removed to Christchurch, the principal Customs work followed, and the opening of the tunnel, with railway communication, put the finishing stroke to the change. Lyttelton became the port, and the port only. Its business changed in consequence. In 1855, agitation commenced for its formation into a municipality, which shortly afterwards was granted to it. Since then it has managed its own local matters very satisfactorily. The earnest commencement of its present magnificent harbour works was the signal for its revival from the depression which had attended on the removal of nearly all the merchants' business to Christchurch, and since then it has thriven well. It has now 4500 inhabitants, and the valuation of its buildings for rateable purposes is £25,538. The tonnage of the vessels entered inwards in 1884 was 491,590, and of those outwards 474,633. The value of New Zealand produce exported in the twelve months ending June 30, 1884, was £1,541,225, and the revenue collected at the port in the same period was £194,786 1s 5d.

          
The public institutions in Lyttelton are the Harbour Board, the Orphanage, the Sailors' Home, and a casual hospital ward. Descriptions of these we give below:—

        

        

          

            
Harbour Works.
          

          
The history of the Lyttelton Harbour Works may be said to have commenced in 1863. True, there were before then the Government Jetty, an extension of the one 150 feet long originally built by Captain Thomas before the arrival of the first settlers, suitable for moderate vessels in fair weather, and the wharf originally constructed by Tribe, used by lighters and small coasters; but harbour works, in the proper sense of the term, there were none, ships having to lie out in the stream, loading and discharging as best they could by means of lighters.

          
In 1863, the want of shipping accommodation at Lyttelton being felt to be a serious drawback to the province, a commission was appointed by the Provincial Government to enquire into and report—

          


	1st.
	Upon the proper site for the construction of a wharf of a durable character for unloading in all weathers the largest ships then frequenting the port, admitting of easy access to the railway.


	2nd.
	Upon the best means of providing wharfage accommodation sufficient for the immediate traffic of the port, and especially for the steamers then frequenting it.


	3rd.
	To offer any further suggestions which might be thought desirable.


          


          
After meeting almost daily for about two months and taking a mass of evidence, the Commission reported, recommending, chiefly, a breakwater extending from Officers' Point, with quays, and a breastwork connecting it with the railway tunnel. This report was sent home and submitted to Robert Stephenson, who approved of it. The breakwater was commenced by prison labour without any mechanical appliances beyond shovels and wheel-barrows, and for nine years it crept but slowly on, till at length the contract for its construction, at a cost of £150,000, was let to Messrs Hawkins and Martindale, and the work was pushed on vigorously. In 1876, Provincial institutions were abolished, and in 1877 the Lyttelton Harbour Board was called into existence by Act of the General Assembly, when all the further necessary works were entered upon. Since then, £300,000 have been spent on them. They include two breakwaters, extending from Officers' and Naval Points, enclosing a water area of about 109 acres. They are both formed of rubble stone, faced on the outer slopes with huge blocks of stone. The one from Officers' Point is 2010 feet long, with a width of 40 feet on the top and an elevation of six feet above high water spring tides, with a timber breastwork built along its inner face for nearly its entire length. The other is 1400 feet in length. The depth of water inside the breakwaters varies from 19 up to 25 feet at low tides. The inner harbour is still being further deepened by dredging, so that vessels drawing 25 feet may be berthed inside the moles at any time of the tide. Vessels up to 5000 tons can now be safely berthed at some of the wharves.

          
The berthage space within the inner harbour, which is capable of extension, is 10,160 feet, capable of berthing, without double-banking, 20 ocean ships and steamers, 20 barques and brigs, 8 intercolonial steamers, and 30 schooners, &c.

          
A special wharf, with shed accommodation, is being built for ocean steamers. In the meantime, berths are provided at two of the jetties for these steamers, with a depth of 25 feet at low spring tides.

          
Special berthage space is provided for men-of-war. Six or seven can shortly be berthed at the moorings inside the breakwaters, and three at least can be so moored now without in any way interfering with the ordinary shipping of the port.

          
Six sets of Mitchell's patent screw moorings are laid down in the inner harbour, capable of holding vessels up to 2000 tons.

          
The graving dock is capable of docking a first-class ironclad and any of the large ocean steamers now running to these colonies. The s.s. Ruapehu, the latest of the N. Z. Shipping 

Company's fleet, was successfully docked, cleaned, and painted in four days only a short time ago. The dimensions of the dock are as follows:—Length on floor, 450 feet; width on floor, 46 feet; width on top, 82 feet; width of entrance, 62 feet; width where ship's bridge would be, 54 feet; depth on sill at high water, 23 feet. The total cost, including pumping machinery and caisson, was £104,000.

          
The whole of the wharves and jetties have lines of rails laid down on them, and are worked by the railway. Large shed accommodation is provided, including a large grain export shed, 520 feet long. Besides these, there is also ample storage accommodation in Lyttelton, two sheds alone being capable of holding: 11,000 tons of grain.

          
The Board have a powerful steam tug, built for them by Messrs Laird, of Birkenhead, which is constantly on the look-out for vessels requiring her services outside the Heads. The day signals for the tug are, answering pennant over letter N; and night signals, three blue lights burnt in succession. As a watch is always kept at the Heads Pilot Station Look-out, vessels giving these signals can be seen.

        

        

          

            
The Orphanage.
          

          
The Orphanage was commenced many years ago in two little cottages in Montreal-street, Christchurch, on the site of the first printing office occupied by the 
Press newspaper. It was at that time purely a Church of England institution, managed by a committee. The demand upon its resources and accommodation increasing, a building was erected at Addington, the cost being defrayed by private subscriptions, and the proceeds of a monster fancy bazaar at which £700 were realised. To this the children were removed, the maintenance being effected by private subscriptions, supplemented by grants from the Provincial Government, the whole being still under the management of a committee, who handed it over to the Provincial Government. When the Lyttelton Hospital was abandoned the children and staff were removed to that building—where they are still located—and the control was handed over to the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board.

          
The building, which—very pleasantly situated on a hill over-looking the harbour—is one of the prominent features of Lyttelton, is not perhaps the most suitable for the purpose, still it affords most ample and comfortable accommodation for the children. Dormitories, school-room, dining-hall, work-rooms, 

and baths, are large, well ventilated, and well furnished, the walls being tastefully tinted and decorated. The children are well dressed, fed, and cared for, and look thoroughly healthy and happy. They have two large playgrounds covered with tan and provided with poles, swings, &c., for gymnastic exercises. The school is exactly like any other Government school, having the same Standards and visited by the Government Inspector. The children are kept till the age of fourteen, when they are put out to earn their own livelihood. The girls, besides attending school, are thoroughly taught house-work, plain cooking, washing, and even waiting at table, so as to thoroughly fit them for domestic service. The institution is under the management of a superintendent (Mr. Ritchey), who possesses unusually good qualifications for the post, and takes a warm interest in the welfare of the little ones confided to his charge.

        

        

          

            
Lyttelton Sailors' Home.
          

          
The Sailors' Home—a fitting adjunct to a shipping port—is a building in every way suited to its purpose. Since 1865 there has been a "Home" in Lyttelton, and a very prosperous institution it has been; but it was only in March, 1883, that the foundation-stone of the present building, in Norwich. Quay, was laid, and it is only within the past few months that it has been completed and occupied. It is a two-storey brick building, with a lofty, well-lit basement. On the ground floor are a dining-room, 25 feet long, and four other rooms, used for reading, smoking, office, and occasional rooms. On the basement are kitchen, scullery, pantry, store-rooms, and some bedrooms. The top floor is entirely devoted to bedrooms. These are all a good size, well lit and ventilated, well furnished, and with clean, comfortable-looking bedding—quite up to the standard of most hotels, and considerably cleaner, better, and more comfortable than the rooms usually devoted to Jack ashore, either in boarding-houses or hotels. There are three bath-rooms fitted up with hot and cold water, and every convenience. The sitting-rooms are also well furnished, clean, and comfortable, and everywhere in the Home evidence is to be seen that comfort and cleanliness are the ends aimed at. There is accommodation for 32 boarders, and the average number staying has been about 28. The charge is 16s 6d per week, or 2s 6d per day. Three good meals are supplied for this. It is, of course, conducted on temperance principles. The management of the institution is in the hands of a committee consisting of six members of the Lyttelton Harbour Board.
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This town, as our readers are aware, was the spot where the Canterbury settlers landed, and where the first attempts at a settlement were made. Indeed, for many years, although Christchurch, Kaiapoi, and Papanui were slowly growing, it was the principal town of the province. The port, and the centre from which all business was carried on, it was originally intended to make it the Cathedral City, but its circumscribed limits caused settlers to prefer the plains, and Christchurch became the more 

important. Gradually the head offices of merchants were removed to Christchurch, the principal Customs work followed, and the opening of the tunnel, with railway communication, put the finishing stroke to the change. Lyttelton became the port, and the port only. Its business changed in consequence. In 1855, agitation commenced for its formation into a municipality, which shortly afterwards was granted to it. Since then it has managed its own local matters very satisfactorily. The earnest commencement of its present magnificent harbour works was the signal for its revival from the depression which had attended on the removal of nearly all the merchants' business to Christchurch, and since then it has thriven well. It has now 4500 inhabitants, and the valuation of its buildings for rateable purposes is £25,538. The tonnage of the vessels entered inwards in 1884 was 491,590, and of those outwards 474,633. The value of New Zealand produce exported in the twelve months ending June 30, 1884, was £1,541,225, and the revenue collected at the port in the same period was £194,786 1s 5d.

          
The public institutions in Lyttelton are the Harbour Board, the Orphanage, the Sailors' Home, and a casual hospital ward. Descriptions of these we give below:—
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Harbour Works.
          

          
The history of the Lyttelton Harbour Works may be said to have commenced in 1863. True, there were before then the Government Jetty, an extension of the one 150 feet long originally built by Captain Thomas before the arrival of the first settlers, suitable for moderate vessels in fair weather, and the wharf originally constructed by Tribe, used by lighters and small coasters; but harbour works, in the proper sense of the term, there were none, ships having to lie out in the stream, loading and discharging as best they could by means of lighters.

          
In 1863, the want of shipping accommodation at Lyttelton being felt to be a serious drawback to the province, a commission was appointed by the Provincial Government to enquire into and report—

          


	1st.
	Upon the proper site for the construction of a wharf of a durable character for unloading in all weathers the largest ships then frequenting the port, admitting of easy access to the railway.


	2nd.
	Upon the best means of providing wharfage accommodation sufficient for the immediate traffic of the port, and especially for the steamers then frequenting it.


	3rd.
	To offer any further suggestions which might be thought desirable.


          


          
After meeting almost daily for about two months and taking a mass of evidence, the Commission reported, recommending, chiefly, a breakwater extending from Officers' Point, with quays, and a breastwork connecting it with the railway tunnel. This report was sent home and submitted to Robert Stephenson, who approved of it. The breakwater was commenced by prison labour without any mechanical appliances beyond shovels and wheel-barrows, and for nine years it crept but slowly on, till at length the contract for its construction, at a cost of £150,000, was let to Messrs Hawkins and Martindale, and the work was pushed on vigorously. In 1876, Provincial institutions were abolished, and in 1877 the Lyttelton Harbour Board was called into existence by Act of the General Assembly, when all the further necessary works were entered upon. Since then, £300,000 have been spent on them. They include two breakwaters, extending from Officers' and Naval Points, enclosing a water area of about 109 acres. They are both formed of rubble stone, faced on the outer slopes with huge blocks of stone. The one from Officers' Point is 2010 feet long, with a width of 40 feet on the top and an elevation of six feet above high water spring tides, with a timber breastwork built along its inner face for nearly its entire length. The other is 1400 feet in length. The depth of water inside the breakwaters varies from 19 up to 25 feet at low tides. The inner harbour is still being further deepened by dredging, so that vessels drawing 25 feet may be berthed inside the moles at any time of the tide. Vessels up to 5000 tons can now be safely berthed at some of the wharves.

          
The berthage space within the inner harbour, which is capable of extension, is 10,160 feet, capable of berthing, without double-banking, 20 ocean ships and steamers, 20 barques and brigs, 8 intercolonial steamers, and 30 schooners, &c.

          
A special wharf, with shed accommodation, is being built for ocean steamers. In the meantime, berths are provided at two of the jetties for these steamers, with a depth of 25 feet at low spring tides.

          
Special berthage space is provided for men-of-war. Six or seven can shortly be berthed at the moorings inside the breakwaters, and three at least can be so moored now without in any way interfering with the ordinary shipping of the port.

          
Six sets of Mitchell's patent screw moorings are laid down in the inner harbour, capable of holding vessels up to 2000 tons.

          
The graving dock is capable of docking a first-class ironclad and any of the large ocean steamers now running to these colonies. The s.s. Ruapehu, the latest of the N. Z. Shipping 

Company's fleet, was successfully docked, cleaned, and painted in four days only a short time ago. The dimensions of the dock are as follows:—Length on floor, 450 feet; width on floor, 46 feet; width on top, 82 feet; width of entrance, 62 feet; width where ship's bridge would be, 54 feet; depth on sill at high water, 23 feet. The total cost, including pumping machinery and caisson, was £104,000.

          
The whole of the wharves and jetties have lines of rails laid down on them, and are worked by the railway. Large shed accommodation is provided, including a large grain export shed, 520 feet long. Besides these, there is also ample storage accommodation in Lyttelton, two sheds alone being capable of holding: 11,000 tons of grain.

          
The Board have a powerful steam tug, built for them by Messrs Laird, of Birkenhead, which is constantly on the look-out for vessels requiring her services outside the Heads. The day signals for the tug are, answering pennant over letter N; and night signals, three blue lights burnt in succession. As a watch is always kept at the Heads Pilot Station Look-out, vessels giving these signals can be seen.
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The Orphanage.
          

          
The Orphanage was commenced many years ago in two little cottages in Montreal-street, Christchurch, on the site of the first printing office occupied by the 
Press newspaper. It was at that time purely a Church of England institution, managed by a committee. The demand upon its resources and accommodation increasing, a building was erected at Addington, the cost being defrayed by private subscriptions, and the proceeds of a monster fancy bazaar at which £700 were realised. To this the children were removed, the maintenance being effected by private subscriptions, supplemented by grants from the Provincial Government, the whole being still under the management of a committee, who handed it over to the Provincial Government. When the Lyttelton Hospital was abandoned the children and staff were removed to that building—where they are still located—and the control was handed over to the Hospital and Charitable Aid Board.

          
The building, which—very pleasantly situated on a hill over-looking the harbour—is one of the prominent features of Lyttelton, is not perhaps the most suitable for the purpose, still it affords most ample and comfortable accommodation for the children. Dormitories, school-room, dining-hall, work-rooms, 

and baths, are large, well ventilated, and well furnished, the walls being tastefully tinted and decorated. The children are well dressed, fed, and cared for, and look thoroughly healthy and happy. They have two large playgrounds covered with tan and provided with poles, swings, &c., for gymnastic exercises. The school is exactly like any other Government school, having the same Standards and visited by the Government Inspector. The children are kept till the age of fourteen, when they are put out to earn their own livelihood. The girls, besides attending school, are thoroughly taught house-work, plain cooking, washing, and even waiting at table, so as to thoroughly fit them for domestic service. The institution is under the management of a superintendent (Mr. Ritchey), who possesses unusually good qualifications for the post, and takes a warm interest in the welfare of the little ones confided to his charge.
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Lyttelton Sailors' Home.
          

          
The Sailors' Home—a fitting adjunct to a shipping port—is a building in every way suited to its purpose. Since 1865 there has been a "Home" in Lyttelton, and a very prosperous institution it has been; but it was only in March, 1883, that the foundation-stone of the present building, in Norwich. Quay, was laid, and it is only within the past few months that it has been completed and occupied. It is a two-storey brick building, with a lofty, well-lit basement. On the ground floor are a dining-room, 25 feet long, and four other rooms, used for reading, smoking, office, and occasional rooms. On the basement are kitchen, scullery, pantry, store-rooms, and some bedrooms. The top floor is entirely devoted to bedrooms. These are all a good size, well lit and ventilated, well furnished, and with clean, comfortable-looking bedding—quite up to the standard of most hotels, and considerably cleaner, better, and more comfortable than the rooms usually devoted to Jack ashore, either in boarding-houses or hotels. There are three bath-rooms fitted up with hot and cold water, and every convenience. The sitting-rooms are also well furnished, clean, and comfortable, and everywhere in the Home evidence is to be seen that comfort and cleanliness are the ends aimed at. There is accommodation for 32 boarders, and the average number staying has been about 28. The charge is 16s 6d per week, or 2s 6d per day. Three good meals are supplied for this. It is, of course, conducted on temperance principles. The management of the institution is in the hands of a committee consisting of six members of the Lyttelton Harbour Board.
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Some reference to the commerce and manufactures of Christchurch and its neighbourhood we must give, or our Guide would be incomplete. As the settlement has grown, so has the trade in the cities; but for many years manufactures were few and unimportant. Of late, however, a considerable amount of attention has been paid to the fostering of local industries by which the natural resources of the country may be properly utilised. At the same time business companies for the employment of the spare capital of the settlers have been formed, the result being local banks, insurance companies, shipping companies, and agencies of all kinds. Among the manufactures established are—boots and shoes; machinery of all kinds, both agricultural and others; ranges; clothing, woollen goods, tweeds, &c; furniture and upholstery; bricks, tiles, and all kinds of pottery; wagons, carts, carts, carriages, and all kinds of buggies carpets; brooms and brushware; soap and candles; biscuits and confectionery; chemical manures; all kinds of leathers for boot-making, book-binding, and furniture-covering; gold and silver-smith's work; tin-ware; pickles, jams, and sauces; saddlery; ropes and cordage of all sizes; and a host of others, which we need not mention.

          
Our limits will not permit us to give full descriptions of all the commercial and manufacturing establishments flourishing in and about Chistchurch, but we give our readers the following very representative selection:—
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Bank of New Zealand.
          

          
The Bank of New Zealand, whose premises occupy one of the most prominent sites in Christchurch, was the first local Bank established in the colony, and was brought into existence in 1861 to supply a long-felt and rapidly-increasing want, viz., that of a monetary institution, whose directors and shareholders being themselves New Zealand residents, would accordingly adopt a policy calculated to encourage colonial undertakings, and to keep the chief earnings of the institution to increase the wealth of the colony. We think the institution may fairly claim to have come up to the expectations of its founders, and the position it occupies at the present day gives ample evidence of the soundness of the principles on which it has been conducted.

          
From the last balance-sheet published we observe that the capital of the Bank now stands at £1,000,000, and that the reserve fund amounts to £625,000. From the same source, we glean that it has over a hundred offices in this colony, exclusive 

of establishments in the adjoining Colonies of Victoria, New South Wales, South Australia, and Fiji. Their London office is in the centre of the City, and the agents in different parts of the world form a somewhat lengthy list.

          
Among our illustrations we give a view of Bank's premises in Christchurch.

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

The Bank of New South Wales



          

            
The Bank of New South Wales.
          

          
The Bank of New South Wales has its Head Office in Sydney, New South Wales, where it was established in 1817. It has a capital of £1,000,000, and a reserve fund of £560,000, and the last dividend; including bonus, was at the rate of 17½ per cent. It has 134 branches in New South Wales, Queensland, Victoria, South Australia, a Branch in London, at 64, Old Broad street, and also 30 Branches in New Zealand.

          
The Christchurch office, of which we give an illustration, is also the office of the Inspector for New Zealand, and is situated in Hereford street. The Inspector is 
Mr. W. G. Rhind, and the Local Manager, Mr. W. S. Robison.
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The Union Bank of Australia (Limited).
          

          
This Bank, which was established in 1837, was incorporated as a Limited Liability Company in 1880. It has, at the present time, 
Paid-up Capital and 
Reserve Funds amounting to £2,460,000, with 
Reserve Liability of Proprietors, £3,000,000 in addition, being the largest paid-up capital possessed by any Bank doing business in the colonies. It was the first Bank in Christchurch, its opening here having been contemporary with the foundation of the Canterbury province. Handsome stone premises (of which we give an illustration) have been erected in Hereford-street, on the site of the former building, which was destroyed by fire in 1882.

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

The New Zealand Shipping Company (Limited)



          

            
The New Zealand Shipping Company (Limited).
          

          
In no other department of human activity, perhaps, are the improvements which modern science and enterprise have introduced more apparent than in that which our Government Statist describes under the head of "interchange."

          
Not the least important of the great shipping companies to whose intelligent foresight and enterprise this satisfactory 

condition of things is greatly due, is the New Zealand Shipping Company (Limited), which, since its inception in 1872, has played so important a part in the development of the resources of New Zealand. Registered in 1873 with a capital of £100,000, increased in the same year to £250,000, and in 1882 to £1,000,000, the success which, under the able management of Mr Coster, has attended the operations of this company has been something phenomenal, and the list of its fleet of steamers and sailing vessels—in addition to which the company charters largely to meet the requirements of the colonial trade—is of itself sufficient to prove the magnitude of its operations.

          
The company is at the present time carrying out a five years' contract entered into with the New Zealand Government for the conveyance of the mails between England and New Zealand, despatching a steamer each way every four weeks, alternately with the San Francisco service. Closely identified as the success of the frozen meat trade is with the future of the colonies, it need scarcely be said that full provision has been made by the company for the exigencies of this traffic, all their steamers and three of their sailing ships being fitted with refrigerating machinery for the conveyance of fresh meat, while some of the steamers have specially constructed chambers for cheese, butter, &c. Already the steamers have carried and delivered in good condition mutton to the extent of 310,025 carcases, equivalent to 21,701,750lbs., or 9688 tons, and beef to the extent of 765 carcases and pieces, equivalent to 459,000lbs., or 205 tons; and as the demand for New Zealand meat increases in the old country, the colonists may rest satisfied that the New Zealand Shipping Company (Limited) will be prepared to afford every possible facility for the transport of their supplies.

          
The route taken by the New Zealand Company's steamers for the homeward voyage is through Magellan Straits, if the weather is favourable, or 
via 
Cape Horn, which is perhaps the quickest and pleasantest for passengers, who will thus avoid the rough weather usually encountered rounding the Leuwin, and the extreme heat of the Red Sea and 
Suez Canal. We may here mention that the last passage home of the Ruapehu, from Lyttelton to Plymouth, was done in the remarkably quick time of 38 days, the actual steaming time being only 36 days 20 hours; while the last passage out of the Aorangi, from Plymouth to Port Chalmers, occupied only 39 days 22 hours, the actual steaming time being 38 days 19 hours. As a proof of the good management which characterises this service, it may 

be mentioned that up to the present time the company have carried over 9000 passengers 
without a single accident. The dietary arrangements on these steamers are on as liberal a scale as could possibly be desired, an experienced surgeon is always on board, and the rules and regulations administered by the captain are well calculated to promote the health and comfort of all on board. The passenger rates are from 60 to 70 guineas first class, 40 guineas second class, and from 18 to 22 guineas third class. There are connecting steamers from Auckland, Wellington, Nelson, Dunedin, Hokitika, and the other New Zealand ports, and passengers may also book for the through passage at Sydney, Melbourne, and the other Australian ports. The London office of the company is at 138 Leadenhall street.

          
This brief sketch of the rise and progress of. the New Zealand Shipping Company would scarcely be complete did we close it without reference to the career of its able manager, Mr John Coster, the present member for Heathcote in the New Zealand Parliament, Like many another enterprising and energetic colonist, Mr Coster hails from Devonshire, being the son of Dr. J. W. Coster, of Exeter, where he was born in 1838, and whence he emigrated to New South Wales while quite a lad. He was barely of age when the Union Bank sent him to New Zealand, in March, 1859, since which date Mr Coster has taken a leading part in the financial and mercantile progress of New Zealand, and more especially of Canterbury. His talents and energy carried him triumphantly through his arduous labours as manager in Christchurch of the Union Bank of Australia, and subsequently as director of the local fortunes of that powerful association known as the Bank of New Zealand. Mr Coster was still comparatively a young man when he was induced to leave the Bank of New Zealand and join the New Zealand Shipping Company, which he has since managed with such conspicuous ability. Mr Macandrew may, indeed, in a certain sense, be designated the "father" of this splendid direct service with the old country, for he has always ably and energetically advocated such a service in Parliament; but to Mr Coster undoubtedly belongs the honour of having, in. the face of many difficulties and much opposition, even from those who should have seconded his efforts, established and set in working order the grand fleet of fast boats which now connect New Zealand with the mother country and the old world. As the benefits arising from this line of communication become yearly more apparent to the colonists, they will recognise more clearly the debt of gratitude they owe to Mr Coster for the pluck, determination, and ability with which he has conducted the company to its present successful position.
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The Union Steamship Company.
          

          
This essentially New Zealand Company was established in 1875, and it is one of which the colony has every reason to be proud. It possesses a fleet of twenty-seven steamers, ranging from 92 to 1727 tons register, fourteen of them being 1000 tons register and upwards. In their hands is almost the entire coastal service of New Zealand, besides the weekly mail and other services between this colony and Victoria, New South. Wales, Tasmania, and the Fijian Islands. Their vessels are magnificently fitted up, with all the latest improvements, either as regards the comfort of passengers or the speed of their trips; and the commanders are experienced men who have known our coasts for many years.

          
The Company arranges for carrying tourists to all the wonders of New Zealand scenery, including, in the North Island, the Hot Lakes and Geyser districts, and the Pink and White Terraces of Rotomahaua; and in the South Island the Great Cold Lakes and Ice Fields, and 
Mount Cook and its Glaciers. Besides these, during the month of January in each year, special excursions are made to the famous West Coast Sounds; while in July and August special trips are made to the beautiful islands of the South Seas, including Fiji, Samoa, Tonga, and Tahiti.

          
The head offices of the Company are in Dunedin, but they have branches in all the ports of the colony. In Christchurch the offices are in Cashel-street, at the corner of Manchester street, an illustration of which we give. Mr. R. Puflett is the Christchurch agent, and to his business ability, combined with. general courtesy, is due, in no inconsiderable degree, the popularity of the Company in Canterbury.
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New Zealand Insurance Company.
          

          
This Company, whose headquarters are in Auckland, dates from 1859. Amongst its promoters were Sir F. Whitaker, C.M.G., Hon. T. Russell, C.M.G, Hon. James Williamson, M.L.C., and Messrs. Browning, Owen, and Stone, nearly all of whom are still on the Directory. Having every reason to be satisfied with their success, these gentlemen, two years after-wards, founded the Bank of New Zealand, followed by other great financial institutions, which have materially aided in the progress of the colony.

          
The Insurance Company commenced with the modest paid-up capital of £6250; now, the paid-up capital is £200,000, with a Reserve and Reinsurance Fund of £200,000. It has branches and agencies throughout Australasia, and in America, England, Scotland, Africa, India, and China; so it seems to deserve the 

title of "Premier Colonial Company," which it lays claim to.

          
The Canterbury Manager, since 1868, is Mr. David Craig, who was previously chief clerk in the Head Office in Auckland. He is deservedly popular, and his able management has resulted, in the Company securing the largest business in its line in Christchurch. He is also a prominent man in all social and commercial matters in the city.

          
Our illustration gives the Hereford-street view of the Christchurch office. The Building extends back to Cathedral-square, the frontage to which is very handsome.

          

            

[image: ]
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The National Fire and Marine Insurance Company

of New Zealand
          

          
Was established in 1873. The head office is in Dunedin, the general manager being Mr A. Hill Jack, who has held his present post from the commencement. The Canterbury Branch has its offices in the handsome pile of buildings erected by the Grain Agency Company, at the corner of Cashel and High streets, Christchurch. Mr A. Carrick has been the manager from the opening of the branch here, eleven years ago. The capital of the Company is £2,000,000, with a paid-up capital of £98,057 10s, and reserve funds of £191,137 5s. According to the report adopted at the general meeting of the shareholders, held in Dunedin in November last, the receipts for the previous year had been £234,959 3s 4d, and the expenditure for the same period £217,518 12s 1d. An interim dividend of 20 per cent. was declared in March, 1884, and a further dividend of 5 per cent. was declared in November. The Company is purely a New Zealand one, very nearly, if not all, its shares being held by residents in various parts of the colony.
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National Mortgage and Agency Company of New

Zealand (Limited).
          

          
This Company, formed in 1878, has its head office at 37, Lombard street, London, and has offices in various parts of New Zealand, the chief one being in Dunedin. The Christchurch branch is in Cashel street, Mr G. F. Martin being the local manager. The Company has a very strong directory in London, as follows:—Chairman, Mr H. R. Grenfell, 27 Upper Thames street, London; Mr H. R. Brand, M.P., of Temple Dinsley, Hitchin, Herts; Mr W. S. Grahame, Richmond Hill; Hon. Robert Wellesley Grosvenor, Queen's Gate, London; Mr A. D. Macleay, Conservative Club, St. James street, London; Mr John Morrison, Bushmead Priory, St. Neots, Hunts; Mr D. R. Smith, of Messrs Samuel Smith Bros. and Co., bankers, Hull; and Mr Lindsay Eric Smith, 1 Lombard street, London. The trustees are Mr Charles Magniac, M.P., 3 Lombard street, London, and Mr Archibald O. Ewing, M.P., of Ballekinrain, N.B. Its bankers are: In London, Messrs Smith, Payne and Smiths, and the Bank of Scotland; in Scotland, the Bank of Scotland and its branches; and in New Zealand, the National Bank of New Zealand (Limited). The auditors are the well-known firm of Messrs Turquand, Youngs, Weise, Bishop, and Clarke. The capital is £1,000,000, in 100,000 shares of £10 each. From the last report to hand we learn that the previous year's business left a balance of £16,370 17s 9d to dispose of, which yielded a dividend of 10 
per

cent., besides allowing £5000 to be added to the reserve fund, and leaving £1370 17s 9d to be carried forward to the next year. The business of the company is chiefly advancing money on mortgages and making advances on wool and produce consigned to it for sale in the Home markets.
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The New Zealand Trust and Loan Company

(Limited),

          
With its Head Offices in the colony (215, Hereford-street, Christchurch), has branches at Dunedin, Wellington, Nelson, Napier, and Wanganui. Its capital is £1,500,000, with a Reserve Fund of £210,000. The Board of Directors in London are—Sir C. Clifford, Chairman; F. G. Dalgety, Esq., Deputy-Chairman; Hon. Pascoe Glynn, Lionel J. W. Fletcher, Colonel Sir Thomas Gore Brown, and R. A. Brooks, Esq. Its Bankers in New Zealand are the Union Bank of Australia (Limited).— The Christchurch Local Board consists of—
C. C. Bowen, Esq., Inspector and Chairman; J. C. McDowall, Esq., Manager; R. J. S. Harman, Esq., T. W. Maude, Esq., and Hon. E. W. Parker, Local Trustees. Loans are granted by it upon freeholds and freeholds and leaseholds combined. Mr. J. C. McDowall is the Manager.
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Trust and Agency Company of Australasia

(Limited).
          

          
This institution – the premier of the Anglo-Australasian Mortgage Companies—was incorporated in London in 1860, by its founder, Mr. James Hora, General Manager, and now one of its Directors. The operations of this Company extend over the Colonies of Australia, where Messrs. Gibbs, Bright and Co. are the Managing Agents; and in New Zealand, where Mr. Charles Robt. Blakiston, assisted by a Board of Local Trustees, manages its business, in offices leased from Mr. W. H. Wynn-Williams, No. 211, Hereford-street, Christchurch. Extracts from a statement prepared by Mr. Hora, and published in 1883, will show the history and then position of this and kindred institutions. The following figures represent an amount of help to colonial enterprise and industry, the importance of which it is difficult to over-rate. Within the comparatively short time since 1860, a sum equal to £17,777,320 has by their means been placed at the service of these colonies. This is in addition to the £11,120,000 invested in the seven Australian Banks established in England between 1835 and 1872. The seven other Banks doing business in the Australasian colonies are of colonial institution, having their head offices 

and directorates in the colonies, where also their shares are mainly held. There are also several Scottish-Australasian mortgage companies, not quoted on the London Stock Exchange, whose capital and reserve would bring up the total of British capital invested in these undertakings to about £21,000,000. Large as this sum undoubtedly is, it is gratifying to find that its outlay has been eminently profitable; indeed, it would be difficult to point to any form of enterprise which has, on the whole, yielded more satisfactory results, and caused less loss by individual failures, than these Australasian Mortgage Companies. The principles on which they are based are sound, their Directors have, in most cases, been men of position and ability and their affairs have been carefully managed.
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The Permanent Investment and Loan Association

of Canterbury,

          
With a capital of £100,000, was established in January, 1871, for the purpose of making advances on freehold and leasehold properties and investment shares, the sum borrowed being repaid by easy instalments extending over a period of from two to fourteen years, at the option of the borrower. Also to issue investment shares of the ultimate value of £50, the subscription thereon being five shillings per share per month, and to receive money on deposit at current rates of interest, thereby affording a safe investment for small savings. The offices are at 198 Hereford street, and Mr H. R. Webb is the manager. The directors of the association are—the Hon. J. T. Peacock, Messrs W. H. Lane, C. R. Blakiston, L. Harper, C. W. Turner, and J. M. Heywood. The bankers are the Bank of New South Wales, and the Company's solicitors are Messrs Garrick and Co.
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The Canterbury Building Society, Permanent,

          
Was started on 1st January, 1878. The seventh annual balance-sheet shows £30,242 5s lent on mortgage and £22,143 19s 5d to the credit of shareholders. The Society has a strong directorate, comprising Messrs A. Carrick (chairman), W. H. Hargreaves, R. Sutherland, James Goss, F. W. Hales, C. E. Briggs, F. Graham, and C. J. Mountfort. The manager is Mr G. B. Hales. The office is at No. 71, Cathedral Square. This Society is worked upon the modern principles of Building Societies. Its success is testified by the fact that the last sales of the £10 capital shares were at £11, 
ex dividend.
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The Hartley Colliery Company.
          

          
This Company works the mine known as Hart's Pits, near Whitecliffs, in the Malvern Hills. They are working a ten feet 

seam of good brown coal, which is called "Brockfield." This coal is preferred to any other for driving the machinery of the 
Lyttelton Times, of the Drainage Board's pumping works, the Lyttelton Waterworks, the foundries, and other industries.

          
The analysis of the coal is very high, and the supply is practically inexhaustible, so that the Company bids fair to run all foreign coals out of the market. The Government are at present surveying a line over the few chains between the railway terminus at Whitecliffs and the mine.

          
The Company has also a seam of good black coal, which, as well as the "Brockfield," is a very good household coal. This native coal has had considerable difficulty in contending against the fact that people have to be educated as to the right way to use Malvern coal. With narrow fire-bars and no stirring or poking, a good, steady, strong heat can be obtained, more reliable than that from any other coal. The wholesale agent is Mr G. B. Hales, 71 Cathedral Square.
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Messrs. Miles & Co.
          

          
Messrs. Miles & Co., merchants, agents, and auctioneers, Christchurch, are one of the oldest—if not the oldest—firm in Canterbury, having commenced business in Lyttelton in 1857. The firm originally was "Miles, Kington & Co.," a branch of the very old and well-known Bristol house, Miles Bros. & Co. Their first premises in Lyttelton were on Norwich Quay, commonly known then as the Beach, facing the sea between Canterbury and Oxford streets. After a few years they built stores of red stone, near the Union Bank, at the foot of the Bridle-path, on a spot since removed to make room for the railway and the tunnel. About 1859 the firm opened a branch in Christchurch, at the corner of Armagh and Colombo streets; and in 1863, having built their premises, with a frontage of 133 feet in Hereford-street, a view of which we give among our illustrations, the headquarters of their business in this colony were removed to it. These premises include large offices and warehouses, and a wool and land auction room; while in a large three-storey, brick building is the firm's bond and free store. They have also large wool and grain stores at the railway station, with railway sidings running into them at Colombo-street and Waltham-road. They have always held a leading position in Canterbury, embracing a large connection with the sheep-farmers and agriculturists through their houses at Christchurch and Timaru. They are, besides, the local agents for the Royal Fire and Life Insurance Company, and for the Australian and New Zealand Mortgage Company (Limited). An illustration is given of their 
wool-

store at the railway, just prior to one of their season's wool sales. Their firm in London is Miles Brothers & Co., of 79, Gracechurch-street.
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Fletcher, Humpheeys and Co.
          

          
Messrs Fletcher, Humphreys, and Co.'s premises are in Cathedral Square, Christchurch, at the corner or Chancery Lane, and are part of one of the handsomest blocks of stone buildings in the city. They were built by the firm towards the end of last year, and have four floors, with a frontage of 93 feet and a depth of 66 feet. The front is Oamaru stone, and the design —as will be seen from an illustration of the building which we give—is elegant, and yet plain, business-like, and substantial. The front portion of the building is devoted to spacious offices, sample-rooms, and warehouse, while in the rear is their large bonded store. Underneath all is extensive cellarage both for bonded and free goods. The firm are direct importers of wines, spirits, tea, sugar, and general merchandise, besides being sole agents for Denis Mounie and Co.'s cognac brandy, Krug and Co.'s champagne, Henri Nestle's (Bâle, Switzerland) condensed milk, and many other well-known houses; and have a high standing in commercial circles in the colony.
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Messrs. Robert Wilkin & Co.
          

          
Messrs. Robert Wilkin & Co.'s premises are situated in Hereford-street, where they carry on business as general merchants, auctioneers, and estate agents. Their premises are very extensive, covering about an acre of ground. On entering from Hereford-street a visitor finds himself in the original building, where the senior partner of the firm started the business in 1869. On the right is the counting-house, where fifteen or sixteen clerks are seen through the windows, hard at work, and, adjoining, the private rooms of the managers; on the left an auction-room, &c. This building is only one storey, but it is one of the landmarks of Christchurch, being one of the oldest buildings in the place. The warehouse is filled with merchandise of every description, and at once shows the extensive trade carried on by the firm. They keep everything required for working a farm or a station. Here we have cases of wines, spirits, and beer, and, on the other hand, chests of tea, boxes of soap, cases of jam, bags of sugar, &c. In this store the first public sales of wool, sheepskins, hides, &c, held in Canterbury were started. Passing through, we come to a two-storey brick building, the upper floor of which is used as a wool sale room, and is large enough to lot about 800 bales; it is lighted both 

from the side and roof, and is admirably adapted for the use to which it is put. On the ground floor are various machines; one for cutting and punching fencing standards, an oat crusher, a machine for crushing barley, and an oilcake crusher. These are worked by an "Otto" gas engine," and are generally to be seen busily employed. Adjoining this store is a building known as the skin shed, being used for the weekly sales of sheepskins, tallow, hides, &c., and, in the season, for wool. Still another store, of large dimensions, is filled with every kind of agricultural machinery; here are reapers and binders, ploughs, chaff cutters, oat crushers, sowing machines, turnip cutters, hay loaders, and every kind of machine used by farmer or runholder. Crossing a right-of-way from the machinery store, we find our way to a large and magnificent brick building, known as the seed store. The basement and part of the ground floor is used as a bond, and filled with wines, spirits, tea, sugar, and the usual stock of a bonded store; the rest of the building is entirely devoted to seeds of every kind. On the ground floor are large stacks of cotton bags, full of clovers from America, England, Germany, and France. On the first floor is a huge machine for dressing rye grass seed, and another machine for threshing and dressing clover seed. On this floor are large stacks of rye grass and cocksfoot seed, cleaned and ready for sale. Up another flight of stairs, and we are on the top floor, used for the receipt of all parcels of seeds as they come in from the farmer; the machine for cleaning on the floor below being fed from this upper floor. The seed is raised by means of a travelling elevator, worked by the same gas engine which serves to drive the cleaner. As a seed store it is simply perfect, and from the large stock and bustling activity of some half-a-dozen storemen, it is evident that seeds play an important part in the firm's business. Outside this store is a large yard, full of the rougher kind of agricultural implements—as ploughs, harrows, cultivators, rollers, &c. In the centre yard is a galvanized iron building, devoted to the storage of fencing wire, wire netting, hoop iron, and other heavy goods. To anyone connected with farming interests a visit to these stores cannot fail to be of interest. We had almost forgotten to mention that in one of the office rooms we were shown about as complete a library of works on farming as could possibly be got together. These books are all prizes won from Agricultural Societies' shows for exhibits of seeds, machinery, &c., and are faced by a case full of medals, cups, &c, gained in the same manner.
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Messrs. Wood, Sinclair, & Co.
          

          
Messrs. Wood, Sinclair, & Co., millers, and grain and produce merchants, have their mills, of which we give an illustration, at 

Riccarton, their three large.stores, which we also represent, at Addington, and their offices in High-street, Christchurch. The Riccarton mills, of which they are the present proprietors, were established by Mr. W. D. Wood in 1860, and have since been so successfully carried on by him that their brand is known as a leading one, and used not only in Canterbury, but also throughout the whole of the colony. The mills are situated on the River Avon on the Riccarton Estate, in close proximity to the North line of railway; from which line a private siding is laid down to the mill, running over a weighbridge of the most recent description, thus giving great facility for the receiving of grain and the delivery of the manufactured product direct into the railway trucks. The buildings consist of the mills, with storage accommodation for twelve mouths' supply. The mill is worked by a 6ft. 6in, American turbine water-wheel, giving 40 h.p., and driving all the necessary machinery for turning out the flour, for which the name of. "Wood" is so well known. Besides the mills and stores, there are at Riccarton the manager's house and offices, and the miller's cottage. The arrangements for the prevention of fire are worth notice; the turbine pumping water up into large tanks, from which it is laid on all over the premises, so as to be available at a moment's notice. At the present time the mills are capable of an output of 4500 tons per annum, but the firm contemplate supplementing the present system of stones with the roller system, and the erection of new mills, which, when completed, will probably be the largest and most perfect in the colony.

          
At Addington the firm have three large stores alongside the Southern line of railway, with which they are connected by sidings. These stores, of which we give lithographic illustrations, are capable of storing several thousand tons of grain. The offices of the firm, as we have mentioned, are in High-street, Christchurch, and are connected—as are the mills and the Addington stores—with the Telephone Exchange.
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Kaiapoi Woollen Factory.
          

          
The Kaiapoi Woollen Company's works, of which we give an illustration, are situated about ten minutes' walk from the railway station, in the direction of the Maori reserve, on the banks of the Cam—a confluent of. the Waimakariri. The ground is about eleven acres, in the centre of which stands the factory itself. The main building, which has three floors, is 220 feet long and 108 feet wide, giving accommodation for the teasing and carding machines, a designer's loom, small spinning loom, and a large storeroom above. Besides, this, there are three loom or weaving sheds, covering a ground area of about 200 feet 

by 100 feet; the engine-room, milling house (154 feet by 90 feet), dye house, drying house, and finishing room; a two-storey brick store 60 feet by 58 feet, the lower floor of which is used for sorting wool, and the upper for washed wool or stores; the wool-sorters' room, which holds about 300 bales; the sulphuring house; a brick house, in which the gas for illuminating the mill at night is made; carpenters' and smiths' shops, &c. The boiler house contains five 20-feet Cornish boilers, 5 feet in diameter, tested to a pressure of 60 lbs. to the inch. The engine (made by Scott Brothers), is a horizontal compound stationary engine of 60 h.p. nominal. The manufactures of the Company include yarns, blankets, flannels, shirtings (plain and fancy), mauds, merino coat linings, tartans, merino rugs, horse clothing, freize, indigo serge, ladies' dress cloths, tweeds of all kinds, Oxford mixture, and Zulu rugs. The number of hands employed at the Kaiapoi works is 250.

          
Besides these works the Company has spacious warehouses, offices, &c, in Cashel-street, Christchurch (an illustration of which we also give); and at the rear of these, fronting Bedford-row, a large clothing factory, employing several hundred hands, where all sorts of clothing for boys and men are made up.

          
The Company was first formed in 1875, and has steadily progressed, till it has gained its present solid position and extensive trade. It has gained principal prizes and medals at all the industrial exhibitions, both provincial and general, including the New Zealand International and the Melbourne International.
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Atlas Foundry.
          

          
Messrs. Scott Brothers' Atlas engineering and manufacturing works are situated in Manchester-street, Christchurch; and at Dock Side, Lyttelton. They were established in 1870. The firm commenced in a small way at the north end of Christchurch, and removed to their present premises (an illustration of which we give among our engravings) in 1876, They have the largest and most complete plant, and the best-arranged workshops in New Zealand, which are lit up with the electric light. We may here mention in support of this fact that Scott Brothers have secured the first contract for the construction of ten locomotives for the Government of New Zealand. Hitherto these engines have been imported, but the Government, thinking that the manufacture of them was not beyond the resources of our foundries, called for tenders. On this subject the 
Hon. Sir Julius Vogel, K.C.M.G., Colonial Treasurer, in a speech at a banquet given to him in Christchurch a few weeks ago, said:— "I must ask you to join me in hearty congratulations that it was 

a skilful, able, and enterprising firm in Christchurch that succeeded in carrying away this prize (the contract) from all the colony. Gentlemen, I cannot help thinking and. hoping that Messrs. Scott Brothers will find that this is the commencement of a great career. It may be the foundation of one of those princely manufacturing firms like those in America or England, in which thousands of hands are employed. It is a bright beginning, and I hope may have a bright continuation."

          
The visitor, entering the works from Manchester-street, finds himself in a two-storey building, 48 feet by 24 feet, the ground floor of which is devoted to general offices, and the upper, floor to drawing-rooms and the private offices of the firm. Behind this building is the machine and fitting shop, 100 feet long by 50 feet wide, in which are two planing machines, a slotting machine, a shaping machine, a screwing machine, a large radial drilling machine, and four other drilling machines. In this shop also is the dynamo for producing the electricity which supplies light to the works; and a Root's patent blower, for supplying blast to the smithy fires. The motive power for all these is supplied by a 16 h. p. horizontal condensing engine made by Scott Brothers, which runs with extreme regularity, controlled by a governor invented by one of the firm.

          
From this workshop the visitor enters the smithy and boiler shop, 66 feet long by 62 feet wide. Here, in addition to the usual smith's hearths, are a large plate furnace capable of heating a plate 10 feet long by 6 feet wide, an angle iron furnace, and a rivet-heating furnace. In the corner nearest the machine shop is the boiler which supplies steam to the engines, steam hammer, &c. The machinery in this shop includes a large steam hammer, two punching machines, a large set of plate rollers, and an ingeniously constructed machine for flanging boiler plates, invented by a member of the firm, and constructed by them.

          
We next come to a large three-storey building, 96 feet long by 36 feet wide. The ground floor of this is devoted to fitting-up the kitchen ranges, in which Messrs Scott Brothers do such a large trade, and light ornamental castings. The shop is fitted up with a very complete plant for grinding and polishing, and a number of small drilling machines. In one corner of this shop is the Berlin blacking stove, in which the best class of work is heated when blacked. This hardens the black, and gives it the beautiful polish which this class of work always has. In another corner is a large Root's blower for supplying blast for the foundry cupolas. The motive power here is an 8 h. p. vertical engine. The second floor of this building is devoted partly to the pattern shop and partly to a show-room for ornamental architectural ironwork. The pattern shop is 50 feet by 36 feet, and is fitted 

up with all necessary requisites and machinery, including a circular saw, a band saw, a planing machine, and a strong lathe. The show-room is 46 feet by 30 feet, and in this are displayed examples of ornamental castings in great profusion. On the third floor is carried on one of the most interesting branches of Messrs Scott Brothers' work, namely nickel plating. The space at our command precludes our giving a description of this work. The nickle baths are of various sizes, the largest being 6 feet x 2 feet x 2 feet, so that articles of any size or description may be plated.

          
Adjoining the building last mentioned is the foundry, 66 feet long by 60 feet wide, supplied with two cupolas. In this shop, castiugs of all sizes and of every description are made in iron and brass. Another building is devoted to the manufacture of malleable castings.

          
Messrs Scott Brothers are just erecting works on a site adjoining the graving dock in Lyttelton, specially adapted for large ocean steamer work; and have also commenced numerous additions to their Manchester street plant, specially adapted to locomotive work. They are also commencing the manufacture of steel castings.

          
The Manchester street premises cover over one acre of ground, and in them Messrs Scott Brothers employ 150 hands. The tall chimney of their works, 80 feet high, is the tallest in Christchurch.
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Messrs. Lucas & Sons.
          

          
Messrs Lucas and Sons, engineers, Kilmore-street, Christchurch, arrived here about five years ago from Birmingham, where, for ten years, Mr Lucas, sen., had been in business on his own account at the Columbian Works, Oldbury. Previous to that he was for some years manager at the Swan Foundry, Oldbury, in which over sixty hands were employed. At the Columbian Works he designed and made the "Special" engine for use in the Colonies, which was very favourably received both in New Zealand and Australia, several of them being in use at the present, time in Christchurch and other parts of this colony. Their works are in Kilmore-street, near Colombo bridge, in brick premises recently erected by them. They turn out some of the finer kinds of machinery, and have established a reputation for themselves among manufacturers and companies throughout the district. The firm are engineers in the full sense of the word, and both design and carry out their own work, besides giving designs and estimates for all kinds of machinery. Among the works which they have turned out are special machinery for ornamental brick, tiles, and drain pipe 
manufac-

turing for Messrs Ford and Ogden, and others in Canterbury; engine, boiler, and punching gear for the Christchurch Barbed Wire Manufactory, and the winding gear for the Hartley Colliery Company. They fitted up the Waireka Dairy Factory at Weston, near Oamaru, on the Ngapara branch railway, with a three h.p. vertical engine, and six h.p. boiler, and made the engines and machinery for the steam launch running on the Avon. They have recently made considerable inprovements in wool-washing machinery and appliances connected therewith, which have been in use at the works of Messrs Bowron Bros., Thomas York, and Jabez Rhodes, giving every satisfaction. They have also fitted up the new machinery and gas engines in nearly all the principal printing offices of Christchurch: their work at the "Lyttelton Times" new offices having been very large, the machinery having been entirely re-arranged, and several considerable additions made. As to the complete and workman-like manner in which all this was done reference is kindly permitted to the proprietors of the "Lyttelton Times."

          
"Within the past few months Mr Alfred H. Hart, well known, as a horticultural builder and hot-water engineer, till recently carrying on business in Hazeldean-road, Sydenham, has joined Messrs Lucas and Sons, and, in consequence, Mr Hart's specialty has been added to their business. Conservatories, greenhouses, vineries, forcing houses, and ferneries are, therefore, now here designed and constructed. Hot-water apparatus for heating horticultural structures, schools, offices, warehouses, public buildings, &c, is also a matter to which Mr Hart has given special attention. In both of these lines he has executed work in and near Christchurch to which he can point with satisfaction, and as to which reference can be made with confidence. Mention of one large work—the hot-water apparatus for warming the "Lyttelton Times" Company's new premises in Gloucester-street, Christchurch—designed and executed by him, is sufficient to convince our readers of the capabilities of Mr Hart, and his ability as an engineer. This appliance includes a patent "climax" boiler of wrought welded iron, capable of heating 2250 ft. of 4 in. piping. The total length fitted up is 2020 ft. (exclusive of bends and connections) namely: 1170 ft. of 4 inch, 750 ft. of three-inch, and 100 ft. of two-inch, the whole being equivalent to a heating surface of 1720 superficial feet. The cistern contains about 900 gallons of water; and one usual fertile source of expense in hot-water apparatus, namely breakages, has been reduced to a minimum by the patent expansion joints used throughout the building. The piping is so arranged as to form six distinct services. This large work, the largest carried out in New Zealand, has been 

completed by Mr Hart, and is a standing testimony to his success as a hot-water engineer. In smaller works he is equally successful, and has done much in fixing kitchen ranges, and making complete apparatus for supplying baths, &c., with hot and cold water. To those who have work in this line which they wish done, Messrs Lucas and Sons are now able to supply designs and estimates, and, if required, can furnish numerous references to work erected in and near Christchurch.

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

The Carlyle Implement Works



          

            
The Carlyle Implement Works.
          

          
In June, 1883, Messrs Booth, Macdonald, and Co. (Geo. T. Booth, William Ross, and R. M. Macdonald) took over the large implement manufacturing works, erected in 1882 by Messrs Geo. Booth and Sons, under the above name.

          
The establishment shows a wonderful degree of finish and completeness for such a young concern, and speaks volumes for the painstaking care and enterprise of the proprietors.

          
Since the beginning of the year 1883, they have turned out over 260 sets of disc harrows, which is one of the leading lines of the establishment, besides a very large number of drays, grass-seed strippers, ploughs, cultivators, windmills, broad-cast seed sowers, rollers, hand and horse-power threshing machines, reapers and mowers, and other agricultural implements too numerous to particularise. They have also turned their attention to heavier work, and have, among other things, made several sets of European flax scutching machinery for the Linseed Oil and Fibre Companies of Christchurch and other places.

          
Recently they found their capacity too limited for the number of orders that came in, and had to more than double the producing power of the foundry department. At the time this was written, about two tons of metal were being melted every day.

          
The buildings stand on a section containing 1½ acres of land In Carlyle-street, Sydenham, immediately facing the Christchurch Railway Station yard, and the dimensions are as follows:—Main building, 110 feet by 80 feet, divided into fitters', blacksmiths', wheelwrights', and painters' shops. At the back of this building stand the boiler house and tyre furnace, and such portions of the working plant as can be left uncovered. The foundry building measures 120 feet by 30 feet, with a wing, destined for a malleable foundry, 40 feet by 20 feet. At one end of this building is the pattern makers' department, and a tin and sheet-iron making shop; at the other end, the store for parts and small goods. The office stands detached at the entrance to the premises. At the rear of the buildings are the iron rack and 

timber stacks. The firm are about to build sheds for keeping timber and appliances for seasoning the same.

          
The shops are supplied throughout with the latest and best machinery for carrying on the business, including steam hammers, punching and shearing machines, lathes, drilling machines, screwing machines, slotting machines, shaping machines, &c., in the smiths' and fitters' shops, and in the wheelwrights' or wood working department, machinery for planing, shaping, champering, mortising, boring, wheel making, spoke turning, band and circular sawing, &c.

          
In October, 1883, 85 hands were employed, but the firm anticipated having to increase the staff considerably to meet the demands on their resources for the coming season. Of the above number, twenty-three are employed in the foundry department.

          
The depôt and sale-room for finished goods is at the premises of Messrs. Geo. Booth and Sons in Tuam street, Christchurch, which occupy an acre of land, the buildings comprising several large stores, a commodious store-room (two storey), and the main offices.

          
So far, the firm have found a ready sale for all they have been able to manufacture, and the Carlyle implements are rapidly taking a leading place throughout the colony. They hold several patents for improvements in farm implements, such as disc harrows, ploughs, &c. An attractive and fully illustrated catalogue is issued, and supplied free on application.
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Messrs Andrews and Beaven,

          
Whose chaff-cutters are well known from Auckland to Invercargill, wherever large quantities of well-prepared feed is required, commenced business in 1878. Their works are situated on the South Belt, directly opposite the Lyttelton platform of the Christchurch Railway Station, and are one of the first manufactories of our city to meet the eye of the new arrival.

          
The main shop occupies 55 feet frontage on the Belt, and consists of a lofty main building, with lower additions on each side. The centre is used for erecting the various machines, and here chaff-cutters of all sizes, from the hand power machine, cutting a few bags per hour, up to the grand Australasian, capable of pressing two tons per hour of fine cut chaff into bags, are to be found in all stages of manufacture. A travelling crane commands every part of this portion of the works.

          
One side building is devoted to iron, and here are to be found all those tools which so deftly and, apparently easily, perform those operations which enable iron to be treated as if it were 

wood. Lathes of various sizes, radial and other drilling machines, a screwing machine, emery grinder, &c., tools that are found in every well regulated engineer's establishment, are here noticed, and, in addition, special tools designed by the proprietors for their special class of work. An American slotting machine and a larger lathe have also been started. The fitters' benches are also placed here, so that all the iron work is delivered into the centre of the main shop just ready to be placed in position on the frames, which are made in the opposite side building, which is devoted to the carpenters' and wood work generally.

          
At the present end of the main building are the stores, where the hundred and one items required in a manufacturer's business are kept in stock; here are stacks of chaff knives, casks of bolts and nuts, paints, oils, and varnishes of every description. The smiths' and paint shops are at the bottom of the yard, the remainder of which is pretty well filled with stacks of timber in process of seasoning. Andrews and Beaven do not do their own founding, but adopt the system of the New Zealand Railways, and obtain their castings by contract from a foundry in the city. In a yard fronting on the Belt alongside the works are specimens of the only implement this firm, who originally started as importers, now obtain from England. This is the Anglo-American drill, the amount of manual labour in these implements prohibiting their manufacture in the colony.

          

            

[image: ]
          

          
In chaff-cutters, this firm has originated and fully worked out a complete revolution in this class or machinery. They have succeeded in making a portable machine that will not only cut, but also clean and press into bags nearly double the weight that can be put in by manual labour, doing this at the rate of two tons. 

per hour. But whilst manufacturing these large machines for squatters, large proprietors, and those who make a business of chaff-cutting, they have not forgotten the farmer, who can find nine different sizes, each size capable of being fitted with labour-saving appliances to suit each purchaser's individual requirements.

          
In. addition to their chaff-cutters, this firm turn out every year a large number of horse gears of various descriptions, in six different sizes, and their patent automatic and self-regulating corn crusher is attracting considerable attention. To these three machines and straw elevators the whole attention of the firm is directed.
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Mr. T. Crompton's Ironworks.
          

          
It has not yet been ascertained whether the average Canterbury householder regards his cooking range with that veneration which the American is said to feel for his stove, and the force of which Oscar Wilde discovered when he ventured to find fault with that hallowed article. It is, however, tolerably certain that in whatever light he may regard the Kitchener, the inhabitant of the Canterbury Plains deems that his home is incomplete without one. Therefore it is not to be wondered at that the manufacture of these appliances already occupies a prominent position among our local industries, and that the makers thereof have attained a very creditable degree of skill in their work. At the New Zealand International Exhibition of 1882 the ranges shown by Christchurch exhibitors bore off the highest honours, though they were in competition with those made by the best known manufacturers of the Old Country. For adaptability to their purposes, utility, workmanship, and finish, the colonial productions were unsurpassed. These qualities were well illustrated by the Kitchener made by Mr T. Crompton, of the Crown Ironworks, Armagh-street, who makes these useful articles a specialty. The growth of this branch of local industry is exemplified by the progress made by Mr Crompton's business since its commencement, some fourteen years ago. That commencement was a small one. In a little cottage, opposite the residence of Dr Deamer, Mr Crompton began to manufacture the then popular colonial ovens, His "staff" consisted of one boy. He prospered, and in about a couple of years' time removed to a larger building, opposite his present establishment, and still used by him for storage purposes. The continued increase of his business necessitated the erection of the premises he now occupies, which have been from time to time enlarged and added to, in order to keep pace with the growth of the trade. The latest additions have only recently been finished, and the 

proprietor now boasts that he has got an establishment and appliances second to none in the colonies for turning out the particular class of work in which he excels.

          
The main building of the Crown Iron Works—for so has Mr Crompton named his place of business—is constructed of corrugated iron, and is about 165 feet in length by 45 feet wide. Several outbuildings for various purposes are erected at the sides and rear. In this line of industry employment is found for some sixty hands, a large proportion being lads. Their principal occupation, is, of course, the making of cooking ranges, but other branches of the ironworker's trade are also followed. The Kitcheners, however, form the staple product of the establishment, and it is to these that we shall chiefly direct our readers' attention. The first step in their manufacture is, of course, the casting of the various parts of which they are composed. This is performed in a building, 45 feet by 40 feet, situated at the rear of the main workshops. Here the moulds for the doors, lids, top-plates, and other portions requiring to be cast, are made, and the shop is furnished with all the necessary patterns and other appliances required for the work. Among these are the comparatively new mould-plates, by the use of which better castings can be obtained than can be got by using the old description of patterns, and with less trouble. The turnace, with a blast created by one of Shields' 3 feet fans, stands on the north side of the moulding shop. Beside the furnace is a 400 gallon tank, kept constantly full of water, the utility of which was proved a day or two ago, when a fire in the moulding shop, which might have destroyed the whole establishment, was quickly got under by its means. About a dozen men and boys are constauly employed in the moulding shop. When the rough castings leave their hands, they are taken to the main shop to be "dressed." The principal part of this operation is performed by means of emery wheels, driven at a high speed by steam power, which remove the jagged edges and roughness with wonderful rapidity and ease. Those portions which the emery wheels cannot get at, like the interior of rings, are polished in the ordinary manner by hand. A large grindstone, also driven by steam is used to prepare those parts of the range which are to be polished, and the polishing itself is accomplished by what are styled "buffed" wheels—that is, wheels covered with leather dressed with emery powder. The doors, lids, &c., are now ready for the fitting shop, situated in the front portion of the premises, where the ranges are put together. It may be noted that every part of Mr Crompton's ranges is made in his establishment, excepting only the brass taps of the boilers, and the steel knobs used for handles. After being fitted together, the Kitcheners are painted with Brunswick black, finally "touched up," and are ready for sale.

          


          
To even mention the numerous appliances Mr Crompton possesses for assisting in carrying out the various details of his trade would require more space than is available for this work. Attention may be called, however, to one or two of the principal features of the main workshop. At the lower end are situated no less than six forges, where such articles as hinges, hoops, and horseshoes are made. The fires in these forges are blown by means of a Shields' fan, of course of smaller dimensions than that used for the large blast furnace. Another feature decidedly worthy of notice is the hydraulic stamper, which, by means of dies of different patterns, turns out bottoms for boilers and cisterns, as well as other articles. The pressure exerted by this powerful machine is about 25 tons. Hard by are the unpretending appliances used in a not unimportant branch of Mr Compton's business, the manufacture of leaden "washers" for use in nailing corrugated iron. These washers are made of the lead employed in the lining of tea chests, which is melted in a large "pot," run into sheets, about nine inches long and six wide, and rolled to the required thickness. The washers are stamped by a small machine, which cuts out eight at each blow.

          
One of the most important objects in the workshop is a machine employed for bending the strips of iron required for the manufacture of roof ridging. It can also be used for corrugating sheet iron, and large quantities of iron so prepared, and coated with hematite paint, are turned out of the establishment to be used for roofing purposes, for which it is well adapted, being cheaper than the galvanised corrugated iron, and nearly as durable. Other mechanical appliances there are, "too numerous to mention"—punches, cutters, drills, and everything needed to accelerate and assist the labour of the human workers. The whole of the machinery in the shop is driven by a horizontal engine of six horse-power, with eight inch cylinder. This is supplied with steam from a ten horse-power tubular boiler.

          
In the showroom, which occupies part of the front portion of the building, are numerous specimens of the work produced in the establishment. The ranges form the principal part of the display, of course; and perhaps the most noteworthy object in the collection is a large Kitchener of admirable workmanship and finish, and with the back and mantel covered with white printed tiles. Besides the ranges, there are garden seats with ornamental iron arms and feet, light and handy iron wheelbarrows, chimney cowls, and piping of galvanised iron, and, lastly, some well made and neatly bronzed ornamental castings.

          
In order to give some idea of the progress made by Mr Crornpton since his commencement in business fourteen years 

ago, it may be mentioned that he estimates that he has turned out several thousand colonial ovens—his original manufacture— for which there is still a considerable demand in some of the country districts. Ranges, however, are coming more into favour, and upwards of 600 of these have left the Crown Iron Works. During one year there were used in the workshops upwards of 100 tons of sheet and plate iron, another 100 tons of galvanised iron, and a similar quantity of pig iron. The proprietor is continually adding to the extent of the works, and enlarging the scope of his operations; and altogether the establishment affords a very good illustration of the local industries of Canterbury—a small beginning, succeeded by progress at first gradual, then rapid, and which has not by any means reached its limit yet.
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Messrs. J. And T. Danks'
          

          
Manufactory, covering a quarter of an acre, fronting Lichfield-street, Christchurch, is one of the business premises in the city well worth description in our guide. It is a branch of the old-established, well-known Melbourne firm, and was opened in 1879; originally the partners came from Birmingham, where they had a manufactory for several years. They make all kinds of brass and iron work for steam, hot water, gas, and water works generally, and their exhibits of all kinds, from ornamental gasoliers to baths, and small beautifully finished brass fittings of every description, in the last Industrial Exhibition held in Christchurch, attracted considerable attention, and evoked much praise. The frontage to Lichfield-street is a handsome, solid three-storey brick building. The ground floor is devoted, in the front, to show rooms, warehouse, and offices; and in the rear to the workshops. In the show rooms are pumps, rams, force-pumps, and such articles, all manufactured on the premises; brass fittings of all kinds, gasoliers in brass aud bronze, artistic in design, elegant and well finished; and a host of articles appertaining to the works which Messrs Danks make their specialty, the mere names of which would fill a catalogue. The floor above is used as a storage room for various kinds of fittings, while the third is devoted mainly to glass globes, of which there is an immense stock. The difficulty of describing all that is to be seen will be easily understood when we say that over 1000 compartments are required to store the various articles used in the trade.

          
In the rear of the warehouse is a most interesting room—the only one we believe of the kind in Christchurch—namely, the photometer room, for testing the quality of gas, 
i.e., its candle power, and also the quantity consumed per hour by any burner. 

Several testa were made in our presence, and we thus saw that an ordinary No. 6 fish-tail burner consumed 7½ feet of gas per hour, and gave a light equal to 7¼ candle power; while Danks' Patent Economiser consumed only 4½ feet of gas per hour, though giving at the same time a light equal to that of 10½ candles. The tests, as to the lighting power, are made by a very simple instrument. There is a bar on which divisions from 1 to 20 are marked; at one end of this a lighted candle (the beat sperm) is placed, and at the other a gas burner is fixed and lit. Sliding on the bar is a box with paper discs, which show the strength of the shadow thrown by the lights at each end of the bar. This box is shifted away from one light and towards the other, till the shadows thrown from them are equal, an index point registering on the bar the number. If the lights, should be of equal power the box would be in the centre of the bar, at the point when the shadows thrown would be equal, but according as one light is weaker than the other, so must the box be moved to that side to get equal shadows.

          
In the workshops, where twenty-fire hands are employed, there is one lathe with an 18ft. bench, nine other lathes, large and small drilling machines, shaping and polishing apparatus, a band saw, and all the usual appurtenances of an engineer's shop. We noticed the boiler was covered with a thick coating of paper, which had been reduced to a pulp before being laid on. This contrivance, by retaining the heat, saves at least one-fourth the fuel.

          
The casting sheds, for making brass and iron castings, are spacious, and fitted up with furnaces and all appliances for the work. The sand is easily procured. When a fresh supply is required the men dig some out of the floor of the sheds. This, when finely sifted, answers the purpose admirably.

          
In the iron sheds are pipes of all sizes, and the patent rolled shafting, which Messrs J. and T. Danks were the first to introduce into New Zealand.
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Mr. R. Buchanan's City Foundry.
          

          
This foundry, situated in St. Asaph-street, between Colombo and Manchester-streets, was established in 1878. Mr. Buchanan's speciality is ornamental castings for the trade for builders purposes. The works cover nearly half an acre. Fronting the street there is the show-room and offices. The visitor would first enter the moulding shop, 100 feet long by 30 feet wide. Here there are employed ten journeymen and five or six apprentices, and they will been seen making the moulds for various kinds of work, from a large pillar for a building down. 

to a small ornamental bracket for a verandah, Mr. Buchanan laying himself out to do almost everything that comes in the way of an ironfounder. In this shop there is an overhead travelling crane capable of lifting five tons. The motive power is supplied by a ten - horse horizontal steam engine, with a vertical tube boiler. The blast for supplying the cupolas (of which there are two) for melting the iron is obtained from two of Root's patent blowers. The "fettling" shop, where the castings are cleaned and trimmed up, enters out of this. Here there is an emery wheel in motion which saves great labour in filing; and also a drilling machine and all the ordinary appliances of an ironfounder. Altogether Mr Buchanan employs twentytwo hands, and turns out, on an average, 250 tons of castings per annum.
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Messrs. Mercer and Duckmanton,

          
Coppersmiths, have their works at 315, Tuam-street, Christchurch, covering a quarter of an acre section. The only coppersmiths in the district, they commenced business here in 1883, having come from Dunedin, where they both had been apprenticed to the well-known firm of Messrs. A. and T. Burt, and had afterwards worked both in their workshops and in that of Messrs. Anderson and Morrison. They manufacture copper boilers, cooking utensils, and all kinds of marine copper-work. When we visited their works, they were just completing some copper steam jacketted jam pans, made extra heavy to stand a pressure of 60 lbs. to the inch, for the Akaroa Jam Factory. Their works are fitted up with lathes — one with a nine-inch centre,—forges, with American hand and ordinary bellows, punching machines, portable furnaces, a travelling crane, and all the appliances of a blacksmith's shop. All kinds of baths are made on the premises, especially plate zinc baths. The firm work principally for the trade, and, being the only coppersmiths in Christchurch, have met with a very encouraging amount of support.
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Messrs. Mason, Struthers & Co.
          

          
This firm commenced business in Christchurch in. 1874 in premises known as Pratt's Buildings, in Colombo-street. After a short time they built their present warehouse, a three storey brick building, at the corner of Colombo and Lichfield-streets; and, subsequently, their brick warehouse (two storeys and a basement), No. 66, Lichfield-street. Besides these two establishments the firm also have large premises in St. Asaph-street, where they show the Deering's reaper and binder, they being 

the agents for Wm. Deering, of Chicago. In pushing this well-known agricultural machine the firm have been eminently successful. In the first year of their agency they obtained for it five gold medals at various Agricultural Societies' meetings, and at trials where it was exhibited. As a proof of the estimation in which it is held by farmers, we may mention that there are over 700 of them at work in New Zealand.

          
The Colombo-street premises are devoted to hardware, plated goods, &c., from England, America, and the Continent. On the ground floor are the offices for clerks and for the members of the firm; and a large room fitted with counters and show cases, where are displayed a varied and large assortment of ironmongery, electro-plated ware, cutlery, lampware, carpenters' brass and iron fittings, and all the numberless sundries of the trade. Upstairs we find a large show room for larger articles, and a packing room where the wholesale orders are got ready for despatch. In the top floor of this building are stored all kinds of lighter ironmongery in wholesale quantities. Returning to the ground floor we come to the sheds where the wholesale stocks of bar and sheet iron, sheet lead, &c., are stored; and passing through the yard, where is more iron stacked in racks, we come to a shed 30 feet by 60 feet, filled with all kinds of American implements, in which the. firm do a large wholesale trade. There is also a fitters' shop, where are to be seen at work men busy making horse collars for gig, coach, cart and buggy harness.

          
The Lichfield-street establishment is next worth inspection. The basement of this is well stored with wholesale packages of hardware goods, heavy ironware, glass, oils, paints, &c. Upstairs is a large show room devoted to grates, ranges, marble mantelpieces, mangles, &c., in great variety of pattern and cost. On the floor above we come to the saddlery manufactory and show rooms. This industry, which Messrs. Mason, Struthers & Co. are the only ones to follow in Christchurch, forms a very considerable portion of the firm's business. Their dealings in it are entirely wholesale, their customers being the retail shopkeepers throughout the colony. So far as possible all the materials used are of colonial manufacture, so that the firm may be congratulated on having successfully started a valuable local industry. A glance through the show room will convince any expert of the excellence of the articles manufactured, and their superiority to the bulk of the imported articles with which they have to compete. We should mention that in their several establishments Messrs. Mason, Struthers & Co. employ over fifty hands.
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The Birmingham and Sheffield Warehouse.
          

          
The above wholesale and retail hardware business (123 Colombo street, Christchurch) was commenced by the present proprietor, Mr. Edward Reece, twenty-nine years ago, on the site adjoining the building here illustrated, and was the first ironmongery establishment in the city.

          
Before describing the class of business transacted, the building itself is worthy of more than passing notice. The front elevation of three storeys is exceedingly handsome and substantial in appearance, being of pointed brickwork, with white and blue stone facings. The walls are exceptionally thick, and from the. commodious cellar to the top storey the whole has a well-finished and strong appearance.

          
The class of trade aimed at in this establishment is that of supplying articles of the highest quality, and this may be readily observed by even a hurried examination of the immense stock, a few of the leading lines of which are here given.

          
Silver-plated ware in every conceivable design and to suit any taste; cutlery, both table and pocket, of leading and responsible makers; marble mantelpieces of eight different colours, and nearly equal in price to those of slate manufacture, marble hearths aud kerbs of elegant designs; register grates of latest styles and at all prices; fenders and fireirons of iron and brass, in Queen Anne and other fashionable patterns.

          
Gas fittings are a specialty, and the selection is well worthy the attention of purchasers, being large and choice. Here also are displayed numbers of cooking ranges, both of colonial and imported manufacture. Also, furnishing and general hardware, iron and metals, &c., in such variety that to describe them is beyond the space at our disposal. The following special agencies, however, are worthy of brief notice:—The Coventry Machinists Company's bicycles and tricycles, which are acknowledged at Home to be the finest machines made, and of which large numbers are already in use here. The "Champion," a high class reaper and twine binder of first-rate workmanship, having a new sheaf carrier patented in New Zealand, and many other novel and valuable improvements, which will prove a boon to our farmers.

          
San Francisco rubber paint is fast becoming used here where first-class work is desired, as the rubber, in conjunction with the best of lead and oil, makes a finish hitherto unattainable, and the paint being mixed ready for use in handy cans is very convenient.

          
Harland's varnishes are too well known to require comment at our hands. Simplex fret-sawing machines, which attracted 

so much attention at the recent Exhibition, are an ingenious colonial invention, which must find their way into every home.

          
In conclusion, we are empowered to say that any visitors to Christchurch, or others wishing to inspect the above premises (not necessarily to purchase), will be courteously received.
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Messrs King Brothers'

          
Firm in Christchurch is one of the best known in its line in the city. Established ten years ago, they have two establishments— a two-storey retail one at 114 Cashel street, the principal business part of the town, with a frontage of 28 feet, by a depth of 95 feet; and a wholesale store, also two storeys, at 202 Lichfield street—a substantial brick building, 120 feet by 66 feet. They are ironmongers and general importers, and their very large and varied stock well repays inspection. Those persons engaged in house furnishing will do well to inspect their holloware, tinware, cutlery, lamps, japanned goods, brushware, galvanised iron tubs and buckets, and all the hundred and one kinds of household articles required for every room in a bouse from the kitchen to the attic, and also for the garden, stable, and sheds, including the whole range from the dandy brush and bucket to the most 
recherché marble, steel, gilt, brass, and glass requirements for warming and lighting the most elaborate drawing-room. In silver and plated ware there is also a choice stock to select from, either for presents or household use, tempting bijou nick-nacks or plain substantial necessaries. The curious can turn from these to a really choice collection of coffin furniture, which, however, mostly finds admirers "in the trade" rather than among the general public. Coach makers' ironmongery and sundries are also among the principal lines dealt in by this firm, including axles, springs, carriage lamps, bolts and nuts, hinges, shafts of lancewood, hickory, and ash, and a whole host of 
et ceteras too numerous to catalogue. Builders' ironmongery and brass foundry is another specialty, and it includes locks, bolts, hinges, sash-pullies and fasteners, bolts and nuts, screws, nails, and an immense assortment of articles, the use of which it would puzzle anyone but a builder to discern. The sportsman also will find objects of interest in the stock, for the assortment of guns—muzzle loading, breach loading, central fire, and other —is sufficient to enable the moat exacting to please himself. Gun implements and materials are in hand, gunpowder, shot, percussion caps, waddings, cartridges, cartridge cases, machines for filling cartridges, and all the sundry odds and ends indispensable adjuncts to sporting materials. Air guns in considerable variety are to be seen, and if the wholesale purchaser 

should happen to want anything not in stock, the firm executes indents on most favourable terms, their connection in the American, English and Continental markets being extensive.
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Messrs. Toomer Bros. & Co's. Boot Factor
          

          
The premises of this firm, of which we give an illustration, are situated at 122 Lichfield-street, near High-street. They have a frontage of 66 feet, with a depth, through to Bedford Row, of 132 feet. The building is a three storey brick one, and was erected in 1877. Previously to then the firm, which commenced business in 1869, occupied the premises now used by Messrs. Bing, Harris & Co., in the same street. Entering by the front door we see the offices on the left, on the right is a large show-room, 31 feet by 40 feet, where the stock is kept. On the ground floor are also other store rooms, and the packing room. The first floor is one large room, 66 feet by 40 feet, with a partition six feet high running across it. One portion of this floor is occupied by "clickers," and the other portion by females, whose work consists of sewing, by machines, the "uppers" of the boots and shoes together. The top floor is devoted to "blockers" and the "finishers." Adjoining the main building at the back is a room 20ft. by 30ft, which is full of machinery, consisting of motive power (a gas engine of 2 h.p.), a sole sewing machine, presses, rollers, and all other plant necessary for the manufacture of boots and shoes. Adjoining this again is the riveting room, where from forty to fifty hands are employed.

          
This firm has, in connection with their boot factory, a tannery situated at "Woolston, where steam power is employed, and where they manufacture various kinds of leather for their own use.

          
Altogether the firm employs about 130 hands, their out-put being about 60,000 pairs annually. "Wherever they have exhibited they have always been able to secure "first" awards, and at the Dunedin Exhibition they obtained the only gold medal yet awarded in this colony (except those 
given by Messrs. Joubert & Twopenny, which the exhibitors had to 
purchase), being one offered by the Working Men's Club for the "best exhibit of colonial manufacture."
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The Maclean Pickle and Preserving Company (Limited).
          

          
This company's extensive factory, of which we give an engraving, is situated in St. Asaph street, near Montreal street, and is the largest of the kind in the colony. It was established 

two years ago in its present premises, with shareholders in all the principal cities in New Zealand. One result of this widely distributed share list is that an extensive business has been brought to the company, not only in Christchurch and the neighbourhood, but with the principal grocers and hotel keepers all over the colony, which the excellent quality of its manufactures has enabled it to retain and extend. The various articles produced hare been submitted to severe tests, which have resulted in a highly favourable manner. Chemical analysis of several show them to be perfectly wholesome, and free from impurities and deleterious compounds, while in open competition at various exhibitions, from that of the "New Zealand. International" to the latest Agricultural and Pastoral Association, the pickles, jams, sauces, preserves, and cordials shown by the company have invariably received first and special prizes. Entering the works in St. Asaph street, the visitor comes to the show-room, with the secretary's office on the right. Here are ranged on shelves all round earthenware jars (locally made), and bottles of various shapes, containing pickles, jams, sauces, and cordials. Passing through this, we come into the cordial manufactory, where the casks and other appliances bear evidence of the use to which they are put. Returning to the show-room, we pass through it to the pickle factory—a large building with concrete floor, containing about 400 butts and casks all full of pickles in various stages of manufacture and of all kinds, such as onions, cabbage, cauliflower, cucumber, walnuts, &c. In this building, several girls may be seen at work at tables preparing vegetables for the first process of pickling. In one corner of it stand large boilers, bricked and cemented over, for boiling the various ingredients, and at the end are tubs and troughs of water, of which there is an ample supply from several artesian wells. Everything in this building has a busy, clean, and methodical look, with nothing for mere show, but everything that can be wanted for use. Going through this part of the establishment, still on the ground floor, we enter a large room where girls are at work bottling, labelling, capsuling, and sealing pickles and preserves, sauces and cordials, labelling and fastening down jars of pickles and jams, and generally giving the finishing touch to everything made in the factory before its being passed to the packers' room. Upstairs, there are large rooms devoted, some of them to the storage of onions and other requisites in the business, and others to a carpenter's workshop for the manufacture of the cases in which the goods are sent all over the colony. Returning to the ground floor, we inspect sheds for washing jars and bottles, storing sheds, and stabling, and see everywhere the evidence of a flourishing business.

          


          
"We may mention that this company has gained during the last five months, at sundry exhibitions, fire special first-class awards, including one gold medal, for their exhibits. They purchase through the season from 70 to 100 tons of vegetables, such as cauliflowers, cucumbers, beans, onions, and red cabbage —no inconsiderable increase to a local demand—without reckoning the requirements for their sauces, chutneys, catsup, and cordials. They have created a demand for pickle jars—a class of work previously not made at our potteries, and they have offered the Glass Works Company of Kaiapoi an order for £1000 worth of bottles as soon as it is able to accept it. Thus it is that the establishment of each new industry among us fosters and brings into existence others.

          
The managing director of the company is Mr George Collier, who is an enthusiast in his work; the secretary is Mr C. Schofield, and the manufacturer Mr John Strike.
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A. G. Howland's Carriage Factory,

          
Which was established in 1864, is situated in Cashel street, near Manchester street, and covers nearly an acre of ground. The extent of the premises and the completeness of the arrangements for manufacturing all kinds of carriages and buggies would not be suspected by anyone cognisant only of the unpretending front and entrance facing Cashel street. Yet, from the commencement to the finish the work is done entirely on the premises, and visitors can see vehicles of all kinds in all stages of progress.

          
The first department is the timber shed and wheel shop. Here is a large stock of imported hickory and ash planks used for the bodies and under gear of the carriages, kauri for the panelling, imported hickory spokes, rims, and hubs. The building is raised some distance from the ground, and well ventilated, so as to allow currents of air to pass under and through it, by which means the timber gets gradually well seasoned before being worked. In this building the wheels are made, and here may be seen a large quantity hung up to complete the seasoning before the tires are put on. Racks full of spokes, drying, are in stock, and altogether there is a large amount of material on hand. Here is to be seen a very ingenious contrivance invented by Mr Howland for cutting tenons on the end of spokes to receive the rims or felloes, which will tenon a set of wheels with more accuracy than can be done by hand and in about a fourth the time. After the wheels are made, the next thing is putting the tires on. For setting these tires there is a furnace and wheel plate in the yard, so arranged that the hand can pass underneath the tires to ascertain if they are true.

          


          
The next department is the smith's shop, where the forging of the different iron parts of carriages—steps, springs, tires, rails, fittings, &c., all wrought from the best Swedish iron, is carried on by experienced workmen. In here there are a barouche for Timaru, a pony cart, a single-seated lady's phaeton, and two waggonettes, besides several double and single-seated buggies in course of manufacture. The construction of the steps show an improvement upon ordinary work, the solid flap at the top making the step less likely to get loose, at the same time that it gives great support to the shaft. The solid chair for the spring clips is another improvement; and, in fact, in every way, no labour is spared to turn out the best work.

          
The various kinds of ironwork are fitted on the different specialties of carriages turned out of the factory, and a visitor can easily judge for himself of the perfectness of the ironwork, its freedom from cracks or patching, and its accurate fitting, it being, as yet, free from paint. In this shop are to be seen several perpendicular drills—the latest American improvements—self-feeding, and with quick action, worked with great ease by hand. There are also several horizontal drills in this shop, on the same principal as the perpendicular ones, for drilling tires. Another ingenious machine is a New York tire-bender, for bending tires to the circle of the wheel, capable of bending a 2-inch by ¾-inch tire with perfect ease by boy power. The shearing and punching machine is also worth notice with it a boy can cut off 2-inch by ¾-inch iron as easily as cheese can be cut with a knife. Each forge is supplied with an American patent hand-blower— great improvements on the old hand-bellows, saving both space and labour, and supplying a steadily sustained blast. Close by the front door of the smith's shop is the iron rack with partitions, sorting each size and the different kinds of iron used in coach-smithing, so that the smith can put his hand on any size or kind required without delay.

          
From the smith's shop the visitor enters the wood factory, where the bodies of carriages are made. Here can be seen buggies and vehicles in various stages of construction. With regard to this department it is particularly worth notice that the various imported woods used in each body are specially selected by Mr Howland himself for each piece of work. The steaming and bending required for the various parts of the vehicles is done an the premises.

          
The trimming shop, where the leather work and upholstery is done, comes next. American buffalo hide is largely used here, it having a good appearance and being very serviceable. In the upholstery the best curled hair, local make, only is used, 

and not flax, which most makers substitute as much cheaper, and not easily detected by those not in the trade.

          
Next to the trimming shop is the rubbing down shop, where the carriages are prepared for painting. The fine gloss on a carriage, equal to a mirror, can only be obtained after very good work from the first. "Wood, ordinarily smooth, could never be perfectly polished, so it is coated with several layers of "filling" and then rubbed down with pumice stone till it is given a perfectly smooth surface, thoroughly free from scratches. After a carriage has been so rubbed it is transferred to the painting room.

          
Drills of American construction are used for grinding the paints to a floury fineness, requisite to enable perfectly even coats of paint to be laid on. When ground, various oils and liquids are added to prepare it for use. This room is most carefully constructed so as to keep out both dust and draught. The "getting up" of the painting to a fine even surface is a work requiring great care, as unless this is well done it is impossible to put on a good gloss afterwards.

          
The last touch to vehicles is put on in the varnishing room, which, like the painting room, is carefully constructed to keep out both dust and draught. Here the temperature is kept up always at 70 degrees by means of gas stoves night and day, the utmost care being necessary during the drying of the varnish; as if the temperature of the room should vary by any sudden change to cold or damp in the weather outside, the varnish on the carriages is liable to go—as it is technically called—pitty, fatty, silky, cloudy, or patchy. In any of these cases the whole body of the carriage has to be "flatted down" with ground pumice stone and re-varnished.

          
The next portion of the establishment to visit is the show rooms, where about forty different kinds of vehicles are to be seen for a purchaser to select from. They include Queen's phaetons with rumbles, trimmed with cloth or leather; single ditto phaetons, trimmed with green or blue cloth; Albert phaetons with or without child's seat in front; Howland and Commercial style double-seated buggies; Abbott and Howland style single-seated buggies; Yacht and Brewster style single-seated buggies, hung on side or end springs; waggonettes, dogcarts, pony-carts, station waggons, double-seated buggies with hood; Queen's phaeton with hood and rumble, T carts, and a large lot of second-hand vehicles. The double-seated buggies have several improvements of Mr. Howland's; one is a patent equalisor on the springs, so arranged that no matter how steep a siding the buggy is on, the weight is equal on 

both springs, and the body is kept level. Another, is a patent eccentric lock, enabling the buggy to be turned in an eight-feet circle. The footboards, or tailboards of the dog-carts are fitted with slide-irons, to which a spring is so contrived as to remove all fear of its jumping out. This is another of Mr. A. G. Howland's inventions.

          
It should be mentioned that even the plated handles on the carriages are locally made, the ironwork being forged in Mr. Howland's workshop and electro-plated in Christchurch.

          
It will be thus seen that the work turned out of this factory is locally made in every particular, raw material only being imported, and even that being no more than what cannot be procured in the colony. This factory, which has been carried on now for nearly twenty years, employs over twenty-five hands, all fairly skilled and specially trained workmen. No secondhand work is attempted.
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Messrs. Boon & Stevens' Carriage Factory.
          

          
This factory, which has been established over twelve years, occupies half an acre of ground facing Lower High-street, Christchurch, opposite Messrs. S. Manning & Co's. brewery. Both members of the firm learnt their trade in London, and one of them had worked for some time for a Christchurch house before commencing business here. Their buildings, which are 160 feet long, consist of a show room, fronting the street, in which we noticed, among other vehicles, a remarkably well-finished hansome cab of a new pattern. In the rear of the show room is the paint and varnishing shop, and behind that again the wood, machine and smith's shops, all well fitted with the various machinery requisite for carrying on the trade, the motive power being obtained from a Riches & Watt 4 h.p. engine. The firm make general carriage and tramcar work.
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Zealandia Carpet Factory.
          

          
Mr. Mitchell, the enterprising proprietor of this factory, arrived in New Zealand in the spring of 1879. Ho had for many years been engaged in the manufacture of carpets in several of the large factories at Home; and on his arrival in the colony he saw at once that there was a capital opening for this most useful industry. He therefore went Home to get the necessary machinery, and within three weeks of his return he had four looms ready to begin work. This speaks volumes for his energy, and most clearly shows that he is the right man in the right place. He was not only busy at his factory but 

he also was at work interesting people in it, and as a result a small body of the leading men in Christchurch, including His Worship the Mayor (Mr. Ruddenklau), and the energetic President of the Industrial Association (Mr. A.G Howland), paid a visit, on April 20, 1883, to the inauguration of the first carpet factory south of the line; a red letter day truly this, not only for the promoter but also for the whole colony of New Zealand, and particularly for Christchurch, the seat of the industry.

          
The start was made in an unpretending building on the Ferry-road, known as the Christchurch Quay, on the banks of the Heathcote, when the plant consisted of seven looms, four of which were at work turning out Kidderminster and all-wool dutch carpets, and rugs. After about twelve months, finding his premises too small to enable him to meet the demand for his carpets, he purchased a section close to the Heathcote bridge and built on it a brick factory giving office room and accommodation for 24 looms; a brick dye house with a 12 h.p. engine, and a brick dwelling house. We give an illustration showing these. There are now 14 looms, and we are glad to say that the demand for this new local industry is thoroughly established and steady.
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Mr. A. J. White's Furniture Warehouse and

Manufactory.
          

          
This warehouse, containing the largest stock of furniture and furnishing materials in the colony, is situated at the junction of Tuam and High streets, to which it has a frontage of 110 feet. The buildings, timber yards, stables, &c., cover an area of over an acre, having a frontage to St. Asaph-street in the rear, and an entrance from Manchester-street on the western side. Entering the new brick building from Tuam-street, the visitor comes to the carpet department, a spacious and lofty room 50 feet wide and 80 feet long. In this room there is a very large display of all kinds of carpets, including Axminster, Turkey, Brussels, Indian, Kidderminster, and a considerable number of locally-made carpets. Rugs of all kinds are also here, including hearth-rugs, opposum skin rugs, and a very choice selection of locally-made sheepskin rugs, which are really better than the imported article, and which, indeed, have shut out the latter from our market. On one side of this room are stored large supplies of Kaiapoi, Roslyn, and English blankets; also, cretonnes, and furniture coverings of every description, some being of exquisite designs, and a considerable supply of beautiful tapestry window curtains. In one corner of this room is displayed a charming collection of Japanese goods, which Mr. 

White makes a specialty of. They include China and bronze ware, lacquered ware, Satsuma ware, Japanese embroidered silks for cushion covers, and a crowd of sundries, such as screens, pincushions in all colours, and umbrellas, from small children's playthings to garden ones eight or nine feet in diameter.

          
Ascending a broad staircase, on a landing of which is an old English clock with a case 7 feet 6 inches high, the visitor enters the principal show-room for dining and drawing-room furniture, which is the same dimensions as the carpet-room below. Here, among other things, is a magnificent collection of sideboards, all made on the premises, which would do credit to any London house. We were particularly struck with an exceedingly handsome dining-room sideboard in walnut wood, 8 feet wide and 9 feet high, with an octagonal glass back, with shelves at the side, supported by handsome pillars, and a coved top. The carvings on the lower door panels, the sides, and the top, are very rich, and the finish throughout is excellent. As an article of furniture it is a credit to the colony. Other sideboards, in New Zealand woods, and in every style, are to be seen. Of the various suites of furniture in Morocco and other materials, we need only say that, for style and finish, they leave nothing to be desired. In this room is also a collection of pianos, by London and German makers. The walls are well lined with pier-glasses and over-mautels, a number of which are also manufactured on the premises. We noticed that most of the articles of furniture are made of rimu, American walnut, and, in some instances, totara and black pine, but the general preference is given to the two former.

          
Continuing up another flight of stairs, in the same building, we come to the top storey, which, although large and lofty, is not used as an ordinary showroom: it is chiefly filled with chairs and chair-frames. As a matter of course, they form an important item in this establishment, the stock usually in hand and to arrive, amounting to 700 dozen. We were struck with the rustic chairs, till lately quite out of date, but which have recently become very fashionable. We have not space to particularise all the kinds of chairs here, but will only say that they include those from the humble child's chair to those suitable for the library, shipboard, and ecclesiastical purposes. The old oak furniture in this room would delight a connoisseur. It was sent out from Home, and includes armchairs, barus chests, carved cabinets, old-fashioned tables with flaps, bedsteads, &c., which delight occasional customers from Melbourne and some parts of New Zealand. At one end, of this room is an organ in course of erection, by Mr. E.H. Jenkins, organ builder, by far the largest 

yet built in this colony, which is intended for the forthcoming Exhibition in Wellington. It is 22 feet high and 8 feet wide. The design of the front is Gothic, with a centre nave and two side towers with four buttresses with carved pinnacles. The case is made of New Zealand ornamental woods, French polished. There are thirty-one speaking pipes in the front, symmetrically arranged, richly decorated in gold and colours. The key-fittings are also of ornamental woods, enclosed by sliding doors, with plate-glass panels so that these fittings are exposed to view even when the organ is closed. The swell-organ keys will overlap the great organ manual, in order to give greater facilities for playing. The whole will be an organ of two manuals, with independent pedal organ, and full compass of pedals, and will be the largest as yet built in New Zealand. The specification is as follows:—

          
Great organ, compass, C C to G in alto; 56 notes.

          

            

              

                
	1. Open diapason, metal, 8 feet, C C to G
                
	56 pipes.
              

              

                
	2. Stopped ditto, wood, do. bass, C C to G
                
	12 pipes.
              

              

                
	3. Clarabella, wood, do. tenor, C to G
                
	44 pipes.
              

              

                
	4. Dulciana, metal, do.C C to G
                
	56 pipes.
              

              

                
	5. Principal, metal, 4 feet, C C to G
                
	56 pipes.
              

              

                
	6. Flute, wood, 4 feet, C C to G
                
	56 pipes.
              

              

                
	7. Fifteenth, metal, 2 feet, C C to G
                
	56 pipes.
              

              

                
	                    Total
                
	336 pipes.
              

            

          

          
Swell organ, compass, C C to G, in alto, 56 notes.

          

            

              

                
	1. Open diapason, metal, 8 feet, tenor, C to G
                
	44 pipes.
              

              

                
	2. Lieblich Gedacht, wood, 8 feet, C C to G
                
	56 pipes.
              

              

                
	3. Gamba, metal, 8 feet, tenor, C to G
                
	44 pipes.
              

              

                
	4. Hobl Flute, wood, 4 feet, C C to G
                
	56 pipes.
              

              

                
	5. Principal, metal, 4 feet, C C to G
                
	56 pipes.
              

              

                
	6.Fifteenth, metal, 2 feet, C C to G
                
	56 pipes.
              

              

                
	7.Hautbois, metal, 8 feet, tenor, C to G
                
	44 pipes.
              

              

                
	                    Total
                
	356 pipes.
              

            

          

          
N.B.—The bass for No. 4 is derived from No. 3.

          
Pedal organ; compass, C C C to F; 30 notes.

          
1. Bourdon, wood, 16 feet, 0 C C to F; 30 pipes.

          
Couples—1, swell to great; 2, great to pedals; 3, swell to pedals; 4, great octave coupler; 3, composition pedals to great organ.

          
Summary—15 sounding-stops, 4 couplers, 722 pipes.

          
Four additional stops are arranged for, the pipes for which can be added at any future time. All bearings and centres of mechanism are "bushed," to ensure quiet action whilst playing, 

and the whole oiled and varnished, to protect it against atmospheric changes. Some of the more delicate parts have been French polished, whilst the heavier parts of the instrument have either received a coat of copal varnish or been painted in oil colour.

          
Retracing our steps and entering the top storey of the old building we come to a comparatively small room, 30 feet by 20 feet, devoted almost solely to easy chairs of every possible shape, pattern, and style of upholstery, some of the textures being very expensive. Here we also note some most luxurious couches and settees, while the walls are profusely lined with oil paintings, engravings, and oleographs. From this room we enter another one, 30 feet wide and 60 feet long, well filled with suites of dining and drawing-room furniture of a less expensive kind, interspersed with gypsy tables of all sizes and shapes, and with the walls well lined with chimney glasses.

          
Descending to the ground floor of the old building the visitor is shown into a delightful little room, 30 feet by 20 feet, thoroughly well filled with principally drawing-room furniture and articles which are gems in their way. Among other things there are mantelpieces and overmantels in walnut, oak, and other woods, brackets with glass backs for walls and corners, some very handsome cabinets in walnut, rimu, mahogany, &c., a little statuary, some beautiful specimens of repoussè work in brass, Doulton-ware, and a host of other kinds of bric-a-brac which we have not space to notice. We must not omit to notice, however, the fireplace lined with tiles, with an Early English dog grate, and with a handsome walnut overmantel of the same period. Continuing our inspection of the extensive furniture stock, we ascend to the rear of the building, where a room, 100 feet long and 60 feet wide, is devoted to all kinds of bedroom furniture and bedding. Here are a number of exceedingly handsome suites, comprising wardrobe, washstand, toilet table, chest of drawers, towel horse, &c., ranging from £12 10s to £75 the suite; also some very handsome iron and brass bedsteads. There are to be seen here some two-tier beds suitable for families, and very convenient where space is limited. Descending again to the ground floor we come to a large room devoted to china and earthenware, where are to be seen toilet-sets from 6s 6d to 100 guineas, dinner-ware from fifty shillings to fifty pounds the service, and tea-sets almost beyond number. Adjoining this is another room devoted to glassware of every description, from the finest to the cheapest, both plain and richly engraved.

          
In the front of this room, and facing the street, is the furnishing hardware department, well stocked with everything 

in the shape of pots and pans, coal boxes, mangles, all kinds of laundry requisites, churns and dairy utensils; fenders and irons, brushware, &c. In one corner of this room is the manager's office, the strong room, and a portion of the main office. Adjoining this room is another department devoted exclusively to electroplated ware, cutlery, and lampware. The plated-ware is made an important feature of by Mr White. At the back of this room is the clerks' office, and also Mr. White's private office.

          
The visitor will next proceed to inspect the factories in the rear, Admission to them is gained from the front by means of a covered passage, 80 feet by 10 feet, which, at the time of our visit, was literally choked up with packages recently arrived waiting to be opened. From this we come to a room, 80 feet long by 20 feet wide, used principally for storing original packages. In one corner of this room are the lavatories for those employed on the premises. Proceeding through to the back we come to large rooms where the stocks of floorcloth and linoleum are kept, and were struck with the appliances for handling this heavy stuff, rolls 18 feet wide being opened, displayed and put up again on rollers in a few minutes with the greatest ease. Adjoining this is the delivery department, a spacious area, with an entrance to St. Asaph street, where there is every convenience in the shape of trucks, baskets on wheels, and minature tramways to facilitate the handling of goods. From here we proceed to the cabinet maker's workshop, 130 feet long by 35 feet wide, where a large number of hands are at work at furniture in all stages of progress, including a very handsome overmantel to be sent to the Industrial Exhibition in Wellington. In here are all kinds of wood working machinery, for moulding, mortising, planing, sawing, turning, &c., and for doing fret work. Adjoining the cabinet workshop is one occupied by wood carvers where the ornamental carvings for the various articles of furniture are done by experienced workmen. We next visit a range of buildings devoted to upholstering and bedding making, of which we need give no description, and some out-buildings containing the motive power for all the machinery, a Riches and Watt (for which firm Mr Coles is agent), a hair teasing machine, and a machine for crushing the food for the twelve horses used in furniture vans of the establishment.

          
A few minutes devoted to inspecting timber yard, where logs, flitches, and boards of kauri, rimu, walnut, &c., are stacked for seasoning, are not thrown away; nor at the stables. There are also six ordinary furniture vans, and one van built specially capable of carrying upwards of five tons, and which holds the contents of an eight-roomed house. This, we understand, was an idea 

of Mr Coles, the general manager of the establishment, in which he has been seventeen years, and we take this opportunity to express our sense of the kindness with which he devoted himself to us on our visit, explaining everything and giving all kinds of information.

          
The cabinet workshop is under the charge of Mr Grogan, and the upholstering under Mr. Kircher. In all about 80 hands are employed on the premises.

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

W. S. King & Co.'s Furniture Warehouse



          

            
W. S. King & Co.'s Furniture Warehouse.
          

          
This establishment, including factory and warehouse, has a frontage of 35 feet to Lichfield-street (Christchurch), and extends back 156 feet to Bedford Row, where there is the waggon entrance. It is a substantial two-storey brick building, the ceiling of the first floor being 18 feet, and of the floor above 16 feet, high. The show-rooms are filled with furniture for bed-rooms, dining-rooms, drawing-rooms, kitchens, libraries, halls, and in fact all that is required either in a cottage or a mansion. It is impossible, within our limits, to do more than allude to a few of the articles manufactured on the premises, or imported from Europe, Asia, and America, which the visitor is invited to inspect. The carpets, of which there is a large stock of latest novelties from English and Scotch looms, include some very beautiful moresques (a speciality of Morton & Sons, of Kidderminster) and landscape patterns; and in rugs there are some charming old quaint oriental patterns from Japan, Khyber, Tanjore, and Persia, besides a host of the best Glasgow and Kidderminster-ware. The chairs and couches, the upholstering of which is all done on the premises, include the finest Italian walnut frames made at Lake Como, and others from New York, London, and the Continent, besides the ordinary Colonial black wood, cedar, and rimu. Visitors can, if they so please, inspect the workshops, and select the horse-hair, morocco leather, cretonne, velvet, or tapestry reps with which they would like their furniture upholstered; and seeing work in course of progress they may satisfy themselves that it is all done thoroughly well and substantially, so as to stand wear and tear. The bedding, also made on the premises, is of all sorts, to suit various tastes and purses, viz.—feathers, flock, flax, wool, hair, fibre, and kapoc, from Fiji and Java. Bedsteads in brass and iron of all prices, mostly English make, are to be seen in hundreds. Dressing tables in oak, mahogany, walnut, pitch-pine, cedar, and kauri; side-boards in cedar and mahogany; telescope dining tables in walnut and mahogany; billiard tables by English manufacturers; occasional tables of all sorts, shapes, and sizes; office furniture, and in fact all kinds of such goods closely fill 

the premises. The stock of pianos (English, French, and German) is large and varied. A dining and billiard table combined (three-quarter size), suitable for family use, is an article much admired by ladies. The lighter articles for use and ornament are also to be seen here in great variety. Some hand-painted coal vases are really works of art. In looking-glasses for mantelpieces, of course the æsthetic style predominates just now; Early English patterns, in carved wood, ebonised wood and gold, and some with paintings on dead gold plaques being here in great variety. Glass-ware, both English and German, for the table and ornamental, is displayed in large quantities. Of cane chairs, Austrian, English and American, this firm has probably a greater quantity and larger variety than is to be seen elsewhere. Some of them are most amusing specimens of ingenuity and skill. The "Gem" carriage-chair is one of those. It is shown one moment as a child's chair, a good shake-up makes it take the shape of a table, give it a good swing over one shoulder and it comes down a carrriage, while a little further worrying resolves it into a rocking-chair; and yet, in each phase of its existence, it is firm and reliable. A some-what similar curiosity is the "Jewel" folding-chair, appearing to take, at the will of the exhibitor, the forms of a perambulator, a chair and table, and tall-legged chair. In spite of the apparent intricacy of these chairs, they are really very simple, not easily broken, and easily repaired. There is also a large American rocking-chair, the rockers of which are fixed in grooved slips, in which they move while the slips remain steady, so that the sitter can enjoy the luxury of rocking backwards and forwards without the unpleasant consciousness that he is wearing holes in the carpet—a desideratum every housewife will appreciate. One article for which this firm is the sole agent we must not omit, viz.—vaseline. It would almost be easier to state what this is not used for than what it is. As an ointment it is said to be Invaluable for bruises, burns, sprains, &c. It is made into soap, cold cream, boot and shoe paste, tooth paste; for the use of cooks and confectioners, doctors, harness-makers, bootmakers; to be applied internally or externally—in fact, take it and use it how you will, it never seems out of place. "We must also notice the child's perambulators. These are made on the buggy principle, and fitted with hoods, aprons, curtains, linings of silk, rep, carpet, and morocco, with reversible handles, and good springs. They are far more thoroughly and tastefully finished than have generally been to be seen heretofore in Christchurch.
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W. Bates, Junior's, Factory.
          

          
This is situated on a half-acre section fronting Lower High-street, opposite the Roman Catholic Convent and grounds.

          


          
Mr. Bates commenced business in Christchurch about ten years ago, on premises in Lichfield-street, where he continued till, finding his business largely increasing, he built his present commodious workshops, and removed to them. They consist of a spacious two-storey factory, large timber yards and sheds for stacking and seasoning timber, and a showroom 60 feet by 20 feet. He confines himself to frame-making, for drawing-room, dining-room, and library furniture, and his business is entirely wholesale and export, supplying the trade and taking no retail customers.

          
The factory is, as we have said, a two-storey one, 66 feet by 30 feet, fitted up with all the latest improved steam machinery of American and English make. On the ground floor the sawing, planing, turning, and shaping is done. Here there is one circular saw bench, one planing machine (Glason, Philadelphia), four turning lathes, one hand saw (Rogers), with safety guard, one dowling machine and one shaping machine (Rogers). The various portions of the different kinds of chairs and couch frames are here roughly formed and made ready for the hands of the carver and the finisher. Upstairs the machinery includes two circular saws, one boring machine (Fay's), and a fret-work saw from Blackadder, of Dunedin, one of the latest improved machines for doing the inside carved work seen on chairs and couches, fitted with self-acting bellows which blow the saw-dust away. We are informed that it is, if not the only one in the colony, at all events nearly the only one. The machinery is worked by one of Richards and Watt's 6 h.p. vertical steam engines, local coal being used for fuel. From the engine steam pipes are carried all over the building, keeping the workshops at an even temperature and facilitating the thorough drying of the woods. The steam is also utilised in various ways, such as heating the glue kettles, &c. The timbers used are principally New Zealand black wood, kauri, rimu, &c., besides walnuts, cedars, and Australian black wood. Large quantities of these are kept in stock, none being used till it has lain at least twelve months in the sheds. We should mention that the engine room is used for the purpose of drying various parts of frames.

          
Considerable trouble and expense is incurred in procuring the most tasteful designs for furniture. At present the styles most enquired for are Queen Anne, Early English, Jacobite, and Chippendale.

          
In all Mr. Bates employs 20 skilled hands, two of them being carvers specially engaged in England for the factory.
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Mr. Walter Gee's Venetian Blind Factory.
          

          
This factory, which was established in 1873, is situated at 308, Colombo-street North, covering a quarter of an acre o£ ground. Here are made every description of Venetian blinds, inside and out; Holland blinds, Florentine, Oriental, Spanish, and shelter blinds. Among other kinds the spring-barrel, for inside and outside blinds, are made here, Mr. Gee being the only maker of these springs in New Zealand, doing in them a wholesale as well as a retail business. He also manufactures wire gauze, perforated zinc, and transparent blinds of different designs, and is the only blindmaker in New Zealand who gained the gold medal at the New Zealand International Exhibition of 1882 for them. His factory is fitted up with all the latest improvements in machinery for blind-making. The motive power for the machinery is a horizontal Otto gas-engine of one horse-power. As to the quality of his work, he can refer to a very large circle of customers; and, having all the best appliances, he is able to turn out his work at a price that defies competition. He learnt his trade in London, having served his apprenticeship to the well-known blind making firm of Henry Lawrence, of Camberwell.
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Basket Work.
          

          
The basket making industry, which includes all sorts of useful and ornamental basket work, is one that deserves the fullest support, being purely a local industry, the outlay in which is mainly for labour, which has gradually become established in Christchurch against every difficulty and unassisted by any modification of the customs tariff. Those who visit Mr J. Silvester's shops, the one at 187, Gloucester-street, immediately opposite the Rink stables, and the other in Manchester-street, will readily recognise to what perfection the trade has been brought, and they will also see articles equal, if not superior, to what can be imported, while the prices are certainly not higher than those asked for similar goods in English shops. Mr. Silvester is no novice at his trade, having served his apprenticeship to it in England when a lad, and having followed it almost continuously ever since. He opened in Christchurch about six years ago, and as a specimen of his enterprise we may mention, that he then planted on his farm at Kaiapoi, 36,000 osiers to supply himself with that staple of his trade. However, they did not prosper, and he now draws his supply principally from Bangiora, importing some peculiar sorts from Hobart. As we mentioned, the manufacture is entirely one of hand labour, no machinery having been invented suitable for the work. The osiers, when peeled, are worth about £35 a ton. He manufactures 

everything from a common clothes basket to most beautiful, pieces of fancy furniture in delicately fine work. A new thing here which he has introduced is the basket scroll work window-blinds which have lately become so very fashionable for gentlemen's country houses at Home.
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Messrs. Aulsebrook & Go.'s Steam Biscuit Factory.
          

          
This factory, which was originally established in Colombo-street in 1868, is now situated at the corner of St. Asaph and Montreal streets, and covers an acre of ground. The building is a plain, substantial two-storey one, of red brick with stone facings. Passing through the offices the visitor enters a large, lofty room, where the principal part of the work of making biscuits and cakes is progressing, and one is struck by the thorough cleanliness everywhere evident; the machinery is all bright and polished, and tables and implements are clean as possible. Commencing at the first process we notice a huge "mixer," in which half a ton of flour for biscuits is thoroughly mixed in a quarter of an hour. The dough is then run through steel rollers, cut into strips, and passed on to a self-feeding and delivering biscuit cutter, where it is cut into biscuits. These latter are, by the machine, passed on to wire trays, which boys remove as fast as they are filled, and they are then ready for the oven. The cuttings of the dough are collected ready to be again rolled out. The trays, with the biscuits on them, are passed into a travelling oven (by T. & T. Vigors, of Liverpool), 30 feet long. Through this oven, which is heated from the top and the bottom, two sets of endless chains move slowly, carrying with them a constant supply of trays; and by the time they have passed through the oven—the heat of which is regulated to a nicety by twelve dampers—the biscuits are baked and ready for sale. The process from first to last—from the first mixing of the dough to the completion of the biscuits—is so rapid that half a ton of flour can be converted into biscuits, ready to be packed up for sale, in about two hours and a half. The biscuit cutters are furnished with moveable moulds, of which the firm have a large stock, of all kinds of patterns, on hand, so that those can be fitted in suitable for the kind of biscuit being made at the time. The oven is driven by two conical drums, which can be worked at any speed. The coal used for heating it is principally from the Homebush Colliery, the consumption being about five tons per week.

          
Besides the machinery and ovens for the manufacture of biscuits, there is all the necessary plant for making cakes, fancy biscuits, gingerbread, &c. There is a cake mixing machine for mixing materials for 100 lbs. of cake at a time, and two ovens 

for baking cakes, each of them 7 feet by 7 feet; a machine for making gingerbread nuts;. a sugar mill, in which the white sugar used in the manufactory is ground as fine and soft as flour; a machine for making cracknells, and another for making "African Shoots," or Queens. In one corner of this building is an 8 h.p. nominal (Riches & Watt) engine, which supplies the motive power for all the machinery, and which also drives the circular saw used for cutting up the timber used for making the cases (which are made on the premises) in which the goods are sent all over the colony, and to Australia. The tins in which the biscuits are packed up are made in Christchurch, and are an important branch of the tinsmiths' trade here, the consumption being six gross of large, and three gross of smaller tins per week. At the commencement of the season the firm requires 10,000 dozen eggs—which are preserved in lime—and 800 kegs of butter.

          
The packing room, where the biscuits are packed in tins by girls, is upstairs. Here, ten or twelve girls can always be seen packing and labelling the tins, and getting them ready to send away.
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Addington Flour Mills.
          

          
Mr. George Paunell's flour mills have a frontage on the Lincoln road, a little below the Addington railway station, the ground extending back to a siding of the railway. They were established about the year 1864, and were purchased by the present proprietor five years ago. The mill and appurtenances occupy an acre of ground, and is worked on the gradual reduction system, four pairs of stones being used; three working on wheat, and one on middlings, which are capable of turning out 350 bushels in the 24 hours. The motive power is a horizontal compound condensing engine, of 16-h.p. nominal, capable of working up to 25 h.p., supplied with steam from a Cornish boiler, with Galloway tubes of 25-h.p. The wheat-cleansing machinery consists of a patent winnowing machine and a patent "Economy Smutter." The dressing machinery consists of two silks and centrifugal flour machines and flour-mixer. All the machinery is driven by belts right from the engine off the fly-wheel, which is 7 feet 6 inches in diameter, and 1 foot on the face. Nothing but Newcastle slack is used for fuel, of which about half-a-ton is consumed in thirteeen hours. Mr Pannell has been awarded for his flour at various exhibitions, as follows:—a medal and certificate of merit at Vienna; a medal and certificate at the Christchurch Exhibition of exhibits for Vienna, prior to their being sent away; a certificate of merit at the Melbourne Exhibition; and a certificate and medal at the New Zealand "International," of 1882.

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

Fish Breeding Industry





          

            
Fish Breeding Industry.
          

          
In the pretty suburb of Opawa, ten minutes' walk from the Railway Station, on the banks of the Heathcote River, is situated Trout Dale Farm, the fish breeding establishment of Mr Johnson, where fish of all ages may be seen—from the just hatched troutlet to six year old speckled beauties, who, when on the feed, show their activity and sport-affording abilities to fine effect.

          
The varieties of fish kept for breeding purposes are the English brown trout, American brook trout, American salmon, Loch Levin trout, perch, tench, and gold and silver fish.

          
The spawning season of the trout and salmon commences from May, and from that month up to September eggs of the fish are sold at a moderate price per thousand, and sent to distant parts of the colony packed in ice and moss; the American. trout and salmon spawn, however, earlier than the English, and these eggs are all hatched by July.

          
A novelty has been introduced in the packing of the eggs, with a view to stocking distant rivers inaccessible to the transport of live fish, and consists of specially made wire boxes in which the eggs are packed, and which are suitable for being placed in the bottom of a stream, the young fish wriggling their way out of the boxes as soon as they have absorbed the umbelical bag.

          
A brick hatching-house has recently been erected, containing the most approved modern appliances, where accommodation for hatching out 80,000 eggs can be provided, and where an aquarium for salt water is in course of construction, with a view to facilitating the artificial propagation of salmon.

          
Young trout are sent out in suitable apparatus at a moderate price per hundred, and special arrangements can be made for forwarding live fish to distant localities without risk or loss to purchaser.

          
Trout from 1lb. to 5lbs. are sold during the summer for table purposes. The active, quick-growing American "
sahno fontinalis" being highly esteemed, but even this has been surpassed by a cross obtained between the English and American variety. The various ponds and water races are tastefully laid out, and embellished with a choice and varied assortment of beautiful aquatic flowers.

          
Bee culture, on the superior American system for the production of comb honey in section boxes, is also carried on, and the flower borders are gay with shrubs and flowers, chiefly selected for their honey-producing qualities.
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Anderson's Buildings, Cashel Street West.
          

          
This handsome and substantial three-storey building is of brick, with highly-carved stone cornices and facings. The ground floor is devoted to large and commodious shops, and the upper storeys are designed for offices. One of these shops is occupied by

          

Mr. W Harris, Manufacturer and Importer of all kinds of boots and shoes, occupies another of these handsome shops with his Imperial Boot Depot. The address is 207, Cashel-street, Christchurch; and we may here mention that Mr. Harris also has an establishment in Dunedin, at No. 4, Princes-street. He receives large shipments by every steamer, and the stock will be found very complete. All the goods are shipped direct from the manufacturers, and consequently can be, and are, sold very cheap. A large and choice stock of evening shoes, both French and English, are always on hand, and his colonial-made men's, women's, and children's boots are not to be surpassed for price and quality. He is agent for Pinet's Paris-made button and lace boots and shoes.

          

Mr. J. T. Smith, Bookseller and Stationer. This shop is beautifully fitted up with large plate-glass front, glass show-cases, cupboards, drawers, and shelving, every way convenient for the business. Mr Smith has a large and varied stock of books on general literature, and a choice assortment of the best stationery and school requisites. In addition to the ordinary business of bookseller, Mr Smith devotes special attention to the following features of his trade:—He keeps a large stock of standard works on Christian theology, to which are added regularly the latest volumes on the subject of the Christian religion issuing from the Press. Special attention is given to the selection of suitable and wholesome literature for Sunday-school prizes, presents, and libraries. The very best materials for Sunday-school work are kept in stock. A large business is also done in magazines or periodicals. Thousands of weekly and monthly illustrated papers are distributed every year. "The Band of Hope " also receives particular attention, cards, recitations, readings, and suitable music being always kept. Our readers are also informed that in Mr Smith's shop is located the Canterbury auxiliary of the British and Foreign Bible Society, and that Bibles for eightpence and Testaments for twopence may be obtained there.
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Bibliopolical.
          

          
Literature being so closely allied to progress, it will not be out of place, in the present pages, to give a short sketch of its 

rise and progress in Christchurch, and we cannot do so in a more fitting manner than by giving a history of the bookselling and publishing business or Mr Alfred Simpson, High-street, Christchurch, an engraving of whose fine new premises we give. The business was established in 1862, in a small shop in Cashel-street, by Mr J. T. Hughes (Mr Simpson's brother-in-law), whose knowledge of books was acknowledged to be second to none in the colonies, and, as a natural consequence, he conducted his business so successfully that, in 1868, he found it necessary to move to more commodious premises, and fixed upon High-street as the scene of future operations; his shop being one of the places that all lovers of books made a point of visiting when in Christchurch, as they could always depend upon finding there the latest publications, either in book, pamphlet, or periodical form. The supply of periodicals was one of the principal items of the business, and has continued to grow so that at the present time something like 1000 parcels per month are despatched to all parts of the colony. Early in 1877 Mr Hughes retired from the business, and was ably succeeded by the present proprietor, Mr A. Simpson, who successfully carried on the business until the 19th of January, 1884, when a fire temporarily suspended his operations by totally destroying the most complete stock of books in the colonies. Daunted, but not dismayed, business was resumed two days after the fire in a temporary shop in the Triangle, pending the erection of new premises on the old site, which were only completed in September, 1884. In the meantime Mr Simpson set to work to get together a new stock, a task of no mean study, but hard work and capital have won the day, and visitors and residents can now get their wants supplied with everything of the latest and best in books, stationery, artists' materials, and fancy goods. One of Mr Simpson's mottos being "quick sales," is a guarantee that his prices are satisfactory to purchasers. The best books of every shade of opinion on all subjects are imported in sufficient quantities to meet the requirements of the market, cases arriving by every mail and direct steamer from London and Melbourne. Mr Simpson's London agent being a colonial bookseller of many years' standing, thoroughly acquainted with the requirements of the colonial trade, is a guarantee that this department is, not neglected. The "Bespeak" portion of the business has grown considerably during the last few years, more especially since the N. 
Z. Shipping Co's. line of direct steamers has placed us in such close proximity to the Old Country; as anything not in stock can now be obtained in a little over three months from date of ordering. In the successful catering for the enlightenment of his fellow colonists, Mr Simpson has not neglected the publishing portion of his business, having already published 

many useful works, of which, amongst others, may be mentioned the N. Z. University Calendars and Examination Papers; "Out in the Open, or Natural History in New Zealand," by T. H. Polts, Esq., and having now in the press, "The Principles and Practice of the Supreme Court of New Zealand," by Dr. Foster. Mr Simpson's terms for publishing are those known as publishing "on commission," which, gives justice and a fair proportion of profits to the literary producer and the literary introducer. Sufficient has been stated in the foregoing to show that the profession of literature is not neglected in Christchurch, and visitors will find a cordial welcome, without being expected to purchase, on visiting Mr Simpson's establishment.
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T. H. Green's Ham & Bacon Curing Establishment.
          

          
Considering the reputation which Canterbury hams and bacon have gained, not only throughout New Zealand, but also in Victoria, Tasmania, New South Wales, and Queensland, a description of these factories will doubtless be interesting to the visitor to Christchurch.

          
Mr. T. H. Green, who has now been established in his business twenty-four years, has three establishments—one for curing, at Ashburton; one for slaughtering and curing, at Leeston; and his main curing establishment in Manchester-street, Christchurch. The one at Ashburton is a brick building used for curing; the Leeston one is a farm, on which are situated the slaughtering works, and also a building for curing. The slaughtering works are on a large scale, being sufficient to put through 1000 pigs at a time. But it is to the main curing works in Christchurch that we propose to introduce our reader.

          
The building is a most substantial three-storey one, of brick, the lowest floor being concreted. It is fitted with lifts, and every convenience for carrying on. a large business, which will readily be understood when we say that during the curing season, which lasts only three mouths, between 7000 and 8000 pigs are here usually salted, cut up, dried, cured, smoked, done up in cloth, packed in cases, and sent away to the various markets.

          
Passing through the office the visitor enters the lower room. Here he may probably see, at the large double doors at the side entrance, large double waggons discharging their loads of pigs, looking beautifully clean and tempting, just arrived from Leeston. They are weighed in (each pig being weighed separately) by busy men as rapidly as they can be lifted from the waggons, and hung up ready to be laid on the broad, long 

counters, which are to be seen all round and about the room, cut up into sides and hams, and salted. On the upstair floors are two drying and two smoking rooms, besides rooms for rolling and tying up the sides sold as "rolled bacon," and packing rooms where sides and hams are neatly packed in oatmeal husks and sown up in cloth. Great care is taken at every step to ensure the turning out of nothing but first-class articles, and particularly to the smoking and packing, by which the tempting finish is given to the bacon and hams.

          
Attached to this building is the "fat-house," fitted up with steam boiler, two steam vats, coolers, and other appliances requisite for "rendering" pigs' fat into lard—a work which forms a considerable item of Mr. Green's business. Between thirty and forty tons of lard are annually turned out from here, some being done up in bladders, and some packed in kegs. For this there is a large demand throughout the colony, besides considerable quantities being shipped to the Home Country.
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Messrs. Shaw & Tidd,

          
Who had been boat building in Lyttelton for some years, came to Christchurch in 1882. They erected their large boat-sheds, 90 feet by 30 feet, near the Hospital bridge, on the bank of the Avon. These sheds are the most complete in the colony. They Lave a landing stage with a frontage of 200 feet to the river, ladies' waiting room, and gentlemen's dressing room, refreshment room, and besides all these easily house the 38 boats, accommodating from one to fifteen persons each, the 16 canoes double and single, and 250 pairs of sculls and oars, which comprise Messrs Shaw and Tidd's stock. The boats have all been built by Messrs Shaw and Tidd, so that they have been able to supply the various requirements of their customers. Those persons who desire it can obtain here a man to row them, the charge for man and boat being half-a-crown an hour.
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J. and J. Mclean's Boat Shed (Late W. Aitken)
          

          
Was established 1875, and is situated on Cambridge Terrace West, between Montreal-street and the bathing-shed.

          
Here boats with every accommodation are on hire, and boats are built to order and repairs neatly executed. New and second-hand boats and oars are for sale. The shed is open on moonlight nights, so that visitors and those who cannot spare time during the day may enjoy the luxury of a moonlight row.

          
Strangers visiting Christchurch should not leave it without taking a trip up our beautiful river, whose sylvan scenery makes 

an impression on all who witness it. The river, winding among banks fringed with shrubs and overhanging willows, and taking in its course the Government Gardens, whose curator (Mr Armstrong) loses no chance of exhibiting the taste and skill for which he is so noted, makes an hour or two spent in this way a pleasant memory for years.

          
J. and J. McLean, having gone to a large outlay in order to develope this beautiful recreation for the public, would urge upon those whose occupations are sedentary the advantages derived from boating exercise, and as it is one of the most beneficial to health, it should be cultivated.

          
All kinds of boats of the best build and description, viz.— pleasure boats for parties, canoes, skiffs (with approved sliding-seats), and attendants, who may be relied upon, can be hired from J. and J. McLean, who solicit the patronage of the general public.
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Christchurch Brewery.
          

          
New ideas, new processes, and new appliances, are at the present day to be found in almost every department of the manufacturing industries; and in no branch of the admittedly scientific processes has there been a more decided advance than in malting and brewing—these being usually combined in any large establishment. One or two of the more modern processes will be presently referred to in connection with the Christchurch Brewery, an establishment which has attained a foremost position for the completeness and efficiency of its arrangements, and which is just now being furnished with the very latest aids for securing uniformly good results. Messrs S. Manning and Co's. establishment was founded in 1860, the scale of operations being a most unpretentious one; and in the early part of 1865 the present Lower High street—or Ferry road—premises were taken possession of, the area of the section being about half an acre. At that time, two men and a boy constituted the entire working staff, and the capacity of the brewery, that is to say, the total quantity that could be brewed at one time, was two hogsheads. The growth of the establishment cannot be better illustrated than by the statement that its present working capacity is thirty hogsheads, that the extent of ground is now nearly two acres of freehold, and that this area has been largely built upon, the premises—the newer portion more especially—being of a thoroughly substantial character.

          
The new premises fill up the space from the line of frontage to the old storage cellars—60 feet by 30 feet—and are two storeys high. The front portion of the building contains the 

lobby, entrance-Hall, counting-house, manager's room, strong-room, &c., on the ground floor, and the Board room, Committee room, &c., on the tipper floor. The rear portion is occupied by the bottling stores on the ground floor, and a grain store above them. The bottling stores, which are cut off from the brewery, are approached by a separate entrance from the street. The materials used in the north and east fronts of the main building are Hoon Hay stone in the base and for the lower window sills, and the best selected Oamaru stone for the remainder of the fronts throughout, except the door-jambs, which are executed in white Mount Somers stone. The style of the design is chaste Italian street architecture, having Doric details in the lower storey, and Corinthian details and enrichments in the capitals of the pilasters of the upper storey, window dressings, modillion cornices, and balustrades. The roofs are covered with asphalt roofing-felt, on close boards, and slated. The rooms in the front building have handsome plaster cornices and ceiling-flowers. Provision is made for ventilation, and gas is laid on throughout. The inner folding-doors, staircase, inside doors, skirtings, and architraves, and the office fittings, are all of figured rimu, relieved with ebonised bolection mouldings, &c. The offices are connected with the Telephone Exchange, and are in communication with the various departments of the brewery by means of the telephone and speaking-tubes. The works were carried out from the designs of Mr. F. Jones, by Mr. William Stocks, contractor.

          
It has been already mentioned that the brewing capacity is 30 hogsheads. The brews, it need scarcely be said, may be caused to follow one another almost without intermission; and that this plan is acted upon is evidenced by the large space set apart for a working cellar (in which the ale is placed in casks until the self-cleaning process is completed). Here, no less a quantity than 250 hogsheads was to be seen on the occasion of our visit; and the capacity of the cellar in which the ale is stored until ready for use, proved to be 375 hogsheads. The malt-houses are large in proportion, their annual capacity being 12,000 bushels. Perhaps it would be more correct to say the "season's" capacity, for at present the malting is carried out in the ordinary way, and cannot be prosecuted successfully when the temperature becomes excessive.

          
The routine processes carried on at the Christchurch Brewery are of a character now too well known to need description, and we therefore purpose to notice briefly the arrangements of the place, and then to explain one or two of the novelties included in the establishment. The large supply of steam required is generated in a Cornish boiler of 17 horse-power, fitted with three 

Galloway tubes, Malvern coal being exclusively used. This supplies the steam for beating the immense mashing tun and coppers, and also communicates power to a prettily modelled engine, made by the Messrs. Anderson. This is of 6 ½ horsepower, nominal, and fitted with a patent injector for sending water, into the boiler under all pressure. The work it has to do is considerable. Malt is being passed through the crushing mill, and carried by elevator buckets to an upper floor, and a powerful pump is being run continuously, either for transferring liquor from one receptacle to another, or for lifting water from the immense artesian-fed underground concrete tank, which holds 4000 gallons, to the range of cisterns placed upon a high scaffolding at the end of the brewhouse. This pump, by the way, may be called upon for work of another kind; for it can at a moment's notice be connected with a fire-prevention system which Mr. S. Manning devised some time ago. At various parts of the premises may be seen a neat-looking "fire" box. Each contains a length of hose, snugly coiled upon a suitable reel, with junction fittings and nozzle complete. Altogether there is a sufficient length of hose to command any part of the premises and some of the neighbouring residences, and even the water pressure from the elevated cisterns is ample for dealing with anything but a really serious outbreak. As a night watchman is included in the staff of employees, the premises may be regarded as well protected; and the fact has, we believe, been duly recognised in the matter of insurance. In order to facilitate the working operations, speaking tubes are used between the various floors; and from the brewery to the offices—which are now conveniently situated at the entrance to the premises—there is telephonic communication. There is also a city office in Hereford street west, and from this office to the brewery a telephonic line has been erected. The establishment includes a large bottling business, and to meet its growing requirements a greater extent of cellarage has just been set apart for it, with a separate public entrance.

          
Yeast in a solid form is one of the special products of the Christchurch brewery; and the apparatus by means of which it is produced appears to be a remarkably efficacious one. There are three pillars of considerable height, each being formed of a wire coil, lined with canvas: and the bottom of each can be closed at will. The top of each pillar communicates with a sort of metal hopper, into which the frothy yeast, combined with a certain quantity of ale, is poured. The ale passes, amber-clear, through the canvas lining of the pillar, whilst the yeast sinks, consolidates, and gradually fills up the entire column. When withdrawn therefrom, it presents a cheese-like 

appearance, and may, in this state, be kept for a considerable length of time, and sent to any distance. The utmost care is taken to secure the desired qualities in this portable yeast, a clear colour and clean fracture being looked for, and we understand that at times the supply, though it is by no means inconsiderable, is not at all equal to the demand, A beautifully made refrigerator is used in the cooling process. For use in the bottling department, the Messrs. Manning have a set of the splendidly devised machinery patented by Messrs Spencer and Gilman. Its distinctive parts are known as the generator, the two saturators, and the bottling and corking machine. Its purpose is to generate and store carbonic acid gas, to saturate ale therewith, and to bottle the product at a pressure varying from 25 to 30 pounds per square inch. It is by the use of machinery of this kind that English and Continental firms have been able to produce effervescing ales such as have rapidly, acquired popularity; and a modernised beverage of such a character is quite certain to hit the general taste in this colony. The generator, which holds about 25 gallons, is constructed of copper, lined with lead, and is fitted with pressure gauge and safety valve, the latter working at an indication of 200lb. Stout piping communicates from the generator to the two saturators, which are used alternately. They hold about 12 gallons each, and are constructed of copper, thickly lined with pure tin. Each is fitted with an agitator, for ensuring the equal distribution of the gas through the liquor; a pressure gauge, a gauge to show the quantity of contained liquor, and stop-cocks to admit of disconnection for cleaning the interior. The filling and corking machine is not unlike those used in large soda-water factories. Each bottle is placed within a cup-like receptacle, and pressed upwards against a nozzle by means of a foot lever, a ring of indiarubber securing a good connection. In the upper part is a receptacle for a cork (which has been previously soaked in hot water); and as soon as the bottle is filled, the handle of a plunger is depressed, and the cork is brought immediately over the mouth of the bottle and driven in, each bottle being filled and corked, on an average, in ten seconds. The machinery can be utilised, if desired, for the preparation of any ordinary aerated drinks.

          
One or two points in connection with the Christchurch Brewery remain to be stated. The quality of the ales and porters produced has been such that the Brewers' Gold Medal was won by the firm in Christchurch, and a bronze medal at the Melbourne Exhibition for bottled ale. In the international contest, in which some of the leading nations were represented, prizes were also secured for ale in bulk, and for bottled porter. 

Some time ago, a gentleman who was proceeding to England by sailing vessel, took a quantity of bottled porter with him for use on the voyage. On his arrival he wrote to inform the Messrs Manning that their products had stood the voyage extremely well, and had compared very favourably with the English drinks. "The last bottle was used off the Lizards, and was in just as good condition as the first one opened." The last item of interest is that the two men and a boy are not now sufficient; Messrs Manning and Co. employ 24 hands regularly, and pay out in weekly wages about £60.
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Suffolk Brewery (Scarlett & Co),

          
Situate in Barbadoes-street, near the South Belt. This Brewery is one of the oldest in Christchurch, having been established in 1858 by Manning and Co. Since then it has been the property, successively, of Messrs. Pitt & Harris, Disher, and McIvey & Baird, which last formed it into a company, under the name of "The Suffolk Brewery Company, Limited," from whom the present owners rent it. It consists of the usual brewery plant, with commodious and well kept cellars, and large maltings. The plant is capable of turning out about 2000 hogsheads a year, and the maltings at the present time are 500 bushels a week. The quality of this ale is locally well known, and its excellence is amply attested by the fact that they have obtained first and second-class medals at the annual local shows.

          
This firm has also large bottling stores in Bath-street, where they turn out a considerable quantity of ale and stout, both English and colonial.
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Mr. H. Mace's Cordial Manufactory.
          

          
One of the oldest of local industries, deserving of great attention, is the aerated water, cordial, and sauce manufactory of Mr. H. Mace, successor to Messrs. H.J. Milsom & Co. His large and commodious building is built of brick and stone, as also is a large six-stalled stable and coach-house, with an extensive loft, and is situated in St. Asaph-street, running through to George-street. The upper storey of the factory is used as a storeroom for the numerous articles used in the manufacture of cordials bitters, sauce, &c. The ground floor contains the factory, cordial room and office. Water is laid on throughout the premises, and the frequent use of it keeps the place pleasantly cool. The machine at work is a soda-water machine (by Barrett and Foster) with double cylinders, each containing eight gallons, capable of turning out 1600 dozen daily. It is driven by an Otto silent gas-engine of 3-horse power. This also drives 

the oat-crushing and chaff-cutting machines in the stable loft-Among the other apparatus are the several bottling machines, which are used for filling the Hogben, Lyamont, and Coad patents, as well as the ordinary plain bottle—all of which are in use by this firm—a siphon, filler, and a gasometer, one of the largest in the colony. In the cordial room are the several casks in use for the manufacture of cordials, sauce, bitters, &c., whilst all the shelves are kept constantly filled up with them. They are all corked by the French. Gervais corking machine, which compresses and drives in the cork at the same time. In the office, which is neatly fitted up, hang the certificates of awards gained by this firm in the International Exhibition held in this city in 1882. Competing against several others—some of whom gained high honours in Melbourne, Dunedin, and elsewhere—this firm obtained the only gold medal and "First Order of Merit" for general excellence in aerated waters and cordials; a silver medal and "First Order of Merit" for sauce; and a bronze medal for sarsaparilla. The firm have also been appointed purveyors to his Excellency the Governor.
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The New Zealand Accident Insurance Company
          

          
Is the premier and oldest established Accident Insurance Company in these colonies, having been established in 1879. Its capital is £100,000, with unlimited liability of shareholders, and its head office is in Auckland, with branches throughout New Zealand, and agencies in all the colonies. The Christchurch Branch has its offices in Inglis' Buildings, Cashel and High streets, 
Mr. Ralph Levoi being the superintendent. It insures against accidents of all kinds, and gives fixed sums according to the rates paid, on accidental death, and as compensation for permanent partial, and permanent total disablement; and also weekly sums for temporary disablement. The number of claims it has paid are as follows:—In 1880, 64 claims; in 1881, 346; in 1882, 407; in 1883, 617; and in 1884, 617; making in all the enormous number of 2051 claims paid in five years, representing a total sum of £19,061 2s. Of this, a little over £5000 is for policies paid in full—that is, on the death by accident of the insured—the balance being compensation, weekly and otherwise, for disablement from accidents. One regulation of this company is deserving of particular notice, namely, that a free policy for one year is granted after five consecutive annual payments have been made where no claim for compensation has been made, which absolutely equals a return of 20 per cent., or one-fifth of the premiums paid. Notice of accident should in all cases be sent in to the Branch Manager or Agent for the Local District within seven days from the 

happening of the accident. The full amount insured is payable should death occur at any time within three months from the date of accident. A pamphlet, showing "What became of the £20,000 paid by the New Zealand Accident Company," giving what are termed "startling disclosures," is well worth perusal by anyone whose own or whose family's maintenance depends upon his daily business or labour, and his weekly or monthly salary. It is a list of claims paid, giving names, addresses, and amounts, and is strikingly suggestive of a vast amount of suffering and inconvenience averted by the exercise of a little prudence and the payment of so small an annual sum that its weekly saving can scarcely affect the expenditure of the poorest family.
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Messrs. Ford and Ogden's Pottery Works.
          

          
These pottery works are situated at South Malvern, and the firm's town depot and offices are on the South Belt, Christchurch. Mr Ford has been engaged prospecting in the Malvern Hills for some twenty-five years, and about six years ago commenced making fire-bricks and drain-pipes. Since then and during the last three years pottery has been added to the articles produced at the works. There are about twenty hands employed at the works and at the town depôt. The works are so situated as to utilise the railway communication to the utmost, being connected with the main line by a siding. To facilitate the distribution of the material to the different places where it is manufactured, the firm have laid down about a mile of Fowler and Co.'s steel rails, thus ensuring rapid and easy communication with all parts of the works. The steam power employed consists of two engines—one 40 h. p., and the other 20 h. p. The machinery comprises a complete plant for the manufacture of sanitary and drain pipes, pressed bricks and fire bricks, and includes all the latest patents in the different branches of the industry, which' were specially selected by Mr Ford during a visit to England made for the purpose. The pottery machinery, which is a comparatively recent addition, includes all the modern appliances for the manufacture of pottery. The works are very extensive, as are the buildings. These latter include a pottery kiln, extensive drying sheds, rooms for the manufacture and drying of pottery (all substantially constructed of brick), a large house for the residence of one of the members of the firm, and a manager's house, &c. The water used at the works is supplied from a reservoir constructed by the firm from plans drawn by Mr E. Dobson. The reservoir is so situated as to enable a water supply to be carried to every part of the works, and the 

pressure is such as to force the water to the top storey of the buildings. The manufactures of the firm comprise all kinds of sanitary and drain pipes, all kinds of bricks used for building purposes, fire bricks, all kinds of tiles and garden tiles. In pottery ware, they make bread pans, pickle jars, flower pots, butter crocks, fern pots, and a very large variety of domestic crockery. The firm are particularly fortunate in possessing on their ground fine seams of magnificent clays of different kinds. As an instance of the qualities of these clays, Professor Bickerton, Government Analyst, has analysed them, and states that for quality, variety, and quantity they were unique. During Mr. Ford's recent visit to England, he visited all the principal pottery works in Great Britain, and, on showing at them samples of the Malvern clays, was told they had none to excel, and few to equal them. Of the mineral qualities of the Malvern Hills, Mr. Ford has an enthusiastic belief, having himself made a very fine collection, including ironstone, marble, manganese, glass and casting sand, besides native gems, comprising amethysts, agates, cornelians, onyx, sardonyx, jasper, bloodstones, rubies, garnets, opals, and alluvial gold and auriferous quartz. The works are interesting, as showing the energy and perseverance of the firm, and of the special efforts of Messrs. Ford and Ogden as prospectors. The community cannot but be indebted to them to a large extent for the establishment and development of an industry which has taken such great strides during the past few years as to almost shut out imported goods, which provides employment for a large number of hands, and which, by the manufacture of various articles, has materially assisted in the development of other local industries, notably the manufacture of jams and pickles.
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The Springfield Colliery and Pottery Works.
          

          
The Springfield Colliery is the most important one on this side of the ranges, and a large amount of capital has been sunk in the purchase of complete plant for making the potteries and for working the coal pits. The first object that strikes the eye on nearing the ground is the winding machinery, standing fifty feet high, with its wire rope, of the kind with which the illustrated Home papers make us familiar when they have to record the frequent accidents at coal mines; for the Springfield colliery possesses a shaft 300 feet deep, and is unlike most others in New Zealand, which are worked by means of level drives into hill sides. Round the opening of the shaft are congregated the buildings and appurtenances of coal-raising—the trucks, the shed with the winding engine, the smithy, heaps of black refuse, &c.

          


          
A short distance from the pit are the pottery works, consisting of a large brick building, the kilns, sheds, offices, cottages for manager and employees, altogether quite a little village. The large brick building contains a "pug" machine for breaking up and mixing up the clay; a hydraulic pipe machine, capable of making drain pipes, &c., of from 3 to 18 inches in diameter under a pressure of 800 lbs. to the square inch; and a pan mill, almost a 
fac simile of the machine used for grinding chocolate, for grinding up clay for fine work. Besides these, the place is fitted up with the most perfect appliances for the manipulation and manufacturing of every description of clay work, from the coarsest of drain pipes to the most delicate of terra cotta ware, so that Springfield may be said to unite in itself the qualifications of industrial and artistic work. A powerful boiler, by Roby and Co., supplies steam for the machinery, the waste steam from it being also utilized in the drying-room. The clay used is obtained from a splendid deposit, 7 feet 8 inches in thickness, found in the deep pit close to the coal seam, nearly 300 feet below the surface. It is really excellent, almost too good for ordinary work, remarkably pure, free from any trace of iron, and withstands the fierce attacks of the hot nor'-west winds when worked up without cracking. The seam from which it is drawn being at such a depth, is presumably older than surface clays; a result of this is that the clay is an exceedingly close, heavy one, and scarcely shrinks at all in the burning—a most valuable property. Fire bricks (no common ones are made), pipes, junctions, traps, &c., made from it are lighter in colour than those made from other clays, and harder. A supply of fire-bricks obtained from the far-famed Stourbridge manufactory, with which to line the kiln near the firing points where the most tremendous heat is developed, have been completely melted, and run into an indistinguishable mass; while locally-made bricks, put in at the same time, have withstood the crucial test, and are still fairly perfect in form. The work-room is 70 feet by 60 feet. Here we saw some specimens of work proving the capabilities of the clay for the most delicate artistic work. Among them are some very beautiful flowers, made by hand, very closely approaching in excellence some of the exhibits in the Bohemian section of the Austrian Court in the New Zealand "International" of 1882. No large stock of the company's manufactures were on hand at the time of our visit, but the kilns were quite full, and afforded a good idea of the excellence and variety of the articles turned out at these works. The company were awarded a gold medal for their clay exhibits at the Exhibition held in Christchurch in 1882, and have since regularly taken first prizes at agricultural shows held in Christchurch and elsewhere for fire-bricks, drain-pipes, sanitary appliances, &c.

          


          
Coal exists in quantity and quality upon the Company's estate It has been estimated by the Government Geologist that the seams extends over about 900 acres of land; and by means of a diamond drill, which this enterprising company imported specially for the purpose of proving this ground, they have ascertained the existence of two large seams, besides several smaller ones, and have proved that they extend over a large area at no great depth.

          
The coal is a useful coal for household and factory purposes, and is largely used by the Government on the railways. But it is not equal to that found on the West Coast for ocean steam purposes.

          
The same class of coal is found throughout the east side of the mountain ranges, running through the Middle Island, and is of about the same quality and character.

        








Victoria University of Wellington Library




Illustrated Guide to Christchurch and Neighbourhood

Painter Bros.' Cycling Delivery



          

            
Painter Bros.' Cycling Delivery.
          

          
Messrs. Painter Brothers conceived a happy idea when they started their letters and parcels delivery in Christchurch and the neighbourhood in July, 1884. The level character of the town and suburbs, and the generally good roads to be met with, have afforded every facility for the practice of cycling, both for amusement and as a help to business; and in starting their "delivery," Messrs. Painter Brothers soon made themselves an absolute necessity to business men and households. For three-pence or sixpence they deliver letters promptly to any address within the Town Belt; and for a very reasonable mileage charge beyond it. The convenience of this to a very large number of people will be readily understood by our readers, particularly when the speed with which a message can be delivered, and a reply returned, by bicycle, is remembered. In a similar way they deliver parcels, and have become almost a necessity to the New Zealand Government Telegraph Department in Christchurch, and to many physicians, doctors, and lawyers. The brothers, and some lads they employ, in their neat blue uniform, mounted on their bicycles and tricycles, have become a feature in our city, and the steadiness and care with which they attend to their business have caused them to be trusted and liked. Latterly they have started a "fire-alarm" subscription list, and for a trifling annual sum undertake to convey intelligence of a fire in the city to the residence of any subscriber who may be interested therein. They have two offices—one in No. 133, Colombo-street, near Cashel-street; and the other (principally the fire-alarm) in Hobbs' Buildings, Cathedral Square, both of them being on the Telephone Exchange.

          


          
At their office in Cathedral Square they have started a "left parcol" and "cloak-room," where parcels up to 112lbs. weight may be left, at a charge of one penny per day. This has been found by country visitors to be a great convenience, and, as it becomes more known, will doubtless be more patronised, the central position of the office being greatly in its favour.

          
Messrs. Painter are prepared to travel on their business any reasonable distance in the day, having done fully eighty miles on several occasions.

          
In case of illness, or other emergency, they can be "rung up," at their Cathedral Square office, at any hour during the night, as they sleep on the premises.
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The Mutual Life Association of Australasia
          

          
Was established in 1869 in Sydney, and is consequently the second oldest Mutual Life Office established in these colonies. It is, further, the first office which freed assurance from 
all restrictions. Its business was rapidly extended, branches being opened, first in Auckland, about fifteen years ago, and subsequently in Brisbane, Melbourne, Adelaide, and in Christchurch. The business of the office last year included the issue of 2880 policies, assuring £672,040. Its invested funds now exceed £400,000, and its annual income is over £150,000. The result of the last quinquennial investigation, on June 30, 1884, showed 10,888 policies in force for £3,020,538 (under which by a Carlisle 
four per cent. pure premium valuation). The present liability is £297,877, and the funds on the 30th June, 1884, £350,096. The gross surplus, therefore, exceeds £52,000, providing reversionary bonus additions of over £106,000.

          
The Mutual Life Association of Australasia settles claims immediately on proof of debt, and bonuses are available after a policy has been in force 
one year.

          
The Actuary's report says: — "This Association's rate of expenses is very much lower than that of any other mutual life assurance office established in these colonies within the last thirty-five years, and the results set forth prove conclusively that there has been no extravagance in its management;" and proceeds to state 
"that the surplus now declared is, I believe, 
greater in proportion to the liability than that realised from 
a net premium valuation by any Society in the world of the same duration."

          
The Directors of the Association throughout the colonies are policy holders, and have therefore an individual interest in its sound management. The limit of assurance on one life is 

£2000. It never disputes or delays settlement. Its expenses are lower, and its funds higher than any other office established within the last thirty years. It invests all its funds in the colonies whence it derives its revenue, and its policies containing no restrictions are 
indefeasible from date of issue, and 
non-forfeitable while surrender value lasts.

          
The Christchurch Branch, which is the head office for this Island, is situated in Hereford-street (we give a view of it among our illustrations), and is managed by a Board of Directors, consisting of the Hon. W. Reeves, M.L.C, Mr H.R. Webb, J.P., and Dr Symes. Mr George Grill, the secretary of the Association, started the South Australian Branch in February, 1883, and in recognition of his services the Directors gave him the Christchurch appointment. On leaving Adelaide for Christchurch a few weeks ago he was presented by the officers of that Branch with an illuminated address and a silver tea and coffee service, as evidence of their appreciation of him officially and personally.

          
The Dunedin District is under the control of the Christchurch Branch, and its offices are at the corner of Dowling and Princes-streets.
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J. T. Smith & Co.
          

          
Christchurch is well provided with representatives of the Fourth Estate. One of the largest and oldest printing businesses is that conducted under the style of J. T. Smith & Co.

          
Having its city office conveniently placed in the busiest part of Hereford-street (opposite Miles & Co.), while the printing house is situated in the Springfield-road, the firm possesses the advantage of easy access to its 
clientele, combined with low rental and comparative immunity from risk of fire. The two offices are connected by a direct telephone line, erected by Mr. Meddings for Messrs. Smith, who were the first in Canterbury (if not in New Zealand) to avail themselves of the new invention.

          
The printing house in Springfield-road consists of a large two-storied building of galvanised iron, splendidly lighted by two tiers of windows running the whole length of its sides and ends.

          
The upper storey is divided into two compartments, which contain the type-setting and bookbinding departments of the business. Messrs. J. T. Smith & Co. having commenced business as letter-press printers, typography naturally forms an important part of their trade, and due attention has been given to the arrangement of this department, with a view to securing both a high standard of excellence and economical working.

          


          
The account-book manufacturing and bookbinding department, which was the next branch taken up by the firm, has, despite many initiatory difficulties, achieved a deserved reputation for good solid work, and the firm has gained high awards at the various exhibitions. The kinds of work undertaken by this department are, of course, very varied, ranging from a plain, library binding to a richly-tooled specimen of an edition 
de luxe, or the ruling of billheads to the manufacture of ponderous ledgers.

          
On the ground floor is the paper room, where are stored the various kinds of stationery required for the purposes of the trade. Immediately opposite is the stereotyping room, fitted up with an excellent plant. Messrs. J.T. Smith & Co. are the only local printers who possess this important adjunct to a printing office. Next to the stereotyping room is the lithographic draughtsmen's room. The firm have for several years devoted special attention to the lithographic department of their business, and have become reputed for spirited and beautiful designs, and high-class penwork. Some very handsome specimens of colour work were in hand at the time of our visit, which, when issued, should excite general admiration. Illuminated addresses, &c., are also a part of this department's work, and we were shown some very rich and finely executed specimens of the staff's artistic capabilities.

          
Leaving the draughtsmen's room we find ourselves in the machine department, which occupies the largest portion of the ground floor. The most prominent feature of this room are two rows of lithographic and letter-press machines and presses, running the whole length of the room. Here are carried on copperplate printing, such as crests, monograms, visiting cards, &c., lithographic printing, both black and coloured, and the various kinds of type printing, from a ticket to a newspaper or periodical. Power is supplied by two Otto gas-engines, the largest of which is placed in an engine room adjoining the main building. It may be noted that Messrs. J.T. Smith & Co. were also the first in Canterbury to use gas as a motive power, Mr. R.C. Bishop supplying their first engine.

          
The whole of the works are under the personal supervision of Mr. J.T. Smith, the head of the firm, while Mr. W. Sidney Smith conducts the city business at the firm's office, 201, Hereford-street.
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G. F. Gee's Tin-Plate Works.
          

          
These are situated in Tuam-street, next to A.J. "White's furniture warehouse, and cover a quarter of an acre of ground. 

Here are manufactured all kinds of tin and sheet-iron work, household tin-ware; biscuit and coffee canisters for the local manufactories; tea boxes for grocers and tea-merchants; japanned-ware, baths, watering-pots, portable washing coppers, &c. The trade is entirely a wholesale one, no retail customers being entertained. The factory has been established over two years, and is another example of the benefit derived from the establishment of local industries, each one feeding and giving work to numerous others. Among other articles, Mr. Gee makes for the furniture dealers galvanised-iron slop-pails, boiler-fillers, and black-iron coal-scoops, which previously had to be imported, but which now have quite shut out the imported article from our market. The workshop is fitted up with all the latest improvements in English and American machinery for the manufacture of tin ware, including a screw press for cutting and stamping the tops and bottoms of all kinds of jam, honey, and coffee tins, from an inch-and-a-half to eight inches in diameter; an American treadle guillotine, for cutting out all kinds of tin-ware; an edging machine, for making the edge for grooving the corners of square tins, whereby the old process of soldering is rendered unnecessary; a grooving machine, for grooving the corners; a 20-inch angle bender; an American folder, for folding all kinds of edges for wiring, &c., from a sixteenth of an inch to an inch, doing the work quicker and more perfectly than could be done by hand; an American patent for paning down and knocking up the bottoms of all kinds of round work; a groover for grooving all kinds of round tins; a circular-cutter, for cutting circles from two to eighteen inches in diameter; a pair of bending-rollers, for making all kinds of round work, from a quarter-pound pepper tin to a twenty-gallon portable washing-boiler frame; an American bottoming machine, for fastening on the bottoms of canisters, saving soldering; a 20-inch guillotine; an English folding machine; a wiring machine; a swaging machine; an English paning-down machine; two burring machines, and all other kinds of implements necessary for the trade. The results of these works is that the importation of tin and japanned-ware is gradually being dropped, the locally-made articles being quite equal, as regards quality and price, to Home-made goods.
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A. Noble's Scientific and Surgical Instrument

Manufactory.
          

          
Mr. Noble, whose establishment is at 137, Durham-street, near Victoria-street, in Christchurch, has been established in the city for about fourteen years, and is possessed of the 
highest 


testimonials, not only from the medical, astronomical, and other professions in Christchurch, but from the whole of New Zealand, as he sends work to all parts of the colony.

          
Mr. Noble was specially engaged by both the British expeditions for observing the transit of Venus, to attend to the astronomical instruments, and owns testimonials for the efficient manner in which he carried out his work.

          
The principal branches of the business, to which special attention is given, are the manufacture of surgical and surveyors' instruments, artificial limbs, and instruments for the cure of deformities of limbs, besides medical batteries and all kinds of electrical machinery. Also scientific instruments for use in colleges, &c., including every description of high-class mechanical and other appliances for the ornamental lathe.

          
Mr. Noble is possessed of one of the most beautifully finished ornamental lathes, the equal to which is not to be found in the colony, and he has therefore facilities for executing orders of the most delicate type, which it is impossible to procure elsewhere; and as the lathe is entirely his own design and workmanship, it is a guarantee as to his ability to produce work of the highest class—in fact, he guarantees to turn out work to the 
thousandth part of an inch, when necessary, he having instruments to measure to that degree of delicacy.

          
Mr. Noble will be pleased to allow any gentleman to inspect the machinery referred to, and will give every information in reference thereto at any time that may be convenient.

          
Repairs to every class of instrument effected upon the shortest possible notice, at 137, Durham-street North, near Victoria-street.
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Aitken & Roberts, Domestic and Furnishing

Ironmongers.
          

          
The premises of this firm are slightly west of the centre of traffic; 
i.e., 225, Cashel-street West, but once seen, the visitor is not likely to forget its varied and useful stock of ironmongery of every description.

          
Messrs. Aitken & Roberts have been connected with the ironmongery business in New Zealand for the past twenty-three years, and therefore have, we may almost say, a perfect knowledge of the requirements and class of goods most suitable for all colonists; and their aim is, apparently, to introduce and offer to their numerous customers every suitable and useful novelty almost before its existence is known in the Old Country.

          


          
It is now some six years since Messrs. Aitken & Roberts opened their present premises in Cashel-street West; formerly it was a large cabinet-maker's shop, but in 1879 the present suitable and well stocked shop was opened specially for retail business.

          
Visitors as well as customers are always welcomed, and an inspection of the stock reveals how carefully and judiciously the goods have been imported. So far as we could see and judge, there were no bad or useless goods in store, and the thrifty housekeeper and colonist is able to make a selection of domestic and furnishing ironmongery at prices that should please and satisfy the most economical and fastidious buyer.

          
Messrs. Aitken & Roberts do not send out travellers, nor do they advertise largely, which surprises us. Every new customer is considered an advertising medium, as their large and well-assorted stock commends itself to all purchasers. The stock is replenished and kept well supplied by direct shipments from the English, Continental, and American markets; in fact, every steamer and sailing vessel for this port carries goods for the firm, which accounts for the articles in store always being new and of modern design. The American goods and novelties are of especial interest and importance, the practical and useful evidently being preferred, although there are others suitable for ornaments and presents, as well as every day use.

          
At the time of our visit they were opening some splendid samples of American fretwork wood, consisting of walnut, oak, holly, maple, and cherry, all cut into suitable lengths and prepared for the amateur artificer: we also noticed, what was more to 
our liking, viz., several handsome E.P. dram flasks, our only regret being our inability to sample even one of them, for though the firm is licensed to sell guns, ammunition, and kerosene oil, the "drap o' whisky" can't be sold here, and, consequently, the flasks were all "full of nothing," as the Irishman says.

          
The front shop is fitted up and expressly arranged for the large and growing retail business, the windows and show cases being made air tight; stands, shelves, and ceiling all being utilised to indicate the different assortments of platedware, lampware, cutlery, brushware, tinware, brassfoundry, builders' and carpenters' requisites, &c., and to attempt to enumerate any of the many striking articles which impressed us would be tedious to the general reader, so we content ourselves with advising those who contemplate marriage or refurnishing home to inspect Messrs. Aitken & Roberts' new stock before doing so. The second storey is partly fitted up as a show-room and for the storage of surplus stock.

          


          
We were very glad to see the extent our colonial industries were encouraged, for here could be purchased, at prices lower than if imported, such necessaries as copper boilers (with and without furnaces), ranges, ovens, garden seats, brushware of all kinds, iron and wooden wheelbarrows, lead washers, and the patent lead-headed nail, a most useful and efficient roofing washer and nail combined.

          
Leaving the front shop we enter a spacious yard, the entrance to which is also obtained 
via Cashel and Lichfield Streets. It is here the bulk goods of hardware are stored in large, well-built sheds, whilst in the yard proper may be seen galvanized iron, hoop iron, lead, ridging, sash weights, boiler and roofing felts, copper, galvanized and iron boilers of all sizes, nails, charcoal, and hot water apparatus and fittings suitable for conservatories, &c.
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The New Zealand Loan and Mercantile Agency

Company (Limited).
          

          
This powerful company, which was established in 1864, has a capital of £3,500,000, and a reserve fund of £250,000. Its head quarters in the colonies are in Auckland, and it has offices in twenty-one towns and cities in New Zealand, besides branches and agencies in Melbourne, Sydney, Adelaide, Brisbane, Rock-hampton, Launceston, Fiji, and San Francisco. The head office of the company is No. 1, Queen Victoria street, Mansion House, London. The Christchurch offices, of which we give an illustration, are situated in Hereford street, and are in a handsome three-storey building erected two years ago. Besides these, the company has a large brick two-storey grain and wool store, capable of displaying 6000 bales of wool for sale, with extensive cellarage, on the side of the line of railway fronting Durham-street.

          
The company makes advances in the Australasian Colonies on produce, on the stations and stocks of runholders, and on the growing clips of wool; and receives the consignment of wool, grain, tallow, leather, hides, skins, horns, preserved and frozen meats, metals, cotton, kauri gum, &o., &c., for sale in London, on terms which may be learned on application to the manager in London, to the managing director or secretary at Auckland, or to the agents of the company in Australia, New Zealand, &c. It may be well, however, to state that the company enters into no mercantile ventures on its own account.

          
The company is prepared to execute indents, forwarded through its agents in the Colonies and California, of British, Continental, Eastern, and American goods and products, on the most liberal terms.

          


          
The company also accepts the consignment in the Colonies and California of produce and manufactures for sale there at customary rates of commission and guarantee.

          
A marked feature of the company's business is the growing importance of its local auction sales. The auction sales of wool, held at intervals of three or four weeks during the season, in the company's Christchurch wool and grain warehouses, have grown steadily in magnitude since their commencement in 1881; the number of bales submitted during the past season being nearly one-half of the total local offerings. At the same warehouses during the grain season periodical grain sales are held; and once every week throughout the year there is an auction sale of hides, sheepskins, tallow, and fat.

          
In 1883 the company inaugurated auction sales of stock, which are held regularly at Addington yards and at the various district saleyards throughout the Province. This branch of the business has grown to large proportions by careful and popular management.

          
The company acts as agent—for Governments, Town Boards, Road Boards, and Companies in Australia and New Zealand, requiring the execution of contracts and financial business, &c., in this country; for freeholders and runholders, undertaking the financial management of their properties during their absence; for landed proprietors in the Colonies, receiving their rents, negotiating and effecting sales of their freeholds, and generally superintending their interests; and for trustees and boards of executors in the Colonies and elsewhere, undertaking the management of colonial trust and executorship estates.
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Rountree & Co.
          

          
Messrs Rountree and Co., grain and produce merchants, have their store and siding at Papanui, adjoining the railway station, and their offices in Cashel street, Christchurch. We may state that they have been compelled to enlarge their already spacious store owing to their increasing business; even as it is, they have found the store still insufficient to accommodate the immense quantities of grain and produce that are poured into it during the season.

          
Being situated in the midst of the largest potato growing district, it bids fair to become the most popular store in the northern district of Canterbury. On their siding, which connects with the main line, they have a 12-ton weighbridge, by Fairbank, thereby checking all goods in and out. During last season over 60,000 sacks of potatoes passed, over their siding for shipment. The offices, as stated, are in Christchurch, and are connected by 

private wire with their stores, as well as with the Telephone Exchange.

          
They also act as farmers' agents, and do a large commission business in that capacity; also, undertaking the sale of live and dead stock both by auction and privately, and act as valuators, in which they have had twenty-three years' experience.
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J. Miller's Brush Factory.
          

          
Mr. Miller's factory, situated at 195, Gloucester street, Christchurch, has been established about five years. He learnt his trade in Scotland, and arriving in this Colony he commenced to work at his trade. He manufactures all kinds of household and machinery brushes, including scrubbing, shoe, blacklead, and clothes brushes, as well as banister, hair, and other brooms; and he finds that he can compete successfully with the imported articles of the same quality. His trade is entirely wholesale, supplying none but wholesale houses, who readily take all he can turn out. He has exhibited at the various exhibitions held here since he commenced business, and has always secured prizes and "honourable mention." He uses colonial horsehair, which he finds really better than the imported article; but fibre, bristles, and bass have to be imported from America and Russia. For the wood work, he uses almost entirely kauri and white pine, finding them admirably suited for the purpose. In fact, were the timber worked here as it is at Home, no imported woods would be used. He was the first to start brush-making south of Auckland, and is thus the pioneer brush-maker of this island. He has established a purely local industry in the fullest sense of the word, very nearly all the raw material being grown in the Colony.
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Photographic Studio.
          

          
Mr. Henry Chatteris's studio, at 218, High street, opposite the Triangle, is one of the places in Christchurch which it is worth a visitor's while to visit. Mr. Chatteris was formerly in Mr. J. E. Mayall's studio in London, and there gained the experience which enables him to produce the beautiful specimens of photographic art in portrait and scenery with which the walls and show-cases of his studio abound. His suite of rooms comprise handsomely-furnished waiting and ante-rooms, the studio (33 feet by 18 feet), a dark room, a printing room, and an office. For his pictures he uses the new dried plates, and his rooms are filled with all the most improved latest appliances for taking and printing pictures. He makes a 

specialty of his enlargement of portraits by a new process, and certainly, judging by the specimens of his work which adorn his rooms—one of the late Rev. Mr. Buller in particular,—his success in this direction seems to be very great. Another kind of work to which he gives special attention is portraits on porcelain, coloured for hanging against windows which thereby act as beautifully soft transparencies. Mr. Chatteris has also introduced small miniature photographs, admirably adapted for portraits of children, and these are done at a remarkably low figure. One thing cannot but strike the visitor to Mr. Chatteris's rooms, namely, that the work which he turns out is all of a first-class kind, and that to the minutest details he shows considerable taste and skill in the way in which his photographs are finished and mounted.
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Woolston.
        

        

          
This suburb of Christchurch was originally a portion of the Heathcote District. In the old times the Heathcote river was the port of entry for Canterbury. Here were bonded stores and wharves, which used to be thronged with steamers and lighters from Lyttelton, and sailing craft trading to the other ports of New Zealand and the Australian Colonies. Many an old settler of Canterbury well remembers the Ferry-road and its wharves. But when the tunnel was opened the scene changed; but not as some thought, who predicted that the grass would grow over the Ferry-road. The shipping has nearly deserted the Heathcote, but wool-works, fellmongeries, tanneries, and a carpet factory, and other industries have sprung up and created quite a populous and busy neighbourhood. Tramcars, to and from Christchurch, run frequently through the main street (Regent-street), and the railway from Christchurch to Lyttelton runs past the southern boundary, with a station for passengers and goods conveniently situated. The library is one of the oldest of the country ones in the province, having been established in 1863, and having lived and prospered, through hard times and good ever since. It has 1400 volumes of books, among which are to be found many of the newest publications in travels, history, science, &c. In connection with the library is a reading room, and steps are being taken to increase the accommodation of both.

          
This district was one of the first suburbs to avail itself of the facilities afforded by the Town District Act for locally managing its own affairs, having been formed into a District, under a Board, in August, 1882. The chairman of the first Board was 

Mr. J. H. Hopkins, an old identity in the district, who has made his mark in it, invariably taking the lead or prominent part in. public matters. The way the district has improved under the administration of the Board speaks well for local government. Roads and pathways are well formed and kept, and concrete side channels and street lamps are amongst the improvements; a local fire brigade has been established, and local industries are nursed. Politically, the district has a history in Canterbury, the Heathcote having been considered a seat worthy of being contested for by the most noted of our public men, and on its platform we have seen Sir John Hall, Mr. Justice Williams, the Hon. George Buckley, and Messrs. Moorhouse, Fitzgerald, Rolleston, Montgomery, Ollivier, Kennaway, &c.

          
We give views of two establishments in Woolston, the Zealandia Carpet Factory and the Woolston Emporium, besides descriptions of others.

        

        

          

            
The Woolston Emporium (Established 1863).
          

          
This establishment, belonging to Mr. J. H. Hopkins, is one that does credit to the district. It has grown, under its present proprietor, from what was originally a four-roomed cottage to really a gigantic establishment. It was enlarged twice, after which Mr. Hopkins, finding it still too small for his growing trade, built the eastern half of the present building, a two-storey brick one, very substantial, with compo front and ornamental windows, alongside the old original building. Subsequently he removed the old building and built the second half of the present structure, which now forms one of the most convenient and compact establishments in New Zealand. In it there are six distinct departments—drapery, clothing, boots, grocery, crockery, ironmongery, and a corn store. Each department is well filled with a carefully selected stock, while the grocery portion —50 feet by sixteen feet—is in advance of any establishment in Christchurch. The fixtures and arrangement of stock show that great care has been taken in disposing of, and displaying the goods to, the best advantage. We will instance a butter cupboard, fitted with shelves to hold about 200 lbs. of butter, with a constant flow of artesian water through it, which keeps the butter both fresh and cool during all weathers. There is also a large cellar for cheese, where a stock of that article is kept that would surprise many.

          
The frontage of this establishment is 85 feet, with a depth of 66 feet, with upper floor storage, and cellar accommodation below. There is a splendid supply of good artesian water, 

which is forced by a ram into tanks upon the buildings, from whence it is distributed through the dwelling house, the store, and the stables, and is also ready for fire preventive purposes. To the drainage of his place Mr. Hopkins has given particular attention, he having laid down, for ordinary purposes and to carry off surface water, no less than 580 feet of drainage pipes.

          
Mr. Hopkins has been postmaster in the district since his settlement in it, and has given many examples of his enterprise, which the residents readily acknowledge. His establishment is connected with the Christchurch Telephone Exchange, although he is several miles from that centre.

        

        

          

            
Bowron Brothers' Works.
          

          
These works are situated in three places in the Woolston District, near each other, and on both sides of the Ferry-road. In all, they cover about four acres. In them the manufacture of sheepskins into skivers, moroccos, roans, chamois leathers, &c., for hatters, boot and shoe makers, bookbinders, furniture makers, &c., is carried on by skilled workmen specially imported from London. The visitor to these works will be highly interested at the various processes through which the sheepskins pass till they are finished with beautiful surfaces and delicate colours, ready for the hatter, bookbinder, or upholsterer. Most of the sheepskins, after having been stripped of the wool, are split into two, the inner—the flesh side—being made into chamois leathers, and the outer, or grained side, into "skivers." But skins intended to be made into furniture leathers are not split. This splitting is done by machines composed of rollers, round which the skins are tightly carried, and close to which a number of knife-blades work at about 2600 revolutions a minute. This work can be regulated to a nicety, and performed with a speed and perfection which to the uninitiated seems little short of marvellous. The other machinery in use for driving oil into the chamois; the stamping machine, for breaking down or softening the skins; the hydrostatic extractors, for drying wool, &c.; and the hydraulic presses, are all interesting as regards the work they perform, and the way in which it is performed. The motive power for these is obtained from an 18-h.p. horizontal engine, with multitubular boiler. The dyeing and finishing portion of the works, are also worth inspection. After the skins have been dyed they are each separately nailed on a frame, and either left in a large drying loft, 80 feet square, to dry, or dried in a room heated up to 180 degrees, according to the kind of leathers to which they are intended to be finished. In the "finishing room," 40 feet by 25 feet, the finishing touches to 

the skins are given, and the "grain" put on. Thus, for furniture leathers there are two ways of finishing, viz., the hard grained moroccos, and the straight grained; while for bookbinders' leathers there are the fast grained, glaziers' straight grained, dice grains, and hard grains.

          
At the three works a considerable number of hands are employed, and a valuable local industry is carried on. It may give our readers some idea of the importance of these and similar works in the colony when we say that the opening of Messrs. Bowron's works made so much difference to wool works that one, at least, at Belfast, was able to declare a profit, owing to being able to sell its sheepskins which previously it had to incur expense to bury or destroy.

        

        

          

            
T. J. Watters' Range Manufactory.
          

          
This factory is in Cashel-street, next the Bank of Australasia, and has been established about eight years. Previously Mr. Watters had been employed for twenty-one years in one foundry in Cornwall, England. His work principally consists of the manufacture of all kinds of cooking ranges and fire grates; besides these he makes and fits up hot and cold baths, with high pressure boilers, and all kinds of hot water apparatus, and all kinds of engineering work in iron and brass. Among the cooking ranges which he has made are one twelve-feet range for the White Hart Hotel, one ten-feet for the Empire Hotel, one for Lancaster Park Hotel ten feet long, one nine feet long for Barrett's Hotel, one eight-feet range for the Convent, one eight-feet range for the Clarendon Hotel, one six-feet range for the Star Hotel (Addington), one large one for Mr. Postlethwaite at Geraldine, one five-feet-six range for the Railway Hotel, one large one for Mr. Beetham (Napier), and one ten-feet range for Coker's Commercial Hotel, Christchurch. Besides this last work he fitted up for Mr. Coker the hot and cold water apparatus for baths and household purposes running all through the hotel. He makes portable ranges from 3-feet upwards. At the International Exhibition of 1882 he was awarded a gold medal for design, workmanship and cheapness. The previous year he won the gold medal at the Agricultural and Pastoral Association's Show; in 1882 he gained the same Association's first and second prizes against competition for a ten-feet and a four-feet range; and in 1883 he won a first prize for a three-feet-six range; and in 1884 he gained a first prize 

for a ten-feet range, a first prize for a four-feet range, a first prize for a three-feet range, at the same Association's Shows.

          
He employs about eleven hands, and his ranges are sent to all parts of the Colony to wholesale houses and also private individuals. He makes ship's stoves of any size, and his work is generally of a high class, while his prices are thoroughly moderate.
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This suburb of Christchurch was originally a portion of the Heathcote District. In the old times the Heathcote river was the port of entry for Canterbury. Here were bonded stores and wharves, which used to be thronged with steamers and lighters from Lyttelton, and sailing craft trading to the other ports of New Zealand and the Australian Colonies. Many an old settler of Canterbury well remembers the Ferry-road and its wharves. But when the tunnel was opened the scene changed; but not as some thought, who predicted that the grass would grow over the Ferry-road. The shipping has nearly deserted the Heathcote, but wool-works, fellmongeries, tanneries, and a carpet factory, and other industries have sprung up and created quite a populous and busy neighbourhood. Tramcars, to and from Christchurch, run frequently through the main street (Regent-street), and the railway from Christchurch to Lyttelton runs past the southern boundary, with a station for passengers and goods conveniently situated. The library is one of the oldest of the country ones in the province, having been established in 1863, and having lived and prospered, through hard times and good ever since. It has 1400 volumes of books, among which are to be found many of the newest publications in travels, history, science, &c. In connection with the library is a reading room, and steps are being taken to increase the accommodation of both.

          
This district was one of the first suburbs to avail itself of the facilities afforded by the Town District Act for locally managing its own affairs, having been formed into a District, under a Board, in August, 1882. The chairman of the first Board was 

Mr. J. H. Hopkins, an old identity in the district, who has made his mark in it, invariably taking the lead or prominent part in. public matters. The way the district has improved under the administration of the Board speaks well for local government. Roads and pathways are well formed and kept, and concrete side channels and street lamps are amongst the improvements; a local fire brigade has been established, and local industries are nursed. Politically, the district has a history in Canterbury, the Heathcote having been considered a seat worthy of being contested for by the most noted of our public men, and on its platform we have seen Sir John Hall, Mr. Justice Williams, the Hon. George Buckley, and Messrs. Moorhouse, Fitzgerald, Rolleston, Montgomery, Ollivier, Kennaway, &c.

          
We give views of two establishments in Woolston, the Zealandia Carpet Factory and the Woolston Emporium, besides descriptions of others.
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The Woolston Emporium (Established 1863).
          

          
This establishment, belonging to Mr. J. H. Hopkins, is one that does credit to the district. It has grown, under its present proprietor, from what was originally a four-roomed cottage to really a gigantic establishment. It was enlarged twice, after which Mr. Hopkins, finding it still too small for his growing trade, built the eastern half of the present building, a two-storey brick one, very substantial, with compo front and ornamental windows, alongside the old original building. Subsequently he removed the old building and built the second half of the present structure, which now forms one of the most convenient and compact establishments in New Zealand. In it there are six distinct departments—drapery, clothing, boots, grocery, crockery, ironmongery, and a corn store. Each department is well filled with a carefully selected stock, while the grocery portion —50 feet by sixteen feet—is in advance of any establishment in Christchurch. The fixtures and arrangement of stock show that great care has been taken in disposing of, and displaying the goods to, the best advantage. We will instance a butter cupboard, fitted with shelves to hold about 200 lbs. of butter, with a constant flow of artesian water through it, which keeps the butter both fresh and cool during all weathers. There is also a large cellar for cheese, where a stock of that article is kept that would surprise many.

          
The frontage of this establishment is 85 feet, with a depth of 66 feet, with upper floor storage, and cellar accommodation below. There is a splendid supply of good artesian water, 

which is forced by a ram into tanks upon the buildings, from whence it is distributed through the dwelling house, the store, and the stables, and is also ready for fire preventive purposes. To the drainage of his place Mr. Hopkins has given particular attention, he having laid down, for ordinary purposes and to carry off surface water, no less than 580 feet of drainage pipes.

          
Mr. Hopkins has been postmaster in the district since his settlement in it, and has given many examples of his enterprise, which the residents readily acknowledge. His establishment is connected with the Christchurch Telephone Exchange, although he is several miles from that centre.
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Bowron Brothers' Works.
          

          
These works are situated in three places in the Woolston District, near each other, and on both sides of the Ferry-road. In all, they cover about four acres. In them the manufacture of sheepskins into skivers, moroccos, roans, chamois leathers, &c., for hatters, boot and shoe makers, bookbinders, furniture makers, &c., is carried on by skilled workmen specially imported from London. The visitor to these works will be highly interested at the various processes through which the sheepskins pass till they are finished with beautiful surfaces and delicate colours, ready for the hatter, bookbinder, or upholsterer. Most of the sheepskins, after having been stripped of the wool, are split into two, the inner—the flesh side—being made into chamois leathers, and the outer, or grained side, into "skivers." But skins intended to be made into furniture leathers are not split. This splitting is done by machines composed of rollers, round which the skins are tightly carried, and close to which a number of knife-blades work at about 2600 revolutions a minute. This work can be regulated to a nicety, and performed with a speed and perfection which to the uninitiated seems little short of marvellous. The other machinery in use for driving oil into the chamois; the stamping machine, for breaking down or softening the skins; the hydrostatic extractors, for drying wool, &c.; and the hydraulic presses, are all interesting as regards the work they perform, and the way in which it is performed. The motive power for these is obtained from an 18-h.p. horizontal engine, with multitubular boiler. The dyeing and finishing portion of the works, are also worth inspection. After the skins have been dyed they are each separately nailed on a frame, and either left in a large drying loft, 80 feet square, to dry, or dried in a room heated up to 180 degrees, according to the kind of leathers to which they are intended to be finished. In the "finishing room," 40 feet by 25 feet, the finishing touches to 

the skins are given, and the "grain" put on. Thus, for furniture leathers there are two ways of finishing, viz., the hard grained moroccos, and the straight grained; while for bookbinders' leathers there are the fast grained, glaziers' straight grained, dice grains, and hard grains.

          
At the three works a considerable number of hands are employed, and a valuable local industry is carried on. It may give our readers some idea of the importance of these and similar works in the colony when we say that the opening of Messrs. Bowron's works made so much difference to wool works that one, at least, at Belfast, was able to declare a profit, owing to being able to sell its sheepskins which previously it had to incur expense to bury or destroy.
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T. J. Watters' Range Manufactory.
          

          
This factory is in Cashel-street, next the Bank of Australasia, and has been established about eight years. Previously Mr. Watters had been employed for twenty-one years in one foundry in Cornwall, England. His work principally consists of the manufacture of all kinds of cooking ranges and fire grates; besides these he makes and fits up hot and cold baths, with high pressure boilers, and all kinds of hot water apparatus, and all kinds of engineering work in iron and brass. Among the cooking ranges which he has made are one twelve-feet range for the White Hart Hotel, one ten-feet for the Empire Hotel, one for Lancaster Park Hotel ten feet long, one nine feet long for Barrett's Hotel, one eight-feet range for the Convent, one eight-feet range for the Clarendon Hotel, one six-feet range for the Star Hotel (Addington), one large one for Mr. Postlethwaite at Geraldine, one five-feet-six range for the Railway Hotel, one large one for Mr. Beetham (Napier), and one ten-feet range for Coker's Commercial Hotel, Christchurch. Besides this last work he fitted up for Mr. Coker the hot and cold water apparatus for baths and household purposes running all through the hotel. He makes portable ranges from 3-feet upwards. At the International Exhibition of 1882 he was awarded a gold medal for design, workmanship and cheapness. The previous year he won the gold medal at the Agricultural and Pastoral Association's Show; in 1882 he gained the same Association's first and second prizes against competition for a ten-feet and a four-feet range; and in 1883 he won a first prize for a three-feet-six range; and in 1884 he gained a first prize 

for a ten-feet range, a first prize for a four-feet range, a first prize for a three-feet range, at the same Association's Shows.

          
He employs about eleven hands, and his ranges are sent to all parts of the Colony to wholesale houses and also private individuals. He makes ship's stoves of any size, and his work is generally of a high class, while his prices are thoroughly moderate.
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Hotels.
        

        

          
In the matter of hotels, visitors to Christchurch will find every opportunity of satisfying their particular fancy, whether it may incline them to the old historical house, the quiet secluded family one, the busy commercial, or the select squatters' resort. As samples of these we give below descriptions of one identified with the history of the settlement (the Clarendon), and two in the latest style (the Empire and the Star), which have not long been rebuilt regardless of cost:—

        

        

          

The Clarendon Hotel,

          
Of which Mr J. White Parsons is the landlord, is situated at the corner of Worcester-street and Oxford Terrace, immediately opposite the City Council Chambers, and in immediate proximity to Cathedral Square, the Museum, Public Library, the Collegiate establishments, and the Public Gardens. The building, one of the first erected in Christchurch, has a rather interesting history. It was built in the very early days of the settlement by Mr. Guise Brittan, as a residence for himself, and at that time was one of the land-marks in the place. The old Land Office—the first building put up in the city—was immediately opposite it, and for a long while these two stood there without another within a long distance of them. Even in these days the house would be considered by anyone large, so our readers can easily imagine what was thought of it in those first days when V huts and single-roomed shanties were the rule rather than the exception. That the rooms are commodious is shown by the fact that when Provincial Institutions were first established the Canterbury Provincial Council met in one of them, which has remained intact till now, and a visitor can, if he choose, occupy the same apartment in which some of the first work of legislation in Canterbury was done, and the first foundations laid of our present importance and prosperity. It was not till many years later that the house became a hotel, for which it is admirably suited. We might mention that three of the 

first gum-trees planted in Canterbury are still to be seen flourishing in the garden. The private entrance of the house is through a large garden from Worcester-street, and is particularly quiet and respectable, having, indeed, none of the ordinary hotel appearance, but quite that of a private house. The accommodation is extensive, and well-known by travellers and residents, the fact of its central position, yet quiet locality, rendering it very suitable for families and ladies. The charges are very reasonable considering the high class in which the hotel ranks, and we need not say that everything connected with the house is of the best.

        

        

          

The Empire Hotel,

          
Established more than twenty years ago, was about two years ago rebuilt in brick, with stone facings, and refurnished by the present proprietor, Mr. R. Richardson, at a cost of £12,000. It is situated in the most central and busy part of Christchurch, viz.—in High-street, facing Cashel-street and the Triangle. It has three storeys, besides the basement, with a frontage to High-street of 30 feet, and a depth of 112 feet. The basement, access to which is gained from High-street, is mainly devoted to the "Dive," one of the best arranged and coolest places of refreshment in Christchurch, with two handsomely-furnished snuggeries opening out of it, with every convenience for lounging, smoking, and writing. The kitchen is also on the basement, and is fitted with the large double range by Watters which gained the gold medal in the International Exhibition in 1882. It has two circulating boilers, which supply hot-water all over the hotel; and there is also a Binnie's hot-air engine, which pumps cold water into every room and landing in the house. A pantry, serving-room, servants'-hall, and other conveniences, besides the private office of the proprietor (to which the telephone is carried), are also on the basement, which is lit and ventilated by two large ventilating shafts carried up to the roof. From the "Dive" a wide staircase leads up to the hall on the ground floor, to which entrance from the street is gained through two wide double-swing doors. Just at the top of the staircase, equally handy from the "Dive" or the hall, is a lavatory, fitted up with Shank's patent hand-basins, &c. From the hall, which is 9 feet wide, the visitor, passing the clerk's office on the left, reaches the dining-room, 37 feet by 20 feet, with pantry at the back, supplied with hot and cold water. This dining-room is both handsomely decorated and furnished, and is not surpassed in Christchurch. From the hall a carpeted staircase, 6 feet wide, leads to a wide corridor on the 

first floor, 85 feet long. At the eastern end a doorway leads to the commercial room, 30 feet by 19 feet, without doubt one of the most cheerful apartments in Christchurch, with three large windows, facing High and Cashel-streets. Mr Richardson has contrived that while this and all other rooms in his house are evidently newly and most expensively furnished, they have a "home" look quite distinct from the usual "bran new hotel" appearance. In this room are two marble mantelpieces and polished grates, one at each end of the room. The gasolier is the one of Burt's which took the gold medal at the late Melbourne Exhibition, and the paintings and photos which decorate the walls are worthy the attention of any connoisseur. One painting by Armitage (collection of setter dogs) is valued at considerably over £100; while the photo of the old arch of Constantine probably has not its equal in the colony. On this floor are also three private sitting-rooms, and seven bedrooms, bathrooms, and lavatories, with a fire escape at the end of the corridor, and a fire-hose about the centre. Proceeding up the stair-case the visitor reaches the top-floor, where the corridor, 106 feet long, lit by a large window at each end, with the painted gas-lamps hanging from the ceiling, has a very cheerful, pretty appearance. Out of this corridor, on each side, open bedrooms, sitting-rooms, bathrooms, and lavatories, all lofty, well ventilated, and of a good size. It is worth mention that all the bedrooms are furnished with spring bedsteads and hair mattresses, that each floor has its fire hose, fire escape, and lavatories. Throughout, the house is most admirably arranged for a "commercial" trade, which the proprietor seeks. The arrangement of the "Dive" keeps the bar so distinct from the hotel that people might live in the house without seeing or hearing anything of it. The accommodation is equal to, if not superior to, any other house in Christchurch, while the tariff is at the usual rate.

        

        

          

            
Star Hotel (Late "Feathers"), Addington.
          

          
Mr J. A. Hansman's Star Hotel, well known to the early settlers as "The Feathers," is the oldest hotel outside Christchurch. It is situated on the Lincoln-road, close to the Addington railway station, the Government railway workshops, the Addington Sale Yards, and the Agricultural and Pastoral Association's new grounds. The hotel, stables, outhouses, and yards cover over an acre and a half of ground, and Mr Hansman is, therefore, the owner of one of the most valuable freeholds in the suburbs of the city. The old hotel was destroyed by fire in September, 1884, and the present handsome structure, of which we give our readers a lithographed view, was erected 

in its place. The building throughout—not only the outside walls but also the interior walls and partitions—is all of concrete, so that it is as near as possible fire proof. The private entrance in front opens into a hall 16 feet wide, across which a corridor 63 feet long and 6 feet wide runs, at each end of which are other private entrances, the one leading out into a large garden and the other into a side street running at right angles off the Lincoln-road. A fourth door, at the end of the hall, leads to the out-building in the rear of the hotel. On the ground floor are four good sized sitting-rooms, a capacious dining-room, and a large commercial room, besides the bar, 16 feet by 16 feet, and the bar parlour. These last are so arranged that visitors to the hotel can easily reside there without knowing or hearing of their existence. A broad staircase, six feet wide, leads up to a landing on the upper floor, 10 feet square, out of which a corridor 8 feet wide runs right and left, giving access to twelve bedrooms, two sitting-rooms, and a bath room. Hot and cold water is laid on all over the building, both for household and fire prevention purposes. Gas has also been laid on to all the rooms and corridors, with fittings of more than usual expense and taste. Of the furnishing of the house we must say a few words, no pains or expense having been spared to make all the rooms both thoroughly comfortable and elegant. The beds have all spring mattresses, with New Zealand flock mattresses over them. Outside the house there is ample yard room, stabling, and paddock accommodation for the busiest times, and, in fact, in every particular, care has been taken to supply the wants of the most fastidious visitor.
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In the matter of hotels, visitors to Christchurch will find every opportunity of satisfying their particular fancy, whether it may incline them to the old historical house, the quiet secluded family one, the busy commercial, or the select squatters' resort. As samples of these we give below descriptions of one identified with the history of the settlement (the Clarendon), and two in the latest style (the Empire and the Star), which have not long been rebuilt regardless of cost:—
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The Clarendon Hotel,

          
Of which Mr J. White Parsons is the landlord, is situated at the corner of Worcester-street and Oxford Terrace, immediately opposite the City Council Chambers, and in immediate proximity to Cathedral Square, the Museum, Public Library, the Collegiate establishments, and the Public Gardens. The building, one of the first erected in Christchurch, has a rather interesting history. It was built in the very early days of the settlement by Mr. Guise Brittan, as a residence for himself, and at that time was one of the land-marks in the place. The old Land Office—the first building put up in the city—was immediately opposite it, and for a long while these two stood there without another within a long distance of them. Even in these days the house would be considered by anyone large, so our readers can easily imagine what was thought of it in those first days when V huts and single-roomed shanties were the rule rather than the exception. That the rooms are commodious is shown by the fact that when Provincial Institutions were first established the Canterbury Provincial Council met in one of them, which has remained intact till now, and a visitor can, if he choose, occupy the same apartment in which some of the first work of legislation in Canterbury was done, and the first foundations laid of our present importance and prosperity. It was not till many years later that the house became a hotel, for which it is admirably suited. We might mention that three of the 

first gum-trees planted in Canterbury are still to be seen flourishing in the garden. The private entrance of the house is through a large garden from Worcester-street, and is particularly quiet and respectable, having, indeed, none of the ordinary hotel appearance, but quite that of a private house. The accommodation is extensive, and well-known by travellers and residents, the fact of its central position, yet quiet locality, rendering it very suitable for families and ladies. The charges are very reasonable considering the high class in which the hotel ranks, and we need not say that everything connected with the house is of the best.
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The Empire Hotel,

          
Established more than twenty years ago, was about two years ago rebuilt in brick, with stone facings, and refurnished by the present proprietor, Mr. R. Richardson, at a cost of £12,000. It is situated in the most central and busy part of Christchurch, viz.—in High-street, facing Cashel-street and the Triangle. It has three storeys, besides the basement, with a frontage to High-street of 30 feet, and a depth of 112 feet. The basement, access to which is gained from High-street, is mainly devoted to the "Dive," one of the best arranged and coolest places of refreshment in Christchurch, with two handsomely-furnished snuggeries opening out of it, with every convenience for lounging, smoking, and writing. The kitchen is also on the basement, and is fitted with the large double range by Watters which gained the gold medal in the International Exhibition in 1882. It has two circulating boilers, which supply hot-water all over the hotel; and there is also a Binnie's hot-air engine, which pumps cold water into every room and landing in the house. A pantry, serving-room, servants'-hall, and other conveniences, besides the private office of the proprietor (to which the telephone is carried), are also on the basement, which is lit and ventilated by two large ventilating shafts carried up to the roof. From the "Dive" a wide staircase leads up to the hall on the ground floor, to which entrance from the street is gained through two wide double-swing doors. Just at the top of the staircase, equally handy from the "Dive" or the hall, is a lavatory, fitted up with Shank's patent hand-basins, &c. From the hall, which is 9 feet wide, the visitor, passing the clerk's office on the left, reaches the dining-room, 37 feet by 20 feet, with pantry at the back, supplied with hot and cold water. This dining-room is both handsomely decorated and furnished, and is not surpassed in Christchurch. From the hall a carpeted staircase, 6 feet wide, leads to a wide corridor on the 

first floor, 85 feet long. At the eastern end a doorway leads to the commercial room, 30 feet by 19 feet, without doubt one of the most cheerful apartments in Christchurch, with three large windows, facing High and Cashel-streets. Mr Richardson has contrived that while this and all other rooms in his house are evidently newly and most expensively furnished, they have a "home" look quite distinct from the usual "bran new hotel" appearance. In this room are two marble mantelpieces and polished grates, one at each end of the room. The gasolier is the one of Burt's which took the gold medal at the late Melbourne Exhibition, and the paintings and photos which decorate the walls are worthy the attention of any connoisseur. One painting by Armitage (collection of setter dogs) is valued at considerably over £100; while the photo of the old arch of Constantine probably has not its equal in the colony. On this floor are also three private sitting-rooms, and seven bedrooms, bathrooms, and lavatories, with a fire escape at the end of the corridor, and a fire-hose about the centre. Proceeding up the stair-case the visitor reaches the top-floor, where the corridor, 106 feet long, lit by a large window at each end, with the painted gas-lamps hanging from the ceiling, has a very cheerful, pretty appearance. Out of this corridor, on each side, open bedrooms, sitting-rooms, bathrooms, and lavatories, all lofty, well ventilated, and of a good size. It is worth mention that all the bedrooms are furnished with spring bedsteads and hair mattresses, that each floor has its fire hose, fire escape, and lavatories. Throughout, the house is most admirably arranged for a "commercial" trade, which the proprietor seeks. The arrangement of the "Dive" keeps the bar so distinct from the hotel that people might live in the house without seeing or hearing anything of it. The accommodation is equal to, if not superior to, any other house in Christchurch, while the tariff is at the usual rate.
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Star Hotel (Late "Feathers"), Addington.
          

          
Mr J. A. Hansman's Star Hotel, well known to the early settlers as "The Feathers," is the oldest hotel outside Christchurch. It is situated on the Lincoln-road, close to the Addington railway station, the Government railway workshops, the Addington Sale Yards, and the Agricultural and Pastoral Association's new grounds. The hotel, stables, outhouses, and yards cover over an acre and a half of ground, and Mr Hansman is, therefore, the owner of one of the most valuable freeholds in the suburbs of the city. The old hotel was destroyed by fire in September, 1884, and the present handsome structure, of which we give our readers a lithographed view, was erected 

in its place. The building throughout—not only the outside walls but also the interior walls and partitions—is all of concrete, so that it is as near as possible fire proof. The private entrance in front opens into a hall 16 feet wide, across which a corridor 63 feet long and 6 feet wide runs, at each end of which are other private entrances, the one leading out into a large garden and the other into a side street running at right angles off the Lincoln-road. A fourth door, at the end of the hall, leads to the out-building in the rear of the hotel. On the ground floor are four good sized sitting-rooms, a capacious dining-room, and a large commercial room, besides the bar, 16 feet by 16 feet, and the bar parlour. These last are so arranged that visitors to the hotel can easily reside there without knowing or hearing of their existence. A broad staircase, six feet wide, leads up to a landing on the upper floor, 10 feet square, out of which a corridor 8 feet wide runs right and left, giving access to twelve bedrooms, two sitting-rooms, and a bath room. Hot and cold water is laid on all over the building, both for household and fire prevention purposes. Gas has also been laid on to all the rooms and corridors, with fittings of more than usual expense and taste. Of the furnishing of the house we must say a few words, no pains or expense having been spared to make all the rooms both thoroughly comfortable and elegant. The beds have all spring mattresses, with New Zealand flock mattresses over them. Outside the house there is ample yard room, stabling, and paddock accommodation for the busiest times, and, in fact, in every particular, care has been taken to supply the wants of the most fastidious visitor.
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